
AGENDA

Port Freeport
Port Commission
Regular Meeting
Thursday, January 26, 2023, 1:00 pm - 5:00 pm
In Person & Videoconference - Administration Building - 1100 Cherry Street - Freeport

This meeting agenda with the agenda packet is posted online at www.portfreeport.com

The meeting will be conducted pursuant to Section 551.127 of the Texas Government Code titled "Videoconference Call." A
quorum of the Port Commission, including the presiding officer, will be present at the Commissioner Meeting Room located
at 1100 Cherry Street, Freeport, Texas. The public will be permitted to attend the meeting in person or by videoconference.

The videoconference is available online as follows:

Join Zoom Meeting
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82182204576?pwd=YS9SRHpnbzZvVURsUWFBcGVpVHhLQT09
Meeting ID: 821 8220 4576
Passcode: 154148

Dial by your location
1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)
Meeting ID: 821 8220 4576
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kpxxZhsgY

CONVENE OPEN SESSION in accordance with Texas Government Code Section 551.001, et. seq., to review and consider
the following:

1.

Invocation.2.

Pledge of Allegiance: U.S. Flag & Texas Flag3.

Roll Call.4.

Safety Briefing.5.

Call to identify and discuss any conflicts of interest that may lead to a Commissioner abstaining from voting on any posted
agenda item.

6.

Public Comment. (Public comment on any matter not on this Agenda will be limited to 5 minutes per participant and can be
completed in person or by videoconference)

7.

Public Testimony.  (Public testimony on any item on this Agenda will be limited to 5 miniutes per agenda item to be
addressed per participant and can be completed in person or by videoconference. The participant shall identify in advance
the specific agenda item or items to be addressed.

8.

Approval of minutes from the Regular Meetings held January 12, 2023.9.

Receive reports from Executive Staff on activities and matters related to COVID-19 health safety matters, administrative
affairs, financial results, facility engineering matters, operations and vessel activity, port safety matters, port security
matters, Port tenant updates, USCOE, and other related port affairs.

10.

Executive Director/CEOA.

Chief Financial OfficerB.

Director of EngineeringC.

Director of OperationsD.

Director of Business & Economic DevelopmentE.

http://www.portfreeport.com
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82182204576?pwd=YS9SRHpnbzZvVURsUWFBcGVpVHhLQT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kpxxZhsgY


Receive report from Commissioners on matters related to:11.

A. January 26 Finance Advisory Committee
B. Port Commission related meetings or conferences, Port presentations and other Port related matters.

Approval of financial reports presented for the period ending December 31, 2022.12.

Presentation of the Government Finance Officers Association Award of Financial Reporting Achievement for the FY 2021
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.

13.

Discuss and consider the Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing the Issuance of Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds,
Series 2023 (Non-AMT); Levying a Tax and Providing for the Security and Payment Thereof; Providing for the Award of the
Sale Thereof in Accordance with Specified Parameters; and Enacting Other Provisions Relating Thereto.

14.

Adoption of a Resolution of Support regarding the Appropriation of Funds for Velasco Drainage District's obligation on the
Project Partership Agreement for the Freeport Hurricane Flood Protecton Project pursuant to the Local Cooperation
Agreement with the Texas General Land Office.

15.

Discuss and consider cost-share with Brazoria County for professional services provided by DEC, for the proposed
modification of the San Bernard River dredging permit.

16.

EXECUTIVE SESSION in accordance with Subchapter D of the Open Meetings Act, Texas Government Code Section
551.001, et. seq., to review and consider the following:

17.

Under authority of Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney):A.

Consultation with attorney under Government Code Section 551.071(1) (to seek or receive attorney's advice on
pending or contemplated litigation).

1.

Consultation with attorney under Government Code Section 551.071(2) (to seek or receive attorney's advice on
legal matters that are not related to litigation).

2.

Under authority of Section 551.087 (Economic Development Negotiations or Incentives):B.

To discuss or deliberate regarding commercial or financial information that the governmental body has received
from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, stay or expand in or near the territory
of the governmental body and with which the governmental body is conducting economic development
negotiations.

1.

To deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to a business prospect described by Subdivision (1).2.

Under authority of Section 551.072 (Deliberation of Real Property Matters) for discussion regarding:C.

The potential exchange, lease, or value of real property located in Freeport, Texas, including but not limited to the
area known as the East End of Freeport and bordered by or adjacent to the following streets: FM 1495; East 2nd
Street; Terminal Street and East 8th Street in Freeport, Texas.

1.

The potential purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property located at Port Freeport, including but not
limited to the real property located at and contiguous to Berths 1, 2, 5, 7 and 8.

2.

The potential exchange, lease, or value of real property located at Port Freeport, including but not limited to
Parcels 14, 19, 27, 34 and property on Quintana Island.

3.

RECONVENE OPEN SESSION:18.

Adjourn.19.

The Port Commission does not anticipate going into a closed session under Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code at this meeting for any 
other items on the agenda, however, if necessary, the Port Commission may go into a closed session as permitted by law regarding any item on the 
agenda. 

With this posted notice, Port Commissioners have been provided certain background information on the above listed agenda items.  Copies of this 
information can be obtained by the public at the Port Administrative offices at 1100 Cherry Street, Freeport, TX.  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Phyllis Saathoff, Executive Director/CEO 
PORT FREEPORT 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the District will provide for reasonable accommodations for persons attending its functions.  Requests should be received at least 24 hours in advance.



Minutes of Port Commission Regular Meeting 
January 12, 2023 
In Person & Videoconference 
 
A Regular Meeting of the Port Commission of Port Freeport was held January 12, 2023, beginning at  
2:35 PM at the Administration Building, 1100 Cherry Street, Freeport, Texas. 
 
This meeting agenda with the agenda packet is posted online at www.portfreeport.com  
 
The meeting will be conducted pursuant to Section 551.127 of the Texas Government Code titled 
"Videoconference Call." A quorum of the Port Commission, including the presiding officer, will 
be present at the Commissioner Meeting Room located at 1100 Cherry Street, Freeport, Texas. 
The public will be permitted to attend the meeting in person or by videoconference. 
 
The videoconference is available online as follows: 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89972877898?pwd=RzJZdVZhbVNhNXRySEFPOW8wLzVUQT09   
Meeting ID: 899 7287 7898 
Passcode: 855972 
 
Dial by your location 
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
Meeting ID: 899 7287 7898 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcqL0bhS7j   
 
Commissioners present in person: 
 

Mr. John Hoss, Chairman 
Mr. Rudy Santos, Vice Chairman 
Mr. Dan Croft, Secretary 
Mr. Rob Giesecke, Asst. Secretary  
Mr. Ravi Singhania, Commissioner 
Mr. Shane Pirtle, Commissioner 
 

Staff Members Present: 
 

Mr. Grady Randle, Legal Counsel 
Ms. Phyllis Saathoff, Executive Director/CEO 
Mr. Rob Lowe, Director of Administration/CFO 
Mr. Al Durel, Director of Operations 
Mr. Mike Wilson, Director of Economic Development & Freight Mobility  
Mr. Chris Hogan, Director of Protective Services 
Mr. Jason Hull, Director of Engineering 
Mr. Jason Miura, Director of Business & Economic Development 
Mr. Brandon Robertson, Network Systems Manager 
Ms. Missy Bevers, Executive Assistant 
Ms. Mary Campus, Controller 
Mr. Jesse Hibbetts, Operations Manager 
Ms. Christine Lewis, Safety Coordinator 
Ms. Tricia Vela, Public Affairs Assistant 

http://www.portfreeport.com/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89972877898?pwd=RzJZdVZhbVNhNXRySEFPOW8wLzVUQT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcqL0bhS7j


Also, present: 
 

Ms. Megan Mikutis, Randle Law Office 
Mr. Joseph Waring, Freese & Nichols 
Mr. Sergio Chapa, Poten & Partners 
Mr. Rick Stephanow, Gulf LNG Services 
Mr. Mike Hayes, Texas Port Ministry 
Ms. Barbara Fratila  
Mr. Sammy Chambless 
 

1. CONVENE OPEN SESSION in accordance with Texas Government Code Section 551.001, 
et. seq., to review and consider the following: 
 

2. Invocation – Mr. Mike Hayes, Texas Port Ministry 
 
3. Pledge of Allegiance – U.S. Flag and Texas Flag 

 
4. Roll Call – Commissioner Hoss noted that all Commissioners were present in the Board 

Room. 
 
5. Safety Briefing – Ms. Christine Lewis provided a safety moment with regard to taking action 

and being prepared for emergency situations. 
 
6. Call to identify and discuss any conflicts of interest that may lead to a Commissioner 

abstaining from voting on any posted agenda item. 
 

There were no conflicts noted from Commissioners.  
 

7. Public Comment – There were no public comments. 
 
8. Public Testimony – There was no public testimony.   

 
9. Approval of minutes from the Regular Meetings held December 8, 2022. 
 

A motion was made by Commissioner Pirtle to approve the minutes as presented.  The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Croft with all Commissioners present voting in favor 
of the motion. 
 

10. Receive report from Executive Director/CEO and/or Port staff on activities and matters 
related to COVID-19 health safety matters, administrative affairs, financial results, facility 
engineering matters, operations and vessel activity, port safety matters, port security matters, 
Port tenant updates, USCOE, and other related port affairs. 

 
Ms. Saathoff recently gave a Port update at a Highway 36A Meeting and shared the 
highlights stating 2022 was a really good year for the Port with good financial results and 
solid activity with some tenants doubling their normal amount of business, RoRo business 
continuing strong and container and green fruit remaining solid.  She noted the Port was able 
to pick up and respond to unforeseen situations as with the supply chain prices with 
businesses shifting from normal vessel movements to sourcing materials from other places 
using barge and rail.  What followed was an uncertainty with rail because of potential strikes, 



causing the Port to pick up additional RoRo activity with customers shifting business to 
ocean going vessels.  She commended staff for responding to its customers in making the 
adjustments happen to meet their needs. She noted the one downside to 2022 was Freeport 
LNG suffering an incident in the summer. While the facility is still offline, all reports 
indicate it will be back online soon with cargo exports to resume.  She also noted the $1.7 
trillion Omnibus Appropriations package passed and signed by the President which included 
the community project that Congressman Weber included in the budget for the Freeport 
Harbor Channel Improvement Project (FHCIP) giving the Port an additional $90.6 million. 
With the $73 million received in the 2022 Corps Work Plan plus the carryover from other 
projects and earlier allocations, there should be sufficient funds to award a final contract for 
the FHCIP.  She noted the bid package is currently at Division going through contracting 
review with staff expecting it back any time now but could move into February.  Ms. 
Saathoff also reminded the Commission there have been two previous issuances on the 2018 
bond authorization with staff working on a final bond package that will be going out first 
quarter.  She also reported that state legislature is in session with the inauguration of the 
Governor on January 17, bill filing deadline March 10 and the session ending May 29.  Ms. 
Saathoff has started receiving flagged bills for review from Carriage House Partners.  She 
also noted that Congress is back in session in Washington, DC.  There are several grant-
funded packages now open for application.  Staff will review for opportunities to seek 
additional grant funds should it match with Port projects.  Additionally, staff and 
commissioners will be attending the AAPA POWERS Summit & Expo which is an 
environmental sustainability global look at things noting it is tied to funds allocated by 
federal government for environmental related projects in making us a greener more 
sustainable Port community.  Commissioner Singhania commented how wonderful it is the 
Port got the funding for the channel project noting that he appreciates efforts made to achieve 
this goal because when it started, staff did not know how much of the federal share the Port 
would receive.  He also expressed thanks to Congressman Weber for his work and efforts as 
well. Lastly, Ms. Saathoff reported that the Velasco Drainage District (VDD) is currently 
seeking support to ask the legislature to fund the non-federal share to the Sabine to Galveston 
Project for the portion that it in Brazoria County.  Ms. Saathoff gave background information 
on the project from its origination to the current status.  VDD is asking Port Freeport along 
with Brazoria County and area industry to submit a letter of support to Senator Huffman.  
Ms. Saathoff noted that industry response has been very good with letters already reaching 
Senator Huffman. The Senator will be submitting an appropriations package next week so 
there is a sense of urgency to submit a letter.  Ms. Saathoff went on to say the Port has 
previously supported VDD in their position and unless there is an opposition from the 
Commission, feels the Port should join the industry community to support VDD in their 
effort to get the non-federal share funded at the state level. After further discussion, Saathoff 
said she would send a letter of support to Senator Huffman and bring a resolution for 
adoption at the next Port Commission meeting.  Ms. Saathoff also noted the U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers will hold an informational session to discuss the project at the Lake 
Jackson Civic Center February 2, 2023, beginning at 4:00 p.m. 
 

11. Approval of the financial report for the two-month period ending November 30, 2022. 
 
Mr. Lowe gave a presentation regarding the financial results for the months of October and 
November. 
 



A motion was made by Commissioner Croft to approve the financials as presented.  The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Singhania with all Commissioners present voting in 
favor of the motion.  
 

12. Receive report on the San Bernard River project and status of future maintenance.  
 
Ms. Saathoff began giving a historical prospective by sharing pictures of the San Bernard 
River (SBR) noting that in 2009 the mouth was dredged open and by 2011, saw closure 
again. The mouth was partially open after Harvey in 2017 and through RESTORE Act funds 
the mouth was dredged open in 2022.  She then shared a current picture of the mouth 
showing the build-up again.  The County continues to look at the project noting there is still 
RESTORE Act funds available and they are seeking permission from the General Land 
Office (GLO) to use the remaining funds for maintenance work on the mouth of the San 
Bernard.  Because of changeovers at the GLO, there is a delay in moving forward while they 
reconnect with a new contact. Additionally, maintenance dredging will not occur 
immediately because VDD is trying to work with the Corps to get an agreement in place so 
that when the Corps is dredging the Intercoastal Waterway, they can also dredge the mouth 
of the SBR in order to reduce costs and guarantee the right size equipment is used and not 
have to contract the work directly. Ms. Saathoff noted that the Port has a Memorandum of 
Agreement in place with Brazoria County to cost share the maintenance dredging of the 
mouth of the SBR which is a 25-year agreement.  The next earliest cycle the Port would be 
able to join in with the Corps would be their FY 2023-24 budget cycle.  A meeting is 
scheduled between Col. Blackmon, the County and VDD to discuss an agreement. They also 
want to discuss a modification to the permit to change the design out to the Gulf which 
currently is a straight shot. The proposed modification would be to widen the mouth, flaring 
it out into the Gulf and removing more material to create a wider opening of flow into the 
Gulf. Another effort underway that would impact the mouth of the San Bernard is the study 
being conducted by the GLO, University of North Texas and Texas A&M Galveston to study 
the impacts of the removal of the West Gate on the Brazos River which isn’t slated to be 
completed until May-June 2025. The next stakeholder meeting will be held in February 2023. 
Commissioner Pirtle commented there was already concern about sediment coming out of the 
Intercoastal Waterway, but you can see from the pictures the area continues to shift and 
change from the sediment. Commissioner Hoss recalled that they predicted the mouth would 
shift down the beach. Commissioner Croft recalled the GLO receiving money from a bond 
that the dredging company was paid (reimbursed) but the funds cannot be allocated towards a 
correction from a mistake that was made, noting that even though it was approved before, the 
process must start all over again. Commissioner Singhania attended a Friends of the River 
breakfast stating the County is pursuing other alternatives for getting money and a redesign 
of the mouth.  Ms. Saathoff stated there may be maintenance dredging, but it would be based 
on the current design template without a permit modification. She also stated that members 
of the Friends of the River confirm the Port’s agreement was still in place with the County 
asking if the Port was considering its obligations under the agreement in the budgeting 
process. Ms. Saathoff assured them it is discussed but would not be included in the current 
budget because there wouldn’t be any maintenance dredging but would be made transparent 
in a future budget if it was appropriate. Lastly, Ms. Saathoff was invited to a Meet & Greet 
with the new Texas Land Commissioner Dawn Buckingham, January 19. 
 

13. Approval of a Permanent Road Access Agreement and Right-of-Way with The Dow 
Chemical Company. 



Mr. Hull stated that Dow Chemical owns a 50-foot pipeline strip of land adjacent to Terminal 
Street in the East End. The Port will need to cross that property for access related to the East 
End RIDER 37 Expansion and Gate 12 project.  This item was tabled at the last meeting 
because it was still under legal review noting there is still one outstanding item explaining 
that legal is negotiating a longer period of time for Dow to notify the Port should they need to 
shut the Port’s access off for maintenance repairs.  Dow has not responded to the request. Mr. 
Hull stated that all other terms of the easement are in place and staff recommends approval of 
this document subject to non-material changes to the document. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Pirtle to approve the easement subject to non-material 
changes. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Singhania with all Commissioners 
present voting in favor of the motion. 

 
14. Approval of a Professional Services Agreement with Freese & Nichols for the East End 

RIDER 37 Expansion and Gate 12 project. 
 
Mr. Hull stated that this agreement is one agreement for two projects.  The first project is the 
East End RIDER 37 Expansion project which will improve roads in the East End connecting 
FM 1495 to a new gate (Gate 12) which will serve the container terminal.  It will also create 
a jug-handled connector from FM 1495 to Second Street and also create a cueing area along 
Fifth Street. This project is RIDER funded and will have a bid package that meets all of 
TxDOT requirements.  The second project of the agreement is the Gate 12 project. This 
project is not RIDER funded and will have a separate bid package.  Commissioner Singhania 
asked staff to review the scope of the project as a refresher to the Commission. Ms. Saathoff 
stated this is not a final build-out of a gate, rather it is to get an initial gate infrastructure 
reoriented from coming off Second Street to an area off Broad Street to create the initial 
crossing, improve Terminal Street and Eighth Street for anticipated truck flow patterns and 
try to create a more efficient access into the container terminal based on current business and 
anticipated future business. Staff shared a drawing of the planned improvements for a visual 
of each portion of the projects discussed. Mr. Hull clarified this scope of work does not 
include the fiber optic communication for the warehouse.  Staff will come back with a 
separate agreement for this piece in the future. Mr. Hull has reviewed the fees and 
recommends approval of the agreement.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Santos to approve the agreement with Freese & 
Nichols for the East End RIDER 37 Expansion and Gate 12 project for an amount not to 
exceed $1,546,852.00.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Singhania with all 
Commissioners present voting in favor of the motion. 
 

15. Approval of Executive Director/CEO and Commissioners’ travel for the months of January, 
February and March 2023. 
 
Staff shared a list of upcoming travel through the month of March. Commissioner Santos 
noted he will not be able to attend the POWERS Conference. Commissioner Hoss noted that 
all Commissioners will attend Brazoria County Day and three will attend Texas Ports Day at 
the Capitol. Ms. Saathoff noted a day may be added to the AAPA Legislative Summit for 
staff to possibly visit the Volkswagen facility in Baltimore.  Commissioner Santos and 
Commissioner Pirtle noted interest in attending the NWC Legislative Summit.  



Commissioner Singhania and Commissioner Santos noted interest in attending the AAPA 
Legislative Summit. 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Singhania to approve the travel. The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Santos with all Commissioners present voting in favor of the 
motion. 
 

16. Discuss and consider rules and procedures for conducting Port Commission meetings. 
 
Mr. Randle began by addressing a question raised by Commissioner Singhania on whether or 
not the second half of Section 1.01(b) should be included… unless otherwise specified or 
reduced because of a legal conflict of interest.  Mr. Randle has reviewed and in looking at 
Section 3.03(b)…it says it will never be less than four (4) votes.  He stated it will always be 
four votes whether one member or two members have a conflict.  If more than two members 
have a conflict, the conflict is waived by state law Section 171.004, and everyone will vote. 
He stated there is no conflict, that its reconcilable with 3.03 adding that 1.01(b) states the law 
and then its further defined in 3.03.  
 
Mr. Randle then went over the following changes (in yellow) that were discussed at the 
previous meeting… 
 
Section 1.02 Absence or Loss of a Quorum 
(b) If the remaining Commissioners do not equal four (4), a quorum shall be considered lost if 
a Port Commissioner departs from the Port Commission Meeting or leaves the room in which 
the Port Commission Meeting is being held.  
 
(c) A Commissioner who is attending via video is not considered present for establishing a 
quorum but may participate and vote in all Port Freeport business. If a member appearing by 
video is no longer visible and able to be heard, the Port Commission Meeting will be paused 
for a reasonable period of time to attempt to re-establish the connection. If the connection is 
not re-established after a reasonable period of time, the Port Commission Meeting will 
continue with those Commissioners in attendance.  
 
Section 3.03 Counting Votes. 

 
(b) Abstention. Should a Port Commissioner abstain from a vote required by law, then the 
majority vote required shall never be less than four (4) votes, provided that any abstention not 
required by law shall be counted as a vote against the matter under consideration. In accordance 
with Section 171.004 of the Local Government Code, in the event that there are more than two 
(2) abstentions as required law, then all Port Commissioners having such legal conflicts shall 
not be required to abstain from further participation in the matter, as a majority of the Port 
Commission is then composed of persons who have similar interests in the same official action.  
 
(c) Tied Vote. In the event of a tie, a Motion always fails since an affirmative vote of at least 
four (4) Port Commissioners is required to pass any Motion unless otherwise provided herein. 

 
(d) Other Voting Requirements. In all cases except otherwise provided herein, the minimum 
number of Port Commissioners required to vote for a Motion shall be four (4) Commissioners. 
In cases of vacancies on or appointments to the Port Commission, the minimum number of 
Port Commissioners required to vote for an appointment shall be three (3) Commissioners.  



 
Commissioner Giesecke recalled the voting requirement was reduced to three solely in the 
appointment of a person to fill a vacancy on the Commission. Mr. Randle stated the first 
sentence says four, then if you have vacancies, its reduced to three.  Commissioner Giesecke 
suggested adding the language to fill a vacancy on the Commission to the last sentence for 
clarification to read, the minimum number of Port Commissioners required to vote for an 
appointment to fill a vacancy on the Commission shall be three (3) Commissioners.    
 
Section 3.09 
(a) Motion to Adjourn. The Port Commission may adjourn if there is no objection made to 
adjournment. Upon such objection, a Motion to Adjourn requires a simple majority vote. If 
passed, this motion requires the Port Commission to immediately adjourn to its next regularly 
scheduled Meeting.  
 
Commissioner Hoss suggested dropping the word “regularly” from the last sentence to 
read…adjourn to its next scheduled Meeting.  
 
Commissioner Hoss also commented on 3.09(e)1 suggesting that the second sentence should 
read…Even with a time limit, it requires a majority vote of the Port Commission, rather than 
two-thirds vote for wording to remain consistent with the rest of the document. 
 
Section 3.10 
(c) Motion to Modify or Suspend the Rules. This Motion allows the Port Commission to modify 

or suspend these Rules for a particular purpose.  
 

(d) Motion to Adopt or Modify Policy. This Motion allows the Port Commission to adopt or 
modify the policies of Port Freeport.  

 
Commissioner Giesecke had one adjustment to the Rules of Order Resource Sheet (cheat 
sheet) stating that on the first page under Counting Votes - Abstention, it still has the 
language saying, “the majority votes shall be reduced by the Commissioners abstaining.” He 
suggested dropping the words “shall be reduced” since it will always be four votes. 
 
With regard to the Election Policy, there was only one adjustment… 
 
Section II (3) 
i. Tie Vote. In cases of a tied vote, meaning that two or more candidates have received the 
same number of votes, a vote shall be taken again. In cases of a second tied vote, the tie shall 
be broken, and the office filled through the drawing of lots, meaning that the names of the 
candidates receiving the same number of votes shall be written on individual pieces of paper 
and one shall be selected at random (e.g., picked out of a hat). The candidate whose name 
was drawn shall then fill the position then being considered. 
 
Commissioner Croft questioned if the validity of an item being passed is affected when you 
advertently violate one of the rules within the procedures.  Mr. Randle stated it is not affected 
and it is specifically stated in the very first paragraph of the Rules of Order, next to the last 
sentence…  
 
Parliamentary procedures provide a framework within which a governmental entity may 
propose, amend, approve, or defeat matters to the regulating body. While not required, the Port 



Commission of Port Freeport believes that the adoption of these Port Freeport Rules of Order 
(these “Rules”) will help facilitate Meetings of the Port Commission, making such Meetings 
more efficient and providing security against procedural deficiencies while ensuring 
compliance with Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code (i.e., the Texas Open Meetings 
Act). These Rules do not affect the legality of any item passed on any agenda. These Rules 
may be amended from time-to-time, upon action of the Port Commission, but should always 
be found to be based upon the following pillars: 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Pirtle to accept and approve all three documents as 
presented with corrections discussed.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Giesecke 
with all Commissioners present voting in favor of the motion. 

 
17. EXECUTIVE SESSION in accordance with Subchapter D of the Open Meetings Act, Texas 

Government Code Section 551.001, et. seq., to review and consider the following: 
  

A. Under authority of Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney) for discussion 
regarding: 

 

1. Consultation with attorney under Government Code Section 551.071(1) (to seek or 
receive attorney’s advice on pending or contemplated litigation or a settlement offer). 
 

2. Consultation with attorney under Government Code Section 551.071(2) (to seek or 
receive attorney’s advice on legal matters that are not related to litigation). 
 

B. Under authority of Section 551.087 (Economic Development Negotiations or Incentives): 
 

1. To discuss or deliberate regarding commercial or financial information that the 
governmental body has received from a business prospect that the governmental body 
seeks to have locate, stay or expand in or near the territory of the governmental body 
and with which the governmental body is conducting economic development 
negotiations. 
 

2. To deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to a business prospect 
described by Subdivision (1). 
 

C. Under authority of Section 551.072 (Deliberation Concerning Real Property Matters) for 
discussion regarding: 
 

1. Discussion regarding the potential exchange, lease, or value of real property located 
in Freeport, Texas, including but not limited to the are known as the East End of 
Freeport and bordered by or adjacent to the following streets: FM1495; East 2nd 
Street; Terminal Street and East 8th Street in Freeport, Texas.  
 

2. The potential purchase, exchange, lease, or value of real property located at Port 
Freeport, including but not limited to the real property located at and contiguous to 
Berths 1, 2, 5, 7 and 8. 
 

3. The potential exchange, lease, or value of real property located at Port Freeport, 
including but not limited to Parcels 14, 19, 27, 34 and property on Quintana Island. 

 
18. RECONVENE OPEN SESSION: 

 
19. Adjourn. 

 



With no further business before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at 5:47 PM. 
 

 
                       
John Hoss, Chairman     Rudy Santos, Vice Chairman 

 

                                    
Dan Croft, Secretary     Rob Giesecke, Asst. Secretary  

 

                            
Ravi K. Singhania, Commissioner  Shane Pirtle, Commissioner 



 

 
 

1100 CHERRY ST. • FREEPORT, TX 77541 
(979) 233-2667 • 1 (800) 362-5743 • FAX: (979) 373-0023 

WWW.PORTFREEPORT.COM 
 

PORT COMMISSION 
 

JOHN HOSS, CHAIRMAN; RUDY SANTOS, VICE CHAIRMAN; DAN CROFT, SECRETARY; ROB GIESECKE, ASST. SECRETARY;  
RAVI K. SINGHANIA, COMMISSIONER; SHANE PIRTLE, COMMISSIONER; PHYLLIS SAATHOFF, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR/CEO 

 

 
 M E M O R A N D U M 
 
    
             TO:  Phyllis Saathoff, Executive Director/CEO 
      
       FROM: Darlene Winkler, Communications Specialist 
    
        DATE: January 26, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Public Affairs – January 2023 
              

 
PUBLIC AFFAIRS 
 
Communications and Media 
 
Staff continues to post on social media port facts, press releases, safety awareness, hurricane 
preparedness, and other information pertinent to our community. 
 
COVID-19 – The website and various social media channels are being maintained as a resource to 
the public for information on COVID-19 as it relates to Port Freeport and the community. 
 
Freeport Harbor Channel Marine Traffic – The website is being maintained as a resource to the 
Freeport Harbor Channel community for information on marine traffic related to FHCIP dredging. 
Orion is currently performing dry excavation work in the bend east of P66.  No impact to vessel 
traffic.  Channel dredging is expected to resume by 2nd quarter 2023. Updates will be posted 
accordingly. 
 
Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project – Staff continues to respond to inquiries from the 
public regarding Port Freeport and the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project, as well as 
maintain updated information on both www.portfreeport.com and 
www.portfreeportbondelection.com.   
 
Print and Social Media Monitoring – Staff continues to monitor publications, newspapers, 
agendas, and social media for matters pertaining to Port Freeport, Port Freeport’s partners, and the 
harbor community. 
 
Press Releases and News Postings –– No press releases were distributed in late December. 

http://www.portfreeport.com/
http://www.portfreeportbondelection.com/


 
 
 
Public Affairs – January 2023 
Page 2 
 
 
Port Events 
 
Community Advisory Panel (C.A.P.) – Proposed dates for future C.A.P. meetings are listed below. 
 
Tuesday, March 21st  
Tuesday, June 6th 
Tuesday, September 12th 
Tuesday, December 5th 
 
Port Freeport Take-A-Child Fishing Tournament (TACFT) – SAVE THE DATES! The 23rd 
Annual Port Freeport Take-A-Child Fishing Tournament will be held Saturday, May 6, 2023, at the 
Freeport Municipal Park.  The Captain’s Dinner will be held on Thursday, May 4, 2023, at the River 
Place in Freeport.  
 
The Public Affairs staff has officially kicked off the annual logo drawing contest with a February 17th 
deadline for the drawing entries.  The logo contest entry forms have been approved and distributed to 
school districts within the navigation district. Tournament sponsorships are being sought.  You may 
forward any contacts from businesses or individuals that have an interest in becoming a sponsor to 
Darlene Winkler.  
 
Port Freeport Golf Tournament – Monday, October 16, 2023, is the tentative date for the 12th Annual 
Golf Tournament at The Wilderness.  
 
Port Presentations, Tours, and Meetings 
January 10 – American Council of Engineering Companies virtual (Phyllis speaker) 
January 10 - CP Chem Port Briefing & Tour (Phyllis and Jason Miura) 
January 23 - The Alliance Transportation Committee Meeting, Pearland (Phyllis speaker) 
January 24 - City of Rosenberg Port Presentation and Tour (Mike Wilson, presenter) 
February 2 - Mid-Coast Region Joint ACIT & ABC Membership Luncheon (TBA) 
 
Community Events and Meetings 
Weekly – Business Roundtable Virtual Meetings (speakers vary)  
January 4 - Highway 36A Coalition January Luncheon 
January 5 - Angleton Chamber of Commerce Awards & Chairman Speech Luncheon 
January 19 - Angleton Chamber of Commerce Annual Heritage Gala 
January 21 – Brazoria County Parks Dunes Day 
January 21 – Boys and Girl Club of Brazoria County Annual Gala 
 
Upcoming Community Events and Meetings 
February 2 – The Alliance State of the County Luncheon 
February 2 – Brazoria County Hispanic Chamber of Commerce Annual Gala 
February 23- Angleton Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors Meeting (Phyllis invited ex-officio) 
February 28 – Brazoria County Day 
March 2 – Junior Achievement Celebrity Waiter Banquet 
March 4 – Brazoria Heritage Foundation Heritage Celebration 



January 26, 2023
Rob Lowe | Chief Financial Officer

FinancialReport for December31, 2022



2

$0 $2,000,000 $4,000,000 $6,000,000 $8,000,000 $10,000,000 $12,000,000

Total Operating Revenues

Cargo Revenues

Lease Revenues

$10,771,455

$7,766,236

$3,005,219

$10,147,342

$6,992,734

$3,154,608

$6,812,491

$3,341,949

$3,470,542

Prior Year
Budget
Current Year

COMPARISON:
• Operating revenues are down over PY 37% and budget 33%
• Cargo revenues below PY by 57%; budget by 52%
• As compared to budget, cargo volumes are up in agriculture products, containerized cargo , ro-ro and project cargo
• Lease revenues are above PY 15% and are 10% above budget

FY 2023 YTD OPERATING REVENUES



3

FY 2023 YTD OPERATING EXPENSE

$0 $1,000,000 $2,000,000 $3,000,000 $4,000,000 $5,000,000 $6,000,000 $7,000,000

Total Op Expense

Depr & Maint

Other Op Exp

$4,719,264

$2,260,728

$2,458,536

$6,072,474

$2,902,496

$3,169,978

$5,082,954

$2,427,285

$2,655,669

Prior Year

Budget

Current Year

COMPARISON:
• Total operating expenses are above prior year by 8%, below budget 16%
• Depr & maint are 7% above the PY and 16% below budget
• Other expenses are 8% above PY and below budget by 16%



FY 2023 YTD OPERATING INCOME

$0 $1,000,000 $2,000,000 $3,000,000 $4,000,000 $5,000,000 $6,000,000 $7,000,000

$6,052,191

$6,319,357

$4,074,868

$6,724,527

$1,729,537

$6,540,007

Prior Year

Budget

Current Year

Operating Income

Tax Levy

COMPARISON:
• Operating income is 71% below PY and above budget 58%

4



FY 2023 YTD CHANGE IN NET POSITION
Change in Net Position

• Non-Operating Revenue (Expense) includes Ad Valorum Taxes, Investment Income, Debt Service and Gain (Loss) on 
Sale of Assets

• Drivers for comparison to budget are primarily timing of capital contribution projects.

5

Year To Date YTD Budget Total 2023 Budget
Operating Income 1,729,537$                      4,074,868$                      15,971,000$                      

Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses) 4,919,170$                      4,485,728$                      (3,136,000)$                       

Capital Contributed (To) From Others
  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project (65,000)$                          -$                                  (60,932,700)$                    

Grants -$                                  152,150$                         24,763,800$                      

Emergency Recovery Efforts -$                                  -$                                  -$                                    

Change In Net Position 6,583,707$                      8,712,746$                      (23,333,900)$                    


Dec 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2023 Budget

		Operating Income		$   1,729,537		$   4,074,868		$   15,971,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   4,919,170		$   4,485,728		$   (3,136,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (65,000)		$   - 0		$   (60,932,700)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   152,150		$   24,763,800

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   6,583,707		$   8,712,746		$   (23,333,900)





Nov 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2023 Budget

		Operating Income		$   1,169,497		$   1,154,333		$   15,971,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   5,492,029		$   5,237,796		$   (3,136,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (65,000)		$   - 0		$   (60,932,700)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   24,763,800

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   6,596,526		$   6,392,129		$   (23,333,900)





Oct 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2023 Budget

		Operating Income		$   623,902		$   560,254		$   15,971,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   6,042,898		$   5,989,864		$   (3,136,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (65,000)		$   - 0		$   (60,932,700)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   24,763,800

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   6,601,800		$   6,550,118		$   (23,333,900)





Sept 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   27,152,641		$   18,424,600		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (2,444,574)		$   (2,942,000)		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (45,619,399)		$   (31,050,000)		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   143,492		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (192,001)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   (20,959,841)		$   (15,142,400)		$   (15,142,400)





Aug 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   17,543,360		$   17,127,866		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (1,744,562)		$   (2,105,947)		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (45,469,509)		$   (31,050,000)		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   143,056		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (169,207)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   (29,696,862)		$   (15,603,081)		$   (15,142,400)





July 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   17,099,492		$   15,589,736		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (676,249)		$   (1,271,028)		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (45,323,009)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   143,056		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (161,745)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   (28,918,455)		$   14,743,708		$   (15,142,400)





June 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   16,612,746		$   14,052,857		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (722,215)		$   (236,109)		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,361,161)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   140,549		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (161,745)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   14,508,174		$   14,241,748		$   (15,142,400)





May 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   15,917,270		$   12,506,189		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   99,032		$   515,483		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,208,237)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   140,549		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (161,745)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   14,786,869		$   13,446,672		$   (15,142,400)





Apr 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   13,886,628		$   10,968,768		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   815,051		$   1,267,075		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,208,237)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   140,549		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (140,195)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   13,493,796		$   12,660,843		$   (15,142,400)





Mar 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   12,333,766		$   9,429,097		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   1,494,025		$   2,018,667		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,061,737)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   50,000		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   109,561		$   375,000		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (140,195)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   12,735,420		$   11,872,764		$   (15,142,400)





Feb 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   10,208,959		$   7,914,463		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   2,652,250		$   2,770,258		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (896,737)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   109,561		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (140,195)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   11,933,838		$   10,684,721		$   (15,142,400)





Jan 22

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   8,020,783		$   6,307,222		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   3,147,260		$   3,521,849		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (748,547)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   109,561		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (34,294)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   10,494,763		$   9,829,071		$   (15,142,400)





Dec 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   6,052,191		$   4,786,572		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   3,972,504		$   4,260,940		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (551,547)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (34,294)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   9,438,854		$   9,047,512		$   (15,142,400)





Nov 21 (2)

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   3,791,662		$   3,183,545		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   4,894,405		$   5,000,031		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (221,583)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (34,294)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   8,430,190		$   8,183,576		$   (15,142,400)





Nov 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   3,791,662		$   3,183,545		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   4,894,405		$   5,000,031		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (221,583)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)				error, Luz left on

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (34,294)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   8,430,190		$   8,183,576		$   (17,142,400)





Oct 21 (2)

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   2,052,219		$   1,594,645		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   5,478,267		$   5,739,122		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (221,583)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (2,537)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   7,306,366		$   7,333,767		$   (15,142,400)





Oct 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2022 Budget

		Operating Income		$   2,052,219		$   1,594,645		$   18,424,600

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   5,478,267		$   5,739,122		$   (2,942,000)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (221,583)		$   - 0		$   (31,050,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   - 0

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   375,000

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (2,537)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   7,306,366		$   7,333,767		$   (17,142,400)





Sept 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   20,284,050		$   11,338,000		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (2,055,827)		$   (2,702,200)		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (15,196,316)		$   (35,800,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)		$   (2,000,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   1,051

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   - 0		$   (28,587,000)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   43,200		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   246,000		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   11,092		$   245,300		$   245,300

		Emergency Recovery Efforts		$   (8,860)		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Change In Net Position		$   3,324,390		$   (57,468,400)		$   (57,468,400)





Aug 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   18,775,586		$   10,334,161		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (1,155,800)		$   (1,868,747)		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (14,435,939)		$   (3,800,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)		$   (2,000,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   1,051

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (23,819,481)		$   (28,587,000)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   43,200		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   246,000		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   245,300		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   (20,345,383)		$   (25,638,786)		$   (57,468,400)





July 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   17,021,838		$   9,667,023		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (228,000)		$   (1,036,464)		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (14,435,939)		$   (3,800,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)		$   (2,000,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   1,051

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (23,790,541)		$   (28,587,000)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   43,200		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   246,000		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   245,300		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   (21,142,391)		$   (25,473,641)		$   (57,468,400)





June 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   15,288,039		$   9,009,255		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   446,751		$   (202,889)		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (5,986,272)		$   (3,800,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)		$   (2,000,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   1,051

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (22,709,324)		$   (28,587,000)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   43,200		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   246,000		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   (12,670,555)		$   (25,543,134)		$   (57,468,400)





may 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   13,523,301		$   8,285,545		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   1,155,498		$   926,420		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (4,398,304)		$   (3,800,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)		$   (2,000,000)

		Brazoria-Ft. Bend County Rail District		$   1,051

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (22,679,758)		$   (28,587,000)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   43,200		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   246,000		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   (12,109,012)		$   (25,137,535)		$   (57,468,400)





Apr 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   11,608,137		$   7,506,779		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   1,882,144		$   1,596,575		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (4,398,304)		$   (3,500,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (17,134,963)		$   (26,700,500)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   43,200		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Dredge Material Placement Fees		$   246,000		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   (7,753,786)		$   (21,059,646)		$   (57,468,400)





Mar 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   10,044,980		$   6,547,752		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   2,546,692		$   2,261,694		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (3,993,310)		$   (3,500,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (17,092,952)		$   (23,375,500)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   37,500		$   37,500

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   (8,494,590)		$   (18,028,554)		$   (57,468,400)





Feb 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   8,029,047		$   5,745,018		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   3,279,022		$   3,291,811		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (3,853,571)		$   (3,500,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (2,314,464)		$   (13,115,500)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   37,500

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   5,140,034		$   (7,578,671)		$   (57,468,400)





Jan 21

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   6,493,821		$   3,679,490		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   4,083,257		$   3,862,228		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (3,282,828)		$   (3,500,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (2,287,453)		$   (9,695,500)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   37,500

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   5,006,797		$   (5,653,782)		$   (57,468,400)





Dec 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   4,614,332		$   2,501,164		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   4,741,981		$   4,432,646		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (2,582,463)		$   (3,500,000)		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (906,491)		$   (836,750)		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   37,500

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   5,867,359		$   2,597,060		$   (57,468,400)





Nov 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   3,124,812		$   1,483,610		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   4,768,838		$   4,998,064		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (586,986)		$   - 0		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (378,574)		$   - 0		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   37,500

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   6,928,090		$   6,481,674		$   (57,468,400)





Oct 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2021 Budget

		Operating Income		$   1,746,891		$   619,932		$   11,338,000

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   5,384,866		$   5,563,482		$   (2,702,200)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (586,986)		$   - 0		$   (35,800,000)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (2,000,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (225,062)		$   - 0		$   (28,587,000)

		  Contributed to Port		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   37,500

		Grants		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   245,300



		Change In Net Position		$   6,319,709		$   6,183,414		$   (57,468,400)





Sept 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2020 Budget

		Operating Income		$   15,027,595		$   15,926,700		$   15,926,700

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   (143,479)		$   (298,900)		$   (298,900)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (7,952,155)		$   (18,845,800)		$   (18,845,800)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   (107,686)		$   (500,000)		$   (500,000)

		  Brazoria-Fort Bend Rail District		$   (30,000)		$   (75,000)		$   (75,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (220,404)		$   (29,500,000)		$   (29,500,000)

		  Berth 8 Dredging		$   - 0		$   (8,000,000)		$   (8,000,000)

		Grants		$   139,833		$   373,100		$   373,100



		Change In Net Position		$   6,713,704		$   (40,919,900)		$   (40,919,900)





Aug 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2020 Budget

		Operating Income		$   14,737,726		$   15,079,658		$   15,926,700

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   560,539		$   229,363		$   (298,900)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (7,741,861)		$   (12,000,000)		$   (18,845,800)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   (107,686)		$   (500,000)		$   (500,000)

		  Brazoria-Fort Bend Rail District		$   - 0		$   (75,000)		$   (75,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (219,439)		$   (29,500,000)		$   (29,500,000)

		  Berth 8 Dredging		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (8,000,000)

		Grants		$   460		$   373,100		$   373,100



		Change In Net Position		$   7,229,739		$   (26,392,879)		$   (40,919,900)





July 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2020 Budget

		Operating Income		$   13,739,374		$   14,072,042		$   15,926,700

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   1,006,646		$   754,028		$   (298,900)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,729,514)		$   (12,000,000)		$   (18,845,800)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   (100,271)		$   (500,000)		$   (500,000)

		  Brazoria-Fort Bend Rail District		$   - 0		$   (75,000)		$   (75,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (196,287)		$   (29,500,000)		$   (29,500,000)

		  Berth 8 Dredging		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (8,000,000)

		Grants		$   460		$   373,100		$   373,100



		Change In Net Position		$   12,720,408		$   (26,875,830)		$   (40,919,900)





june 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2020 Budget

		Operating Income		$   13,552,197		$   12,876,534		$   15,926,700

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   1,685,905		$   1,282,499		$   (298,900)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,674,862)		$   (12,000,000)		$   (18,845,800)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   (66,802)		$   (500,000)		$   (500,000)

		  Brazoria-Fort Bend Rail District		$   - 0		$   (75,000)		$   (75,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (191,464)		$   (25,700,000)		$   (29,500,000)

		  Berth 8 Dredging		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (8,000,000)

		Grants		$   460		$   373,100		$   373,100



		Change In Net Position		$   13,305,434		$   (23,742,867)		$   (40,919,900)





May 20

		Change in Net Position

				Year To Date		YTD Budget		Total 2020 Budget

		Operating Income		$   13,178,177		$   11,696,104		$   15,926,700

		Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)		$   2,417,305		$   1,810,970		$   (298,900)

		Capital Contributed (To) From Others

		  Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project		$   (1,648,715)		$   (12,000,000)		$   (18,845,800)

		  Berth 2 Floodwall Modifications		$   (56,402)		$   (500,000)		$   (500,000)

		  Brazoria-Fort Bend Rail District		$   - 0		$   (75,000)		$   (75,000)

		  Levee Stabilization - Reach 2		$   (185,676)		$   (21,950,000)		$   (29,500,000)

		  Berth 8 Dredging		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   (8,000,000)

		Grants		$   460		$   373,100		$   373,100



		Change In Net Position		$   13,705,149		$   (20,644,826)		$   (40,919,900)







FY 2023 YTD CASH FLOWS

COMPARISON:
• Operating cash flow is positive 

due to increase in operating 
revenues

• Cash provided from non cap 
financing are tax levy 
collections

• Capital Financing funds used for 
capital improvements. 

Cash Flow Measure Current Year Prior Year

Cash Provided by Operations $ 2,874,435 $ 4,276,382

Cash Provided by Non-Cap 
Financing 2,411,224 2,224,029

Cash Used by Cap Financing (9,149,124) (7,927,449)

Cash Provided by Investing 
Activities 651,391 227,595

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash ($ 3,212,074) ($ 1,199,443)

6



FY 2023 STATISTICS

Measure Current Year Prior Year Budget

Operating Margin 25% 56% 40%

Current Ratio
(unrestricted) 4.0 to 1 5.6 to 1 n/a

Debt to Net Assets Ratio 1.180 to 1 1.101 to 1 n/a

7



ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AGING

Year 0-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days Over 90 days

December 31, 2022
FY 2023

93%
$3,033,673

4%
$136,264

2%
$51,929

1%
$24,542

December 31, 2021
FY 2022

93%
$5,695,716

3%
$155,298

0%
$25,289

4%
$269,532

December 31, 2020
FY 2021

93%
$3,636,087

6%
$226,532

0%
$10,000

1%
$39,930

8



Questions and Comments?









 

    

PORT FREEPORT  

OPERATIONS ACTIVITY SUMMARY  

DECEMBER 2022 
 

A. MONTHLY ACTIVITY EXPLANATION 

 

* Total import/export activity for the month of December was as expected. 

* LNG did not experience any vessels this month. 

* Riviana did not experience any vessels this month. 

* Vulcan Material did not experience any vessels this month. 

* Total ( 13 ) RoRo vessels handled. 

* Tenaris experienced ( 3 ) vessels, ( 7 ) barges and ( 148 ) railcars this month. 

* Total of ( 9 ) Container vessel calls. 

* CEMEX transferred product from truck to ( 4 ) rail cars. 

* Vulcan Material handled ( 189 ) rail cars this month. 

* Average vessel activity in 2022 was 38 per month.  This month, we handled 26 vessels (0 LNG & 26 

Inner Harbor).   

* Enterprise/Seaway received ( 13  ) vessels. 

* There were ( 83 ) Total Vessel arrivals Port wide.  

 

 

B. FISCAL YEAR ACTIVITY EXPLANATION 

 

* Total Tons for this year are as expected. This is due to the transition of vessel calls by LNG and 

additional calls of Steel Bars and RoRo vessels. 

* LNG has handled ( 0 ) vessels for export. 

* Tenaris has handled ( 7 ) vessels, ( 20 ) barges and ( 390 ) railcars. 

* Total ( 35 ) RoRo vessels handled. 

* YTD ( 27 ) Container vessel calls. 

* CEMEX handled ( 46 ) railcars with 2,464 Tons of Co2. 

* Vulcan handled ( 284 ) railcars with 32,638  Tons of Limestone and ( 0 ) Vessels. 

* Total vessels handled this fiscal year is 73 compared to 143 last year ( 0 LNG & 73 Inner Harbor).   

* Enterprise Seaway Vessels Year-to-date ( 35 ) 

* Total Port wide Vessels Fiscal Year-to-date ( 249 ) 

 

* Total Vehicles Handled Year-to-date ( 35,725 ) 

* Total Containers Handled ( 10,779 ) 

* Total Railcars Handled ( 730 ) 

 

 

 

 



 

    

C. INSIGHT TO ACTIVITY FOR JANUARY 2023 

* LNG has scheduled ( 0 ) vessels.   

* Riviana Foods has scheduled ( 1 ) vessel. 

* Vulcan Material has scheduled ( 0 ) vessels and ( 189 ) Railcars for January. 

* Expecting to handle ( 10 ) RoRo vessels. 

* Tenaris has ( 4 ) vessels, ( 9 ) barges and ( 0 ) Railcars planned. 

* Expecting ( 8 ) Container vessels. 

 

D. OPERATIONAL MEETINGS AND AGENDAS 

* OPTS, Safety, Security – Working with Gulf Stevedores and Oceanus to “Set up” Terminal Operations in 

preparation of their 1st vessel. 

* Safety – Christine Lewis- Hosted the “Quarterly Tenant Safety” meeting.  Also conducted a safety “Walk About” 

with Chiquita. 

* Security – Chris Hogan – Worked closely with Port Operations and Port Maintenance to prepare Port 

Facilities for Pending Severe Weather Forecast. 

* Austin – Attended the Committee Meeting for the “RoRo Rodeo” with WGMA to be hosted in Freeport. 

* Holly – Reviewing the Application for a “New” Stevedore License. 

* Jesse- Austin- Attended the Safety “Walk About” with Chiquita.  

* Hannah- Weather Conditions over the Holidays, stressed the Vessel Scheduling. 

* Austin - Jesse – Attended Several “PCT” calls due to drastic weather changes, 1st severe cold then dense 

fog conditions. 

* Jesse - Al- Don – Attended OSS Advisory Committee on January 9th. 



1100 CHERRY ST., FREEPORT, TX  77541
(979) 233-2667    1 (800) 362-5743    FAX: (979) 373-0023

Interim Financial Report 
(unaudited) 

For the Period ending: 

PORT COMMISSION

JOHN HOSS, CHAIRMAN; RUDY SANTOS, VICE CHAIRMAN; DAN CROFT, SECRETARY; ROB GIESECKE, ASST. SECRETARY; 

RAVI K. SINGHANIA, COMMISSIONER; SHANE PIRTLE, COMMISSIONER; PHYLLIS SAATHOFF, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR/CEO

December 31, 2022 



CONTENTS 

Page No 

Section I – Financial Report 

Management Narrative 1 

Balance Sheet 6 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
  Changes in Fund Net Assets 7 

Statement of Cash Flows 8 

Notes to Financial Statements  9 

Section II – Management Reports 

Operating Expenses by Department 10 

Velasco Terminal Statement of Revenues 
  and Expenses 12 

Port Improvement Projects Summary 13 

Section III – Other Reports 

Quarterly Investment Report 14 

Check Register Report 18 



Management Narrative 
 
 
For the first quarter  of Fiscal Year 2023, the Port remained on a sound  financial foundation 
although operating revenues were 33% under planned levels.  Operating expenses were under 
planned levels and are below budget by a factor of 16%.  These factors combined have contributed 
to producing an operating profit of $1,729,537 and an operating margin of 25%, which is below 
planned performance levels by 58% or $2,345,331 and is $4,322,654 or 71% below prior year’s 
results.  This is primarily due to the delay of Freeport LNG startup and the related budgeted 
business interruption claim which is pending processing.  
 
The Port’s overall position remains strong as evidenced in a current ratio (unrestricted) of 4.0 to 
1, which reflects a strong liquidity position, and a debt ratio of 118.0% which is supported by our 
strong credit rating.  The following table provides additional summary level information. 
 

 
 

Variance % Var

Actuals Budget
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Operating revenues 6,812,491$       10,147,342$   (3,334,851)$   -33%
Operating expense 5,082,954         6,072,474       989,520          16%

Operating income (loss) 1,729,537         4,074,868       (2,345,331)     -58%
Operating margin 25.4% 40.2%

Net non operating revenues (expense) 4,854,170         4,485,728       368,442          8%
Capital contributions -                     152,150          (152,150)         0%
Net extraordinary revenue (expense) -                     -                   -                   0%

Change in net assets 6,583,707$       8,712,746$     (2,129,039)$   

Balance Sheet

Cash and cash equivalents 43,612,368$     
Lease receivable 180,406,546     
Current unrestricted assets 45,770,038       4.0 to 1
   (less lease receivable)
Total assets 689,673,323     
Current unrestricted liabilities 11,349,942       
Total liabilities 283,530,329     
Deferred inflow of resources 175,560,971     
Total Net Assets 230,582,023$   

Debt to Net Assets Ratio
118.0%

Year to Date

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Current ratio (unrestricted)
(Exclusive of GASB 87)

Unaudited 
Page 1 of 32



The balance of this narrative provides detailed explanations and supplementary information for 
the variances when comparing budget to actual for the period ended December 31, 2022. 
 
 

OPERATING REVENUES 
 

 
 
Total operating revenues for the period ending December 31, 2022, are $6,812,491.  This is 
$3,334,851 or 33% below planned levels.  The following provide more specific explanations for 
variances in revenue: 
 
Wharfage revenue stands at $1,278,815, which is under budget by $715,330 or 36%.  The 
following is a brief analysis of wharfage results by cargo category: 
 

 
 

Dockage revenue stands at $692,458, consistent with wharfage revenues, which is $547,889 or 
44% below budgeted levels.  Year-to-date ship calls are 73 compared to a budget of 95.   
 

 $800,000

 $1,300,000

 $1,800,000

 $2,300,000

 $2,800,000

 $3,300,000

 $3,800,000

 $4,300,000

 $4,800,000

 $5,300,000

 Oct.  Nov.  Dec.

Operating Revenues

 Average of Prior
3 Years

 FY2023

 FY2023 Budget

Linear ( Average
of Prior 3 Years )

Linear ( FY2023 )

3  
Months Year Over % Over
Budget To Date (Under) (Under)

Agriculture Products 65,750$             66,469$                     719$                              1%
Bulk Aggregate 36,400               -                                 (36,400)                          -100%
Containerized Cargo 365,940             387,705                     21,765                           6%
General Cargo 1,118,100          298,061                     (820,039)                        -73%
Project Cargo -                        10,410                       10,410                           0%
Ro-Ro Cargo 407,955             516,170                     108,215                         27%
Total 1,994,145$        1,278,815$                (715,330)$                      

Unaudited 
Page 2 of 32



Equipment use fees, stands at $334,918, which is over budget $9,055 or 3% due to crane and 
equipment usage.   
 
Security fees, consistent with wharfage and dockage, stand at $363,579, which is $23,628 or 6% 
below budget. 
 
Facility use fees are $357,058.  This is under budget by $2,342 or 1% due to reduced facility usage 
outside of tenant leased areas and reduced rail activity. 
 
Other customer service fees (Port service charges, incidental services, customer re-bills, water, 
etc.) are $314,089 which is $25,433 or 7% below budgeted levels. 
 
Ground leases stand at $3,249,212, which is $315,923 or 11% above budget levels due to 
increased area utilized by RoRo tenant. 
 
Other leases are $221,330, which is $11 above budget levels. 
 
Other revenue is $1,032, which is below budgeted levels. 
 
Business interruption claim funds were budgeted to be received in December; however, the claim 
is still being processed.   
 
 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

 
 
Total operating expenses are $5,082,954, which is under budget $989,520 or 16% for the period 
ended December 31, 2022.  Following are more specific explanations for variances in operating 

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

 $1,800,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,200,000

 Oct.  Nov.  Dec.

Operating Expenses

 Average of Prior 3
Years
 FY2022

 FY2023 Budget

Linear ( Average of
Prior 3 Years )
Linear ( FY2022 )

Unaudited 
Page 3 of 32



expenses: 
 
Port salaries/wages and benefits are $1,147,177.  This is $285,387 or 20% less than budget.  
Currently, there are six vacancies and one new position not filled when compared to Fiscal Year 
2023 Budget.  
 
Professional services are $656,497, which is under budget $69,121 or 10%.  Security services, at 
$537,946 is the majority of this budget item and is 9% below budgeted levels.  
 
Training, travel & promotional expenses are $107,793 which is under budget $121,536 or 53%.  
Following is a brief explanation of some of the sub-categories within this line item: 
 
o Commercial advertising is $11,306, which is below budgeted levels $26,206 or 70% due to timing 

or postponement of ad development (website) services. 
o Sales/promotional travel costs are $14,327 which is under budgeted levels by $16,080 or 53% due 

to timing of travel. 
o Governmental relations costs are $10,762 which is below budget by $2,164 or 17% due to 

timing of government related travel.  
o Community events are $13,344 which is below budgeted levels $4,112 or 23% due timing of 

events. 
o Technical training is $15,086 which is $23,119 or 61% under budget due to timing or 

postponement of training.  
 
Supplies are $39,590 which is $11,669 or 23% under budget.   
 
Utilities at $202,809 are under budget $10,930 or 5%.  City of Freeport is still having meter issues 
and therefore billing issues, so the water/sewer billing has been estimated.   
 
Business insurance is $385,099, which is $9,956 or 3% below budgeted levels. 
 
Other services and charges at $116,704 are $5,710 or 5% below budget.   
 
Maintenance and repair expenses at $199,866 are $171,091 or 46% below budget.  Following is 
a brief explanation of some of the repairs by facility/equipment type:   
 

o Repairs to the Emergency Operations Building VRV (HVAC) system was $2,030. 
o Security boat repairs were $5,100. 
o Emergency repairs to the truck scale were $20,792. 
o Repairs and replacement to transit shed 3 overhead doors were $13,875. 
o Emergency repairs to the HWY 36 rail crossing were $1,180. 
o Repairs to Quintana open storage yard were $18,781. 
o Repairs to the street sweeper were $4,189. 

 
Depreciation expense at $2,227,419 is $304,120 or 12% below budget levels due to timing of 

Unaudited 
Page 4 of 32



additions.  
 
Operating income is $1,729,537 compared to a total fiscal year budget of $15,971,000, shows a 
positive result for Fiscal Year 2023.   
 
 
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 
 
Ad Valorum tax collections are posted utilizing the certified appraised values less the related fees.  
Adjustments are made throughout the year from the tax office reports to reflect appraisal and tax 
office adjustments as well as prior year collections, penalty, and interest.  Year to date values are 
$6,540,007 compared to an annual budget of $6,672,300. 
 
Investment income is $669,429 which is above budget due to change in fair market values, 
increased funds invested, and interest rates.  Investment rates conditions are improving.   
 
Debt interest and fees are $2,290,266, which is $48,467 or 2% above budgeted levels.  The budget 
anticipated a general obligation bond issuance which has not been issued yet. 
 
Capital Contributions to Others budget includes $60,932,700 in contributions to the U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers for the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project.  There has been 
$65,000 in expense for this project.   
 
Grant Revenue budgeted for the Fiscal Year 2023 is $24,763,800.  There has been no in grant 
revenue for Fiscal Year 2023.  The grant revenue is funded on a reimbursement basis, so the capital 
contributions are recorded when the expenditures for each project are reported quarterly.  
 

Unaudited 
Page 5 of 32



12/31/2022 9/30/2022
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28,029,054$           34,588,852$           
  INVESTMENTS 10,072,586 9,986,124
  RECEIVABLES (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
    TRADE ACCOUNTS 3,214,848 3,475,052
    PROPERTY TAXES 2,210,731 72,018
    LEASE RECEIVABLE 180,406,546 180,406,546
    OTHER 2,528 4,927,326
    OTHER GOVERNMENTS 641,051 641,487
    ACCRUED INTEREST 1,880 626
  PREPAIDS 506,051 1,033,776
  INVENTORY 1,091,309 1,091,309
  TOTAL UNRESTRICTED CURRENT ASSETS 226,176,584$         236,223,116$         

  RESTRICTED ASSETS:
    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 15,583,314 29,895,456
    INVESTMENTS 24,280,277 6,706,873
    RECEIVABLES (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
      PROPERTY TAXES 2,028,779 38,709
      OTHER -                                683                           
      ACCRUED INTEREST 39,257 22,473
      BOND DISCOUNTS AND ISSUANCE COSTS 5,441 6,604
  TOTAL RESTRICTED ASSETS 41,937,068 36,670,798

  TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 268,113,652 272,893,914

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT:
  PROPERTY, PORT, AND FACILITIES 521,680,925 516,431,994
  LESS ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (100,121,254) (97,893,835)
  PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT NET 421,559,671 418,538,159

TOTAL ASSETS 689,673,323$         691,432,073$         

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7,660,226$             12,250,775$           
  EQUIPMENT LEASE PAYABLE 1,523,850                1,523,850                
  ACCRUED COMPENSATED ABSENCES 0 134,601
  UNEARNED LEASE INCOME 2,165,866 4,236,646
  TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 11,349,942$           18,145,872$           

  LIABILITIES PAYABLE FROM RESTRICTED ASSETS:
    ACCRUED BOND INTEREST PAYABLE 1,559,015 2,910,569
    BONDS PAYABLE 5,865,000                5,865,000                
  TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES FROM RESTRICTED ASSETS 7,424,015 8,775,569

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
    EQUIPMENT LEASE PAYABLE 1,558,990 1,558,990
    BONDS PAYABLE 242,170,000 242,170,000
    BOND PREMIUMS 21,027,382 21,222,354
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 264,756,372 264,951,344

TOTAL LIABILITIES 283,530,329$         291,872,785$         

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
    DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES 175,560,971 175,560,971
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES 175,560,971$         175,560,971$         

NET ASSETS
NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS 222,591,406$         219,424,654$         
RESTRICTED-DEBT SERVICE 16,265,071 12,959,784
RESTRICTED-CAPITAL PROJECTS (Corps) 12,296 12,346
RESTRICTED CONTRIBUTED TO OTHERS 6,426,402 6,580,882
RESERVE FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 17,668,842 14,200,612
UNRESTRICTED DEBT CONTRIBUTED TO OTHERS (73,171,515) (73,574,150)
UNRESTRICTED 40,789,521 44,394,189
TOTAL NET ASSETS 230,582,023$         223,998,317$         

PORT FREEPORT
BALANCE SHEET

Unaudited 
Page 6 of 32



3 TOTAL
YEAR PRIOR YEAR % OVER MONTHS % OVER 2022/2023

 TO DATE  TO DATE (UNDER) BUDGET (UNDER) BUDGET

OPERATING REVENUES:
  Wharfage 1,278,815$                3,642,572$                -65% 1,994,145$                -36% 12,546,200$             
  Dockage & deep water berth 692,458                     2,207,898                  -69% 1,240,347                  -44% 7,743,700                  
  Equipment & pallet use fees 334,918                     311,176                     8% 325,863                     3% 1,303,450                  
  Facility use fees 357,058                     379,772                     -6% 359,400                     -1% 1,437,600                  
  Security Fees 363,579                     733,957                     -50% 387,207                     -6% 2,294,250                  

  Other Customer Service Fees 314,089                     487,947                     -36% 339,522                     -7% 1,308,300                  
  Ground leases 3,249,212                  2,787,235                  17% 2,933,289                  11% 11,699,000                
  Other leases 221,330                     217,984                     2% 221,319                     0% 885,300                     
  GASB 87 Lease recognition -                                   -                                   0% -                                   0% -                              
  Other revenue 1,032                          2,914                          -65% 6,250                          -83% 25,000                        
  Business interruption Claim -                                   -                                   0% 2,340,000                  0% 2,340,000                  
  Total Operating Revenues 6,812,491                  10,771,455                -37% 10,147,342                -33% 41,582,800                

OPERATING EXPENSES:
  Port salaries/wages 851,459                     730,085                     17% 1,093,011                  -22% 4,494,200                  
  Port employee benefits 295,718                     278,414                     6% 339,553                     -13% 1,749,800                  
  Professional services 656,497                     508,482                     29% 725,618                     -10% 2,948,700                  
  Training, travel, and promotional 107,793                     117,607                     -8% 229,329                     -53% 879,900                     
  Supplies 39,590                        36,944                        7% 51,259                        -23% 176,200                     
  Utilities 202,809                     157,662                     29% 213,739                     -5% 854,900                     

   Business Insurance 385,099                     361,542                     7% 395,055                     -3% 1,672,300                  
  Other services & charges 116,704                     267,800                     -56% 122,414                     -5% 503,600                     
  Maintenance & repair 199,866                     296,890                     -33% 370,957                     -46% 1,225,400                  
  Depreciation 2,227,419                  1,963,838                  13% 2,531,539                  -12% 11,106,800                
  Total Operating Expenses 5,082,954                  4,719,264                  8% 6,072,474                  -16% 25,611,800                

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 1,729,537                  6,052,191                  -71% 4,074,868                  -58% 15,971,000                

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Ad Valorum tax collections 6,540,007                  6,319,357                  3% 6,724,527                  -3% 6,672,300                  
  Investment Income 669,429                     22,997                        2811% 3,000                          22214% 10,000                        
  Gain (loss) on sale of assets -                                   -                                   0% -                                   0% -                              
  Debt interest and fees (2,290,266)                 (2,369,850)                 -3% (2,241,799)                 2% (9,818,300)                 
  CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (TO) FROM OTHERS: 
   Freeport Harbor Improvement Project (65,000)                      (551,547)                    -88% -                                   0% (60,932,700)              
   OTHER:
    Total Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses) 4,854,170                  3,420,957                  42% 4,485,728                  8% (64,068,700)              

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS 6,583,707                  9,473,148                  -31% 8,560,596                  -23% (48,097,700)              
     AND EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSE

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS:
    Grants:

   Grants Port-Freeport -                                   -                                   0% 152,150                     -100% 24,763,800                
   Total Capital Contributions-Grants -                                   -                                   0% 152,150                     -100% 24,763,800                

EXTRAORDINARY ITEM
   Emergency Recovery Efforts - Hurricane -                              (34,294)                      -100% -                              0% -                              

     Net Extraordinary Income (Expense) -                              (34,294)                      -100% -                              0% -                              

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 6,583,707$                9,438,854$                -30% 8,712,746$                -24% (23,333,900)$            

PORT FREEPORT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

December 31, 2022

Unaudited 
Page 7 of 32



YEAR TO DATE

PRIOR YEAR 

TO DATE

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Operating Income (Loss) 1,729,537$       6,052,191$      

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Flows

from Operating Activities:

Depreciation 2,227,419         1,963,838        

Dredge Material Placement Fees -                         -                       

Change in Assets and Liabilities:

Trade receivables 260,203            (1,060,825)      

Other receivables 4,924,798         35,204             

Lease Receivable -                         

Deferred inflow of resources -                         

Inventories -                         (27,193)           

Prepaid and Other 528,408            308,768           

Accounts payable (4,590,549)        (908,518)         

Deferred lease income (2,070,780)        (1,948,860)      

Accrued compensated absences (134,601)           (138,223)         

Total Cash Provided from (Used for) Operating Activities 2,874,435         4,276,382        

Cash Flows from Non-capital Financing Activities:

Property tax receipts 2,453,656         2,267,838        

Property tax collection expense (42,432)             (9,515)              

Emergency Recovery Efforts - Disaster Related -                         (34,294)           

Total Cash Provided from (Used for) Non-capital Financing Activities 2,411,224         2,224,029        

Cash Flows from Capital Financing Activities:

Principal payments under debt obligations -                         -                       

Interest and fees paid under debt obligations (3,835,629)        (3,651,126)      

Proceeds from sale of long-term debt obligations -                         -                       

Land, capital improvement, and equipment purchases (5,248,931)        (3,735,868)      

Other capital acquisition (costs) or recoveries, extraordinary -                         -                       

Capital contributions (65,000)             (551,547)         

Gants received 436                    11,092             

Proceeds from sale/disposal of capital assets -                         -                       

Total Cash Provided from (Used for) Capital Financing Activities (9,149,124)        (7,927,449)      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Investment earnings 491,441            490,459           

Change in FMV of marketable investment securities 159,950            (262,864)         

Total Cash Provided from (Used for) Investing Activities 651,391            227,595           

Net Increase(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,212,074)        (1,199,443)      

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 81,177,305       155,440,709   

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 77,965,231$     154,241,266$ 

 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

December 31, 2022

Unaudited 
Page 8 of 32



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 - Accounts Receivable Aging

0 - 30 days 3,033,673$         93%
31 - 60 days 136,264               4%
61 - 90 days 51,929                 2%
Over 90 days 24,542                 1%
Allowance for uncollectibles (31,560)                -1%

  Net Trade A/R  3,214,848$         3,214,848$                                    

Note 2 - Accounts Payable Information

Retainage Withheld 6,267,303$         
Corps of Engineers* 620,518               
Employee Payroll Related 201,134               
Accounts Payable 571,271               

Total A/P   7,660,226$         

45' Project - $620,518

Note 3 - Debt Service Information

Original Amount 
of Issue Principal Paid Issue Outstanding

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019 31,795,000$       1,080,000$                   30,715,000$                                 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2021 37,135,000         -$                                37,135,000                                    
Senior Lien Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013A 33,065,000         18,025,000                   15,040,000                                    
Senior Lien Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A 39,635,000         5,510,000                     34,125,000                                    
Senior Lien Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 32,865,000         2,180,000                     30,685,000                                    
Senior Lien Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2019A 45,200,000         2,525,000                     42,675,000                                    
Senior Lien Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B 29,480,000         1,705,000                     27,775,000                                    
Senior Lien Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2021 29,885,000         -                                       29,885,000                                    
2014 Equipment Lease Payable 14,100,000         11,017,160                   3,082,840                                      
Total Bonds 293,160,000$     42,042,160$                 251,117,840$                               

Less Current Portion of Long-Term Debt Payable 7,388,850$                                    
Long-term Debt Payable 243,728,990$                               

Note 4 - Net Asset Information
A Special Reserve for Capital Improvements was created on Oct 22, 2015.  A commitment was made to fund this reserve
with an amount equal to the total maintenance and operations portion of the Port's tax rate.
Fiscal Year 2016 Amount Funded 3,423,398$         
Fiscal Year 2017 Amount Funded 3,570,000$         
Fiscal Year 2018 Amount Funded 3,887,346$         
Fiscal Year 2019 Amount Funded 4,269,552$         
Fiscal Year 2020 Amount Funded 4,120,672$         
Fiscal Year 2021 Amount Funded 3,981,963$         
Fiscal Year 2022 Amount Funded 3,627,381$         
Fiscal Year 2023 Amount Funded 3,351,718$         

Unaudited 
Page 9 of 32



PRIOR YEAR 3 BUDGET  TOTAL 

YEAR PRIOR YEAR % OVER MONTHS % OVER 2023

TO‐DATE TO‐DATE (UNDER) BUDGET (UNDER)  BUDGET 

COMMISSIONERS

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 14,400$           14,400$           0% 15,347$           0% 61,400$          
     Port employee benefits 17,859             19,605             ‐9% 17,769             0% 76,793            
     Professional services ‐                   ‐                        0% ‐                   0% 34,300            
     Training, travel & promotional 11,135             6,853               62% 26,178             ‐57% 75,900            
     Supplies ‐                        84                    ‐100% 122                  ‐100% 500                 
     Utilities 1,789               1,778               1% 2,013               ‐11% 8,050              
     Total Operating Expenses 45,183$          42,720$          6% 61,429$          ‐26% 256,943$       

ADMINISTRATION & FOREIGN TRADE ZONE

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 268,315$        234,709$        14% 397,758$        ‐33% 1,515,900$    
     Port employee benefits 80,826             71,366             13% 105,221           ‐23% 536,841          
     Professional services 107,867           88,718             22% 210,361           ‐49% 868,450          
     Training, travel & promotional 29,451             28,560             3% 50,886             ‐42% 197,400          
     Supplies 4,511               6,411               ‐30% 6,718               ‐33% 31,300            
     Utilities 18,498             11,389             62% 18,314             1% 73,250            
     Business Insurance 385,099           361,542           7% 395,055           ‐3% 1,672,300      
     Other services & charges 83,258             239,410           ‐65% 88,611             ‐6% 359,450          
     Maintenance & repair 20,244             27,566             ‐27% 195,515           ‐90% 332,400          
     Depreciation 2,227,419       1,963,838       13% 2,531,539       ‐12% 11,106,800    
     Total Operating Expenses 3,225,488$     3,033,509$     6% 3,999,978$     ‐19% 16,694,091$  

ENGINEERING

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 89,502$           85,670$           4% 114,028$        ‐22% 456,100$       
     Port employee benefits 32,797             31,043             6% 35,844             ‐9% 177,458          
     Professional services (4,256)              4,032               ‐206% 17,512             ‐124% 70,000            
     Training, travel & promotional 3,544               2,240               58% 7,567               ‐53% 29,500            
     Supplies 847                  591                  43% 1,485               ‐43% 5,950              
     Utilities 2,361               1,771               33% 1,856               27% 7,400              
     Other services & charges 1,290               40                    3125% 1,907               ‐32% 7,600              
     Maintenance & repair 1,183               ‐                        0% 126                  839% 500                 
     Total Operating Expenses 127,268$        125,387$        2% 180,325$        ‐29% 754,508$       

OPERATIONS

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 375,169$        294,456$        27% 406,304$        ‐8% 1,762,486$    
     Port employee benefits 127,410           118,447           8% 129,145           ‐1% 687,050          
     Professional services 12,101             3,866               213% 5,000               142% 5,000              
     Training, travel & promotional 9,537               4,236               125% 10,159             ‐6% 31,000            
     Supplies 21,284             20,623             3% 23,280             ‐9% 81,450            
     Utilities 167,549           134,107           25% 174,789           ‐4% 699,150          
     Other services & charges 16,553             17,856             ‐7% 15,435             7% 70,700            
     Maintenance & repair 160,271           250,481           ‐36% 157,335           2% 820,100          
     Total Operating Expenses 889,874$        844,072$        5% 921,447$        ‐3% 4,156,936$    

PORT FREEPORT

OPERATING EXPENSES BY DEPARTMENT

December 31, 2022

Unaudited 
Page 10 of 32



PRIOR YEAR 3 BUDGET  TOTAL 

YEAR PRIOR YEAR % OVER MONTHS % OVER 2023

TO‐DATE TO‐DATE (UNDER) BUDGET (UNDER)  BUDGET 

PORT FREEPORT

OPERATING EXPENSES BY DEPARTMENT

December 31, 2022

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 81,534$           76,876$           6% 123,558$        ‐34% 494,250$       
     Port employee benefits 29,515             28,231             5% 42,888             ‐31% 204,321          
     Professional services 2,839               ‐                        0% ‐                        0% ‐                       
     Training, travel & promotional 53,749             75,561             ‐29% 130,330           ‐59% 530,200          
     Supplies 1,193               681                  75% 1,583               ‐25% 4,850              
     Utilities 2,189               1,569               40% 2,358               ‐7% 9,450              
     Other services & charges 4,905               4,293               14% 6,185               ‐21% 24,750            
     Maintenance & repair ‐                        ‐                        0% ‐                        0% ‐                       
     Total Operating Expenses 175,924$        187,211$        ‐6% 306,902$        ‐43% 1,267,821$    

PROTECTIVE SERVICES

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 22,539$           23,974$           ‐6% 36,016$           ‐37% 204,064$       
     Port employee benefits 7,311               9,722               ‐25% 8,686               ‐16% 67,337            
     Professional services 537,946           411,866           31% 492,745           9% 1,970,950      
     Training, travel & promotional 377                  157                  140% 4,209               ‐91% 15,900            
     Supplies 11,755             8,554               37% 18,071             ‐35% 52,150            
     Utilities 10,423             7,048               48% 14,409             ‐28% 57,600            
     Other services & charges 10,698             6,201               73% 10,276             4% 41,100            
     Maintenance & repair 18,168             18,843             ‐4% 17,981             1% 72,400            
     Total Operating Expenses 619,217$        486,365$        27% 602,393$        3% 2,481,501$    

CONSOLIDATED ‐ TOTAL

OPERATING EXPENSES:

     Port salaries/wages 851,459$        730,085           17% 1,093,011$     ‐22% 4,494,200$    
     Port employee benefits 295,718           278,414           6% 339,553           ‐13% 1,749,800      
     Professional services 656,497           508,482           29% 725,618           ‐10% 2,948,700      
     Training, travel & promotional 107,793           117,607           ‐8% 229,329           ‐53% 879,900          
     Supplies 39,590             36,944             7% 51,259             ‐23% 176,200          
     Utilities 202,809           157,662           29% 213,739           ‐5% 854,900          
     Business Insurance 385,099           361,542           7% 395,055           ‐3% 1,672,300      
     Other services & charges 116,704           267,800           ‐56% 122,414           ‐5% 503,600          
     Maintenance & repair 199,866           296,890           ‐33% 370,957           ‐46% 1,225,400      
     Depreciation 2,227,419       1,963,838       13% 2,531,539       ‐12% 11,106,800    
     Total Operating Expenses 5,082,954$     4,719,264$     8% 6,072,474$     ‐16% 25,611,800$  

Unaudited 
Page 11 of 32



3 TOTAL
YEAR PRIOR YEAR % OVER MONTHS % OVER 2023

 TO DATE  TO DATE (UNDER) BUDGET (UNDER) BUDGET

OPERATING REVENUES:
  Wharfage 398,536$                  383,217$                  4% 402,339$                  -1% 1,609,358$               
  Dockage & deep water berth 173,742                    186,612                    -7% 155,031                    12% 620,126                    
  Equipment & pallet use fees 300,728                    268,348                    12% 276,243                    9% 1,104,979                 
  Facility use fees 28,453                       51,560                       -45% -                                 0% -                             
  Security Fees 54,890                       54,090                       1% 71,283                       -23% 285,134                    

  Other Customer Service Fees 85,349                       84,744                       1% 110,775                    -23% 443,100                    
  Ground leases 112,535                    93,004                       21% 24,915                       352% 99,660                       
  Total Operating Revenues 1,154,233                 1,121,575                 3% 1,040,586                 11% 4,162,357                 

OPERATING EXPENSES:
  Port salaries/wages 74,620                       54,331                       37% 56,292                       33% 281,328                    
  Port employee benefits 19,194                       16,365                       17% 14,669                       31% 95,899                       

   Professional services 8,691                         -                             0% -                                 0% -                                 
  Training, travel, and promotional -                             -                             0% 300                            -100% 1,200                         

   Supplies 55                              -                             0% -                                 0% -                                 
  Utilities 32,417                       20,381                       59% 39,114                       -17% 156,450                    

   Business Insurance 84,064                       79,966                       5% 91,563                       -8% 393,694                    
  Maintenance & repair 22,120                       176,027                    -87% 43,372                       -49% 318,450                    
  Depreciation 719,004                    713,516                    1% 838,044                    -14% 4,332,850                 
  Total Operating Expenses 960,165                    1,060,586                 -9% 1,083,354                 -11% 5,579,871                 

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 194,068                    60,989                      -218% (42,768)                     554% (1,417,514)                

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Debt interest and fees (469,910)                   (505,670)                   -7% (825,270)                   -43% (3,302,248)                
    Total Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses) (469,910)                   (505,670)                   -7% (825,270)                   -43% (3,302,248)                

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (275,842)$                 (444,681)$                 -38% (868,038)$                 -68% (4,719,762)$             

PORT FREEPORT - VELASCO TERMINAL ONLY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

December 31, 2022

Unaudited 
Page 12 of 32



Contract Change Total Current Year Incurred to CIP Incurred to Balance to
Project Award Orders Contract Budget Date FY 2023 Prior Years Date Total Finish

 
Velasco Term Phase II -  Berth 8 133,856,037.88 (13,283,496.98) 120,572,540.90 23,000,000.00 3,589,545.84 105,264,205.17 108,853,751.01 11,718,789.89
     EDSA 4,144,063.24 589,830.00 4,733,893.24 23,422.90 4,179,988.94 4,203,411.84 530,481.40
     Construction 129,677,607.30 (13,873,326.98) 115,804,280.32 3,566,122.94 101,049,848.89 104,615,971.83 11,188,308.49
     Other not in contract 34,367.34 0.00 34,367.34 0.00 34,367.34 34,367.34 0.00

RORO Ramp - Berth 8 24,921,340.40 392,100.00 25,313,440.40 0.00 1,453,477.65 19,519,570.24 20,973,047.89 4,340,392.51
     EDSA 46,652.40 392,100.00 438,752.40 4,936.70 272,102.90 277,039.60 161,712.80
     Construction 24,874,688.00 0.00 24,874,688.00 1,448,540.95 19,247,467.34 20,696,008.29 4,178,679.71
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

VT- North Gate Entrance 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,563,750.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

VT- Access Project 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,028,950.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

VT- Refrigerated Cross Dock 0.00 0.00 0.00 13,705,950.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Land & Improvements 145,755.78 0.00 145,755.78 4,000,000.00 145,755.78 0.00 145,755.78 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 145,755.78 0.00 145,755.78 145,755.78 0.00 145,755.78 0.00

Parcel 14 Rail Development Phase II 9,670,314.00 0.00 9,670,314.00 10,521,050.00 18,726.15 184,127.34 202,853.49 9,467,460.51
     EDSA 407,412.00 0.00 407,412.00 18,726.15 184,127.34 202,853.49 204,558.51
     Construction 9,262,902.00 0.00 9,262,902.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,262,902.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Pumpstation 1400 E Floodgate & P14 Drainage 1,440.00 0.00 1,440.00 575,000.00 0.00 1,440.00 1,440.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 1,440.00 0.00 1,440.00 0.00 1,440.00 1,440.00 0.00

M & R - Joint Repairs 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M & R - Railroad Track Renovations 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M & R - Roads 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Gate 8 Renovations 33,600.00 0.00 33,600.00 300,000.00 0.00 3,528.00 3,528.00 30,072.00
     EDSA 33,600.00 0.00 33,600.00 0.00 3,528.00 3,528.00 30,072.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

EOC Additional Parking 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

VT Backlands Area IV 528,394.21 0.00 528,394.21 0.00 1,758.09 99,572.65 101,330.74 427,063.47
     EDSA 528,388.18 0.00 528,388.18 1,758.09 99,566.62 101,324.71 427,063.47
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 6.03 0.00 6.03 0.00 6.03 6.03 0.00

Transformer Yard Replacement 4,078.00 0.00 4,078.00 200,000.00 0.00 4,078.00 4,078.00 0.00
     EDSA 4,078.00 0.00 4,078.00 0.00 4,078.00 4,078.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fence Razor Wire Upgrade 0.00 0.00 0.00 60,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Portwide Areas Upgrade to Concrete 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,400,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Other not in contract 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Inner Harbor Berth Repairs 240,300.00 0.00 240,300.00 0.00 0.00 113,950.00 113,950.00 126,350.00
     EDSA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
     Construction 180,500.00 0.00 180,500.00 0.00 54,150.00 54,150.00 126,350.00
     Other not in contract 59,800.00 0.00 59,800.00 0.00 59,800.00 59,800.00 0.00

Total 70,424,700.00$     5,209,263.51$                125,190,471.40$  130,399,734.91$  26,110,128.38$     

PORT FREEPORT
Port Improvement Projects Summary

December 31, 2022

Unaudited 
Page 13 of 32



Unaudited 
Page 14 of 32



PORT FREEPORT
QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT
12/31/22

09/30/22 09/30/22 09/30/22 12/31/22 12/31/22 12/31/22
Type Broker Purchase Maturity Interest Face Amortized Fair Market Purchases Sales/ Face Amortized Fair Market
Sec. Code Date Date Rate Yield Value Cost Value Maturities Value Cost Value
OPERATING FUNDS:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 4,628.44 4,628.44 4,628.44 37.44 4,665.88 4,665.88 4,665.88
MM TP     -        -    4.177 4.177 29,513,284.80 29,513,284.80 29,513,284.80 5,058,378.29 24,454,906.51 24,454,906.51 24,454,906.51
MM TP     -        -    4.177 4.177 12,925.56 12,925.56 12,925.56 401,058.41 413,983.97 413,983.97 413,983.97
TNOTE HS 1/11/2022 1/31/2023 0.125 0.480 2,000,000.00 1,997,597.33 1,977,983.90 2,000,000.00 1,999,379.99 1,993,584.46
TNOTE HS 1/12/2022 2/28/2023 0.125 0.511 2,013,000.00 2,009,774.34 1,983,726.27 2,013,000.00 2,011,724.30 1,999,979.23
TNOTE HS 9/29/2022 3/30/2023 - 3.801 6,145,000.00 6,031,337.98 6,024,414.08 6,145,000.00 6,089,756.44 6,079,021.93

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUND -UNRESTRICTED 39,688,838.80 39,569,548.45 39,516,963.05 401,095.85 5,058,378.29 35,031,556.36 34,974,417.09 34,946,141.98

INVESTMENT SUMMARY: LIQUIDITY SUMMARY:

MM 24,873,556.36 71.00% 0-1 MONTH 26,873,556.36 76.71%
C.D. 0.00 0.00% 1-6 MONTHS 8,158,000.00 23.29%
TREASURY 10,158,000.00 29.00% 6-12 MONTHS 0.00 0.00%
AGENCY 0.00 0.00% BROKER CODE: OVER 12 MONTHS 0.00 0.00%
TX MUNICIPAL 0.00 0.00% HS  = HILLTOP SECURITIES 35,031,556.36

35,031,556.36 FNB =FIRST NATIONAL BANK  
TGB = TEXAS GULF BANK

WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELD 3.69 % TP  = TEXPOOL

BENCHMARK - 3 MO. TBILL 4.343 %

Unaudited 
Page 15 of 32



09/30/22 09/30/22 09/30/22 12/31/22 12/31/22 12/31/22
Type Broker Purchase Maturity Interest Face Amortized Fair Market Purchases Sales/ Face Amortized Fair Market
Sec. Code Date Date Rate Yield Value Cost Value Maturities Value Cost Value
RESTRICTED

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS:
MM HS     -    3.724 3.724 827.42 827.42 827.42 711.73 115.69 115.69 115.69
MM TP     -        -    4.177 4.177 14,199,784.35 14,199,784.35 14,199,784.35 14,081,836.68 117,947.67 117,947.67 117,947.67
TNOTE HS 11/22/2022 5/26/2023 - 4.607 0.00 0.00 0.00 17,915,000.00 17,915,000.00 17,588,051.25 17,550,779.09
TOTAL CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 14,200,611.77 14,200,611.77 14,200,611.77 17,915,000.00 14,082,548.41 18,033,063.36 17,706,114.61 17,668,842.45

45 FOOT PROJECT FUNDS RESTRICTED:
MM TGB     -        -    0.340 0.340 10,206.15 10,206.15 10,206.15  50.29 10,155.86 10,155.86 10,155.86
TOTAL 45 FOOT PROJECT FUNDS -RESTRICTED 10,206.15 10,206.15 10,206.15 0.00 50.29 10,155.86 10,155.86 10,155.86

FREEPORT HARBOR NAVIGATION PROJECT FEASIBILITY STUDY FUND RESTRICTED:
MM FNB     -        -    0.010 0.010 1,098.42 1,098.42 1,098.42 0.03 1,098.45 1,098.45 1,098.45

1,098.42 1,098.42 1,098.42 0.03 0.00 1,098.45 1,098.45 1,098.45

FREEPORT HARBOR ASSUMPTION OF OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE FUND RESTRICTED:
MM FNB     -        -    0.010 0.010 1,041.79 1,041.79 1,041.79 0.03 1,041.82 1,041.82 1,041.82

1,041.79 1,041.79 1,041.79 0.03 0.00 1,041.82 1,041.82 1,041.82

INTEREST & SINKING:
MM TP2013A Debt Service     -    4.177 4.177 1,989,292.75 1,989,292.75 1,989,292.75 484,685.50 2,473,978.25 2,473,978.25 2,473,978.25
MM TP-G.O. Bond I & S     -    4.177 4.177 73,679.77 73,679.77 73,679.77 500,150.77 573,830.54 573,830.54 573,830.54
MM TP-'15 I & S     -    4.177 4.177 2,301,919.39 2,301,919.39 2,301,919.39 162,692.86 2,139,226.53 2,139,226.53 2,139,226.53
MM TP-'18 I & S     -    4.177 4.177 1,907,403.18 1,907,403.18 1,907,403.18 172,949.69 1,734,453.49 1,734,453.49 1,734,453.49
MM TP-'19A Rev Bond I & S     -    4.177 4.177 1,423,911.09 1,423,911.09 1,423,911.09 272,249.90 1,151,661.19 1,151,661.19 1,151,661.19
MM TP-'19B Rev Bond I & S     -    4.177 4.177 794,209.66 794,209.66 794,209.66 87,446.58 706,763.08 706,763.08 706,763.08
MM TP-'21 Rev Bond I & S     -    4.177 4.177 483,896.13 483,896.13 483,896.13 370,848.56 113,047.57 113,047.57 113,047.57
TOTAL INTEREST & SINKING 8,974,311.97 8,974,311.97 8,974,311.97 984,836.27 1,066,187.59 8,892,960.65 8,892,960.65 8,892,960.65

2013A SENIOR LIEN REFUNDING BOND RESERVE FUND - RESTRICTED:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 4,798.42 4,798.42 4,798.42 2,954.28 7,752.70 7,752.70 7,752.70
AG HS 10/29/20 11/02/23 0.290 0.315 420,000.00 419,886.00 402,780.00 420,000.00 419,912.38 404,216.40
TNOTE HS 10/29/21 10/15/24 0.625 0.760 418,000.00 416,862.97 388,446.55 418,000.00 417,003.19 390,592.81
TNOTE HS 03/29/22 11/30/25 0.375 2.550 525,000.00 490,656.71 465,026.21 525,000.00 493,385.19 469,701.60
TNOTE HS 04/01/21 02/28/26 0.500 0.877 247,000.00 243,823.68 217,872.23 247,000.00 244,058.22 220,052.20
2015A SENIOR LIEN REVENUE & REFUNDING BONDS - RESTRICTED:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 4,570.83 4,570.83 4,570.83 2,161.85 6,732.68 6,732.68 6,732.68
AG HS 10/29/20 11/02/23 0.290 0.315 855,000.00 854,767.77 819,945.00 855,000.00 854,821.45 822,869.10
TNOTE HS 10/29/21 10/15/24 0.625 0.760 279,000.00 278,241.09 259,274.13 279,000.00 278,334.69 260,706.68
TNOTE HS 03/31/21 12/31/25 0.375 0.874 227,000.00 223,335.82 200,488.82 227,000.00 223,618.81 202,526.98
2018 SENIOR LIEN REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS - RESTRICTED:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 30,301.92 30,301.92 30,301.92 296.14 30,598.06 30,598.06 30,598.06
AG HS 10/29/20 11/02/23 0.290 0.315 35,000.00 34,989.83 33,565.00 35,000.00 34,991.94 33,684.70
TNote HS 06/18/21 12/31/24 1.750 0.552 970,000.00 995,874.01 917,840.09 970,000.00 992,981.65 920,835.39
2019A SENIOR LIEN REVENUE BONDS - RESTRICTED:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 35,978.19 35,978.19 35,978.19 457.76 36,435.95 36,435.95 36,435.95
TNOTE HS 10/29/21 10/15/24 0.625 0.760 53,000.00 52,855.84 49,252.79 53,000.00 52,873.62 49,524.93
TNOTE HS 01/08/20 12/31/25 2.625 1.671 1,312,000.00 1,350,615.32 1,247,448.75 1,312,000.00 1,347,627.43 1,252,895.78

TOTAL FREEPORT HARBOR NAVIGATION PROJECT FEASIBILITY STUDY FUND

TOTAL FREEPORT HARBOR ASSUMPTION OF OPS & MAINTENANCE FUND 

Unaudited 
Page 16 of 32



09/30/22 09/30/22 09/30/22 12/31/22 12/31/22 12/31/22
Type Broker Purchase Maturity Interest Face Amortized Fair Market Purchases Sales/ Face Amortized Fair Market
Sec. Code Date Date Rate Yield Value Cost Value Maturities Value Cost Value
2019B SENIOR LIEN REVENUE BONDS - RESTRICTED:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 42,877.11 42,877.11 42,877.11 346.80 43,223.91 43,223.91 43,223.91
TNOTE HS 1/8/2020 12/31/23 2.250 1.592 755,000.00 761,014.62 738,849.32 755,000.00 759,806.43 737,227.80
2021 SENIOR LIEN REVENUE BONDS - RESTRICTED:
MM HS     -        -    3.724 3.724 8,777.11 8,777.11 8,777.11 70.99 8,848.10 8,848.10 8,848.10
AG HS 8/26/2021 06/26/25 0.670 0.677 1,060,000.00 1,059,810.74 966,084.00 1,060,000.00 1,059,828.16 964,663.60
TOTAL BOND RESERVE FUNDS 7,283,303.58 7,310,037.98 6,834,176.47 6,287.82 0.00 7,289,591.40 7,312,834.56 6,863,089.37
BOND PROJECT FUNDS- RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS:
MM TP-2021 G.O.BOND FUNDS 4.177 4.177 6,580,882.48 6,580,882.48 6,580,882.48 154,480.33 6,426,402.15 6,426,402.15 6,426,402.15

TOTAL BOND PROJECT FUNDS 6,580,882.48 6,580,882.48 6,580,882.48 0.00 154,480.33 6,426,402.15 6,426,402.15 6,426,402.15

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUND RESTRICTED 37,051,456.16 37,078,190.56 36,602,329.05 18,906,124.15 15,303,266.62 40,654,313.69 40,350,608.10 39,863,590.75

INVESTMENT SUMMARY: LIQUIDITY SUMMARY:

M MARKET 15,583,313.69 38.33% 0-1 MONTH 15,583,313.69 38.33%
C.D. 0.00 0.00% 1-6 MONTHS 17,915,000.00 44.07%
TREASURY 22,701,000.00 55.84% 6-12 MONTHS 2,065,000.00 5.08%
AGENCY 2,370,000.00 5.83% OVER 12 MONTHS 5,091,000.00 12.52%
TX MUNICIPAL 0.00 0.00% 40,654,313.69

40,654,313.69

WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELD 3.81 %

BENCHMARK - 3 MO. TBILL 4.343 %

Unaudited 
Page 17 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91519 12/01/22 V00911 La Madeleine 1,297.88

125657 123022 Community Advisory Panel Meeting December 1, 2022

125657 123022 Turkey & Ham 1,039.96

125657 123022 Cranberry Apple stuffing, Mashed Potatoes, Green

125657 123022 Bean Almondine, Wild Mushroom Sauce, Cranberry

125657 123022 Sauce, Sourdough Breads

125657 123022 Pumpkin Pie 99.96

125657 123022 Pecan Tart 107.96

125657 123022 Delivery Fee 50.00

Line Amount Total 1,297.88

91520 12/02/22 V00054 Payment vendor ledger entry is not found  
check# 91520.

0.00

Line Amount Total

91521 12/02/22 V00054 Summit Electric Supply 1,752.98

125613 123086 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7 10.68

125614 123087 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 2.97

125614 123087 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 2.97

125615 123088 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7 10.68

125616 123089 M&R TOE-General Terminal Ops Equip & Tools 10.66

125617 123090 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7 17.07

125618 123091 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 165.32

125618 123091 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane

125619 123092 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 3 377.64

125620 123093 M&R Bldgs-Scale House 255.10

125621 123094 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7 166.36

125622 123095 M&R Warehouse-Warehouse 51 473.22

125651 123136 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 1 95.00

125656 123151 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane

125656 123151 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 165.31

Line Amount Total 1,752.98

91522 12/02/22 V00150 Brazoria County Clerk's Office 300.00

125658 123163 Office Supplies 300.00

Line Amount Total 300.00

91523 12/02/22 V00313 Greater Houston Partnership 1,155.00

125659 123164 Dues & Memberships & Licenses 1,155.00

Line Amount Total 1,155.00

91524 12/08/22 V00001 Norma Cheline 1,300.00

125711 122825 Renewal of Storage Building Lease 1,300.00

125711 122825 January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Line Amount Total 1,300.00

91525 12/08/22 V00010 Specialties Company 1,621.94

125687 123242 M&R Bldgs-Maintenance Bldg 224.27

125725 123213 M&R Docks-Dock Berth 5 434.25

125726 123222 M&R Docks-Dock Berth 5 167.87

125727 123224 M&R Docks-Dock Berth 5 439.69

125728 123225 M&R Docks-Dock Berth 5 355.86

Line Amount Total 1,621.94

Bank Account: Date Filter: 12/01/22..12/31/22

This report also includes bank accounts that only have balances.

Check Ledger Entry: 

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

1

Unaudited 
Page 18 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91526 12/08/22 V00011 Gulftex Vending 321.91

125675 123212 Office Supplies 104.86

125675 123212 Office Supplies 52.43

125675 123212 Office Supplies 13.11

125675 123212 Office Supplies 52.44

125675 123212 Office Supplies 52.43

125676 123257 Office Supplies 46.64

Line Amount Total 321.91

91527 12/08/22 V00012 FedEx 18.16

125674 123210 Postage and Freight 7.40

125674 123210 Postage and Freight 10.76

Line Amount Total 18.16

91528 12/08/22 V00023 Patrick's Enterprises, Inc. 24.50

125685 123168 M&R Vehicles-Ford Explorer 24.50

Line Amount Total 24.50

91529 12/08/22 V00032 Matheson Tri Gas 376.02

125680 123256 Maint and Operations Supplies 376.02

Line Amount Total 376.02

91530 12/08/22 V00039 Brazosport Tire 4,351.52

125664 123229 M&R Vehicles-Ford Pick Up 848.00

125665 123230 M&R Vehicles-2020 Chev PU 918.80

125666 123231 M&R TOE-Toyota Forklift 467.62

125667 123232 M&R TOE-Toyota Forklift 159.56

125668 123233 M&R TOE-Toyota Forklift 479.62

125669 123235 M&R TOE-Toyota Forklift 159.56

125670 123237 M&R TOE-Toyota Forklift 159.56

125671 123238 M&R Vehicles-Ford Truck 579.40

125672 123239 M&R Vehicles-Ford Truck 579.40

Line Amount Total 4,351.52

91531 12/08/22 V00040 The Brazosport Facts 650.80

125688 123240 Community Advertising 650.80

Line Amount Total 650.80

91532 12/08/22 V00041 Evco Industrial Hardware 62.63

125694 123263 M&R TOE-Hyster 1050 Container Handler 62.63

Line Amount Total 62.63

91533 12/08/22 V00049 Brazos Fasteners 76.03

125706 123217 M&R Bldgs-Security Bldg 76.03

Line Amount Total 76.03

91534 12/08/22 V00050 Northern Tool & Equipment 309.14

125684 123214 M&R Bldgs-Gate 14 92.99

125684 123214 M&R Leased Facilities-Other 92.99

125708 123223 M&R TOE-General Terminal Ops Equip & Tools 123.16

Line Amount Total 309.14

91535 12/08/22 V00053 Shred it Houston 203.56

125702 123216 Office Supplies 39.73

125702 123216 Office Supplies 19.86

125702 123216 Office Supplies 79.44

125702 123216 Office Supplies 4.96

125702 123216 Office Supplies 19.86

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

2

Unaudited 
Page 19 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125702 123216 Office Supplies 4.96

125702 123216 Office Supplies 4.96

125702 123216 Office Supplies 9.93

125702 123216 Office Supplies 19.86

Line Amount Total 203.56

91536 12/08/22 V00054 Summit Electric Supply 40.68

125699 123155 M&R Bldgs-Scale House 30.00

125700 123156 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7 10.68

Line Amount Total 40.68

91537 12/08/22 V00062 AT&T Mobility 351.28

125662 123208 Telephone 87.82

125662 123208 Telephone 219.55

125662 123208 Telephone 43.91

Line Amount Total 351.28

91538 12/08/22 V00067 Quill Corporation 48.83

125686 123211 Office Supplies 45.97

125697 123204 Office Supplies 2.86

Line Amount Total 48.83

91539 12/08/22 V00070 Darlene Winkler 41.88

125693 123206 Community Events 18.12

125693 123206 Community Events 8.13

125693 123206 Office Supplies 15.63

Line Amount Total 41.88

91540 12/08/22 V00071 Verizon Wireless 474.32

125690 123209 Telephone 62.99

125690 123209 Telephone 69.38

125690 123209 Telephone 189.99

125705 123170 Telephone 75.98

125705 123170 Telephone 37.99

125705 123170 Telephone 37.99

Line Amount Total 474.32

91541 12/08/22 V00075 Vicki L. Smith 285.25

125703 123261 Flexible Spending Emp Reimbursement 93.00

125704 123264 Telephone 75.00

125704 123264 Employment Related 117.25

Line Amount Total 285.25

91542 12/08/22 V00083 Jason Hull 136.75

125695 123205 Telephone 136.75

Line Amount Total 136.75

91543 12/08/22 V00087 Payment vendor ledger entry is not found  
check# 91543.

0.00

Line Amount Total

91544 12/08/22 V00087 Payment vendor ledger entry is not found  
check# 91544.

0.00

Line Amount Total

91545 12/08/22 V00087 Payment vendor ledger entry is not found  
check# 91545.

0.00

Line Amount Total

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

3

Unaudited 
Page 20 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91546 12/08/22 V00087 Reliant 75,359.09

125732 123172 Electricity 30,039.49

125733 123174 Electricity 148.14

125734 123176 Electricity 216.59

125735 123178 Electricity 729.27

125736 123180 Electricity 30.45

125737 123173 Electricity 36.67

125738 123175 Electricity 170.18

125739 123177 Electricity 3,356.29

125740 123179 Electricity 68.45

125741 123181 Electricity 58.00

125742 123182 Electricity 3,626.43

125743 123183 Electricity 18.68

125744 123184 Electricity 803.82

125745 123185 Electricity 65.15

125746 123186 Electricity 1,330.75

125747 123187 Electricity 42.27

125748 123188 Electricity 88.80

125749 123189 Electricity 6,335.19

125750 123190 Electricity 4.59

125751 123191 Electricity 63.93

125752 123192 Electricity 17.18

125753 123193 Electricity 2,254.03

125754 123194 Electricity 7,769.29

125755 123195 Electricity 517.37

125756 123196 Electricity 633.30

125757 123197 Electricity 363.39

125758 123198 Electricity 3,308.40

125759 123199 Electricity 60.07

125760 123200 Electricity 24.55

125761 123201 Electricity 11,338.04

125762 123202 Electricity 1,385.77

125763 123203 Electricity 454.56

Line Amount Total 75,359.09

91547 12/08/22 V00088 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Texas 69,493.90

125720 123167 Other Receivables-Kresta 992.77

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 10,424.08

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 7,942.16

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 22,833.71

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 496.39

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 6,949.39

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 992.77

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 1,985.54

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 5,956.62

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 4,963.85

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 1,985.54

125721 123171 Group Medical Insurance 3,971.08

Line Amount Total 69,493.90

91548 12/08/22 V00091 Wells Fargo 13,104.47

125718 123249 Other Accounts Payable (JE) 13,104.47

Line Amount Total 13,104.47

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

4

Unaudited 
Page 21 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91549 12/08/22 V00096 Centerpoint Energy 25.59

125673 123234 Water & Gas 25.59

Line Amount Total 25.59

91550 12/08/22 V00100 LJA Engineering Inc. 1,793.34

125715 111718 Construction In Progress-Area 3

125715 111718 Construction in Progress-Area-3+

125715 111718 Construction in Progress-Area-3+

125715 111718 Construction in Progress-Area-3+

125715 111718 Construction in Progress-Area-3+

125715 111718 Construction in Progress-Area-3+ 1,793.34

125715 111718 Construction In Progress-Area 4

125715 111718 Construction In Progress-Area 5 Phase II

125715 111718 Construction in Progress-Area 4

125715 111718 Balance carried over from PO# 10615

125715 111718 Board Approved 11/14/13

Line Amount Total 1,793.34

91551 12/08/22 V00102 ABB, Inc Marine & Ports 198.00

125660 123243 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 22.00

125660 123243 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 22.00

125661 123244 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 77.00

125661 123244 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 77.00

Line Amount Total 198.00

91552 12/08/22 V00104 Donald Mullett 117.25

125707 123246 Employment Related 117.25

Line Amount Total 117.25

91553 12/08/22 V00106 Freese & Nichols 18,726.15

125714 120785 Professional Services for the 18,726.15

125714 120785 Parcel 14 Rail Expansion project

125714 120785 Project No. 22-03

125714 120785 Board Approved 3/10/2022

Line Amount Total 18,726.15

91554 12/08/22 V00110 Jason Miura 523.00

125678 123241 Flexible Spending Emp Reimbursement 253.00

125679 123247 Flexible Spending Emp Reimbursement 270.00

Line Amount Total 523.00

91555 12/08/22 V00114 AT&T:171-799-3737 001 720.54

125691 123268 Telephone 140.58

125691 123268 Telephone 70.32

125691 123268 Telephone 281.01

125691 123268 Telephone 17.58

125691 123268 Telephone 70.40

125691 123268 Telephone 17.58

125691 123268 Telephone 17.58

125691 123268 Telephone 35.16

125691 123268 Telephone 70.33

Line Amount Total 720.54

91556 12/08/22 V00115 AT&T:979-373-0020 6635 1,628.09

125709 123267 Telephone 618.67

125709 123267 Telephone 309.34

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

5

Unaudited 
Page 22 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125709 123267 Telephone 81.40

125709 123267 Telephone 309.34

125709 123267 Telephone 309.34

Line Amount Total 1,628.09

91557 12/08/22 V00141 Vernor Material & Equipment 18,780.60

125717 123250 M&R Leased Facilities-Other 18,780.60

Line Amount Total 18,780.60

91558 12/08/22 V00166 Van Scoyoc Associates 11,015.94

125716 115717 Consultant Fees - Other 11,000.00

125716 115717 Govt. Liaison Service Agreement Oct.2020-Sept 2023

125716 115717 Consultant Fees - Other 15.94

125716 115717 Expenses Incurred-Not to exceed $8K over course of

125716 115717 3yrs contract-CA 10/8/2020

Line Amount Total 11,015.94

91559 12/08/22 V00178 Waypoint 5,435.16

125731 123077 Dell Poweredge 450 Server 5,435.16

125731 123077 Dir Contracts: DIR-Dell-EMC DIR-TSO-3763

125731 123077 Quote# AAAQ13711

Line Amount Total 5,435.16

91560 12/08/22 V00187 Brazoria County Septic Service 1,477.00

125730 123258 Contract Services 1,477.00

Line Amount Total 1,477.00

91561 12/08/22 V00192 Glomar International, Inc. 1,357.16

125677 123255 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 471.61

125677 123255 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 471.61

125692 123265 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 206.97

125692 123265 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 206.97

Line Amount Total 1,357.16

91562 12/08/22 V00197 Motion Industries 2.33

125682 123245 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 1.17

125682 123245 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 1.16

Line Amount Total 2.33

91563 12/08/22 V00210 Mimecast North America, Inc. 561.51

125640 123117 Contract Services 561.51

Line Amount Total 561.51

91564 12/08/22 V00228 Department of Information Resources 299.88

125600 123121 Telephone 58.50

125600 123121 Telephone 29.27

125600 123121 Telephone 116.95

125600 123121 Telephone 7.32

125600 123121 Telephone 29.30

125600 123121 Telephone 7.32

125600 123121 Telephone 7.32

125600 123121 Telephone 14.63

125600 123121 Telephone 29.27

Line Amount Total 299.88

91565 12/08/22 V00270 The Bulletin 85.00

125689 123219 Community Advertising 85.00

Line Amount Total 85.00

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

6

Unaudited 
Page 23 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91566 12/08/22 V00283 Diver Overhead Door 13,875.00

125722 121895 Installation of new and removal of old door

125722 121895 20X16 Rolling Steel Overhead door

125722 121895 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 3 11,900.00

125723 123023 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 3 1,975.00

125723 123023 1-Liftmaster GH75 3L Gear Head 3/4 Horse Power

125723 123023 Operator 3-Button Wall Button

125723 123023 Includes Installation

Line Amount Total 13,875.00

91567 12/08/22 V00330 Southern Tire Mart 935.00

125698 123259 M&R TOE-Hyster 1050 Container Handler 935.00

Line Amount Total 935.00

91568 12/08/22 V00439 Texas Department of State Health Services 1,442.00

125713 123152 Dues & Memberships & Licenses 1,442.00

Line Amount Total 1,442.00

91569 12/08/22 V00445 BP Equipment 862.50

125663 123218 M&R Bldgs-Gate 8-Guard Bldg 862.50

Line Amount Total 862.50

91570 12/08/22 V00461 Sweeny Chamber of Commerce 200.00

125701 123215 Dues & Memberships & Licenses 200.00

Line Amount Total 200.00

91571 12/08/22 V00515 Talk About Good 2,033.50

125724 123252 Sales/Promotion Travel 2,033.50

125724 123252 VW Reception Catering 60 people 12-6-2022

Line Amount Total 2,033.50

91572 12/08/22 V00523 Wooden Pallets, LTD. 14,450.00

125719 122925 Maint & Repair - Pallets 14,450.00

125719 122925 1" x 6" x 60" Hardwood Board

125719 122925 Quote includes delivery

Line Amount Total 14,450.00

91573 12/08/22 V00593 McAllen Signal and Boring , LLC 1,765.50

125696 123154 M&R Terminal Facilities-Other 585.50

125764 123153 M&R Rail-Other 1,180.00

Line Amount Total 1,765.50

91574 12/08/22 V00609 Hilltop Securities Asset Management, LLC 11,360.00

125729 123254 Consultant Fees - Other 11,360.00

Line Amount Total 11,360.00

91575 12/08/22 V00668 DARE Capital Partners, LLC 796.38

125710 123266 M&R Other-Mowing, Weed Control  Etc 667.16

125710 123266 Contract Labor Expense 129.22

Line Amount Total 796.38

91576 12/08/22 V00697 Northern Safety Co., Inc. 143.58

125683 123221 M&R Terminal Facilities-Other 143.58

Line Amount Total 143.58

91577 12/08/22 V00808 Whitener Enterprises Inc. 2,953.40

125712 123041 400 gallons of off road diesel 1,494.60

125712 123041 500 Gallons of Unleaded Fuel for Tank 1,458.80

Line Amount Total 2,953.40

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

7

Unaudited 
Page 24 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91578 12/08/22 V00833 M & J Environmental Services LLC 419.00

125681 123248 Contract Services 419.00

Line Amount Total 419.00

91579 12/08/22 V00913 EBISS Inc. 1,922.60

125765 123251 Commerical Event-JOC Breakbulk-Material Handling 100.00

125765 123251 Commerical Event-JOC Breakbulk-Business 
Developmen 1,822.60

125765 123251 Outbound shipping from Detroit Auto Logistics

125765 123251 Hilton Americas for breakbulk Americas

Line Amount Total 1,922.60

91580 12/15/22 V00005 Phyllis Saathoff 1,647.22

125828 123334 Telephone 136.75

125828 123334 Governmental Relations Travel 1,484.47

125828 123334 Technical Training 26.00

Line Amount Total 1,647.22

91581 12/15/22 V00006 Michaela Bevers 87.19

125811 123294 Telephone 75.00

125811 123294 Automobile Expense 12.19

Line Amount Total 87.19

91582 12/15/22 V00013 Mary Campus 5.25

125832 123341 Automobile Expense 5.25

Line Amount Total 5.25

91583 12/15/22 V00014 Al Durel 303.75

125804 123324 Sales/Promotion Travel 303.75

Line Amount Total 303.75

91584 12/15/22 V00021 Gulf Coast Paper Company 2,008.19

125788 123279 Office Supplies 174.17

125789 123281 Office Supplies 756.36

125809 123295 Office Supplies 754.27

125813 123318 Office Supplies 123.20

125813 123318 Office Supplies 61.59

125813 123318 Office Supplies 15.40

125813 123318 Office Supplies 61.60

125813 123318 Office Supplies 61.60

Line Amount Total 2,008.19

91585 12/15/22 V00029 Texas Association of Counties 9,321.00

125781 123296 Prepaid Insurance 9,321.00

Line Amount Total 9,321.00

91586 12/15/22 V00031 Culligan Water Systems 130.88

125815 122258 Annual Contract for maintenance, filters, and

125815 122258 cartridges to portable water supply

125815 122258 M&R Bldgs-Operations Bldg 130.88

125815 122258 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7

125815 122258 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 1

Line Amount Total 130.88

91587 12/15/22 V00037 Briggs Equipment 182.51

125802 123280 M&R TOE-Yale Forklift 127.67

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

8

Unaudited 
Page 25 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125785 123282 M&R TOE-Hyster Forklift 440 54.84

Line Amount Total 182.51

91588 12/15/22 V00046 Sprint Waste Services 604.90

125792 123286 Contract Services 219.96

125793 123287 Contract Services 214.12

125793 123287 Contract Services 170.82

Line Amount Total 604.90

91589 12/15/22 V00054 Summit Electric Supply 1,934.55

125795 123272 M&R Leased Facilities-Dole 731.20

125796 123273 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 3 731.20

125797 123274 M&R Leased Facilities-T.S. 5 Offices 365.60

125798 123275 M&R Warehouse-Warehouse 51 44.77

125799 123276 M&R Warehouse-Warehouse 51 18.89

125800 123277 M&R Warehouse-Warehouse 51 22.25

125801 123278 Maint and Operations Supplies 20.64

Line Amount Total 1,934.55

91590 12/15/22 V00084 Crain, Caton & James 11,286.00

125824 123338 Legal Fees 1,620.00

125825 123339 Legal Fees 1,566.00

125826 123340 Legal Fees 8,100.00

Line Amount Total 11,286.00

91591 12/15/22 V00090 Cordoba Law Firm, P.L.L.C. 181.50

125822 123335 Construction in Progress 181.50

Line Amount Total 181.50

91592 12/15/22 V00095 Swisher & Swisher 1,000.00

125818 118205 M&R Other-Mowing, Weed Control  Etc 1,000.00

125818 118205 Annual Herbicide Aplication for Designated Areas

125818 118205 7/01/21 - 6/30/23

125818 118205 Two Year Service

Line Amount Total 1,000.00

91593 12/15/22 V00098 Suburban Propane 638.70

125794 123285 Fuel/Oil 638.70

Line Amount Total 638.70

91594 12/15/22 V00101 Payment vendor ledger entry is not found  
check# 91594.

0.00

Line Amount Total

91595 12/15/22 V00101 Sunstates Security, LLC 122,113.98

125766 123292 Security Service Fees 4,250.04

125767 123293 Security Service Fees 279.45

125768 123297 Security Service Fees 294.98

125769 123299 Security Service Fees 36,991.41

125770 123300 Security Service Fees 1,070.22

125771 123301 Security Service Fees 3,930.06

125772 123302 Security Service Fees 144.90

125773 123303 Security Service Fees 1,040.18

125774 123304 Security Service Fees 34,398.03

125775 123305 Security Service Fees 717.34

125776 123306 Security Service Fees 3,669.21

125777 123308 Security Service Fees 589.95

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

9

Unaudited 
Page 26 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125778 123311 Security Service Fees 610.65

125779 123312 Security Service Fees 33,141.22

125780 123313 Security Service Fees 986.34

Line Amount Total 122,113.98

91596 12/15/22 V00108 Rudy R. Santos 662.17

125835 123349 Governmental Relations Travel 662.17

Line Amount Total 662.17

91597 12/15/22 V00110 Jason Miura 635.10

125810 123323 Telephone 273.50

125810 123323 Commercial Events 230.91

125810 123323 Sales/Promotion Travel 31.80

125837 123353 Sales/Promotion Travel 53.88

125837 123353 Sales/Promotion Travel 35.00

125837 123353 Automobile Expense 10.01

Line Amount Total 635.10

91598 12/15/22 V00124 Carriage House Partners 4,250.00

125834 116349 Government Liaison Agreement 4,250.00

125834 116349 Government Liaison Agreement 

125834 116349 January 2021 - December 2023

125834 116349 Board Approved 12/10/2020

Line Amount Total 4,250.00

91599 12/15/22 V00181 Canon Solutions America, Inc. 1,896.92

125784 123291 Maint & Repair - Office Equipment 1,725.30

125807 123290 Maint & Repair - Office Equipment 171.62

Line Amount Total 1,896.92

91600 12/15/22 V00187 Brazoria County Septic Service 1,688.00

125786 123288 Contract Services 1,688.00

Line Amount Total 1,688.00

91601 12/15/22 V00194 Johnson Supply 37.77

125803 123284 M&R Bldgs-Operations Bldg 37.77

Line Amount Total 37.77

91602 12/15/22 V00198 Brazosport Starter & Alternator Service 209.00

125787 123271 M&R TOE-Yale Forklift 209.00

Line Amount Total 209.00

91603 12/15/22 V00204 Brazoria County Appraisal District 10,200.50

125821 123326 Appraisal District Fees 10,200.50

Line Amount Total 10,200.50

91604 12/15/22 V00214 McFarland PLLC 17,556.56

125827 123342 Construction in Progress 17,487.50

125827 123342 Construction in Progress 69.06

Line Amount Total 17,556.56

91605 12/15/22 V00246 Brian's Bar-B-Q 4,920.00

125829 123348 Community Events 4,920.00

Line Amount Total 4,920.00

91606 12/15/22 V00267 IWS Gas and Supply of Texas 94.80

125791 123283 Maint and Operations Supplies 94.80

Line Amount Total 94.80

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

10

Unaudited 
Page 27 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91607 12/15/22 V00271 Schindler Elevator Corporation 320.85

125812 123319 M&R Bldgs-Security Bldg 320.85

Line Amount Total 320.85

91608 12/15/22 V00403 Jennifer Barrera 799.96

125831 123343 Flexible Spending Emp Reimbursement 799.96

Line Amount Total 799.96

91609 12/15/22 V00517 Covenant K9 Detection Services 6,000.00

125814 122677 Security Service Fees 6,000.00

125814 122677 Day Rate for K9 Detection Services ( 6 hours/Day)

125814 122677 October 2022 - September 2023

125814 122677 Board Approved 9/23/2021

Line Amount Total 6,000.00

91610 12/15/22 V00593 McAllen Signal and Boring , LLC 500.00

125820 122863 M&R Rail-Other 500.00

125820 122863 Monthly Rail Crossing Inspection

125820 122863 October 2022 - September 2023

Line Amount Total 500.00

91611 12/15/22 V00647 Exagono dba Brand Fire Texas 1,577.50

125833 123253 Sales/Promotion Travel 1,577.50

125833 123253 Optical Crystal Slant top Dome Paperweight

125833 123253 VW reception

Line Amount Total 1,577.50

91612 12/15/22 V00668 DARE Capital Partners, LLC 1,832.48

125830 123347 M&R Other-Mowing, Weed Control  Etc 1,449.79

125830 123347 Contract Labor Expense 382.69

Line Amount Total 1,832.48

91613 12/15/22 V00809 Thomson Reuters Holdings Inc. 192.61

125819 122714 Subscriptions 187.00

125819 122714 Amended Amount for Price Increase 5.61

125819 122714 Monthly Feature Fee for CLEAR Investigation/

125819 122714 Background Services for 1 Year

125819 122714 October 2022 - September 2023

Line Amount Total 192.61

91614 12/15/22 V00820 ADT Commercial LLC 854.00

125805 123320 Badge Supplies 854.00

Line Amount Total 854.00

91615 12/15/22 V00847 Barbara Schoppe 37.28

125806 123325 Office Supplies 37.28

Line Amount Total 37.28

91616 12/15/22 V00909 Randle Law Office Ltd. 6,444.43

125823 123337 Legal Fees 6,275.00

125823 123337 Legal Fees 169.43

Line Amount Total 6,444.43

91617 12/15/22 V00918 Three Six Zero Limited 5,350.00

125836 123346 Industry Advertising 5,350.00

Line Amount Total 5,350.00

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

11

Unaudited 
Page 28 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

91618 12/15/22 V00863 Enrico Arbolante 300.00

125838 123357 Telephone 300.00

Line Amount Total 300.00

91619 12/15/22 V00611 McCarthy Building Companies, Inc. 1,942,767.13

125816 112704 Construction in Progress 1,562,307.44

125816 112704 Labor, Materials, Equip & Insurance for

125816 112704 Velasco Terminal, Berth 8 Project

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Commission Approved 10/23/19

125816 112704 Decrease in Contract amount

125816 112704 Commission Approved 12/12/2019

125816 112704 Description

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable

125816 112704 Retainage Payable -78,115.38

125817 117954 Construction in Progress 482,710.60

125817 117954 RO/RO ramp for VT Berth 8 project

125817 117954 Board Approved 5/27/2021

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

12

Unaudited 
Page 29 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable

125817 117954 Retainage Payable -24,135.53

Line Amount Total 1,942,767.13

91620 12/21/22 V00010 Specialties Company 444.43

125850 123389 M&R TOE-Street Sweeper 444.43

Line Amount Total 444.43

91621 12/21/22 V00011 Gulftex Vending 100.76

125845 123381 Office Supplies 100.76

Line Amount Total 100.76

91622 12/21/22 V00015 Mike Wilson 215.72

125847 123373 Sales/Promotion Travel 215.72

Line Amount Total 215.72

91623 12/21/22 V00030 Girouard's Ace Hardware 1,229.40

125861 123365 Safety Supplies 5.52

125861 123365 Maint and Operations Supplies 19.17

125861 123365 M&R IT Equipment 23.08

125861 123365 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 10.80

125861 123365 M&R Vehicles-Ford Pick Up 3.58

125861 123365 M&R Vehicles-Ford Pick Up 3.80

125861 123365 M&R Bldgs-Admin Bldg 1100 Cherry St 4.38

125861 123365 M&R Bldgs-Buildings VT Berth 7 331.14

125861 123365 M&R Warehouse-Warehouse 51 319.39

125861 123365 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. 1 175.83

125861 123365 M&R Transit Shed-T.S. Sprinkler System 16.98

125861 123365 M&R Docks-Dock Berth 1 67.11

125861 123365 M&R Docks-Dock Berth 5 21.98

125861 123365 M&R Terminal Facilities-Other 69.38

125861 123365 M&R Leased Facilities-Other 24.95

125861 123365 M&R Bldgs-Maintenance Bldg 132.31

Line Amount Total 1,229.40

91624 12/21/22 V00044 Ready Refresh 347.68

125864 123394 Office Supplies 43.40

125864 123394 Office Supplies 21.69

125864 123394 Office Supplies 5.42

125864 123394 Office Supplies 21.69

125864 123394 Office Supplies 233.79

125864 123394 Office Supplies 21.69

Line Amount Total 347.68

91625 12/21/22 V00046 Sprint Waste Services 942.48

125853 123383 Contract Services 471.24

125852 123370 Contract Services 471.24

Line Amount Total 942.48

91626 12/21/22 V00067 Quill Corporation 316.99

125848 123387 Office Supplies 32.92

125848 123387 Office Supplies 223.90

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

13

Unaudited 
Page 30 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125849 123388 Office Supplies 33.84

125857 123395 Office Supplies 26.33

Line Amount Total 316.99

91627 12/21/22 V00070 Darlene Winkler 60.63

125844 123372 Governmental Relations Travel 60.63

Line Amount Total 60.63

91628 12/21/22 V00077 Brookside Equipment 8.00

125841 123380 M&R Groundskeeping Equipment-Misc 8.00

Line Amount Total 8.00

91629 12/21/22 V00080 On Hold Marketing Works 39.00

125854 123384 Lease Expense 39.00

Line Amount Total 39.00

91630 12/21/22 V00092 Nadia Bowers 45.00

125862 123392 Governmental Relations Travel 45.00

Line Amount Total 45.00

91631 12/21/22 V00097 Comcast Business 2,588.50

125859 123386 Contract Services 2,588.50

Line Amount Total 2,588.50

91632 12/21/22 V00125 AT&T:979-230-9161 754-5 494.83

125840 123378 Telephone 55.91

125840 123378 Telephone 55.91

125840 123378 Telephone 383.01

Line Amount Total 494.83

91633 12/21/22 V00149 Brazoria Chamber of Commerce 100.00

125842 123376 Community Events 100.00

Line Amount Total 100.00

91634 12/21/22 V00198 Brazosport Starter & Alternator Service 259.00

125843 123371 M&R TOE-Yale Forklift 259.00

Line Amount Total 259.00

91635 12/21/22 V00207 ABC, Inc. 300.00

125839 123385 Community Events 300.00

Line Amount Total 300.00

91636 12/21/22 V00285 Shoppa's Farm Supply 246.27

125851 123382 M&R Groundskeeping Equipment-5510 John Deere 246.27

Line Amount Total 246.27

91637 12/21/22 V00386 Industrial Disposal Supply Co., LLC 385.57

125846 123377 M&R TOE-Street Sweeper 385.57

Line Amount Total 385.57

91638 12/21/22 V00443 OverNite Software, Inc 500.00

125863 123391 Safety Training - Christine/Jim 500.00

Line Amount Total 500.00

91639 12/21/22 V00647 Exagono dba Brand Fire Texas 1,190.97

125860 123374 Sales/Promotion Travel 1,190.97

Line Amount Total 1,190.97

91640 12/21/22 V00663 B&K Motor Parts, Inc 3,709.90

125856 123364 Maint and Operations Supplies 382.19

125856 123364 Fuel/Oil 545.63

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

14

Unaudited 
Page 31 of 32



Check No. Check Date Vendor No. Vendor Name Check Amount

Invoice No. PO No. GL Account Name Line Description Line Amount

125856 123364 M&R TOE-General Terminal Ops Equip & Tools 98.39

125856 123364 M&R TOE-Toyota Forklift 129.75

125856 123364 M&R TOE-Golf Cart EZGO 316.60

125856 123364 M&R TOE-John Deere Gator 253.86

125856 123364 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 119.95

125856 123364 M&R TOE-Gantry Crane 119.95

125856 123364 M&R Vehicles-Ford Truck 24.36

125856 123364 M&R Vehicles-Ford Pick Up 489.34

125856 123364 M&R Vehicles-Chevy Tahoe 115.09

125856 123364 M&R Vehicles-Chevy Tahoe 1,114.79

Line Amount Total 3,709.90

91641 12/21/22 V00808 Whitener Enterprises Inc. 1,905.37

125865 123379 690 gallons unleaded @ 2.7614 1,905.37

Line Amount Total 1,905.37

91642 12/21/22 V00875 Hannah Fitzsimmons 150.00

125866 123367 Telephone 150.00

Line Amount Total 150.00

91643 12/22/22 V00062 AT&T Mobility 442.76

125868 123396 Telephone 108.37

125868 123396 Telephone 203.52

125868 123396 Telephone 88.68

125868 123396 Telephone 42.19

Line Amount Total 442.76

91644 12/22/22 V00105 Cecil Booth 433.75

125867 123397 Telephone 300.00

125867 123397 Technical Training 60.00

125867 123397 Dues & Memberships & Licenses 40.00

125867 123397 M&R Parcel 14 Rail 33.75

Line Amount Total 433.75

Texas Gulf Bank Accounts Payable 2,466,093.21

Page

Vendor Expenditure

Port Freeport

Period: 12/01/22..12/31/22

Thursday, January 5, 2023

FREEPORT\MARY

15

Unaudited 
Page 32 of 32



 
 

1100 CHERRY ST. • FREEPORT, TX 77541 
(979) 233-2667 • 1 (800) 362-5743 • FAX: (979) 373-0023 

WWW.PORTFREEPORT.COM 
 

PORT COMMISSION 
 

JOHN HOSS, CHAIRMAN; RUDY SANTOS, VICE CHAIRMAN; DAN CROFT, SECRETARY; ROB GIESECKE, ASST. SECRETARY;  
RAVI K. SINGHANIA, COMMISSIONER; SHANE PIRTLE, COMMISSIONER; PHYLLIS SAATHOFF, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR/CEO 

 
 

 
 
 
 TO: Port Commission 
  Executive Director/CEO 
 
 FROM: Rob Lowe 
   
 DATE: January 26, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: GO Bond Offering  
 
 
For our upcoming GO Bond issuance, the port has the option of utilizing a Competitive Sale or a 
Negotiated Sale. Our last GO Bond sale was held in January of 2021 where 12 Underwriters submitted 
bids in a Competitive Sale.  
 
In a competitive sale, the port would advertise the sale of the bonds. Interested underwriters would submit 
bids based on the terms and conditions established in the advertisement. The bonds are awarded to the 
bidder offering the lowest interest cost to the port. 
 
In a negotiated sale, an underwriter is chosen from an approved provider or through an RFP. The chosen 
underwriter then negotiates the rates and terms with the port and our financial advisors. 
  
Masterson Advisors LLC has recommended that we consider a competitive bid for our GO Bond issue 
currently planned for 1Q23. The recommendation is based on underwriters valuing the high quality of 
Port Freeport GO Bonds which could lead to a favorable rate bid. We are also planning a Revenue Bond 
issuance in mid-2023 and that offering would most likely result in a negotiated sale. 
  
Retail prioritization can be requested in a competitive sale but cannot be required. In 2021, the winning 
bid underwriters did make bonds available for local retail. However, retail participation, while given top 
prioritization in our most recent bond sales, both competitive and negotiated, has been very low.  
 
Based on the success of the 2021 GO Bond offering, staff recommends that we conduct a Competitive 
Sale for the 2023 GO Bonds. With approval, staff will again request local retail consideration of the 
bidding underwriters. 



 
# DM-8332873.4 

RESOLUTION 
 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PORT FREEPORT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 

SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adopted on January 26, 2023 

 



 

-i- 
# DM-8332873.4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

Section 1.01 Definitions.............................................................................................................2 
Section 1.02 Other Definitions ..................................................................................................5 
Section 1.03 Findings.................................................................................................................5 
Section 1.04 Table of Contents, Titles and Headings ................................................................5 
Section 1.05 Interpretation .........................................................................................................5 

ARTICLE II 
 

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS; INTEREST AND SINKING FUND 

Section 2.01 Tax Levy ...............................................................................................................5 

ARTICLE III 
 

AUTHORIZATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE BONDS 

Section 3.01 Authorization ........................................................................................................6 
Section 3.02 Denomination, Maturities, and Interest ................................................................6 
Section 3.03 Medium, Method and Place of Payment ...............................................................7 
Section 3.04 Execution and Registration of Bonds ...................................................................7 
Section 3.05 Ownership .............................................................................................................8 
Section 3.06 Registration, Transfer and Exchange ....................................................................8 
Section 3.07 Cancellation ..........................................................................................................9 
Section 3.08 Replacement Bonds ..............................................................................................9 
Section 3.09 Book-Entry Only System ....................................................................................10 
Section 3.10 Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only 

System .................................................................................................................11 
Section 3.11 Payments to Cede & Co ......................................................................................11 

ARTICLE IV 
 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY 

Section 4.01 Limitation on Redemption ..................................................................................11 
Section 4.02 Optional and Mandatory Redemption .................................................................12 
Section 4.03 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption ................................................................12 
Section 4.04 Partial Redemption..............................................................................................12 
Section 4.05 Notice of Redemption to Owners .......................................................................12 
Section 4.06 Payment Upon Redemption ................................................................................13 
Section 4.07 Effect of Redemption ..........................................................................................13 



 
 

Page 

 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 4.08 Lapse of Payment ................................................................................................14 

ARTICLE V 
 

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR 

Section 5.01 Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar ..................................................14 
Section 5.02 Qualifications ......................................................................................................14 
Section 5.03 Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar ..................................................................14 
Section 5.04 Termination .........................................................................................................14 
Section 5.05 Notice of Change to Owners ...............................................................................15 
Section 5.06 Agreement to Perform  Duties and Functions.....................................................15 
Section 5.07 Delivery of Records to Successor .......................................................................15 

ARTICLE VI 
 

FORM OF THE BONDS 

Section 6.01 Form Generally ...................................................................................................15 
Section 6.02 CUSIP Registration .............................................................................................15 
Section 6.03 Legal Opinion .....................................................................................................16 
Section 6.04 Statement of Insurance ........................................................................................16 

ARTICLE VII 
 

SALE AND DELIVERY OF BONDS; DEPOSIT OF PROCEEDS 

Section 7.01 Sale of Bonds, Official Statement .......................................................................16 
Section 7.02 Control and Delivery of Bonds ...........................................................................18 
Section 7.03 Deposit of Proceeds ............................................................................................18 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

CREATION OF INTEREST AND SINKING FUND; INVESTMENTS 

Section 8.01 Creation of Interest and Sinking Fund ................................................................18 
Section 8.02 Interest and Sinking Fund ...................................................................................18 
Section 8.03 Security of Funds ................................................................................................18 
Section 8.04 Investments .........................................................................................................18 
Section 8.05 Investment Income ..............................................................................................19 

ARTICLE IX 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

Section 9.01 Payment of the Bonds .........................................................................................19 
Section 9.02 Other Representations and Covenants ................................................................19 



 
 

Page 

 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 9.03 Federal Income Tax Exclusion ...........................................................................19 

ARTICLE X 
 

DISCHARGE 

Section 10.01 Discharge ............................................................................................................21 

ARTICLE XI 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

Section 11.01 Annual Reports ...................................................................................................21 
Section 11.02 Event Notices ......................................................................................................21 
Section 11.03 Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments ........................................................23 
Section 11.04 Amendments to the Rule .....................................................................................24 

ARTICLE XII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 12.01 Changes to Resolution ........................................................................................24 
Section 12.02 Further Procedures ..............................................................................................25 
Section 12.03 Severability .........................................................................................................25 
Section 12.04 Individuals Not Liable ........................................................................................25 
Section 12.05 Repealer ..............................................................................................................25 
Section 12.06 Force and Effect ..................................................................................................25 
Section 12.07 Open Meeting......................................................................................................25 
 
Exhibit A – Form of Pricing Certificate 
 

 



 

# DM-8332873.4 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF PORT FREEPORT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT); LEVYING A 
TAX AND PROVIDING FOR THE SECURITY AND PAYMENT THEREOF; 
PROVIDING FOR THE AWARD OF THE SALE THEREOF IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SPECIFIED PARAMETERS; AND ENACTING 
OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING THERETO 

WHEREAS, Port Freeport (formerly known as the Brazos River Harbor Navigation 
District of Brazoria County, Texas), located in Brazoria County, Texas (the “Port”), was heretofore 
duly created pursuant to the Constitution and general laws of the State of Texas, particularly 
Section 59 of Article XVI of the Constitution of Texas, and Chapter 5, Acts of the 39th Legislature 
of Texas, Regular Session, 1925 (codified in Vernon’s Annotated Texas Civil Statutes as Article 
8263h prior to the adoption of the Texas Water Code, and presently codified as Chapter 62, Texas 
Water Code, Vernon’s Texas Codes Annotated); the election for the creation of Port Freeport was 
held on December 4, 1925; the order of the Brazoria County Commissioners Court declaring the 
establishment of the Issuer was adopted on December 14, 1925, and is recorded in Volume O, 
Pages 318, et seq., Brazoria County Commissioners Court minutes; the creation of the Port was 
validated and confirmed by Chapter 55, Acts of the 40th Legislature of Texas, First Called Session, 
1927; and 

WHEREAS, Sections 60.331 and 60.332 of the Texas Water Code authorize the issuance 
of bonds payable from ad valorem taxes after authorization by a majority vote of the resident 
electors within the boundaries of the Port in an election held for that purpose; and 

WHEREAS, the voters within the boundaries of the Port have approved the issuance of 
unlimited tax bonds voted at an election held within the Port on May 5, 2018 (the “Election”); and 

WHEREAS, at said Election, the voters authorized the amount of unlimited tax bonds set 
forth below in the following schedule; and 

Election Purpose Amount 
Voted 

Amount 
Previously 

Issued 

Authorized 
But Unissued 

May 5, 2018 
(Proposition A) 

Freeport Harbor 
Channel Improvement 

Project 

$130,000,000 $74,200,000 $55,800,000 

WHEREAS the Port Commission of the Port (the “Port Commission”) does hereby 
determine that the unlimited tax bonds in an amount not to exceed $55,800,000, including any 
premium charged against voted authority, should be issued as the next installment of the unlimited 
tax bonds voted at the Election; and 

WHEREAS, the actual amount issued from the Election pursuant to this Resolution and 
the balance, if any, that remains after the issuance of the unlimited tax bonds authorized in this 
Resolution will be indicated in the Pricing Certificate (as hereinafter defined); and  



 

-2- 
# DM-8332873.4 

WHEREAS, the Port Commission has found and determined that it is necessary and in the 
best interest of the Port and its citizens that it authorize by this Resolution the issuance and delivery 
of such unlimited tax bonds for improving, constructing, or developing the Freeport Harbor 
Channel Improvement Project, and to pay the costs of issuing the unlimited tax bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Port is a conservation and reclamation district of the State of Texas 
operating under Article XVI, Section 59 of the Texas Constitution and therefore is an “Issuer” as 
defined by Section 1371.001(4)(E) of the Texas Government Code; and 

WHEREAS, the unlimited tax bonds are expected to be rated by a nationally recognized 
rating agency for municipal securities in one of the three highest rating categories for a short-term 
debt instrument or one of the four highest rating categories for a long-term debt instrument, and 
will qualify as “obligations” under Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code (“Chapter 1371”), as 
amended; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 1371, the Port may delegate the authority to effect the 
sale of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) to the Authorized Officers (as hereinafter defined), and 
the Port desires to delegate to the Authorized Officers such authority as described herein; and 

WHEREAS, the meeting at which this Resolution is being considered is open to the public 
as required by law, and the public notice of the time, place and purpose of said meeting was given 
as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code; NOW, THEREFORE 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PORT COMMISSION OF PORT FREEPORT: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

Section 1.01 Definitions.  Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context 
clearly requires otherwise in this Resolution, the following terms shall have the meanings specified 
below: 

“Authorized Officer” means the Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer or the 
Controller of the Port. 

“Bond” means any of the Bonds. 

“Bonds” means the Port’s bonds authorized to be issued by Section 3.01. 

“Bond Counsel” means Bracewell LLP. 

“Business Day” means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or other day on 
which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are 
required or authorized by law or executive order to close. 

“Chapter 1371” means Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code, as amended. 



 

-3- 
# DM-8332873.4 

“Closing Date” means the date of the initial delivery of and payment for the Bonds. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and, with respect to a 
specific section thereof, such reference shall be deemed to include (a) the Regulations promulgated 
under such section, (b) any successor provision of similar import hereafter enacted, (c) any 
corresponding provision of any subsequent Internal Revenue Code and (d) the regulations 
promulgated under the provisions described in (b) and (c).  

“Dated Date” means the date designated as the dated date of the Bonds in the Pricing 
Certificate. 

“Debt Service” means, collectively, all amounts due and payable with respect to the Bonds 
representing the principal, premium, if any, and the interest due on the Bonds, payable at the times 
and in the manner provided herein and in the Pricing Certificate and related costs. 

“Designated Payment/Transfer Office” means (i) with respect to the initial Paying 
Agent/Registrar named in this Resolution, the Designated Payment/Transfer Office as designated 
in the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement, or at such other location designated by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar and (ii) with respect to any successor Paying Agent/Registrar, the office of such 
successor designated and located as may be agreed upon by the Port and such successor. 

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York, or any successor 
securities depository. 

“DTC Participant” means brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 
corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created to hold securities 
to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants. 

“Financial Obligation” means a (i) debt obligation, (ii) derivative instrument entered into 
in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 
obligation, or (iii) guarantee of a debt obligation or any such derivative instrument; provided that 
“Financial Obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement 
(as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the rule.  

“Fiscal Year” means such fiscal year of the Port as shall be set from time to time by the 
Port Commission. 

“Initial Bond” means the Initial Bond for the Bonds authorized by Section 3.04(d). 

“Initial Purchaser” means, if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale, the initial 
purchaser or purchasers of the Bonds designated in the Pricing Certificate. 

“Interest and Sinking Fund” means the interest and sinking fund established by Section 
8.01 of this Resolution. 

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates on which interest on the Bonds is 
scheduled to be paid, as designated in the Pricing Certificate. 



 

-4- 
# DM-8332873.4 

“Maturity” means the date on which the principal of the Bonds becomes due and payable 
according to the terms thereof, whether at Stated Maturity or by proceedings for prior redemption. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

“Notice of Sale” means the notice of sale in the form approved by the Authorized Officer 
and utilized in conjunction with the Preliminary Official Statement in the sale of the Bonds if the 
Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale. 

“Owner” means the person who is the registered owner of a Bond or Bonds, as shown in 
the Register. 

“Paying Agent/Registrar” means initially BOKF, NA, or any successor thereto as provided 
in this Resolution. 

“Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement” means the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement 
between the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Port relating to the Bonds. 

“Port” means Port Freeport. 

“Port Commission” means the Port Commission of Port Freeport or any successor thereto. 

“Pricing Certificate” means a certificate or certificates to be signed by the Authorized 
Officer in connection with the issuance of Bonds under this Resolution. 

“Purchase Contract” means the purchase contract between the Port and the Underwriters 
pertaining to the sale of the Bonds, if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale. 

“Record Date” means the fifteenth calendar day of the month preceding an Interest 
Payment Date or such other date designated in the Pricing Certificate. 

“Register” means the Bond register required by Section 3.06(a). 

“Representation Letter” means the Blanket Letter of Representations between the Port and 
DTC. 

“Representative” means, if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale, the 
representative of the Underwriters designated in the Purchase Contract. 

“Resolution” means this Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Special Payment Date” means the date that is 15 days after the Special Record Date, as 
described in Section 3.03(d). 

“Special Record Date” means the new record date for interest payment established in the 
event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, as 
described in Section 3.03(d). 

“State” means the State of Texas. 



 

-5- 
# DM-8332873.4 

“Stated Maturity” means the respective stated maturity dates of the Bonds specified in the 
Pricing Certificate. 

“Term Bond” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 4.03(a) of this Resolution. 

“Unclaimed Payments” means money deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the 
payment of Debt Service or money set aside for the payment of Bonds duly called for redemption 
prior to Stated Maturity and remaining unclaimed by the Owners of such Bonds for 90 days after 
the applicable payment or redemption date. 

“Underwriter” means, if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale, the underwriter 
or underwriters designated in the Purchase Contract. 

Section 1.02 Other Definitions.  The capitalized terms defined in the preamble to this 
Resolution shall have the meanings assigned therein. 

Section 1.03 Findings.  The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and 
found in the preamble to this Resolution are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the 
operative provisions hereof. 

Section 1.04 Table of Contents, Titles and Headings.  The table of contents, titles and 
headings of the Articles and Sections of this Resolution have been inserted for convenience of 
reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or restrict 
any of the terms or provisions hereof and shall never be considered or given any effect in 
construing this Resolution or any provision hereof or in ascertaining intent, if any question of intent 
should arise. 

Section 1.05 Interpretation.  (a) Unless the context requires otherwise, words of the 
masculine gender shall be construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter 
genders and vice versa, and words of the singular number shall be construed to include correlative 
words of the plural number and vice versa. 

(b) This Resolution and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be liberally construed 
to effectuate the purposes set forth herein to sustain the validity of this Resolution. 

(c) All article and section references shall mean references to the respective articles 
and sections of this Resolution unless designated otherwise. 

ARTICLE II 
 

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS; INTEREST AND SINKING FUND 

Section 2.01 Tax Levy.  (a) Pursuant to the authority granted by the Constitution and 
laws of the State, there is hereby levied for the current year and for each succeeding year hereafter 
while any of the Bonds or any interest thereon is outstanding and unpaid, an ad valorem tax on 
each one hundred dollars valuation of taxable property within the Port, at a rate sufficient, without 
limit as to rate or amount, to pay Debt Service when due and payable, full allowance being made 
for delinquencies and costs of collection. 



 

-6- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(b) The ad valorem tax thus levied shall be assessed and collected each year against all 
property appearing on the tax rolls of the Port most recently approved in accordance with law and 
the money thus collected shall be deposited as collected to the Interest and Sinking Fund. 

(c) Said ad valorem tax, the collections therefrom, and all amounts on deposit in or 
required hereby to be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund are hereby pledged and committed 
irrevocably to the payment of Debt Service in accordance with the terms of the Bonds and this 
Resolution. 

(d) To the extent the Port has available funds which may be lawfully used to pay Debt 
Service and such funds are on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund in advance of the time when 
the Port Commission is scheduled to set a tax rate for any year, then such tax rate which otherwise 
would be required to be established pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section may be reduced to 
the extent and by the amount of such funds then on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund. 

(e) To pay Debt Service on the Bonds coming due prior to receipt of the taxes levied 
to pay such Debt Service, there is hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which are 
hereby certified to be on hand and available for such purpose, an amount sufficient to pay such 
Debt Service, and such amount shall be used for no other purpose. 

ARTICLE III 
 

AUTHORIZATION; GENERAL TERMS AND 
PROVISIONS REGARDING THE BONDS 

Section 3.01 Authorization.  The Port’s bonds to be designated the “Port Freeport 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT),” or having such other title or titles as may be 
designated in the Pricing Certificate, are hereby authorized to be issued and delivered in 
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State, including particularly Chapter 60, 
Subchapter M of the Texas Water Code and Chapter 1371, in the aggregate principal amount not 
to exceed $55,800,000 for the purposes of (i) improving, constructing, or developing the Freeport 
Harbor Channel Improvement Project, which project consists of the deepening and partial 
widening of the Freeport Harbor Channel, the construction of related improvements to waterways 
and adjacent berthing areas and aids to navigation used for navigation related commerce in Port 
Freeport, and dredge material placement associated with such activities, and (ii) paying the costs 
of issuing the Bonds.   

Section 3.02 Denomination, Maturities, and Interest.  (a) The Bonds shall be dated the 
date set forth in the Pricing Certificate, and shall be in fully registered form, without coupons. 

(b) The Bonds shall be in the aggregate principal amount designated in the Pricing 
Certificate, shall be in the denomination of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple 
thereof and shall be numbered separately from R-1 upward, except the Initial Bond, which shall 
be numbered I-1. 

(c) The Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the principal amounts and shall bear 
interest at the per annum rates set forth in the Pricing Certificate. 



 

-7- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 3.03 Medium, Method and Place of Payment.  (a) Debt Service shall be paid in 
lawful money of the United States of America. 

(b) Interest on each Bond shall be paid by check dated as of the Interest Payment Date, 
and sent United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, by the Paying Agent/Registrar to each 
Owner, as shown in the Register at the close of business on the Record Date, at the address of each 
such Owner as such appears in the Register or by such other customary banking arrangements 
acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the person to whom interest is to be paid; provided, 
however, that such person shall bear all risk and expense of such other customary banking 
arrangements. 

(c) The principal of each Bond shall be paid to the Owner thereof at Maturity upon 
presentation and surrender of such Bond at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar. 

(d) If the date for the payment of Debt Service is not a Business Day, the date for such 
payment shall be the next succeeding Business Day, and payment on such date shall for all 
purposes be deemed to have been made on the due date thereof as specified in this Section. 

(e) In the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 
days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a “Special Record Date”) will be 
established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have 
been received from the Port.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the Special Payment Date 
of the past due interest shall be sent at least five Business Days prior to the Special Record Date 
by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each Owner of a Bond 
appearing on the books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last Business 
Day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 

(f) Unclaimed Payments shall be segregated in a special account and held in trust, 
uninvested by the Paying Agent/Registrar, for the account of the Owner of the Bonds to which the 
Unclaimed Payments pertain.  Subject to Title 6, Texas Property Code, Unclaimed Payments 
remaining unclaimed by the Owners entitled thereto for three (3) years after the applicable payment 
or redemption date shall be applied to the next payment or payments on the Bonds thereafter 
coming due and, to the extent any such money remains after the retirement of all outstanding 
Bonds, shall be paid to the Port to be used for any lawful purpose.  Thereafter, neither the Port, the 
Paying Agent/Registrar nor any other person shall be liable or responsible to any holders of such 
Bonds for any further payment of such unclaimed moneys or on account of any such Bonds, subject 
to Title 6, Texas Property Code. 

Section 3.04 Execution and Registration of Bonds.  (a) The Bonds shall be executed on 
behalf of the Port by the Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of 
the Port Commission, by their manual or facsimile signatures, and the official seal of the Port shall 
be impressed or placed in facsimile thereon.  Such facsimile signatures on the Bonds shall have 
the same effect as if each of the Bonds had been signed manually and in person by each of said 
officers, and such facsimile seal on the Bonds shall have the same effect as if the official seal of 
the Port had been manually impressed upon each of the Bonds. 



 

-8- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(b) In the event any officer of the Port whose manual or facsimile signature appears on 
the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the authentication of such Bonds or before the delivery 
thereof, such facsimile signature nevertheless shall be valid and sufficient for all purposes as if 
such officer had remained in such office. 

(c) Except as provided below, no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or 
be entitled to any security or benefit of this Resolution unless and until the Certificate of Paying 
Agent/Registrar, substantially in the form provided herein, has been duly authenticated by manual 
execution by an officer or duly authorized signatory of the Paying Agent/Registrar.  It shall not be 
required that the same officer or authorized signatory of the Paying Agent/Registrar sign the 
Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar on all of the Bonds.  In lieu of the executed Certificate of 
Paying Agent/Registrar described above, the Initial Bonds delivered at the Closing Date shall have 
attached thereto the Comptroller’s Registration Certificate substantially in the form provided 
herein, manually executed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, or by his duly 
authorized agent, which certificate shall be evidence that the Initial Bonds have been duly 
approved by the Attorney General of the State and that they are valid and binding obligations of 
the Port, and have been registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State. 

(d) On the Closing Date, one Initial Bond representing the entire principal amount of 
the Bonds designated in the Pricing Certificate, payable in stated installments to the Representative 
or its designee (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale) or the Initial Purchaser or its 
designee (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale), to be executed by the manual or 
facsimile signatures of the Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary 
of the Port Commission, approved by the Attorney General of the State, and registered and 
manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, will be delivered to the 
Representative or its designee (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale) or the Initial 
Purchaser or its designee (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale).  Upon payment for 
the Initial Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Initial Bond and deliver registered 
definitive Bonds to DTC in accordance with Section 3.09 hereof.  To the extent the Paying 
Agent/Registrar is eligible to participate in DTC’s FAST System, as evidenced by an agreement 
between the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall hold the definitive 
Bonds in safekeeping for DTC. 

Section 3.05 Ownership.  (a) The Port, the Paying Agent/Registrar and any other person 
may treat the Owner as the absolute owner of such Bond for the purpose of making and receiving 
payment of the principal thereof for the further purpose of making and receiving payment of the 
interest thereon, and for all other purposes, whether or not such Bond is overdue, and neither the 
Port nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary. 

(b) All payments made to the Owner of a Bond shall be valid and effectual and shall 
discharge the liability of the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar upon such Bond to the extent of 
the sums paid. 

Section 3.06 Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  (a) So long as any Bonds remain 
outstanding, the Port shall cause the Paying Agent/Registrar to keep at its Designated 
Payment/Transfer Office a bond register (the “Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable 



 

-9- 
# DM-8332873.4 

regulations as it may prescribe, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the registration and 
transfer of Bonds in accordance with this Resolution. 

(b) The ownership of a Bond may be transferred only upon the presentation and 
surrender of the Bond to the Paying Agent/Registrar at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office 
with such endorsement or other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar.  No transfer of any Bond shall be effective until entered in the Register. 

(c) The Bonds shall be exchangeable upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the 
Designated Payment/Transfer Office for a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate 
and in any denomination or denominations of any integral multiple of $5,000 and in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the unpaid principal amount of the Bonds presented for exchange. 

(d) The Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver Bonds 
transferred or exchanged in accordance with this Section.  A new Bond or Bonds will be delivered 
by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu of the Bond being transferred or exchanged, at the 
Designated Payment/Transfer, or sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the 
Owner or his designee.  Each Bond delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar in accordance with 
this Section shall constitute an original contractual obligation of the Port and shall be entitled to 
the benefits and security of this Resolution to the same extent as the Bond or Bonds in lieu of 
which such Bond is delivered. 

(e) No service charge shall be made to the Owner for the initial registration, any 
subsequent transfer, or exchange for a different denomination of any of the Bonds.  The Paying 
Agent/Registrar, however, may require the Owner to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed in connection with the registration, transfer 
or exchange of a Bond. 

(f) Neither the Port nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or 
exchange any Bond called for redemption within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; 
provided, however, such limitation of transfer shall not be applicable to an exchange by the 
registered owner of the uncalled balance of a Bond. 

Section 3.07 Cancellation.  All Bonds paid or redeemed before Stated Maturity in 
accordance with this Resolution, and all Bonds in lieu of which exchange Bonds or replacement 
Bonds are authenticated and delivered in accordance with this Resolution, shall be cancelled upon 
the making of proper records regarding such payment, exchange or replacement.  The Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall dispose of such cancelled Bonds in the manner required by the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Section 3.08 Replacement Bonds.  (a) Upon the presentation and surrender to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar of a mutilated Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in 
exchange therefor a replacement Bond of like maturity, interest rate and principal amount, bearing 
a number not contemporaneously outstanding.  The Port or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require 
the Owner of such Bond to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that 
is authorized to be imposed in connection therewith and any other expenses connected therewith. 



 

-10- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(b) In the event that any Bond is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the 
Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to the applicable laws of the State and in the absence of notice 
or knowledge that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall authenticate and 
deliver a replacement Bond of like maturity, interest rate and principal amount, bearing a number 
not contemporaneously outstanding, provided that the Owner first complies with the following 
requirements: 

(i) furnishes to the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of his or her, 
ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft of such Bond; 

(ii) furnishes such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar to save it and the Port harmless; 

(iii) pays all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not 
limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any tax or other 
governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed; and 

(iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the Port and the 
Paying Agent/Registrar. 

(c) If, after the delivery of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original 
Bond in lieu of which such replacement Bond was issued presents for payment such original Bond, 
the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such replacement Bond from 
the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking therefrom, except a bona fide purchaser, 
and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or indemnity provided therefor to the extent of 
any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the Port or the Paying Agent/Registrar in connection 
therewith. 

(d) In the event that any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken 
Bond has become or is about to, become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in its 
discretion, instead of issuing a replacement Bond, may pay such Bond if it has become due and 
payable or may pay such Bond when it becomes due and payable. 

(e) Each replacement Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute 
an original additional contractual obligation of the Port and shall be entitled to the benefits and 
security of this Resolution to the same extent as the Bond or Bonds in lieu of which such 
replacement Bond is delivered. 

Section 3.09 Book-Entry Only System.  (a) To the extent so designated in the Pricing 
Certificate, the definitive Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully 
registered Bond for each of the maturities thereof.  Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each 
such Bond shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and except as 
provided in Section 3.10 hereof, all of the outstanding Bonds shall be registered in the name of 
Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. 

(b) With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, 
the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC 
Participant or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the 



 

-11- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Bonds, except as provided in this Resolution.  Without limiting the immediately preceding 
sentence, the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with 
respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect 
to any ownership interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, 
other than an Owner, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, including any notice of redemption, 
or (iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, of any 
amount with respect to Debt Service.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay all Debt Service only 
to or upon the order of the respective Owners, as provided in this Resolution, or their respective 
attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully 
satisfy and discharge the Port’s obligations with respect to payment of, Debt Service to the extent 
of the sum or sums so paid.  No person other than an Owner, shall receive a Bond certificate 
evidencing the obligation of the Port to make payments of amounts due pursuant to this Resolution.  
Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying Agent/Registrar of written notice to the effect that DTC has 
determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in 
this Resolution with respect to interest checks being mailed to the registered Owner at the close of 
business on the Record Date, the word “Cede & Co.” in this Resolution shall refer to such new 
nominee of DTC. 

Section 3.10 Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only 
System.  In the event that the Port determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its 
responsibilities described herein and in the Representation Letter, and that it is in the best interest 
of the beneficial owners of the Bonds that they be able to obtain certificated Bonds, or in the event 
DTC discontinues the services described herein, the Port or the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 
(i) appoint a successor securities depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the 
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants, as identified 
by DTC, of the appointment of such successor securities depository and transfer one or more 
separate Bonds to such successor securities depository or (ii) notify DTC and DTC Participants, 
as identified by DTC, of the availability through DTC of Bonds and transfer one or more separate 
Bonds to DTC Participants having Bonds credited to their DTC accounts, as identified by DTC.  
In such event, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Register in the 
name of Cede &.Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered in the name of the successor 
securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names Owners transferring or 
exchanging Bonds shall designate, as applicable, in accordance with the provisions of this 
Resolution. 

Section 3.11 Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Resolution to the contrary, so long as any Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as 
nominee of DTC, all payments of Debt Service on such Bonds, and all notices with respect to such 
Bonds, shall be made and given, respectively, in the manner provided in the Representation Letter. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY 

Section 4.01 Limitation on Redemption.  The Bonds shall be subject to redemption 
before Stated Maturity only as provided in this Article IV and in the Pricing Certificate. 



 

-12- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 4.02 Optional Redemption.  (a) The Bonds shall be subject to optional 
redemption at such times, in such amounts, in such manner and at such redemption prices as may 
be designated and provided for in the Pricing Certificate. 

Section 4.03 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  (a) The Bonds designated as “Term 
Bonds” in the Pricing Certificate (“Term Bonds”), if any, are subject to scheduled mandatory 
redemption and will be redeemed by the Port, in part, at a price equal to the principal amount 
thereof, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, out of moneys available 
for such purpose in the interest and sinking fund, on the dates and in the respective principal 
amounts as set forth in the Pricing Certificate. 

(b) Prior to each scheduled mandatory redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar 
shall select for redemption by lot, or by any other customary method that results in a random 
selection, a principal amount of Term Bonds equal to the aggregate principal amount of such Term 
Bonds to be redeemed, shall call such Term Bonds for redemption on such scheduled mandatory 
redemption date, and shall give notice of such redemption, as provided in Section 4.05. 

(c) The principal amount of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any 
redemption date pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.03 shall be reduced, at the option 
of the Port, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds which, at least 45 days prior to the 
mandatory sinking fund redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by the Port and delivered to 
the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the 
optional redemption provisions hereof and not previously credited to a mandatory sinking fund 
redemption. 

Section 4.04 Partial Redemption.  (a) If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed 
pursuant to an optional redemption set forth in Section 4.02, the Port shall determine the maturities 
(or mandatory sinking fund redemption amount with respect to Term Bonds, if any) and the 
principal amount thereof to be redeemed and shall direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot 
such Bonds for redemption. 

(b) A portion of a single Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000 may be redeemed, 
but only in a principal amount equal to $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall treat each $5,000 portion of such Bond as though it were a single Bond for 
purposes of selection for redemption. 

(c) Upon surrender of any Bond for redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in 
accordance with Section 3.06 of this Resolution, shall authenticate and deliver exchange Bonds in 
an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed principal amount of the Bond so 
surrendered, such exchange being without charge. 

Section 4.05 Notice of Redemption to Owners.  (a) The Paying Agent/Registrar shall 
give notice of any redemption of Bonds by sending notice by United States mail, first class, postage 
prepaid, not less than 30 days before the date fixed for redemption, to the Owner of each Bond or 
portion thereof to be redeemed, at the address shown on the Register at the close of business on 
the Business Day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 



 

-13- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(b) The notice shall state the redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which 
the Bonds are to be surrendered for payment, and, if less than all the Bonds outstanding are to be 
redeemed, an identification of the Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed. 

(c) The Port reserves the right to give notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds 
under Section 4.02 conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  Such notice may state 
(i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or authorized securities, in 
an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Paying 
Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the redemption 
date or (ii) that the Port retains the right to rescind such notice at any time prior to the scheduled 
redemption date if the Port delivers a certificate of the Port to the Paying Agent/Registrar 
instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice, and such notice and 
redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so deposited 
or if the notice is rescinded.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any such 
rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners.  Any Bonds subject to 
conditional redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain outstanding and the 
rescission of such redemption shall not constitute an event of default. 

(d) Any notice given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have 
been duly given, whether or not the Owner receives such notice. 

Section 4.06 Payment Upon Redemption.  (a) Before or on each redemption date, the 
Port shall deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar money sufficient to pay all amounts due on the 
redemption date, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make provision for the payment of the 
Bonds to be redeemed on such date by setting aside and holding in trust such amounts as are 
received by the Paying Agent/Registrar from the Port and shall use such funds solely for the 
purpose of paying the redemption price of the Bonds being redeemed. 

(b) Upon presentation and surrender of any Bond called for redemption at the 
Designated Payment/Transfer Office on or after the date fixed for redemption, the Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall pay the redemption price of such Bond to the date of redemption from the 
money set aside for such purpose.  Interest on any Bond called for redemption shall be paid to the 
Owner in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.03(b) of this Resolution. 

Section 4.07 Effect of Redemption.  (a) When Bonds have been called for redemption in 
whole or in part and due provision has been made to redeem same as herein provided, the Bonds 
or portions thereof so redeemed shall no longer be regarded as outstanding except for the purpose 
of receiving payment solely from the funds so provided for redemption, and the rights of the 
Owners to collect interest which would otherwise accrue after the redemption date on any Bond 
or portion thereof called for redemption shall terminate on the date fixed for redemption. 

(b) If the Port fails to make provision for payment of all sums due on a redemption 
date, then any Bond or portion thereof called for redemption shall continue to bear interest at the 
rate stated on the Bond until due provision is made for the payment of same. 



 

-14- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 4.08 Lapse of Payment.  Money set aside for the redemption of the Bonds and 
remaining unclaimed by the Owners thereof shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.03(f) 
hereof. 

ARTICLE V 
 

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR 

Section 5.01 Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar.  (a) The Port hereby 
appoints BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, as its initial registrar and transfer agent (the “Paying 
Agent/Registrar”) to keep such books or records and make such transfers and registrations under 
such reasonable regulations as the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar may prescribe; and the 
Paying Agent/Registrar shall make such transfer and registrations as herein provided.  It shall be 
the duty of the Paying Agent/Registrar to obtain from the Owners and record in the Register the 
address of such Owner of each Bond to which payments with respect to the Bonds shall be mailed, 
as provided herein. The Port or its designee shall have the right to inspect the Register during 
regular business hours of the Paying Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar 
shall keep the Registration Books confidential and, unless otherwise required by law, shall not 
permit their inspection by any other entity. 

(b) The Port hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying 
agent for paying the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep 
proper records of all payments made by the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to 
the Bonds, and of all conversions, exchanges and replacements of such Bonds, as provided in the 
Resolution. 

(c) The form of Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement is hereby approved. The Port 
hereby approves and the Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of 
the Port Commission are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Paying Agent/Registrar 
Agreement, specifying the duties and responsibilities of the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar. 

Section 5.02 Qualifications.  Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank, a 
trust company organized under the laws of the State, or any other entity duly qualified and legally 
authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of paying agent and registrar for the 
Bonds. 

Section 5.03 Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar.  (a) At all times while any Bonds are 
outstanding, the Port will maintain a Paying Agent/Registrar that is qualified under Section 5.02  
of this Resolution. 

(b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the Port 
will promptly appoint a replacement, provided no such resignation shall be effective until a 
successor Paying Agent/Registrar has accepted the duties of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds. 

Section 5.04 Termination.  The Port reserves the right to terminate the appointment of 
any Paying Agent/Registrar by delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated (i) 45 
days written notice of the termination of the appointment and of the Paying Agent/Registrar 
Agreement, stating the effective date of such termination, and (ii) appointing a successor Paying 



 

-15- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Agent/Registrar; provided, that, no such termination shall be effective until a successor paying 
agent/registrar has assumed the duties of paying agent/registrar for the Bonds. 

Section 5.05 Notice of Change to Owners.  Promptly upon each change in the entity 
serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Port will cause notice of the change to be sent to each 
Owner by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, at the address in the Register, stating the 
effective date of the change and the name and mailing address of the replacement Paying 
Agent/Registrar. 

Section 5.06 Agreement to Perform Duties and Functions.  By accepting the 
appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to 
the provisions of this Resolution and that it will perform the duties and functions of Paying 
Agent/Registrar prescribed hereby. 

Section 5.07 Delivery of Records to Successor.  If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, 
such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the 
Register (or a copy thereof) and all other pertinent books and records relating to the Bonds to the 
successor Paying Agent/Registrar. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

FORM OF THE BONDS 

Section 6.01 Form Generally.  (a) The Bonds, including the Registration Certificate of 
the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, the Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, and 
the Assignment form to appear on each of the Bonds (i) shall be substantially in the form set forth 
in Exhibit A attached hereto, with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions, and other 
variations as are permitted or required by this Resolution and the Pricing Certificate, and (ii) may 
have such letters, numbers, or other marks of identification (including identifying numbers and 
letters of the Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures (“CUSIP”) of the 
American Bankers Association) and such legends and endorsements (including any reproduction 
of an opinion of counsel) thereon as, consistently herewith, may be determined by the Port or by 
the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by their execution thereof. 

(b) Any portion of the text of any Bonds may be set forth on the reverse side thereof, 
with an appropriate reference thereto on the face of the Bonds. 

(c) The Bonds shall be typed, photocopied, printed, lithographed, or engraved, and may 
be produced by any combination of these methods or produced in any other similar manner, all as 
determined by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by their execution thereof. 

Section 6.02 CUSIP Registration.  The Port may secure identification numbers through 
the CUSIP Global Services or another entity that provides securities identification numbers for 
municipal securities, and may authorize the printing of such numbers on the face of the Bonds.  It 
is expressly provided, however, that the presence or absence of CUSIP numbers on the Bonds or 
any errors or omissions in the printing of such number shall be of no significance or effect in regard 
to the legality thereof and neither the Port nor Bond Counsel to the Port are to be held responsible 
for CUSIP numbers incorrectly printed on the Bonds. 



 

-16- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 6.03 Legal Opinion.  The approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel may be 
attached to or printed on the reverse side of each definitive Bond over the certification of the 
Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Port Commission, which may be executed in facsimile. 

Section 6.04 Statement of Insurance.  If municipal bond insurance is obtained with 
respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, including the Initial Bond, may bear an appropriate legend, as 
provided by the insurer. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

SALE AND DELIVERY OF BONDS; DEPOSIT OF PROCEEDS 

Section 7.01 Sale of Bonds, Official Statement.  (a) The Bonds shall be sold to the 
Underwriters or Initial Purchasers in accordance with the terms of this Resolution.  As authorized 
by Chapter 1371, an Authorized Officer is authorized to act on behalf of the Port upon determining 
that the conditions set forth below can be satisfied in selling and delivering the Bonds and in 
carrying out the other procedures specified in this Resolution, including determining whether the 
Bonds shall be sold at a competitive or negotiated sale, the price at which each of the Bonds will 
be sold, the number and designation of series of Bonds to be issued, the form in which the Bonds 
shall be issued, the years in which the Bonds will mature, the principal amount to mature in each 
of such years, the aggregate principal amount to be issued by the Port, the rate of interest to be 
borne by each maturity of the Bonds, the first interest payment date for the Bonds, the dates, prices 
and terms upon and at which the Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the 
option of the Port and shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, the defeasance 
provisions for the Bonds, the selection of the Underwriters if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a 
negotiated sale, and all other matters relating to the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds, all of 
which shall be specified in the Pricing Certificate; provided that the following conditions can be 
satisfied: 

(i) the Bonds shall not bear interest at a rate in excess of the maximum rate 
allowed under Section 1204.006, Texas Government Code; 

(ii) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds authorized to be issued for the 
purposes described in Section 3.01 shall not exceed the limits described in that Section; 

(iii) the Pricing Certificate for the Bonds issued in whole or in part for the 
purposes described in Section 3.01 shall indicate the amount of authorized but unissued 
bonds that remain available to the Port from the applicable voted authorization following 
the issuance of the Bonds approved in the Pricing Certificate; and 

(iv) no Bond shall mature more than 40 years from the date of delivery thereof. 

If the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale, the Authorized Officer is hereby 
authorized and directed to select the Underwriters for the Bonds and to execute and deliver on 
behalf of the Port a Purchase Contract providing for the sale of the Bonds to the Underwriters, in 
a form and substance satisfactory to the Authorized Officer.  The Authorized Officer is hereby 
authorized and directed to approve the final terms and provisions of the Purchase Contract in 
accordance with the terms of the Pricing Certificate and this Resolution, such approval being 



 

-17- 
# DM-8332873.4 

evidenced by its execution thereof by the Authorized Officer.  If the Bonds are sold pursuant to a 
competitive sale, the Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to approve, in 
conformity with this Resolution and the Notice of Sale, the terms, conditions and specifications 
for the sale of the Bonds, and is further authorized to award the sale of the Bonds to one or more 
purchasers submitting the bid or bids conforming to the specifications set forth in the Notice of 
Sale that produce the lowest true interest cost to the Port. All officers, agents and representatives 
of the Port are hereby authorized to do any and all things necessary or desirable to satisfy the 
conditions set out therein and to provide for the issuance and delivery of the Bonds.  The Bonds 
shall initially be registered in the name of the Representative (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a 
negotiated sale) or such other entity as my be a specified in the Purchase Contract or the Initial 
Purchaser (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale) or such other entity as may be 
specified in the bid form(s). 

The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to execute a commitment for 
municipal bond insurance with the issuer of a bond insurance policy for the Bonds if the purchase 
of such bond insurance is recommended by the Port’s financial advisor and the purchase of the 
bond insurance policy provides a positive monetary benefit to the Port. 

(b) The authority granted to the Authorized Officer under Section 7.01(a) shall expire 
at 11:59 p.m. on a date one year from the date of this Resolution unless otherwise extended by the 
Port Commission by separate action. 

(c) The Port hereby authorizes the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement for 
the Bonds (if the Bonds are sold at a competitive or negotiated sale) and a Notice of Sale for the 
Bonds (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale) for the use in the initial offering and 
sale of the Bonds, each in the form and with such addenda, supplements or amendments as may 
be approved by the Authorized Officer as evidenced by a certificate of the Authorized Officer. The 
Port hereby authorizes the Authorized Officer to approve the form and content and the distribution 
of the Notice of Sale (if applicable) and the Preliminary Official Statement prepared for the use in 
the initial offering and sale of the Bonds and to deem the Preliminary Official Statement (with 
such addenda, supplements or amendments as may be approved by the Authorized Officer), final 
within the meaning and for the purposes of paragraph (b)(1) of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities 
and Exchange Act of 1934. The Port hereby authorizes the preparation of the Official Statement 
reflecting the terms of the Purchase Contract (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated sale) 
or winning bid form (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale) and other relevant 
information. The use of such final Official Statement by the Underwriter or the Initial Purchaser, 
as applicable (in the form and with such appropriate variations as shall be approved by the 
Authorized Officer and the Representative or the Initial Purchaser, as applicable), is hereby 
approved and authorized, and if required, the proper officials of the Port are authorized to sign 
such Official Statement. If the Bonds are sold pursuant to a  competitive sale, the proper officials 
of the Port are authorized to execute and deliver a certificate pertaining to such Official Statement 
as prescribed therein, dated as of the date of payment for and delivery of the Bonds.  

(d) The Authorized Officer and all other officers of the Port are authorized to take such 
actions, to obtain such consents or approvals and to execute such documents, certificates and 
receipts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in order to consummate the delivery of the 
Bonds, to pay the costs of issuance of the Bonds, and to effectuate the terms and provisions of this 



 

-18- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Resolution.  Further, in connection with the submission of the record of proceedings for the Bonds 
to the Attorney General of the State for examination and approval of such Bonds, the appropriate 
officer of the Port is hereby authorized and directed to issue a check of the Port payable to the 
Attorney General of the State as a nonrefundable examination fee in the amount required by 
Chapter 1202, Texas Government Code (such amount to be the lesser of (i) 1/10th of 1% of the 
principal amount of the Bonds or (ii) $9,500, but in no case less than $750). 

Section 7.02 Control and Delivery of Bonds.  (a) The Authorized Officer is hereby 
authorized to have control of the Initial Bond and all necessary records and proceedings pertaining 
thereto pending investigation, examination and approval of the Attorney General of the State, 
registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, and registration with, and initial 
exchange or transfer by, the Paying Agent/Registrar. 

(b) After registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, delivery of 
the Bonds shall be made to the Representative or its designee under and subject to the general 
supervision and direction of the Chairman of the Port Commission or, in his absence, the Vice 
Chairman of the Port Commission, against receipt by the Port of all amounts due to the Port under 
the terms of sale. 

Section 7.03 Deposit of Proceeds.  The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds shall be 
deposited as set forth in the Pricing Certificate. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

CREATION OF INTEREST AND SINKING FUND; INVESTMENTS 

Section 8.01 Creation of Interest and Sinking Fund.  The Port hereby establishes a special 
fund or account to be designated the “Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-
AMT) Interest and Sinking Fund” (the “Interest and Sinking Fund”) with said fund to be 
maintained at an official depository bank of the Port separate and apart from all other funds and 
accounts of the Port. 

Section 8.02 Interest and Sinking Fund.  (a) The taxes levied under Section 2.01 shall be 
deposited to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund at such times and in such amounts as 
necessary for the timely payment of Debt Service. 

(b) Money on deposit in, or required by this Resolution to be deposited to, the Interest 
and Sinking Fund shall be used solely for the purpose of paying Debt Service on the Bonds when 
and as due and payable in accordance with their terms and this Resolution. 

Section 8.03 Security of Funds.  All monies on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund 
shall be secured in the manner and to the fullest extent required by the laws of the State for the 
security of public funds, and moneys on deposit in such funds shall be used only for the purposes 
permitted by this Resolution. 

Section 8.04 Investments.  (a) Money in the Interest and Sinking Fund, at the option of 
the Port, may be invested in such securities or obligations as permitted under applicable law, 
including specifically the Public Funds Investment Act and the Port’s investment policy, including 



 

-19- 
# DM-8332873.4 

through a guaranteed investment contract as authorized by Section 2256.015 of the Government 
Code; provided that all such investments shall be made in such a manner that the money required 
to be expended will be available at the proper time or times. 

(b) Any securities or obligations in which money in the Interest and Sinking Fund is so 
invested shall be kept and held in trust for the benefit of the Owners and shall be sold and the 
proceeds of sale shall be timely applied to the making of all payments required to be made from 
the fund from which the investment was made. 

Section 8.05 Investment Income.  Income derived from investment of any fund created 
by this Resolution shall be credited to such fund. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

Section 9.01 Payment of the Bonds.  On or before each Interest Payment Date while any 
of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, there shall be made available to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar, out of the Interest and Sinking Fund, money sufficient to pay such Debt Service 
when due. 

Section 9.02 Other Representations and Covenants.  (a) The Port will faithfully perform 
at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations, and provisions contained in this 
Resolution and in each Bond; the Port will promptly pay or cause to be paid Debt Service on the 
dates and at the places and manner prescribed in such Bond; and the Port will, at the times and in 
the manner prescribed by this Resolution, deposit or cause to be deposited the amounts of money 
specified by this Resolution. 

(b) The Port is duly authorized under the laws of the State to issue the Bonds; all action 
on its part for the creation and issuance of the Bonds has been duly and effectively taken; and the 
Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be valid and enforceable obligations of the 
Port in accordance with their terms. 

Section 9.03 Federal Income Tax Matters.   

(a) General.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, 
if taken or omitted, would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable in gross income for 
federal income tax purposes. In furtherance thereof, the Port covenants to comply with sections 
103 and 141 through 150 of the Code and the provisions set forth in the Federal Tax Certificate 
executed by the Port in connection with the Bonds. 

(b) No Private Activity Bonds.  The Port covenants that it will use the proceeds of the 
Bonds (including investment income) and the property financed, directly or indirectly, with such 
proceeds so that the Bonds will not be “private activity bonds” within the meaning of section 141 
of the Code.  Furthermore, the Port will not take a deliberate action (as defined in section 1.141-
2(d)(3) of the Regulations) that causes the Bonds to be a “private activity bond” unless it takes a 
remedial action permitted by section 1.141-12 of the Regulations.  



 

-20- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(c) No Federal Guarantee.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take 
any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the 
meaning of section 149(b) of the Code, except as permitted by section 149(b)(3) of the Code.  

(d) No Hedge Bonds.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take action 
that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Bonds to be “hedge bonds” within the meaning of section 
149(g) of the Code. 

(e) No Arbitrage Bonds.  The Port covenants that it will make such use of the proceeds 
of the Bonds (including investment income) and regulate the investment of such proceeds of the 
Bonds so that the Bonds will not be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of section 148(a) of the 
Code.   

(f) Required Rebate.  The Port covenants that, if the Port does not qualify for an 
exception to the requirements of section 148(f) of the Code, the Port will comply with the 
requirement that certain amounts earned by the Port on the investment of the gross proceeds of the 
Bonds, be rebated to the United States. 

(g) Information Reporting.  The Port covenants to file or cause to be filed with the 
Secretary of the Treasury an information statement concerning the Bonds in accordance with 
section 149(e) of the Code. 

(h) Record Retention.  The Port covenants to retain all material records relating to the 
expenditure of the proceeds (including investment income) of the Bonds and the use of the property 
financed, directly or indirectly, thereby until three years after the last Bond is redeemed or paid at 
maturity (or such other period as provided by subsequent guidance issued by the Department of 
the Treasury) in a manner that ensures their complete access throughout such retention period. 

(i) Registration.  If the Bonds are “registration-required bonds” under section 
149(a)(2) of the Code, the Bonds will be issued in registered form. 

(j) Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Port will 
not be required to comply with any of the federal tax covenants set forth above if the Port has 
received an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that such noncompliance will not 
adversely affect the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income 
tax purposes. 

(k) Continuing Obligation.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution, 
the Port’s obligations under the federal tax covenants set forth above will survive the defeasance 
and discharge of the Bonds for as long as such matters are relevant to the excludability of interest 
on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

(l) Official Intent.  For purposes of section 1.150-2(d) of the Regulations, to the extent 
that an official intent to reimburse by the Port has not been adopted for a particular project, this 
Resolution serves as the Port’s official declaration of intent to use proceeds of the Bonds to 
reimburse itself from proceeds of the Bonds issued in the maximum amount for certain 
expenditures paid in connection with the projects set forth herein.  Any such reimbursement will 
only be made (i) for an original expenditure paid no earlier than 60 days prior to the date hereof 



 

-21- 
# DM-8332873.4 

and (ii) not later than 18 months after the later of (A) the date the original expenditure is paid or 
(B) the date of with the project to which such expenditure relates is placed in service or abandoned, 
but in no event more than three years after the original expenditure is paid. 

ARTICLE X 
 

DISCHARGE 

Section 10.01 Discharge.  The Bonds may be defeased, discharged or refunded in any 
manner now or hereafter permitted by applicable law. 

ARTICLE XI 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

Section 11.01 Annual Reports.  (a) The Port shall provide annually to the MSRB, 
(i) within six (6) months after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Port ending in or after 2023, 
financial information and operating data with respect to the Port of the general type included in 
the Official Statement under tables identified in the Pricing Certificate, and including financial 
statements of the Port if audited financial statements of the Port are then available, and (ii) if not 
provided as part of such financial information and operating data, audited financial statements of 
the Port, when and if available.  Any financial statements so to be provided shall be (i) prepared 
in accordance with the accounting principles described in the rules to the financial statements for 
the most recently concluded Fiscal Year, or such other accounting principles as the Port may be 
required to employ, from time to time, by State law or regulation, and (ii) audited, if the Port 
commissions an audit of such statements and the audit is completed within the period during which 
they must be provided.  If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months 
after any such fiscal year end, then the Port shall file unaudited financial statements within such 
12-month period and audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year, when and if the 
audit report on such financial statements becomes available. 

(b) If the Port changes its Fiscal Year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of 
the date of the new Fiscal Year end) prior to the next date by which the Port otherwise would be 
required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section. 

(c) The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section 
may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any 
document (including an official statement or other offering document), if it is available to the 
public on the MSRB’s Internet website or has been filed with the SEC.  The financial information 
or operating data shall be provided in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB. 

Section 11.02 Event Notices.  The Port shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an 
electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business 
days after the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the following events with respect to the 
Bonds: 

(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 



 

-22- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(ii) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 
final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) 
or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the 
Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

(vii) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Bonds, if material; 

(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) Defeasances; 

(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 
material; 

(xi) Rating changes; 

(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Port; 

Note to paragraph (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in paragraph 12 of 
this section, the event is considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the 
appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Port in a proceeding 
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal 
law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the Port, or if such jurisdiction has been 
assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in 
possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental 
authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement 
or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or 
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Port. 

(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Port or 
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Port, other than in the ordinary 
course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action 
or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than 
pursuant to its terms, if material; 

(xiv) Appointment of successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, 
if material; 



 

-23- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(xv) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Port, if material, or agreement to 
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a 
Financial Obligation of the Port, any of which affect security holders, if material; 
and 

(xvi) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 
similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Port, any of which 
reflect financial difficulties. 

Note to paragraphs (xv) and (xvi):  For purposes of the events identified in 
paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) of this section and in the definition of Financial 
Obligation in Section 1.01, the Port intends the words used in such paragraphs to 
have the meanings ascribed to them in SEC Release No. 34-83885 dated August 
20, 2018 (the “2018 Release”) and any further written guidance provided by the 
SEC or its staff with respect with respect to the amendments to the Rule effected 
by the 2018 Release. 

(b) The Port shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the Port to 
provide financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 11.01. All documents 
provided to the MSRB pursuant to this section shall be accompanied by identifying information 
as prescribed by the MSRB. 

Section 11.03 Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments.  (a) The Port shall be obligated 
to observe and perform the covenants specified in this Article for so long as, but only for so long 
as, the Port remains an “obligated person” with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of the 
Rule, except that the Port in any event will give notice of any redemption calls and any defeasances 
that cause the Port to be no longer an “obligated person.” 

(b) The provisions of this Article are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial 
owners of the Bonds, and nothing in this Article, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any 
legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The Port undertakes to 
provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it 
has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Article and does not hereby undertake to provide 
any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the Port’s 
financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information provided 
in accordance with this Article or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein.  The Port does 
not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness to a 
decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future date. 

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE PORT BE LIABLE TO THE OWNER OR 
BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR 
TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY 
THE PORT, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITH OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF 
ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS ARTICLE, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF 
ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH 
BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC 
PERFORMANCE. 



 

-24- 
# DM-8332873.4 

(c) No default by the Port in observing or performing its obligations under this Article 
shall comprise a breach of or default under this Resolution for purposes of any other provisions of 
this Resolution. 

(d) Nothing in this Article is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit 
the duties of the Port under federal and state securities laws. 

(e) The provisions of this Article may be amended by the Port from time to time to 
adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or 
a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the Port, but only if (1) the 
provisions of this Article, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell 
Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any 
amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed 
circumstances, and (2) either (A) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any 
greater amount required by any other provisions of this Resolution that authorizes such an 
amendment) of the outstanding Bonds consent to such amendment or (B) a person that is 
unaffiliated with the Port (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such 
amendment will not materially impair the interests of the Owners and beneficial owners of the 
Bonds.  The Port may also repeal or amend the provisions of this Section if the SEC amends or 
repeals the applicable provisions of the Rule or any court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that 
such provisions of the Rule are invalid, and the Port also may amend the provisions of this Section 
in its discretion in any other manner or circumstance, but in either case only if and to the extent 
that the provisions of this sentence would not have prevented an underwriter from lawfully 
purchasing or selling the Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds, giving effect to (a) such 
provisions as so amended and (b) any amendments or interpretations of the Rule.  If the Port so 
amends the provisions of this Article, the Port shall include with any amended financial 
information or operating data next provided in accordance with this Article an explanation, in 
narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of 
financial information or operating data so provided. 

Section 11.04 Amendments to the Rule.  In the event the Authorized Officer, in 
consultation with Bond Counsel and the Port’s financial advisor, determines that it is necessary or 
desirable to amend the provisions of this Article in order to facilitate compliance with amendments 
to the Rule and related guidance from the SEC, the Authorized Officer may make such changes in 
the Pricing Certificate for the Bonds, and such amendments are hereby authorized and shall be 
deemed effective as set forth in the Pricing Certificate. 

ARTICLE XII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 12.01 Changes to Resolution.  Bond Counsel is hereby authorized to make 
changes to the terms of this Resolution if necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes hereof 
or in connection with the approval of the issuance of the bonds by the Attorney General of the 
State. 



 

-25- 
# DM-8332873.4 

Section 12.02 Further Procedures.  The Chairman of the Port Commission, the Secretary 
of the Port Commission, an Authorized Officer, and other appropriate officials of the Port are 
hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and/or convenient to carry out 
the terms of this Resolution. 

Section 12.03 Severability.  If any Section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

Section 12.04 Individuals Not Liable.  No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement 
herein contained shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any 
agent or employee of the Port in his or her individual capacity.  No agent or employee of the Port 
shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by 
reason of the issuance thereof. 

Section 12.05 Repealer.  All orders and resolutions, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted 
by the Port and inconsistent with the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent 
of such conflict. 

Section 12.06 Force and Effect.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its final passage and it is so resolved. 

Section 12.07 Open Meeting.  It is hereby found, determined and declared that a sufficient 
written notice of the date, hour, place and subject of the meeting of the Port Commission at which 
this Resolution was adopted was posted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all times to 
the general public at the offices of the Port for the time required by law preceding this meeting, as 
required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, and that this meeting has been open to the 
public as required by law at all times during which this Resolution and the subject matter thereof 
has been discussed, considered and formally acted upon.  The Port Commission further ratifies, 
approves and confirms such written notice and the contents and posting thereof. 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 

 

 

 

 

 



 

-26- 
# DM-8332873.4 

 



 

Signature Page to Resolution 
 
# DM-8332873.4 

PASSED AND APPROVED this January 26, 2023. 

 

   
Secretary, Port Commission 
Port Freeport 

 Chairman, Port Commission 
Port Freeport 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 



 

A-1 
# DM-8332873.4 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF PRICING CERTIFICATE 

PRICING CERTIFICATE 

Re: Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) (the “Bonds”) 

I, the undersigned [_______________] of the Port Freeport (the “Port”), do hereby make 
and execute this Pricing Certificate pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Port Commission of 
the Port on January 26, 2023 (the “Resolution”) authorizing the issuance of the referenced Bonds. 
Capitalized terms used in this Pricing Certificate shall have the meanings given such terms in the 
Resolution 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF PORT FREEPORT GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT); LEVYING A TAX AND 
PROVIDING FOR THE SECURITY AND PAYMENT THEREOF; PROVIDING 
FOR THE AWARD OF THE SALE THEREOF IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
SPECIFIED PARAMETERS; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS 
RELATING THERETO 

As authorized by Section 7.01 of the Resolution, I have acted on behalf of the Port in selling 
the Bonds to [_____________________________](collectively, the [“Underwriters”/“Initial 
Purchasers”]) at a price and pursuant to the terms set forth in the Purchase Contract dated as of the 
date hereof]1.  The Bonds shall have the terms set forth in the Resolution and this Pricing 
Certificate. 

A. As authorized in Section 3.01 of the Resolution, the Bonds shall be designated the 
“Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT).”  The Bonds shall be issued 
in the aggregate principal amount of $_________, for the purposes specified in Section 3.01 in the 
Resolution.   

B. The Bonds shall have a Dated Date of ____________ and a Closing Date scheduled 
for ____________.  

C. The Interest Payment Dates for the Bonds shall be each ____________and 
____________, commencing ____________.  The Bonds shall bear interest from the later of the 
Closing Date or the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided 
for until stated maturity or prior redemption.  The Bonds shall mature on ____________ in each 
of the years, in the principal amounts and shall bear interest at the per annum rates set forth in the 
following schedule: 

  

 
1 To be adjusted if Bonds sold at a competitive sale.   



 

A-2 
# DM-8332873.4 

 

 
Year 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate 

  
Year 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate 

20__ $_________ _____%  20__ $_________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 
20__ _________ _____%  20__ _________ _____% 

       
       
D. Optional Redemption.  The Port has reserved the right to redeem at its option the 

Bonds maturing on or after ____________, in whole or from time to time in part, before their 
respective scheduled maturity dates, on ____________ or on any date thereafter, at a redemption 
price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

E.  The following schedule shows the amount of voted authorization outstanding after 
the issuance of the Bonds: 

 
Election 

 
Amount Voted 

Amount 
Previously Issued 

 
Amount This Issue* 

Authorized but 
Unissued 
Balance 

May 5, 2018 
(Proposition A) 

$130,000,000 $74,200,000 $_________ $__________ 

 * Includes $_________ in premium counted against voted 
authorization. 

 

F. The undersigned does hereby find, certify and represent that the foregoing terms of 
the Bonds satisfy the parameters contained in Sections 3.01 and 7.01(a) of the Resolution.  

G. The proceeds of the Bonds and shall be applied as follows: 

(i) The amount of $_________, consisting of $_________ principal amount of 
Bond proceeds plus premium received from the sale of the Bonds in the amount of 
$_________, shall be used for the purposes specified in Section 3.01 of the Resolution; 



 

A-3 
# DM-8332873.4 

(ii) Premium received from the sale of the Bonds in the amount of $_________ 
shall be used to pay the costs of issuing the Bonds, including the underwriters’ discount 
for the Bonds; and  

(iii) Any amounts remaining following payment of the costs of issuing the 
Bonds shall be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund for the Bonds. 

H. The quantitative financial information and operating data with respect to the Port 
to be provided in accordance with Section 11.01(a) of Resolution is that of the general type 
included in the Official Statement under Tables ____________. 

I. [Insurance Provisions] 

J. The undersigned hereby finds, determines and declares that the terms of sale of the 
Bonds are in the Port’s best interests and are the most advantageous reasonable attainable by the 
Port, and therefore, the sale of the Bonds to the Underwriters in accordance with the terms of the 
Purchase Contract dated as of the date hereof, is hereby approved. 

 

  



 

A-4 
# DM-8332873.4 

Executed this _________________________.  

 

__________________________________ 
Authorized Officer 
Port Freeport 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signature Page to Pricing Certificate 
Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT)  



 

A-5 
# DM-8332873.4 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF BOND 
a. Form of Bond. 

 
REGISTERED 
NO. _____ 

REGISTERED 
$__________ 

 
United States of America 

State of Texas 
County of Brazoria 

 
PORT FREEPORT 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND 
SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT) 

 
INTEREST RATE: MATURITY DATE: CLOSING DATE: CUSIP NO.: 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 
 

Port Freeport (the “Port”), in the County of Brazoria, State of Texas, for value received, 
hereby promises to pay 

___________________________________ 

or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above, the sum of 

_________________________DOLLARS 

unless the payment of the principal hereof shall have been paid or provided for, and to pay interest 
on such principal amount from the later of the Closing Date specified above or the most recent 
interest payment date to which interest has been paid or provided for until payment of such 
principal amount has been paid or provided for, at the per annum rate of interest specified above, 
computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, such interest to be paid 
semiannually on __________ and __________, commencing __________. 

The principal of this Bond shall be payable without exchange or collection charges in 
lawful money of the United States of America upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the 
corporate trust office BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas (the “Paying Agent/Registrar’), or such other 
location designated by the Paying Agent/Registrar (the “Designated Payment/Transfer Office”), 
of the Paying Agent/Registrar or, with respect to a successor paying agent/registrar, at the 
Designated Payment/Transfer Office of such successor.  Interest on this Bond is payable by check 
dated as of the interest payment date, mailed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered owner 
at the address shown on the registration books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar, or by such other 
customary banking arrangements acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the person to 
whom interest is to be paid; provided, however, that such person shall bear all risk and expense of 
such other customary banking arrangements.  For the purpose of the payment of interest on this 



 

A-6 
# DM-8332873.4 

Bond, the registered owner shall be the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the close 
of business on the “Record Date,” which shall be the fifteenth day of the month next preceding 
such interest payment date.  In the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, 
and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a “Special Record Date”) 
will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such 
interest have been received from the Port.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the special 
payment date of the past due interest (the “Special Payment Date,” which date shall be 15 days 
after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special Record 
Date by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each owner of a Bond 
appearing on the books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last day next 
preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 

If the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond shall be a Saturday, 
Sunday, legal holiday, or day on which banking institutions in the city where the Paying 
Agent/Registrar is located are required or authorized by law or executive order to close, the date 
for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, 
or day on which banking institutions are required or authorized to close, and payment on such date 
shall for all purposes be deemed to have been made on the original date payment was due. 

This Bond is dated  __________ and is one of a series of fully registered bonds specified 
in the title hereof, issued in the aggregate principal amount of __________, (herein referred to as 
the “Bonds”), issued to pursuant to the Constitution and general laws of the State of Texas, 
particularly Chapter 60, Subchapter M of the Texas Water Code and Chapter 1371 of the Texas 
Government Code, as amended, and a certain resolution (the “Bond Resolution”) adopted by the 
Port Commission of the Port and a pricing certificate executed pursuant to the Bond resolution (the 
“Pricing Certificate,” and, together with the Bond Resolution, the “Resolution”), for the purposes 
of improving, constructing, or developing the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project, 
which project consists of the deepening and partial widening of the Freeport Harbor Channel, the 
construction of related improvements to waterways and adjacent berthing areas and aids to 
navigation used for navigation related commerce in Port Freeport, and dredge material placement 
associated with such activities, and paying the costs of issuing the Bonds.   

The Bonds and the interest thereon are payable from the proceeds of a direct and continuing 
ad valorem tax levied, without limit as to rate or amount, against all taxable property in the Port 
sufficient, together with certain available funds of the Port on deposit in the interest and sinking 
fund for the Bonds, to provide for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, as 
described and provided in the Resolution. 

The Port has reserved the option to redeem the Bonds maturing on and after __________, 
in whole or from time to time in part before their respective scheduled maturity dates, on 
__________, or on any date thereafter, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof 
plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed, 
the Port shall determine the maturity or maturities [(or mandatory sinking fund redemption 
amounts with respect to Term Bonds)]2 and the amounts thereof to be redeemed and shall direct 

 
2 Delete if Term Bonds are not issued. 



 

A-7 
# DM-8332873.4 

the Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot or other method that results in random selection the 
Bonds, or portions thereof, within such maturity and in such principal amounts, for redemption. 

[Bonds maturing on __________ (the “Term Bonds”) are subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption prior to their scheduled maturity, and will be redeemed by the Port, in part at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, without premium, plus interest accrued to 
the redemption date, on the dates and in the principal amounts shown in the following schedule: 

$__________Term Bonds Maturing __________ 
Mandatory Redemption Date Principal Amount 

__________ $__________ 
__________ $__________ 
__________ $__________ 
__________ (maturity) $__________ 
  

The Paying Agent/Registrar will select for redemption by lot, or by any other customary 
method that results in a random selection the specific Term Bonds (or with respect to Term Bonds 
having a denomination in excess of $5,000, each $5,000 portion thereof) to be redeemed by 
mandatory redemption.  The principal amount of Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any 
redemption date pursuant to the foregoing mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions hereof 
shall be reduced, at the option of the Port, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds which, at 
least 45 days prior to the mandatory sinking fund redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by 
the Port and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been 
redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions hereof and not previously credited to a 
mandatory sinking fund redemption.]3 

Not less than 30 days prior to a redemption date for the Bonds, the Port shall cause a notice 
of redemption to be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the Owners of the 
Bonds to be redeemed at the address of the Owner appearing on the registration books of the 
Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the business day next preceding the date of 
mailing such notice. 

In the Resolution, the Port reserves the right, in the case of an optional redemption, to give 
notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent 
events.  Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys 
and/or authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, 
with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than 
the redemption date, or (ii) that the Port retains the right to rescind such notice at any time on or 
prior to the scheduled redemption date if the Port delivers a certificate of the Port to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice, and such 
notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so 
deposited or if the notice is rescinded. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any 
such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners. Any Bonds subject 
to conditional redemption and such redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding. Any 

 
3 Delete if Term Bonds are not issued. 



 

A-8 
# DM-8332873.4 

notice so mailed shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the 
registered owner receives such notice.  Notice having been so given and subject, in the case of an 
optional redemption, to any rights or conditions reserved by the Port in the notice, the Bonds called 
for redemption shall become due and payable on the specified redemption date, and 
notwithstanding that any Bond or portion thereof has not been surrendered for payment, interest 
on such Bonds or portions thereof shall cease to accrue. 

As provided in the Resolution, and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, this Bond 
is transferable upon surrender of this Bond for transfer at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office 
of the Paying Agent/Registrar with such endorsement or other evidence of transfer as is acceptable 
to the Paying Agent/Registrar; thereupon, one or more new fully registered Bonds of the same 
stated maturity, of authorized denominations, bearing the same rate of interest, and for the same 
aggregate principal amount will be issued to the designated transferee or transferees. 

Neither the Port nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or exchange 
any Bond called for redemption where such redemption is scheduled to occur within 45 calendar 
days after the transfer or exchange date; provided, however, such limitation shall not be applicable 
to an exchange by the registered owner of the uncalled principal balance of a Bond. 

The Port, the Paying Agent/Registrar, and any other person may treat the person in whose 
name this Bond is registered as the owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment as herein 
provided (except interest shall be paid to the person in whose name this Bond is registered on the 
Record Date) and for all other purposes, whether or not this Bond be overdue, and neither the Port 
nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be affected by notice to the contrary. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND RECITED that the issuance of this Bond and the series 
of which it is a part is duly authorized by law; that all acts, conditions and things required to be 
done precedent to and in the issuance of the Bonds have been properly done and performed and 
have happened in regular and due time, form and manner, as required by law; that sufficient and 
proper provision for the levy and collection of taxes has been made, without limit as to rate or 
amount, which when collected shall be appropriated exclusively to the timely payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds; and that the total indebtedness of the Port, including the 
Bonds, does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Bond has been duly executed on behalf of the Port, under 

its official seal, in accordance with law. 
 
   
[Assistant]4 Secretary, Port Commission 
Port Freeport 

 [Vice] 5 Chairman, Port Commission 
Port Freeport 

[SEAL] 

  

 
4 Delete if the Secretary of the Port Commission executes the Bonds. 
5 Delete if the Chairman of the Port Commission executes the Bonds. 



 

A-9 
# DM-8332873.4 

b. Form of Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar. 

CERTIFICATE OF PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR 

This is one of the Bonds referred to in the within mentioned Resolution.  The series of 
Bonds of which this Bond is a part was originally issued as one Initial Bond which was approved 
by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts 
of the State of Texas. 

 BOKF, NA, 
as Paying Agent/Registrar 

 
Date:  By:  

 
c. Form of Assignment. 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto (print 
or typewrite name, address and zip code of transferee):   
              
              
(Social Security or other identifying number:  ___________________) the within Bond and all 
rights hereunder and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 
_____________________________ attorney to transfer the within Bond on the books kept for 
registration hereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:  _________________________ 
 

Signature Guaranteed By:    

NOTICE:  The signature on this Assignment 
must correspond with the name of the 
registered owner as it appears on the face of 
the within Bond in every particular and 
must be guaranteed in a manner acceptable 
to the Paying Agent/Registrar. 

 
  
Authorized Signatory 

 

 
  



 

A-10 
# DM-8332873.4 

d. Initial Bond Insertions. 

(i) The Initial Bond shall be in the form set forth in paragraphs (a) and (c) of 
this Section, except that, in the event there is more than one maturity of Bonds: 

(A) immediately under the name of the Bond, the headings “INTEREST 
RATE” and “MATURITY DATE” shall both be completed with the words “As 
Shown Below” and “CUSIP NO. __________” deleted; 

(B) in the first paragraph the words “on the Maturity Date specified 
above, the sum of _______ DOLLARS” shall be deleted and the following will be 
inserted:  “on       6      , in the years, in the principal installments and bearing interest 
at the per annum rates set forth in the following schedule:” 

Year Principal Amount Interest Rate 
 
(Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate); and 

(C) the Initial Bond shall be numbered I-1. 

(D) The following Registration Certificate of Comptroller of Public 
Accounts shall appear on the Initial Bond: 

REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPTROLLER OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 

 
 

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER  § 
OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS   §  REGISTER NO. ________________ 
THE STATE OF TEXAS   § 

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT this Bond has been examined, certified as to validity and 
approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and that this Bond has been registered by 
the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

 

WITNESS MY SIGNATURE AND SEAL OF OFFICE this _______________________ 

 

[SEAL] _______________________________________ 
  Comptroller of Public Accounts  
        of the State of Texas 

 
6 Insert from Pricing Certificate. 



 

 

T
hi

s 
P

re
li

m
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
t a

nd
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 a

re
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
om

pl
et

io
n 

or
 a

m
en

dm
en

t. 
T

he
se

 s
ec

ur
it

ie
s 

m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

so
ld

 n
or

 m
ay

 o
ff

er
s 

to
 b

uy
 b

e 
ac

ce
pt

ed
 p

ri
or

 to
 th

e 
ti

m
e 

th
e 

P
re

li
m

in
ar

y 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 

S
ta

te
m

en
t 

is
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 i
n 

fi
na

l 
fo

rm
. 

U
nd

er
 n

o 
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s 

sh
al

l 
th

e 
P

re
li

m
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
en

t 
co

ns
ti

tu
te

 a
n 

of
fe

r 
to

 s
el

l 
or

 t
he

 s
ol

ic
it

at
io

n 
of

 a
n 

of
fe

r 
to

 b
uy

 n
or

 s
ha

ll
 t

he
re

 b
e 

an
y 

sa
le

 o
f 

th
es

e 
se

cu
ri

ti
es

 i
n 

an
y 

ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
on

 in
 w

hi
ch

 s
uc

h 
of

fe
r,

 s
ol

ic
it

at
io

n 
or

 s
al

e 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

un
la

w
fu

l p
ri

or
 to

 r
eg

is
tr

at
io

n 
or

 q
ua

li
fi

ca
ti

on
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

se
cu

ri
ti

es
 la

w
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
on

. 
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED FEBRUARY ____, 2023 

 Rating: Moody’s: “____” 
NEW ISSUE - Book-Entry-Only  See “OTHER 

INFORMATION- RATING” 
 
In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, interest on the Bonds (i) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (ii) is not a specific preference item for purposes of alternative 
minimum tax on individuals. See "TAX MATTERS" herein, including information regarding potential alternative minimum tax consequences 
for corporations. 
 

 
$53,520,000* 

PORT FREEPORT 
(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Brazoria County) 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT) 
 
 
Dated Date: March 1, 2023 
(Interest accrues from the Delivery Date (defined herein)) Due: August 1, as shown on page ii herein 
 
This Official Statement is provided to furnish information in connection with the offering by Port Freeport (the “Port”) of its $53,520,000* 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) (the “Bonds”). 
 
PAYMENT TERMS . . . Interest on the Bonds will accrue from the Delivery Date (defined below), and will be payable on August 1 and February 
1 of each year, commencing August 1, 2023, and will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The 
Bonds will be issued in principal denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The definitive Bonds will be initially registered 
and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System 
described herein. No physical delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof. The principal of and interest on the 
Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to the participating 
members of DTC for subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See “THE BONDS – BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” herein.  
The initial Paying Agent/Registrar is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas. See “THE BONDS – PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR.” 
 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE . . . The Bonds are issued pursuant to the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including Article XVI, 
Section 59 of the Texas Constitution, Chapter 60, Subchapter M of the Texas Water Code, and Chapter 1371 of the Texas Government Code, 
an election held within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port on May 5, 2018, and the terms of the resolution adopted by the governing body of 
the Port (the “Commission”), which delegated to certain officials of the Port the authority to complete the sale of the Bonds through the 
execution of a pricing certificate (the resolution and pricing certificate are herein referred to together as the "Resolution"). The Bonds are 
payable from the receipts of an annual ad valorem tax levied, without legal limit as to rate or amount, on all taxable property within the taxing 
jurisdiction of the Port.  The taxing jurisdiction of the Port encompasses approximately 85% of Brazoria County, Texas. See “THE PORT.” 
 
PURPOSE . . . Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for (i) improving, constructing, or developing the Freeport Harbor Channel 
Improvement Project, and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCING.” 
 
 

See MATURITY SCHEDULE on page ii herein 

 
 
REDEMPTION . . . The Port reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 1, 2033, in whole 
or from time to time in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 1, 2032, or any date thereafter, at the 
par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. See “THE BONDS – OPTIONAL REDEMPTION.” In addition, the Term Bonds 
(as defined herein), if any, are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as described herein. See “THE BONDS – MANDATORY SINKING 

FUND REDEMPTION.” 
 
LEGALITY . . . The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued and received by the Initial Purchasers and subject to the approving 
opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas and the opinion of Bracewell LLP, Houston, Texas, Bond Counsel (see “APPENDIX 
C – FORM OF BOND COUNSEL’S  OPINION”).  Certain matters will be passed upon for the Port by Bracewell LLP, Houston, Texas as 
Disclosure Counsel. 
 
DELIVERY . . . It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through DTC on or about March 22, 2023 (the “Delivery Date”). 
 
 

BIDS DUE: WEDNESDAY, MARCH 1, 2023 AT 9:30 A.M., CST 
__________  
*Preliminary, subject to change.
 



 

ii 

 
MATURITY SCHEDULE 

 
$53,520,000* 

PORT FREEPORT 
(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Brazoria County) 

 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT) 

 

 
 
 

(Interest to accrue from the Delivery Date) 
 
__________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
(1) The Port reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 1, 2033, in whole or from time to time in part, in 

principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 1, 2032, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to 
the date of redemption. See "THE BONDS – OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. In addition, the Term Bonds (as defined herein), if any, are subject to mandatory 
sinking fund redemption as defined herein. See “THE BONDS – Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.” 

(2) The initial prices or yields on the Bonds are furnished by the Initial Purchaser and represent the initial offering prices or yields to the public, which may 
be changed by the Initial Purchaser at any time. 

(3) CUSIP numbers have been assigned to this issue by the CUSIP Global Services and are included solely for the convenience of the purchasers of the 
Bonds. Neither the Port, the Financial Advisor nor the Initial Purchaser shall be responsible for the selection or correctness of the CUSIP numbers set 
forth herein. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed by FactSet Research Systems Inc. on behalf of the American Bankers 
Association. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Services. 
 

 
 
 
 

Due

August 1(1) Principal*
2025 380,000$      % %
2026 960,000        
2027 1,010,000     
2028 1,060,000     
2029 1,115,000     
2030 1,170,000     
2031 1,230,000     
2032 1,290,000     
2033 1,355,000     
2034 1,420,000     
2035 1,495,000     
2036 1,565,000     
2037 1,645,000     
2038 1,730,000     
2039 1,795,000     
2040 1,870,000     
2041 1,945,000     
2042 2,020,000     
2043 2,100,000     

2044 2,185,000     
2045 2,275,000     
2046 2,365,000     
2047 2,465,000     
2048 2,565,000     
2049 2,670,000     
2050 2,785,000     
2051 2,900,000     
2052 3,015,000     
2053 3,140,000     

InitialInterest

Rate Yield(2) Number(3)

CUSIP



 

iii 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[INSERT MAP OF THE PORT] 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

iv 

USE OF INFORMATION IN OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
For purposes of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule"), this document 
constitutes an official statement of the Port with respect to the Bonds that has been "deemed final" by the Port as of its date except for the 
omission of no more than the information permitted by the Rule. 
 
This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, inside cover page and the Appendices attached hereto, does not constitute an offer 
to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale. 
 
No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized to give information or to make any representation other than those 
contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon. 
 
The information set forth herein has been obtained from the Port and other sources believed to be reliable, but such information is not 
guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be construed as the promise or guarantee of the Financial Advisor. This Official 
Statement contains, in part, estimates and matters of opinion which are not intended as statements of fact, and no representation is made 
as to the correctness of such estimates and opinions, or that they will be realized. 
 
The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official 
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs 
of the Port or other matters described. 
 
Neither the Port, Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel, the Initial Purchasers, nor the Financial Advisor make any representation or 
warranty with respect to the information contained in this Official Statement regarding The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") or its 
book-entry-only system as described under "Book-Entry-Only System" as such information has been provided by DTC. 
 
The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official 
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs 
of the Port or other matters described herein since the date hereof. See "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION" for a 
description of the Port’s undertaking to provide certain information on a continuing basis. 
 
THE OBLIGATIONS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS 
CONTAINED IN SUCH ACT. THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE 
PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAW OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED AND 
THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES CANNOT BE REGARDED AS A 
RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. 
 
This Official Statement contains "Forward-Looking" statements. Such statements may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties 
and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance and achievements to be different from the future results, performance 
and achievements expressed or implied by such forward- looking statements. Investors are cautioned that the actual results could differ 
materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. 
 
The prices and other terms respecting the offering and sale of the Bonds may be changed from time to time by the Initial Purchasers after 
such Bonds are released for sale, and the Bonds may be offered and sold at prices other than the initial offering prices, including sales to 
dealers who may sell the Bonds into investment accounts. 
 
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE INITIAL PURCHASERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT 
STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE 
PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 
 
References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in the form of a hyperlink solely for the 
reader’s convenience. Unless specified otherwise, such websites and the information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, 
and are not part of, this final official statement for any purpose.  
 
 

  



 

v 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

MATURITY SCHEDULE .......................................................... iii 
OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY .................................... vi 
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION ........................... vii 
PORT ADMINISTRATION ..................................................... viii  
INTRODUCTION ......................................................................... 1 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PORT ............................................................ 1 
PLAN OF FINANCING ................................................................ 1 

PURPOSE ....................................................................................... 1 
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ..................................................... 2 

THE BONDS .................................................................................. 2 
DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS ......................................................... 2 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE ........................................................... 2 
SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT ............................................ 2 
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION ................................................................ 2 
MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION ................................... 3 
METHOD OF SELECTING BONDS TO BE REDEEMED ......................... 3 
NOTICE OF REDEMPTION ............................................................... 3 
DEFEASANCE ................................................................................ 4 
REPLACEMENT BONDS .................................................................. 4 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM ....................................................... 4 
PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR .......................................................... 6 
TRANSFER, EXCHANGE AND REGISTRATION .................................. 6 
RECORD DATE FOR INTEREST PAYMENT ........................................ 6 
BONDHOLDERS’ REMEDIES ........................................................... 6 

TAX INFORMATION .................................................................. 7 
VALUATION OF TAXABLE PROPERTY ............................................. 7 
ISSUER AND TAXPAYER REMEDIES ................................................ 7 
STATE MANDATED HOMESTEAD EXEMPTIONS .............................. 8 
LOCAL OPTION HOMESTEAD EXEMPTIONS .................................... 8 
LOCAL OPTION FREEZE FOR THE ELDERLY AND DISABLED ............ 8 
PERSONAL PROPERTY ................................................................... 8 
FREEPORT AND GOODS-IN-TRANSIT EXEMPTIONS ......................... 8 
OTHER EXEMPT PROPERTY ........................................................... 8 
TEMPORARY EXEMPTION FOR QUALIFIED PROPERTY DAMAGED  

BY A DISASTER .......................................................................... 9 
TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONES ....................................... 9 
TAX ABATEMENT AGREEMENTS – GENERAL INFORMATION .......... 9 
PUBLIC HEARING AND MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION TAX  

RATE LIMITATIONS ................................................................... 9 
LEVY AND COLLECTION OF TAXES .............................................. 10 
PORT’S RIGHTS IN THE EVENT OF TAX DELINQUENCIES ............... 10 
APPLICATION OF TAX CODE ........................................................ 11 
PORT TAX ABATEMENTS ............................................................. 11 
CONCENTRATION OF TAX BASE................................................... 11 
TABLE 1 -VALUATION, EXEMPTIONS AND GENERAL  

OBLIGATION DEBT .................................................................. 12 
TABLE 2 – PORT TAXABLE VALUES AND TAX RATES .................. 13 
TABLE 3 – VALUATION AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT  

HISTORY ................................................................................. 13 
TABLE 4 - TAX RATE, LEVY AND COLLECTION HISTORY ............. 13 
TABLE 5 – TOP TEN TAXPAYERS ................................................. 14 
TABLE 6 – ESTIMATED OVERLAPPING DEBT ................................ 15 

DEBT INFORMATION .............................................................. 16 
TABLE 7 – PRO-FORMA GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE 

REQUIREMENTS ....................................................................... 16 
TABLE 8 – AUTHORIZED BUT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION 

DEBT ...................................................................................... 16 
REVENUE DEBT OF THE PORT ...................................................... 16 

THE PORT .................................................................................. 17 
GENERAL ................................................................................... 17 
BUSINESS OF THE PORT ............................................................... 17 
KEY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICIALS ............................................... 17 
DESCRIPTION OF PORT FACILITIES .............................................. 18 
FREEPORT HARBOR CHANNEL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT .............. 19 
MAJOR INITIATIVES AT THE PORT ............................................... 19 
OTHER RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN THE PORT ............................. 20 
CYBER SECURITY ....................................................................... 21 
TABLE 9 – TEN YEAR CARGO QUANTITIES ANALYSIS ................. 23 
TABLE 10 – CONTAINER TRAFFIC STATISTICS ............................. 23 
TABLE 11 – CARGO TRAFFIC STATISTICS .................................... 24 
RETIREMENT PLAN ..................................................................... 24 

INVESTMENTS .......................................................................... 24 
LEGAL INVESTMENTS ................................................................. 25 
INVESTMENT POLICIES ................................................................ 26 
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS ........................................................... 26 
TABLE 12 – CURRENT INVESTMENTS .......................................... 27 

INFECTIOUS DISEASE OUTBREAK – COVID-19 .............. 27 
WEATHER EVENTS ................................................................. 27 

WEATHER EVENTS ..................................................................... 27 
AIR QUALITY STANDARDS ................................................... 28 

RISK TO PORT OPERATIONS AS A RESULT OF INTERNATIONAL 

TRADE TARIFFS ...................................................................... 28 
EXPOSURE TO OIL AND GAS INDUSTRY ....................................... 28 
CHANGING DEMAND FOR PETROCHEMICAL PRODUCTS AND 

CONSUMPTION ........................................................................ 29 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND RISING SEA LEVELS ............................... 29 

TAX MATTERS .......................................................................... 29 
TAX EXEMPTION ........................................................................ 29 
ADDITIONAL FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS ............... 30 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ............. 31 
ANNUAL REPORTS ...................................................................... 31 
EVENT NOTICES ......................................................................... 31 
LIMITATIONS AND AMENDMENTS................................................ 32 
COMPLIANCE WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS ................................. 32 

OTHER INFORMATION .......................................................... 33 
RATING ...................................................................................... 33 
LITIGATION ................................................................................ 33 
REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION OF BONDS FOR SALE ........... 33 
LEGAL INVESTMENTS AND ELIGIBILITY TO SECURE PUBLIC  

FUNDS IN TEXAS ..................................................................... 33 
LEGAL MATTERS ........................................................................ 33 
FINANCIAL ADVISOR .................................................................. 34 
INITIAL PURCHASER ................................................................... 34 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS DISCLAIMER ......................... 34 
CERTIFICATION OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT ............................ 34 
NO-LITIGATION CERTIFICATE ..................................................... 34 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ............................................................ 35 
MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................ 35 

APPENDICIES 
GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE COUNTY ...................... A 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PORT ......................................... B 
BOND COUNSEL OPINION ............................................................. C 
 

The cover page hereof, this page, the appendices included herein and any 
addenda, supplement or amendment hereto, are part of the Official 
Statement. 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 

vi 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY 
 
This summary is subject in all respects to the more complete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this Official Statement. 
The offering of the Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Official Statement. No person is authorized to detach 
this summary from this Official Statement or to otherwise use it without the entire Official Statement. 
 
THE PORT  ............................. Port Freeport (the “Port”) is a political subdivision of the State of Texas (the “State”) located in Brazoria 

County, Texas (the “County”) operating as a navigation district under Article XVI, Section 59 of the Texas 
Constitution pursuant to the laws of the State. The Port is governed by a six-member port commission (the 
“Commission”) whose members are elected to six-year staggered terms. The Commission hires an Executive 
Director/CEO to serve as the chief administrative officer. The Commission formulates operating policies for 
the Port while the Executive Director/CEO implements the policies and directives of the Commission. 

 
 The taxing jurisdiction of the Port encompasses approximately 85% of the County. The Port’s facilities are 

located on the Freeport Harbor Channel (also referred to as the Brazos River Channel) between the mouth of 
the Brazos River and the Gulf of Mexico. The channel is currently 400 feet wide and 46 feet deep through the 
Upper Turning Basin area and 36 feet deep in the Inner Harbor Area. See “INTRODUCTION - DESCRIPTION 

OF THE PORT” and “THE PORT” for a description of the Port and the Port’s facilities, as well as the Freeport 
Harbor Channel Improvement Project. 

 
THE BONDS  ........................... The Bonds are issued as $53,520,000* Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) (the 

“Bonds”). The Bonds mature on the dates and in the principal amounts set forth on page ii hereof. See “THE 
BONDS - DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS.” 

 
PAYMENT OF INTEREST  ........ Interest on the Bonds accrues from the Delivery Date and is payable August 1, 2023, and each February 1 and 

August 1 thereafter until maturity or prior redemption. See “THE BONDS - DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS,” 
“THE BONDS – OPTIONAL REDEMPTION,” and “THE BONDS – MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION.” 

 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE  .. The Bonds are issued pursuant to the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including Article XVI, Section 

59 of the Texas Constitution, Chapter 60, Subchapter M of the Texas Water Code, and Chapter 1371 of the 
Texas Government Code, an election held within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port on May 5, 2018, and the 
terms of the resolution adopted by the governing body of the Port, which delegated to certain officials of the 
Commission the authority to complete the sale of the Bonds through the execution of a pricing certificate (the 
resolution and pricing certificate are herein referred to together as the "Resolution").  See “THE BONDS – 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE.” 

 
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS  ... The Bonds constitute direct obligations of the Port payable from the receipts of an annual ad valorem tax levied, 

without legal limit as to rate or amount, on all taxable property within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port. (see 
"THE BONDS – SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT"). 

 
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION  ...... The Port reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 1, 2033, 

in whole or from time to time in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 
1, 2032, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. See 
“THE BONDS - OPTIONAL REDEMPTION.” 

 
MANDATORY REDEMPTION  .. In addition to the foregoing optional redemption provision, if principal amounts designated in the serial 

maturity schedule on page ii hereof are combined to create Term Bonds, each such Term Bond shall be subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption commencing on August 1 of the first year which has been combined to 
form such Term Bond and continuing on August 1 in each year thereafter until the stated maturity date of that 
Term Bond, and the amount required to be redeemed in any year shall be equal to the principal amount for such 
year set forth in the serial maturity schedule on page ii hereof. See “THE BONDS – MANDATORY SINKING 

FUND REDEMPTION.” 
 
TAX EXEMPTION. .................. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, interest on the Bonds (i) is excludable from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (ii) 
is not a specific preference item for purposes of alternative minimum tax on individuals. See "TAX 
MATTERS" herein, including information regarding potential alternative minimum tax consequences for 
corporations. 

 
 
 
 
 
__________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
  



 

vii 

 
USE OF PROCEEDS  ................ Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for (i) improving, constructing, or developing the Freeport 

Harbor Channel Improvement Project, and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Bonds. See “PLAN OF 
FINANCING.” 

 
RATING  ................................. The Bonds and presently outstanding tax-supported debt of the Port are rated "____" by Moody's Investors 

Service, Inc. ("Moody's"). See "OTHER INFORMATION – RATING." 
 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY 

SYSTEM  ................................. The definitive Bonds will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nominee of The 
Depository Trust Company (the “DTC”) pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System described herein. Beneficial 
ownership of the Bonds may be acquired in denominations of $5,000 of principal or integral multiples thereof. 
No physical delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof. Principal of and interest on 
the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co., which will make distribution of the 
amounts so paid to the participating members of DTC for subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the 
Bonds. See “THE BONDS - BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM.” 

 
PAYMENT RECORD ..................... The Port has never defaulted in payment of its general obligation tax debt. 

 
 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

   
__________ 
(1) Source: the Port. 
(2) As reported by the Brazoria County Appraisal District on the Port’s annual State Property Tax Board Reports; subject to change during the ensuing year. 

Expressed in thousands. 
(3) Projected. Includes the Bonds.  Preliminary, subject to change. 
(4) In process of collection. 
 
 
 
 
For additional information regarding the Port or to obtain information, data or notices described by the Rule or otherwise, please contact: 

 
 

Mr. Rob Lowe 
Chief Financial Officer 
Port Freeport or 
1100 Cherry Street 
Freeport, TX 77541-5773 
(979) 233-2667 

Mr. Drew Masterson 
Managing Director 
Masterson Advisors LLC 
3 Greenway Plaza, Suite 1100 
Houston, TX 77046 
(713) 814-0550 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ratio Tax

Taxable Per Capita Debt to

Fiscal Year Assessed Taxable General Taxable Percent

Ended Estimated Valuation Assessed Obligation Assessed Total

9/30 Population(1) (in thousands)(2) Valuation Tax Debt Valuation Collections

2018 355,000 12,569,425$   35,407$   1,145,000$   3$        0.01% 102.78%

2019 376,000 13,575,251     36,104     31,795,000   85        0.23% 99.81%
2020 372,000 13,975,486     37,569     31,665,000   85        0.23% 99.75%
2021 383,000 14,937,775     39,002     68,490,000   179      0.46% 104.02%
2022 372,000 15,505,603     41,682     67,850,000   182      0.44% 102.97%
2023 372,000 18,472,874     49,658     120,700,000 (3) 324      (3) 0.65% (3) (4)

Per

Capita

Tax Debt



 

viii 

PORT ADMINISTRATION 
 
 

PORT COMMISSION 

 

    
 

 
EXECUTIVE STAFF 

  
 

 
CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS 

 
Auditor .................................................................................................................................................... Kennemer, Masters & Lunsford, LLC 

Certified Public Accountants Lake Jackson, Texas 
 
Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel ....................................................................................................................................... Bracewell LLP 

Houston, Texas 
 
Financial Advisor ....................................................................................................................................................... Masterson Advisors LLC 

Houston, Texas 

Length of Term
Members Position Service Expires Occupation
John Hoss Chairman 11 Years 2023 Principal, Freeport Launch, LP 
Rudy Santos Vice Chairman 7 Years 2027 Project Manager, Angleton Independent School District
Dan Croft Secretary 3 Years 2025 Senior Vice President, The First State Bank Sweeny
Rob Giesecke Assistant Secretary 1 Year 2027 Commercial Real Estate Broker
Ravi Singhania Commissioner 15 Years 2025 Retired - Senior Vice President, BASF Corporation
Shane Pirtle Commissioner 11 Years 2023 Senior Consultant, SIS-Tech Solutions

Years at Years in
Name Position the Port Industry
Phyllis Saathoff Executive Port Director/CEO 26 30
Rob Lowe Chief Financial Officer & Director of Administration 3 3
Jason Hull Director of Engineering 11 11
Al Durel Director of Operations 23 44
Jason Miura Director of Business & Economic Development 7 18
Michael Wilson Director of Economic Development & Mobility 22 47
Chris Hogan Director of Protective Services 10 10
Mary Campus Controller 29 29



 

1  

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT  
RELATING TO 

 
$53,520,000* 

 
PORT FREEPORT 

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Brazoria County) 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT) 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
This Official Statement, which includes the Appendices hereto, provides certain information regarding the issuance by Port Freeport (the 
“Port”) of its $53,520,000* General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) (the “Bonds”). Certain capitalized terms used in this Official 
Statement have the same meanings assigned to such terms in the Resolution, as defined below, except as otherwise indicated herein. 
 
There follows in this Official Statement descriptions of the Bonds and certain information regarding the Port and its finances. All descriptions 
of documents contained herein are only summaries and are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document. Copies of such 
documents may be obtained from the Port’s Financial Advisor, Masterson Advisors LLC, Houston, Texas. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PORT 
 
The Port is a political subdivision of the State of Texas (the “State”) located in Brazoria County, Texas (the “County”) operating as a 
navigation district under Article XVI, Section 59 of the Texas Constitution pursuant to the laws of the State. The Port is governed by a six-
member port commission (the “Commission”) whose members are elected to six-year staggered terms. The Commission hires an Executive 
Director/CEO to serve as the chief administrative officer. The Commission formulates operating policies for the Port while the Executive 
Director/CEO implements the policies and directives of the Commission. 
 
The taxing jurisdiction of the Port encompasses approximately 85% of the County. The Port’s facilities are located on the Freeport Harbor 
Channel (also referred to as the Brazos River Channel) between the mouth of the Brazos River and the Gulf of Mexico. The Freeport Harbor 
Channel is currently 400 feet wide and 46-feet deep through the Upper Turning Basin area and 36-feet deep in the Inner Harbor Area. The 
Bonds are being issued in connection with the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project, which involves the deepening and partial 
widening of the Freeport Harbor Channel.  See “THE PORT – FREEPORT HARBOR CHANNEL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT.” 
 
The Port was created by action of the voters within the Port on December 4, 1925 and was validated and confirmed by the Texas Legislature 
under the authority of Section 59, Article XVI of the Constitution of the State of Texas, effective June 6, 1927. 
 
The Port owns public wharves, transit sheds, open storage facilities, freight handling facilities and related equipment for the use of non-union 
and union stevedoring companies to load and unload vessels. In addition, the Port leases land, buildings and improvements to others and 
provides areas for depositing dredged materials for Port waterway construction and maintenance. See “THE PORT” for a description of the 
business of the Port, the Port’s facilities and major initiatives being undertaken by the Port. 
 
The general business of the Port is to encourage industrial expansion in the County by attracting new cargo and industries, building and 
maintaining public terminals, setting operational policy and cooperating with the federal government in maintaining and improving the 
Freeport Harbor deep and shallow draft waterways. See “THE PORT” herein. 
 
 

PLAN OF FINANCING 
 
PURPOSE 
 
Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used for (i) improving, constructing, or developing the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement 
Project, and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Bonds. See “THE PORT – FREEPORT HARBOR CHANNEL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT.” 
 
  
  



 

2  

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 
 

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be applied approximately as follows: 
 

    
_____________ 
(1) Includes legal fees of the Port, financial advisory fees, rating agency fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar, a rounding amount and other costs of 

issuance. 

 
 

THE BONDS 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 
 
The Bonds are dated March 1, 2023 and mature on August 1 in each of the years and in the amounts shown on page ii hereof. Interest will 
accrue from the date of delivery, will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, and will be payable on each 
August 1 and February 1, commencing August 1, 2023. The Bonds will be issued only in fully registered form in any integral multiple of 
$5,000 of principal amount for any one maturity and will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nominee of The 
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System described herein. No physical 
delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof. Principal of and interest on the Bonds will be payable by BOKF, 
NA, Dallas, Texas (the “Paying Agent/Registrar”) to Cede & Co., which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to the participating 
members of DTC for subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See “THE BONDS - BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” herein. 
 
AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE 
 
The Bonds are issued pursuant to the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including Article XVI, Section 59 of the Texas Constitution, 
Chapter 60, Subchapter M of the Texas Water Code, and Chapter 1371 of the Texas Government Code, an election held within the taxing 
jurisdiction of the Port on May 5, 2018 (the “Election”), and the terms of the resolution adopted by the Commission on January 26, 2023 
which delegated to certain officials of the Port the authority to complete the sale of the Bonds through the execution of a pricing certificate 
(the resolution and pricing certificate are herein referred to together as the "Resolution"). 
 
SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT 
 
The Bonds constitute direct obligations of the Port payable from the receipts of an annual ad valorem tax levied, without legal limit as to rate 
or amount, on all taxable property within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port. 
 
OPTIONAL REDEMPTION 
 
The Port reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 1, 2033, in whole or from time to time 
in part, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on August 1, 2032, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof 
plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 
 
  

Sources of Funds
Principal Amount of Bonds
Net Premium
Total -$                        

Uses of Funds
Deposit to Project Fund
Initial Purchaser’s Spread

Costs of Issuance(1)

Total -$                        



 

3  

MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION * 
 

The Bonds maturing in ______ (the “Term Bonds”), shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, (at a redemption price equal to 
the principal amount thereof and any accrued interest thereon to the date set for redemption), on August 1 in each of the years and in the 
amounts set forth below: 

Term Bonds Maturing August 1, 20__ 
   

Mandatory Redemption 
Dates  

Mandatory Sinking 
Fund Payment 

   
August 1, 20__  $ 
August 1, 20__  $ 
August 1, 20__ (Stated Maturity)  $ 

 
Prior to the scheduled mandatory redemption date for any Term Bonds, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select for redemption by lot, or by 
other customary method that results in random selection, the Term Bonds to be redeemed.  Any Term Bonds, or a portion thereof, not selected 
for prior redemption shall be paid on the date of final maturity.  The principal amount of any Term Bonds required to be redeemed pursuant 
to the operation of such mandatory redemption requirements may be reduced, at the option of the Port, by the principal amount of any such 
Term Bonds which, at least 45 days prior to the date of such mandatory redemption, (i) shall have been acquired by the Port and delivered to 
the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions described in the 
preceding paragraphs and not theretofore credited against a mandatory redemption requirement. 
 
METHOD OF SELECTING BONDS TO BE REDEEMED 
 
If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed pursuant to an optional redemption, the Port shall determine the maturities (or mandatory 
sinking fund redemption amount with respect to Term Bonds, if any) and the principal amount thereof to be redeemed and shall direct the 
Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot such Bonds for redemption. A portion of a single Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000 may be 
redeemed, but only in a principal amount equal to $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall treat each $5,000 
portion of such Bond as though it were a single Bond for purposes of selection for redemption. 
 
NOTICE OF REDEMPTION 
 
Not less than thirty (30) days prior to a redemption date for the Bonds, the Paying Agent/Registrar, at the direction of the Port, shall cause a 
notice of redemption to be sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the registered owners of the Bonds to be redeemed, in 
whole or in part, at the address of the registered owner appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar. ANY NOTICE SO 
MAILED SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN, WHETHER OR NOT THE REGISTERED 
OWNER RECEIVES SUCH NOTICE. NOTICE HAVING BEEN SO GIVEN, THE BONDS CALLED FOR REDEMPTION SHALL 
BECOME DUE AND PAYABLE ON THE SPECIFIED REDEMPTION DATE, AND NOTWITHSTANDING THAT ANY BOND OR 
PORTION THEREOF HAS NOT BEEN SURRENDERED FOR PAYMENT, INTEREST ON SUCH BOND OR PORTION THEREOF 
SHALL CEASE TO ACCRUE. 
 
The Port reserves the right, in the case of a redemption, to give notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds conditioned upon the 
occurrence of subsequent events. Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or authorized 
securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may 
be authorized by law, no later than the redemption date, or (ii) that the Port retains the right to rescind such notice at any time on or prior to 
the scheduled redemption date if the Port delivers a certificate of the Port to the Paying Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar 
to rescind the redemption notice and such notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so 
deposited or if the notice is rescinded. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any such rescission of a conditional notice of 
redemption to the affected Owners. Any Bond subject to conditional redemption and such redemption has been rescinded shall remain 
outstanding and the rescission of such redemption shall not constitute an event of default. 
 
The Paying Agent/Registrar and the Port, so long as a Book-Entry-Only System is used for the Bond, will send any notice of redemption or 
other notices with respect to the Bond only to DTC. Any failure by DTC to advise any DTC participant, or of any DTC participant or indirect 
participant to notify the beneficial owner, shall not affect the validity of the redemption of the Bond called for redemption or any other action 
premised on any such notice. Redemption of portions of the Bond by the Port will reduce the outstanding principal amount of such Bond held 
by DTC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_______________ 
*Preliminary, subject to change.  



 

4  

In such event, DTC may implement, through its Book-Entry-Only System, a redemption of such Bond held for the account of DTC participants 
in accordance with its rules or other agreements with DTC participants and then DTC participants and indirect participants may implement 
a redemption of such Bond from the beneficial owners. 
 
Neither the Port nor the Paying Agent/Registrar will have any responsibility to DTC participants, indirect participants or the persons for whom 
DTC participants act as nominees, with respect to the payments on the Bond or the providing of notice to DTC participants, indirect 
participants, or beneficial owners of the selection of portions of the Bond for redemption. See "THE BONDS – BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY 
SYSTEM." 
 
DEFEASANCE 
 
The Port reserves the right to defease the Bonds in any manner now or hereafter authorized by law. 
 
REPLACEMENT BONDS 
 
In the event that a Bond is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to the applicable laws of the 
State and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall authenticate and deliver a 
replacement Bond of like tenor and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding, provided that the Owner first: 
(1) furnishes to the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of his or her ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or 
theft of such Bond; (2) furnishes such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Port to save them 
harmless; (3) pays all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar and any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed; and (4) satisfies any other reasonable requirements 
imposed by the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar. 
 
If, after the delivery of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original Bond in lieu of which such replacement Bond was issued 
presents for payment such original Bond, the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such replacement Bond from 
the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking therefrom, except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the 
security or indemnity provided therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the Port or the Paying Agent/Registrar 
in connection therewith. 
 
In the event that any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Bond has become or is about to become due and payable, 
the Paying Agent/Registrar, in its discretion, instead of issuing a replacement Bond, may pay such Bond. 
 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM 
 
This section describes how ownership of the Bonds is to be transferred and how the principal of and interest on the Bonds are to be paid to 
and credited by DTC while the Bonds are registered in its nominee’s name. The information in this section concerning DTC and the Book-
Entry-Only System has been provided by DTC for use in disclosure documents such as this Official Statement. The Financial Advisor and 
the Port believe the source of such information to be reliable, but take no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof. 
 
The Port cannot and does not give any assurance that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Bonds, or redemption or other 
notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or its nominee (as the registered 
owner of the Bonds), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so on a timely basis, or (3) DTC will serve 
and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The current rules applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the "SEC"), and the current procedures of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC. 
  
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s 
partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully- registered certificate for 
each maturity will be issued for the Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 
 
DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking 
organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within 
the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, 
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instrument from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants ("Direct Participants") 
deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in 
deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates 
the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust 
& Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation, and Fixed Income 
Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  
  



 

5  

Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, 
and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly 
("Indirect Participants"). DTC has an S&P Global Ratings rating of "AA+." The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the 
SEC. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 
 
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for such purchases 
on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Obligation ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the 
Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial 
Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction as well as periodic statements of their 
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership 
interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial 
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of 
the book-entry system described herein is discontinued. 
 
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership 
nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and 
their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no 
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts 
such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for 
keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 
 
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct 
Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or 
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the 
transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed 
amendments to the Obligation documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the 
Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to 
provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 
 
Redemption notices for the Bonds shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds of a maturity are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to 
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any 
other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI 
Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Port as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus 
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date 
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 
 
Payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. 
DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Port and 
the Paying Agent/Registrar, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants 
to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts 
of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, 
the Paying Agent/Registrar, or the Port, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment 
of redemption proceeds, principal and interest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar. Disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants 
will be the responsibility of DTC, and reimbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and 
Indirect Participants. 
  
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Port and 
the Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Bonds are required to be 
printed and delivered. 
 
The Port may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that 
event, Bonds will be printed and delivered to the DTC. 
 
Use of Certain Terms in Other Sections of this Official Statement. In reading this Official Statement it should be understood that while the 
Bonds are in the Book-Entry-Only System, references in other sections of this Official Statement to registered owners should be read to 
include the person for which the Participant acquires an interest in the Bonds, but (i) all rights of ownership must be exercised through DTC 
and the Book-Entry-Only System, and (ii) except as described above, notices that are to be given to registered owners under the Resolution 
will be given only to DTC. 
  



 

6  

Effect of Termination of Book-Entry-Only System. In the event that the Book-Entry-Only System of the Bonds is discontinued, printed 
Bonds will be issued to the DTC Participants or the holder, as the case may be, and such Bonds will be subject to transfer, exchange and 
registration provisions as set forth in the Resolution and summarized under "THE BONDS - TRANSFER, EXCHANGE AND REGISTRATION" 
below. 
 
PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR 
 
The initial Paying Agent/Registrar is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas. In the Resolution, the Port retains the right to replace the Paying 
Agent/Registrar. The Port covenants to maintain and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar at all times until the Bonds are duly paid and any 
successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank or trust company organized under the laws of the State of Texas or other entity 
duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds. Upon any 
change in the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds, the Port agrees to promptly cause a written notice thereof to be sent to each registered 
owner of the Bonds by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying 
Agent/Registrar. 
 
TRANSFER, EXCHANGE AND REGISTRATION 
 
In the event the Book-Entry-Only System should be discontinued, printed Bonds will be delivered to the registered owners and thereafter the 
Bonds may be transferred and exchanged on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar only upon presentation and surrender of 
such printed Bonds to the Paying Agent/Registrar and such transfer or exchange shall be without expense or service charge to the registered 
owner, except for any tax or other governmental charges required to be paid with respect to such registration, exchange and transfer. Bonds 
may be assigned by the execution of an assignment form on the respective Bonds or by other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable 
to the Paying Agent/Registrar. New Bonds will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu of the Bonds being transferred or 
exchanged, at the designated office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or sent by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the new 
registered owner or his designee. New Bonds registered and delivered in an exchange or transfer shall be in any integral multiple of $5,000 
for any one maturity and for a like aggregate principal amount as the Bonds surrendered for exchange or transfer.  
 
RECORD DATE FOR INTEREST PAYMENT 
 
The record date (“Record Date”) for the interest payable on the Bonds on any interest payment date means the close of business on the 15th 
calendar day of the preceding month. 
 
In the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment 
(a “Special Record Date”) will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been 
received from the Port. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (“Special Payment 
Date”, which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special Record Date by 
United States mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of each Holder of a Bond appearing on the registration books of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 
 
BONDHOLDERS’ REMEDIES 
 
The Resolution does not provide for the appointment of a trustee to represent the interests of the Bondholders upon any failure of the Port to 
perform in accordance with the terms of the Resolution or upon any other condition and, in the event of any such failure to perform, the 
registered owners would be responsible for the initiation and cost of any legal action to enforce performance of the Resolution.  Furthermore, 
the Resolution does not establish specific events of default with respect to the Bonds and, under State law, there is no right to the acceleration 
of maturity of the Bonds upon the failure of the Port to observe any covenant under the Resolution.  A registered owner of Bonds could seek 
a judgment against the Port if a default occurred in the payment of principal of or interest on any such Bonds; however, such judgment could 
not be satisfied by execution against any property of the Port and a suit for monetary damages would be subject to a jurisdictional challenge 
because of governmental immunity. Chapter 1371, upon which the Port is relying in its issuance of the Bonds, permits the Port to waive 
governmental immunity in the proceedings authorizing the Bonds. Notwithstanding its reliance upon the provisions of Chapter 1371 in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the Port has not waived the defense of governmental immunity with respect thereto. Because it is 
unclear whether the State legislature has effectively waived the Port’s governmental immunity from a suit for money damages outside of 
Chapter 1371, Bondholders may not be able to bring such a suit against the Port for breach of the Bonds or Resolution covenants. A registered 
owner’s only practical remedy, if a default occurs, is a mandamus or mandatory injunction proceeding to compel the Commission to levy, 
assess and collect an annual ad valorem tax sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds as it becomes due or to compel the Port 
to perform other material terms and covenants contained in the Resolution.  In general, Texas courts have held that a writ of mandamus may 
be issued to require a public official to perform legally imposed ministerial duties necessary for the performance of a valid contract, and 
Texas law provides that, following their approval by the Attorney General and issuance, the Bonds are valid and binding obligations for all 
purposes according to their terms.  However, the enforcement of any such remedy may be difficult and time consuming and a registered 
owner could be required to enforce such remedy on a periodic basis. 
  



 

7  

The Port is also eligible to seek relief from its creditors under Chapter 9 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 9”).  Although Chapter 9 
provides for the recognition of a security interest represented by a specifically pledged source of revenues, the pledge of taxes in support of 
a general obligation of a bankrupt entity is not expressly recognized as a security interest under Chapter 9.  Chapter 9 also includes an 
automatic stay provision that would prohibit, without Bankruptcy Court approval, the prosecution of any other legal action by creditors or 
Bondholders of an entity which has sought protection under Chapter 9.  Therefore, should the Port avail itself of Chapter 9 protection from 
creditors, the ability to enforce would be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court (which could require that the action be heard in 
Bankruptcy Court instead of other federal or state court); and the Bankruptcy Code provides for broad discretionary powers of a Bankruptcy 
Court in administering any proceeding brought before it.  The opinion of Bond Counsel will note that all opinions relative to the enforceability 
of the Resolution and the Bonds are qualified with respect to the customary rights of debtors relative to their creditors, including rights 
afforded to creditors under the Bankruptcy Code. 
 
 

TAX INFORMATION 
 
The following is a summary of certain provisions of State law as it relates to ad valorem taxation and is not intended to be complete.  
Prospective investors are encouraged to review Title I of the Texas Tax Code, as amended (the “Property Tax Code”), for identification of 
property subject to ad valorem taxation, property exempt or which may be exempted from ad valorem taxation if claimed, the appraisal of 
property for ad valorem tax purposes, and the procedures and limitations applicable to the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes. 
 
VALUATION OF TAXABLE PROPERTY 
 
The Property Tax Code provides for countywide appraisal and equalization of taxable property values and establishes in each county of the 
State an appraisal district and an appraisal review board (the “Appraisal Review Board”) responsible for appraising property for all taxing 
units within the county.  The appraisal of property within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port is the responsibility of the Brazoria County 
Appraisal District (the “Appraisal District”).  Except as generally described below, the Appraisal District is required to appraise all property 
within the Appraisal District on the basis of 100% of its market value and is prohibited from applying any assessment ratios.  In determining 
market value of property, the Appraisal District is required to consider the cost method of appraisal, the income method of appraisal and the 
market data comparison method of appraisal, and use the method the chief appraiser of the Appraisal District considers most appropriate.  
The Property Tax Code requires appraisal districts to reappraise all property in its jurisdiction at least once every three (3) years.  A taxing 
unit may require annual review at its own expense, and is entitled to challenge the determination of appraised value of property within the 
taxing unit by petition filed with the Appraisal Review Board (see “– Issuer and Taxpayer Remedies”). 
 
State law requires the appraised value of an owner’s principal residence (“homestead” or “homesteads”) to be based solely on the property’s 
value as a homestead, regardless of whether residential use is considered to be the highest and best use of the property.  State law further 
limits the appraised value of a homestead to the lesser of (1) the market value of the property or (2) 110% of the appraised value of the 
property for the preceding tax year plus the market value of all new improvements to the property. 
 
State law provides that eligible owners of both agricultural land and open-space land, including open-space land devoted to farm or ranch 
purposes or open-space land devoted to timber production, may elect to have such property appraised for property taxation on the basis of its 
productive capacity.  The same land may not be qualified as both agricultural and open-space land. 
 
The appraisal values set by the Appraisal District are subject to review and change by the Appraisal Review Board.  The appraisal rolls, as 
approved by the Appraisal Review Board, are used by taxing units, such as the Port, in establishing their tax rolls and tax rates (see “– Issuer 
and Taxpayer Remedies”). 
 
ISSUER AND TAXPAYER REMEDIES 
 
Under certain circumstances, the Port and its taxpayers may appeal the determinations of the Appraisal District by timely initiating a protest 
with the Appraisal Review Board. Additionally, taxing units such as the Port may bring suit against the Appraisal District to compel 
compliance with the Property Tax Code. 
 
Owners of certain property with a taxable value in excess of the current year “minimum eligibility amount,” as determined by the State 
Comptroller, and situated in a county with a population of one million or more may protest the determinations of Appraisal District directly 
to a three-member special panel of the Appraisal Review Board, appointed by the chairman of the Appraisal Review Board, consisting of 
highly qualified professionals in the field of property tax appraisal. The minimum eligibility amount is set at $52,978,200 for the 2022 tax 
year, and is adjusted annually by the State Comptroller to reflect the inflation rate. 
 
The Property Tax Code sets forth notice and hearing procedures for certain tax rate increases by the Port and provides for taxpayer referenda 
that could result in the repeal of certain tax increases. See “– PUBLIC HEARING AND MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS TAX RATE LIMITATIONS.” 
The Property Tax Code also establishes a procedure for notice to property owners of reappraisals reflecting increased property value, 
appraisals which are higher than renditions, and appraisals of property not previously on an appraisal roll. 
  



 

8  

STATE MANDATED HOMESTEAD EXEMPTIONS 
 
State law grants, with respect to each taxing unit in the State, various exemptions for disabled veterans and their families, surviving spouses 
of members of the armed services killed in action, and surviving spouses of first responders killed or fatally wounded in the line of duty. 
 
LOCAL OPTION HOMESTEAD EXEMPTIONS 
 
The governing body of a taxing unit, including a city, county, school district, or special district, at its option may grant: (1) an exemption of 
up to 20% of the appraised value of all homesteads (but not less than $5,000) and (2) an additional exemption of the appraised value of the 
homesteads of persons 65 years of age or older and the disabled. Each taxing unit decides if it will offer the local option homestead exemptions 
and at what percentage or dollar amount, as applicable.  See “ - APPLICATION OF TAX CODE.” 
 
LOCAL OPTION FREEZE FOR THE ELDERLY AND DISABLED 
 
The governing body of a county, municipality or junior college district may, at its option, provide for a freeze on the total amount of ad 
valorem taxes levied on the homesteads of persons 65 years of age or older or of disabled persons above the amount of tax imposed in the 
year such residence qualified for such exemption. Also, upon voter initiative, an election may be held to determine by majority vote whether 
to establish such a freeze on ad valorem taxes. Once the freeze is established, the total amount of taxes imposed on such homesteads cannot 
be increased except for certain improvements, and such freeze cannot be repealed or rescinded. 
 
PERSONAL PROPERTY 
 
Tangible personal property (furniture, machinery, supplies, inventories, etc.) used in the “production of income” is taxed based on the 
property’s market value.  Taxable personal property includes income-producing equipment and inventory.  Intangibles such as goodwill, 
accounts receivable, and proprietary processes are not taxable.  Tangible personal property not held or used for production of income, such 
as household goods, automobiles or light trucks, and boats, is exempt from ad valorem taxation unless the governing body of a taxing unit 
elects to tax such property. 
 
FREEPORT AND GOODS-IN-TRANSIT EXEMPTIONS 
 
Certain goods that are acquired in or imported into the State to be forwarded outside the State, and are detained in the State for 175 days or 
less for the purpose of assembly, storage, manufacturing, processing or fabrication (“Freeport Property”) are exempt from ad valorem taxation 
unless a taxing unit took official action to tax Freeport Property before April 1, 1990 and has not subsequently taken official action to exempt 
Freeport Property.  Decisions to continue taxing Freeport Property may be reversed in the future; decisions to exempt Freeport Property are 
not subject to reversal. 
 
Certain goods, that are acquired in or imported into the State to be forwarded to another location within or without the State, stored in a 
location that is not owned by the owner of the goods and are transported to another location within or without the State within 175 days 
(“Goods-in-Transit”), are generally exempt from ad valorem taxation; however, the Property Tax Code permits a taxing unit, on a local option 
basis, to tax Goods-in-Transit if the taxing unit takes official action, after conducting a public hearing, before January 1 of the first tax year 
in which the taxing unit proposes to tax Goods-in-Transit.  Goods-in-Transit and Freeport Property do not include oil, natural gas or petroleum 
products, and Goods-in-Transit does not include aircraft or special inventories such as manufactured housing inventory, or a dealer’s motor 
vehicle, boat, or heavy equipment inventory. 
 
A taxpayer may receive only one of the Goods-in-Transit or Freeport Property exemptions for items of personal property. 
 
OTHER EXEMPT PROPERTY 
 
Other major categories of exempt property include property owned by the State or its political subdivisions if used for public purposes, 
property exempt by federal law, property used for pollution control, farm products owned by producers, property of nonprofit corporations 
used for scientific research or educational activities benefitting a college or university, designated historic sites, solar and wind-powered 
energy devices, and certain classes of intangible personal property. 
  



 

9  

TEMPORARY EXEMPTION FOR QUALIFIED PROPERTY DAMAGED BY A DISASTER 
 
The Property Tax Code entitles the owner of certain qualified (i) tangible personal property used for the production of income, (ii) 
improvements to real property, and (iii) manufactured homes located in an area declared by the Governor to be a disaster area following a 
disaster and is at least 15 percent damaged by the disaster, as determined by the chief appraiser, to an exemption from taxation of a portion 
of the appraised value of the property.  The amount of the exemption ranges from 15 percent to 100 percent based upon the damage assessment 
rating assigned by the chief appraiser.  Except in situations where the territory is declared a disaster on or after the date the taxing unit adopts 
a tax rate for the year in which the disaster declaration is issued, the governing body of the taxing unit is not required to take any action in 
order for the taxpayer to be eligible for the exemption.  If a taxpayer qualifies for the exemption after the beginning of the tax year, the 
amount of the exemption is prorated based on the number of days left in the tax year following the day on which the Governor declares the 
area to be a disaster area.  For more information on the exemption, reference is made to Section 11.35 of the Tax Code.   
 
TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONES 
 
A city or county, by petition of the landowners or by action of its governing body, may create one or more tax increment reinvestment zones 
(“TIRZ”) within its boundaries, and other overlapping taxing units may agree to contribute taxes levied against the “Incremental Value” in 
the TIRZ to finance or pay for project costs, as defined in Chapter 311, Texas Government Code, generally located within the TIRZ. At the 
time of the creation of the TIRZ, a “base value” for the real property in the TIRZ is established and the difference between any increase in 
the assessed valuation of taxable real property in the TIRZ in excess of the base value is known as the “Incremental Value”, and during the 
existence of the TIRZ, all or a portion of the taxes levied by each participating taxing unit against the Incremental Value in the TIRZ are 
restricted to paying project and financing costs within the TIRZ and are not available for the payment of other obligations of such taxing 
units. 
 
TAX ABATEMENT AGREEMENTS – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Taxing units may also enter into tax abatement agreements to encourage economic development. Under the agreements, a property owner 
agrees to construct certain improvements on its property. The taxing unit, in turn, agrees not to levy a tax on all or part of the increased value 
attributable to the improvements until the expiration of the agreement. The abatement agreement could last for a period of up to 10 years. 
See “– PORT TAX ABATEMENTS” herein. 
 
For a discussion of how the various exemptions described above are applied by the Port, see “– APPLICATION OF TAX CODE” herein. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING AND MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION TAX RATE LIMITATIONS 
 
The following terms as used in this section have the meanings provided below: 
 

“adjusted” means lost values are not included in the calculation of the prior year’s taxes and new values are not included in the 
current year’s taxable values.  
 

“de minimis rate” means the maintenance and operations tax rate that will produce the prior year’s total maintenance and operations 
tax levy (adjusted) from the current year’s values (adjusted), plus the rate that produces an additional $500,000 in tax revenue when applied 
to the current year’s taxable value, plus the debt service tax rate. 
 

“no-new-revenue tax rate” means the combined maintenance and operations tax rate and debt service tax rate that will produce the 
prior year’s total tax levy (adjusted) from the current year’s total taxable values (adjusted).   
 

“special taxing unit” means a taxing unit for which the maintenance and operations tax rate proposed for the current tax year is 2.5 
cents or less per $100 of taxable value. 
 

“unused increment rate” means the cumulative difference between a taxing unit’s voter-approval tax rate and its actual tax rate for 
each of the tax years 2020 through 2022, which may be applied to a taxing unit’s tax rate in tax years 2021 through 2023 without impacting 
the voter-approval tax rate.   
 

“voter-approval tax rate” means the maintenance and operations tax rate that will produce the prior year’s total maintenance and 
operations tax levy (adjusted) from the current year’s values (adjusted) multiplied by 1.035, plus the debt service tax rate, plus the “unused 
increment rate.” 
 
The Port’s tax rate generally may consist of two components: (1) a rate for funding of maintenance and operations expenditures in the current 
year (the “maintenance and operations tax rate”), and (2) a rate for funding debt service in the current year (the “debt service tax rate”). 
  



 

10  

The Commission must annually calculate the Port’s “voter-approval tax rate” and “no-new-revenue tax rate” (as such terms are defined 
above) in accordance with forms prescribed by the Comptroller and provide notice of such rates to each owner of taxable property within the 
Port’s taxing jurisdiction and the county tax assessor-collector for each county in which all or part of the Port’s taxing jurisdiction is located. 
The Commission must adopt a tax rate for the Port before the later of September 30 or the 60th day after the Port’s receipt of its certified 
appraisal roll, except that a tax rate that exceeds the voter-approval tax rate must be adopted not later than the 71st day before the next 
occurring November uniform election date. If the Commission fails to timely adopt a tax rate, the tax rate for the Commission is statutorily 
set as the lower of the no-new-revenue tax rate for the current tax year or the tax rate adopted by the Port for the preceding tax year. 
 
As described below, the Property Tax Code provides that if the Commission adopts a tax rate for the Port that exceeds the Port’s voter-
approval tax rate or, in certain cases, its “de minimis rate,” an election must be held to determine whether or not to reduce the adopted tax 
rate to the voter-approval tax rate. 
 
 
The Commission may not adopt a tax rate that exceeds the lower of the voter-approval tax rate or the no-new-revenue tax rate until the 
Appraisal District has delivered notice to each taxpayer within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port of the estimated total amount of property 
taxes owed and the Commission has held a public hearing on the proposed tax increase.   
 
If the adopted tax rate for the Port for any tax year exceeds the greater of (i) the voter-approval tax rate or (ii) the de minimis rate, the 
Commission must conduct an election on the next occurring November uniform election date to determine whether or not to reduce the 
adopted tax rate for the Port to the voter-approval tax rate.  However, for any tax year during which the Port does not qualify as a special 
taxing unit, if the adopted tax rate for the Port is equal to or less than the de minimis rate but greater than both (a) the no-new-revenue tax 
rate, multiplied by 1.08, plus the debt service tax rate or (b) the Port’s voter-approval tax rate, then a valid petition signed by at least three 
percent of the registered voters in the taxing jurisdiction of the Port would require that an election be held to determine whether or not to 
reduce the adopted tax rate for the Port to the voter-approval tax rate.  
 
Any taxing unit located at least partly within an area declared a disaster area by the Governor of the State or the President of the United States 
during the current year may calculate its “voter-approval tax rate” using a 1.08 multiplier, instead of 1.035, until the earlier of (i) the second 
tax year in which such taxing unit’s total taxable appraised value exceeds the taxable appraised value on January 1 of the year the disaster 
occurred, or (ii) the third tax year after the tax year in which the disaster occurred.  See “INFECTIOUS DISEASE OUTBREAK – COVID-
19” for a discussion of recent disaster declarations relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
The calculations of the no-new-revenue tax rate and voter-approval tax rate do not limit or impact the Commission’s ability to set a 
debt service tax rate for the Port in each year sufficient to pay debt service on all of the Port’s tax-supported debt obligations, 
including the Bonds. 
 
Reference is made to the Property Tax Code for definitive requirements for the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes and the calculation 
of the various defined tax rates. 
 
LEVY AND COLLECTION OF TAXES 
 
The Port is responsible for the collection of its taxes, unless it elects to transfer such functions to another governmental entity.  Taxes are due 
October 1, or when billed, whichever comes later, and become delinquent after January 31 of the following year.  A delinquent tax incurs a 
penalty of six percent (6%) of the amount of the tax for the first calendar month it is delinquent, plus one percent (1%) for each additional 
month or portion of a month the tax remains unpaid prior to July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent.  If the tax is not paid by July 
1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent, the tax incurs a total penalty of twelve percent (12%) regardless of the number of months the 
tax has been delinquent and incurs an additional penalty of up to twenty percent (20%) if imposed by the Port.  The delinquent tax also 
accrues interest at a rate of one percent (1%) for each month or portion of a month it remains unpaid.  The Property Tax Code also makes 
provision for the split payment of taxes, discounts for early payment and the postponement of the delinquency date of taxes for certain 
taxpayers.  Furthermore, the Port may provide, on a local option basis, for the split payment, partial payment, and discounts for early payment 
of taxes under certain circumstances.  The Property Tax Code permits taxpayers owning homes or certain businesses located in a disaster 
area and damaged as a direct result of the declared disaster to pay taxes imposed in the year following the disaster in four equal installments 
without penalty or interest, commencing on February 1 and ending on August 1. 
 
PORT’S RIGHTS IN THE EVENT OF TAX DELINQUENCIES 
 
Taxes levied by the Port are a personal obligation of the owner of the property.  On January 1 of each year, a tax lien attaches to property to 
secure the payment of all state and local taxes, penalties, and interest ultimately imposed for the year on the property.  The lien exists in favor 
of each taxing unit, including the Port, having power to tax the property.  The Port’s tax lien is on a parity with tax liens of such other taxing 
units.  A tax lien on real property takes priority over the claim of most creditors and other holders of liens on the property encumbered by the 
tax lien, whether or not the debt or lien existed before the attachment of the tax lien; however, whether a lien of the United States is on a 
parity with or takes priority over a tax lien of the Port is determined by applicable federal law.  Personal property, under certain circumstances, 
is subject to seizure and sale for the payment of delinquent taxes, penalty, and interest. 
  



 

11  

At any time after taxes on property become delinquent, the Port may file suit to foreclose the lien securing payment of the tax, to enforce 
personal liability for the tax, or both.  In filing a suit to foreclose a tax lien on real property, the Port must join other taxing units that have 
claims for delinquent taxes against all or part of the same property. 
 
Collection of delinquent taxes may be adversely affected by the amount of taxes owed to other taxing units, adverse market conditions, 
taxpayer redemption rights, or bankruptcy proceedings which restrain the collection of a taxpayer’s debt. 
 
Federal bankruptcy law provides that an automatic stay of actions by creditors and other entities, including governmental units, goes into 
effect with the filing of any petition in bankruptcy.  The automatic stay prevents governmental units from foreclosing on property and prevents 
liens for post‐petition taxes from attaching to property and obtaining secured creditor status unless, in either case, an order lifting the stay is 
obtained from the bankruptcy court.  In many cases, post‐petition taxes are paid as an administrative expense of the estate in bankruptcy or 
by order of the bankruptcy court. 
 
APPLICATION OF TAX CODE 
 
The Port grants an optional exemption to the market value of the residence homestead of persons 65 years of age or older or disabled of 
$250,000. The Port has granted an additional optional exemption of 20% of the market value of residence homesteads; minimum exemption 
of $5,000. 
 
PORT TAX ABATEMENTS 
 
The Port enters into property tax abatements with local businesses under Section 312.206(a) of Subchapter B of the Texas Property 
Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act, Texas Tax Code, Chapter 312 and other applicable sections of said statute, which provide that if 
property taxes are abated within the taxing jurisdiction of a municipality, the governing body of any other taxing unit in which the property 
is located may execute a written agreement with such owner of the property. 
 
The Commission approves the application after it is determined that the request meets the applicable guidelines and criteria adopted by the 
Commission, which will promote the development of industry within the boundaries of the Port, provide additional employment, and 
strengthen the area economy. 
 
The total value of the tax abatement agreements as provided by the Appraisal District for the Tax Year 2022 was $13,042,378,120.  See 
“TABLE 1 – VALUATION, EXEMPTION AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT.” The values of such agreements are subject to change as the Port 
enters into additional agreements, existing abatements reach their scheduled termination dates, there are changes in the level of development, 
and as the Appraisal District updates its records. 
 
CONCENTRATION OF TAX BASE 
 
The Port’s tax base is heavily concentrated among its major taxpayers, principally petrochemical companies and manufacturing companies. 
Adverse developments in major taxpayers’ businesses or general economic conditions or changes in the regulatory environment affecting the 
Port’s major taxpayers could adversely affect their ability to pay taxes resulting in a decrease in tax revenues available to the Port or requiring 
an increase in tax rates in order to maintain current revenue levels. See “TAX INFORMATION – TABLE 5 – TOP TEN TAXPAYERS.” 

 
  



 

12  

TABLE 1 -VALUATION, EXEMPTIONS AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 
 

 

  
__________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
(1)   Source: Brazoria County Appraisal District certified and supplemental totals. Values are subject to change as contested values are resolved, and the 

Appraisal District updates its records. 
(2)   The Port enters into property tax abatements with local businesses under Section 312.206(a) of Subchapter B of the Texas Property Redevelopment and 

Tax Abatement Act, Texas Tax Code, Chapter 312 and other applicable sections of said statute. See “TAX INFORMATION – TAX ABATEMENTS.” 
(3) Includes the Bonds. 
(4)   Source: the Port. 
 
 
  

2022/2023 Market Valuation Established by Brazoria County Appraisal District 42,065,889,000$   

(excluding totally exempt property)(1)

Less Exemptions/Reductions at 100% Market Value:
Homestead Exemption 1,760,666,710$   
Over 65 Homestead Exemption 1,585,418,636     
Disabled Persons and Veteran Exemption 243,615,401        

Abatements(2) 13,042,378,120   
Freeport Loss 788,670,595        
Pollution Control 2,251,216,790     
Productivity Loss 1,863,499,214     
Total Exempt Property 2,044,737,946     
Other 12,811,271          23,593,014,683$   

2022/2023 Taxable Assessed Valuation 18,472,874,317$   

General Obligation Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes (as of March 1, 2023)
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019 (Non-AMT) 30,715,000$        
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2021 (Non-AMT) 37,135,000          
The Bonds* 53,520,000          

Total General Obligation Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes(3)* 121,370,000$        

Ratio General Obligation Debt to Taxable Assessed Valuation(3)* 0.66%

2023 Estimated Population - 372,000 (4)

Per Capita General Obligation Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes - $326
Per Capita Taxable Assessed Valuation - $49,658



 

13  

TABLE 2 – PORT TAXABLE VALUES AND TAX RATES 
 

    
__________ 
NOTE: Valuations shown are certified taxable assessed values reported by the Brazoria County Appraisal District to the State Comptroller of Public Accounts. 
Certified values are subject to change throughout the year as contested values are resolved and the Appraisal District updates its records. 
(1) Includes both the operations and maintenance and interest and sinking fund tax rates. 
 
TABLE 3 – VALUATION AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT HISTORY 
 

    
__________ 
(1) Source: the Port 
(2) As reported by the Appraisal District on the Port’s annual State Property Tax Board Reports; subject to change. Values are subject to change as contested 

values are resolved and the Appraisal District updates its records.  
(3) Projected. Includes the Bonds. Preliminary, subject to change. 

 
TABLE 4 - TAX RATE, LEVY AND COLLECTION HISTORY 
 

    
__________ 
(1) The Commission is authorized to levy an operation and maintenance tax in an amount not to exceed $0.10 per $100 of assessed valuation.  The reduction 

in the Port’s M&O tax rate between the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 and the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 was part of a planned 
reduction in order to keep the Port’s total tax rate relatively stable in connection with the Port’s issuance of ad valorem tax supported bonds.  The Port 
has offset the reductions in operations and maintenance tax revenues with increased revenues from Port operations. 

(2) Provided by the Port. 
(3) In process of collection.  

 
 
  

Ratio of 
Taxable Assessed

Less: Taxable Valuation
Real Personal Exemptions Assessed Percent Growth Total

Fiscal Year Property Property and Abatements Valuation (Reduction) Direct Tax
Ended 9/30 (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands) from Prior Year Rate(1)

2018 20,489,956$  2,724,994$    10,645,525$  12,569,425$  6.86% 0.0401     
2019 25,063,315 3,220,040      14,708,104    13,575,251    8.00% 0.0401     
2020 27,275,022 3,742,847      17,042,383    13,975,486    2.95% 0.0401     
2021 32,561,006 4,056,672      21,679,903    14,937,775    6.89% 0.0401     
2022 33,670,681 3,955,198      22,120,276    15,505,603    3.80% 0.0400     
2023 37,630,654 4,435,235      23,593,015    18,472,874    19.14% 0.0350     

Estimated Market Value

Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed

Fiscal Year Estimated Valuation Valuation
Ended 9/30 Population(1) (in thousands)(2) Per Capita

2018 355,000 12,569,425$         35,407$    1,145,000$   0.01% 3            
2019 376,000 13,575,251           36,104      31,795,000   0.23% 85          
2020 372,000 13,975,486           37,569      31,665,000   0.23% 85          
2021 383,000 14,937,775           39,002      68,490,000   0.46% 179        
2022 372,000 15,505,603           41,682      67,850,000   0.44% 182        
2023 372,000 18,472,874           49,658      120,700,000 (3) 0.65% (3) 324        (3)

of Year Per CapitaValuation

Tax Debt
Outstanding

at End

Ratio of 
Tax Debt
to Taxable
Assessed Tax Debt

G.O.

Fiscal Year General Interest and Gross % Current % Total

Ended 9/30 Tax Rate Fund(1) Sinking Fund Tax Levy Collections Collections

2018 $0.04010 $0.03150 0.008600$   5,040,346$   101.77% 102.78%

2019 0.04010 0.03145 0.008649     5,443,667     98.86% 99.81%

2020 0.04010 0.02949 0.010615     5,604,169     99.75% 99.75%

2021 0.04010 0.02666 0.013443     5,990,048     103.04% 104.02%

2022 0.04000 0.02339 0.016606     6,202,346     102.97% (2) 102.97% (2)

2023 0.03500 0.01814 0.016856     6,468,832     (3) (3)



 

14  

TABLE 5 – TOP TEN TAXPAYERS 
 

   
____________ 

(1)  Adverse developments impacting Dow Chemical Company, or the petrochemical and manufacturing industries generally,  could adversely impact taxable 
assessed valuations in the Port, resulting in a decrease in tax revenues available to the Port or requiring an increase in tax rates to maintain current revenue 
levels. See APPENDIX B – EXCERPTS FROM THE PORT FREEPORT ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT, Note 15. 

  

2022/2023
Taxable % of Total

Assessed Taxable
Valuation Assessed

Name of Taxpayer Nature of Property (in thousands) Valuation
Dow Chemical Company Petrochemical 3,076,389$ 16.65%
Phillips 66 Company Petrochemical 1,103,256   5.97%
Olin Chlorine #7 LLC Petrochemical 654,578      3.54%
Blue Cube Operations LLC Petrochemical 580,507      3.14%
Chevron Phillips Chemical Company Petrochemical 408,691      2.21%
Seaway Crude Pipeline Pipeline 309,313      1.67%
BASF Corp. Chemicals Div. Petrochemical 286,545      1.55%
Centerpoint Energy Inc. Petrochemical 175,041      0.95%
Freeport LNG Petrochemical 169,137      0.92%
BG Woodward LLC Property Manager 126,861      0.69%

6,890,318$ 37.30% (1)



 

15  

TABLE 6 – ESTIMATED OVERLAPPING DEBT 
 
Expenditures of the various taxing entities within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port are paid out of ad valorem taxes levied by such entities 
on properties within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port. Such entities are independent of the Port and may incur borrowings to finance their 
expenditures. This statement of direct and estimated overlapping ad valorem tax debt ("Tax Debt") was developed from information contained 
in "Texas Municipal Reports" published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas. Except for the amounts relating to the Port, the Port 
has not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of such information, and no person should rely upon such information as being 
accurate or complete. Furthermore, certain of the entities listed may have issued additional bonds since the date hereof, and such entities may 
have programs requiring the issuance of substantial amounts of additional bonds, the amount of which cannot be determined. The following 
table reflects the estimated share of overlapping Tax Debt of the Port. 
 

 
__________ 
(1) As of December 31, 2022. 
(2) Includes the Bonds.  Preliminary, subject to change.  
 
  

Estimated
Total 2022 % Overlapping

G.O. Debt(1) Tax Rate Applicable G.O. Debt

Alvin CCD 24,305,000$      0.164145$      8.13% 1,975,997          
Alvin ISD 968,580,000      1.377700        8.45% 81,845,010        
Alvin, City of 29,940,000        0.710000        0.40% 119,760             
Angleton Danbury Hospital District 1,425,000          0.160943        100.00% 1,425,000          
Angleton ISD 165,535,000      1.229600        60.93% 100,860,476      
Angleton, City of 38,420,000        0.618760        100.00% 38,420,000        
Brazoria Co 213,253,313      0.291106        59.08% 125,990,057      
Brazoria Co FWSD # 2 2,046,000          0.172165        100.00% 2,046,000          
Brazoria Co MUD # 32 29,305,000        1.350000        75.70% 22,183,885        
Brazoria Co MUD # 53 10,620,000        1.350000        100.00% 10,620,000        
Brazoria Co MUD # 55 57,685,000        0.885000        58.74% 33,884,169        
Brazoria, City of 4,650,000          0.680476        100.00% 4,650,000          
Brazosport College District 43,340,000        0.285895        100.00% 43,340,000        
Brazosport ISD 373,700,000      1.133000        100.00% 373,700,000      
Clute, City of 13,690,000        0.594799        100.00% 13,690,000        
Columbia-Brazoria ISD 33,315,000        1.054940        100.00% 33,315,000        
Damon ISD 405,000             0.942900        100.00% 405,000             
Danbury ISD 17,705,000        1.273800        100.00% 17,705,000        
Danbury, City of 232,000             0.584277        100.00% 232,000             
Freeport, City of 12,190,000        0.600000        100.00% 12,190,000        
Iowa Colony, City of 14,225,000        0.519209        34.39% 4,891,978          
Lake Jackson, City of 37,905,000        0.323121        100.00% 37,905,000        
Manvel, City of 20,015,000        0.570000        1.86% 372,279             
Richwood, City of 9,215,000          0.606810        100.00% 9,215,000          
Surfside Beach, Village of 1,484,000          0.334846        100.00% 1,484,000          
Sweeny ISD 47,875,000        1.016300        73.21% 35,049,288        
Varner Creek UD 7,545,000          0.480000        100.00% 7,545,000          
Velasco DD 4,400,000          0.074490        100.00% 4,400,000          
West Columbia, City of 5,785,000          0.715000        100.00% 5,785,000          
Total Overlapping Debt 1,025,244,897$ 

Port Freeport(2) 121,370,000      
Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 1,146,614,897$ 

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt % of Assessed Value 6.21%
Total Direct and Overlapping Debt Per Capita 3,082.30$          



 

16  

DEBT INFORMATION 
 
TABLE 7 – PRO-FORMA GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 
 

 
__________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change.  Interest is assumed at current market rates for purposes of illustration. 
 
TABLE 8 – AUTHORIZED BUT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 
 
The Port held an election on May 5, 2018 at which the voters approved $130,000,000 of bonds for the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement 
Project.  After issuance of the Bonds, the Port will not have any authorized but unissued bonds remaining from the election. 
 
ANTICIPATED ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 
 
The Port does not anticipate the issuance of tax-supported new money debt in the next 12 months. 
 
REVENUE DEBT OF THE PORT 
 
In addition to the unlimited tax bonds of the Port, the Port has and may continue to issue, from time to time, debt secured by certain revenues 
of the Port other than taxes. The Port expects to issue approximately $__________ of revenue bonds within the next 12 months. The Bonds 
are ad valorem tax bonds and are not secured by revenues of the Port. 
 
 
  

Year Total % of
End Debt Service Principal
9/30 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total Requirements Retired
2023 670,000$      2,136,013$   2,806,013$     834,191$      834,191$        3,640,204$     
2024 125,000        2,102,513     2,227,513       2,327,975     2,327,975       4,555,488       
2025 710,000        2,096,263     2,806,263       380,000$      2,327,975     2,707,975       5,514,238       
2026 730,000        2,074,963     2,804,963       960,000        2,308,975     3,268,975       6,073,938       
2027 1,810,000     2,038,463     3,848,463       1,010,000     2,260,975     3,270,975       7,119,438       5.27%
2028 1,885,000     1,958,363     3,843,363       1,060,000     2,210,475     3,270,475       7,113,838       
2029 1,970,000     1,874,913     3,844,913       1,115,000     2,157,475     3,272,475       7,117,388       
2030 2,055,000     1,787,663     3,842,663       1,170,000     2,101,725     3,271,725       7,114,388       
2031 2,125,000     1,722,150     3,847,150       1,230,000     2,043,225     3,273,225       7,120,375       
2032 2,220,000     1,628,050     3,848,050       1,290,000     1,981,725     3,271,725       7,119,775       18.55%
2033 2,290,000     1,551,900     3,841,900       1,355,000     1,917,225     3,272,225       7,114,125       
2034 2,370,000     1,473,300     3,843,300       1,420,000     1,849,475     3,269,475       7,112,775       
2035 2,450,000     1,391,900     3,841,900       1,495,000     1,778,475     3,273,475       7,115,375       
2036 2,520,000     1,321,500     3,841,500       1,565,000     1,703,725     3,268,725       7,110,225       
2037 2,595,000     1,248,800     3,843,800       1,645,000     1,625,475     3,270,475       7,114,275       34.79%
2038 2,660,000     1,185,300     3,845,300       1,730,000     1,543,225     3,273,225       7,118,525       
2039 2,735,000     1,108,200     3,843,200       1,795,000     1,474,025     3,269,025       7,112,225       
2040 2,815,000     1,028,700     3,843,700       1,870,000     1,402,225     3,272,225       7,115,925       
2041 2,900,000     946,600        3,846,600       1,945,000     1,327,425     3,272,425       7,119,025       
2042 2,980,000     861,700        3,841,700       2,020,000     1,249,625     3,269,625       7,111,325       54.11%
2043 3,070,000     774,200        3,844,200       2,100,000     1,168,825     3,268,825       7,113,025       
2044 3,160,000     683,700        3,843,700       2,185,000     1,084,825     3,269,825       7,113,525       
2045 3,250,000     590,300        3,840,300       2,275,000     997,425        3,272,425       7,112,725       
2046 3,350,000     493,900        3,843,900       2,365,000     903,581        3,268,581       7,112,481       
2047 3,450,000     394,200        3,844,200       2,465,000     806,025        3,271,025       7,115,225       76.91%
2048 3,550,000     291,200        3,841,200       2,565,000     704,344        3,269,344       7,110,544       
2049 3,660,000     184,900        3,844,900       2,670,000     598,538        3,268,538       7,113,438       
2050 1,855,000     74,900          1,929,900       2,785,000     488,400        3,273,400       5,203,300       
2051 1,890,000     37,800          1,927,800       2,900,000     373,519        3,273,519       5,201,319       
2052 -                -                -                  3,015,000     253,894        3,268,894       3,268,894       97.41%
2053 -                -                -                  3,140,000     129,525        3,269,525       3,269,525       100.00%

67,850,000$ 35,062,350$ 102,912,350$ 53,520,000$ 43,934,516$ 97,454,516$   200,366,866$ 

Outstanding Debt The Bonds*



 

17  

THE PORT 
 
GENERAL 
 
In 1889, the United States Congress authorized the Brazos River and Dock Company to construct and operate a jetty system to navigate the 
mouth of the Brazos River to the Gulf of Mexico. 
 
The Port was created by action of the voters within the Port on December 4, 1925. The purpose of the Port was to correct river and jetty 
silting problems by dredging a new channel to divert the Brazos River to another course and to build public infrastructure. 
 
The taxing jurisdiction of the Port encompasses approximately 85% of the County and contains most of the County’s principal industries and 
employers. The 2020 census showed a population of 372,031 in the County. The County’s 2020 median income per household was $83,325 
compared with the State’s median income of $63,826. 
 
Freeport Harbor is served by a 7.5-mile-long Freeport Harbor Channel (also referred to as the Brazos River Channel), which is 46 feet deep 
through the Upper Turning Basin Area, 51 feet adjacent to the Velasco Container Terminal and 36 feet deep at the Inner Harbor area. 
Deepening the Freeport Harbor Channel to 46 feet, which was completed in 1994, is considered the most important improvement to the 
Freeport Harbor since the Brazos River was diverted in 1929. 
 
The Port has begun construction of the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project which will focus on the deepening and widening of 
the Freeport Harbor Channel to a depth of 51 to 56 feet. The deepening and widening of the channel will improve safety and efficiency, 
allowing carriers to not only dispatch larger vessels, but will also enable these vessels to load to a fuller capacity, thus reducing transportation 
costs and achieving greater economies of scale. The project will make the Port Freeport Channel the deepest in Texas and enable Port Freeport 
to make the Port accessible to a wider range of global vessels, including those already transiting the expanded Panama Canal. See “ – 
FREEPORT HARBOR CHANNEL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT.” 
 
BUSINESS OF THE PORT 
 
The general business of the Port is to encourage economic development in the County by attracting new cargoes and industries, building and 
maintaining public terminals, setting operational policy and cooperating with the federal government in maintaining and improving the 
Freeport Harbor deep and shallow draft waterways. 
 
The Port owns, maintains and leases land, buildings, public wharves, transit sheds, open storage facilities, freight handling facilities and 
related equipment for the use of private stevedoring companies to load and unload vessels. In addition, the Port maintains areas for depositing 
dredged materials for Port waterway construction and maintenance. 
 
KEY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICIALS 
 
Phyllis Saathoff, Executive Director/CEO, began her maritime career at Port Freeport in 1992 as Managing Director, and in April 2012, 
became the Interim Executive Director/CEO before joining the Port of Houston Authority in October 2012. She returned to Port Freeport in 
April 2016 as the Chief Executive Officer. During her tenure at Port Freeport, Ms. Saathoff has been successful in obtaining a U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers permit to deepen the Freeport Harbor Channel to 56 feet, and in financing and initiating the development of the Port’s 
first container terminal. Under Ms. Saathoff’s leadership, Port Freeport has received the Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting 
from the Government Finance Officers Association for 27 consecutive years. She earned a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the 
University of Houston-Clear Lake, is a certified public accountant, and is certified as a Professional Port Manager. A recognized expert in 
port emergency preparedness, she is the author of the Emergency Preparedness and Continuity of Operations Planning Manual for Best 
Practices for ports. She served as president of the National Association of Foreign-Trade Zones and is a former treasurer of the Texas Gulf 
Ports Association. Ms. Saathoff also serves on the Port Authority Advisory Committee to the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) 
and the Greater Houston Partnership Transportation Policy Council. She is currently serving as president of the Texas Ports Association and 
is actively engaged with the American Association of Port Authorities regarding maritime transportation, regulatory and policy matters and 
serves on the board of directors and executive committee of the Economic Alliance of Brazoria County. 
 
Rob Lowe, Director of Administration and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for the accounting and financial reporting, treasury, risk 
management, financial analysis and human resources functions of the Port. Mr. Lowe brings over 20 years of managerial experience including 
leading multi-business unit accounting activities, financial leadership support, acquisition integrations, contract reviews, and organizational 
designs. Mr. Lowe earned a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the University of South Carolina. Mr. Lowe is an active member of the 
local community having served as a volunteer board member of Boys and Girls Club of Brazoria County, as well as having served on the 
Finance Committee of Brazosport Regional Health System.  He is currently serving on the Executive Committee of the Economic 
Development Alliance for Brazoria County.  
  



 

18  

Jason Hull, Director of Engineering, is responsible for the design and construction of the Port’s capital and maintenance projects including 
buildings, rail, roadway/paving, drainage, utilities and environmental. His responsibilities also include estimating costs and schedules of Port 
projects, and managing department personnel needs. Mr. Hull has been employed with Port Freeport since 2011. He is a Licensed Professional 
Engineer and has been designing civil, structural, and electrical projects since 1998. 

Chris Hogan, Director of Protective Services, serves as the staff authority on regulatory requirements and implements the Port Facility 
Security Plan (FSP). He manages the Port’s security contractor and the budget for Port security. Mr. Hogan has over 29 years of experience 
in emergency services, which includes security, fire and rescue tactics and counterterrorism. He earned his Bachelor of Science degree in 
Engineering Technology from West Texas A&M University. 
 
Mike Wilson, Director of Economic Development and Mobility, has been with Port Freeport for 22 years. His primary responsibilities 
revolve around sales, marketing, strategic planning, project acquisition and business development. Mr. Wilson has over 38 years of experience 
in international business and logistics. 
 
Jason Miura, Director of Business and Economic Development, joined the Port in 2015 and has over 17 years of experience in the shipping 
industry. His primary responsibilities are developing revenue growth opportunities for the Port, managing tenant and partner relationships, 
negotiating commercial agreements and coordinating with other local, regional and state agencies to promote business with the Port. Mr. 
Miura earned his BBA with a concentration in Finance from the University of Houston. He also serves as Treasurer of the Brazoria-Fort 
Bend County Rail District. 
 
Al Durel, Director of Operations, has been with the Port since 1999 and is responsible for maintaining safety and efficiency in the Port’s 
vessel and cargo operations in addition to safety. He serves as the primary point of contact for owners and agents, and also manages the 
financial affairs of the cargo/passenger operations of the Port. Mr. Durel earned a degree in Business Administration from the University of 
New Orleans. 
 
Mary Campus, Controller, has been employed by Port Freeport since 1993. Her primary responsibilities revolve around managing the 
accounting and finances of the Port. She is also involved in Procedures, Risk Management, Human Resources and Treasury Management. 
During her tenure, the Port has received 27 Certificates of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. Ms. Campus earned a Bachelor 
of Finance degree from Western Governor’s University. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF PORT FACILITIES 
 
The Port owns and operates a total of eight public wharves (docks). Wharf lengths range from 625 feet to 800 feet. The dock elevation at the 
wharves ranges from 16 feet to 17 feet and the water depth ranges from 36 feet to 45 feet with current plans to deepen those at 45 feet to 51 
feet. The wharves have 100-foot berth aprons with approximately 325,000 square feet of adjacent transit sheds. 
 
The Port owns and leases land upon which is constructed a rice milling, processing and bagging facility, accessible by rail and truck traffic, 
with silos capable of storing 70,000 tons of rice. Adjacent to this facility, the Port owns a 180,000 square foot warehouse for in-transit storage 
of rice and other commodities located on a 640-foot long deep-water berth with a bulk rice ship loader and a barge dock with 
conveyor/unloader for receiving rough rice from inland barges. 
 
The Port owns and leases two trailer marshalling yards covering 25 acres in the Inner Harbor area with the capacity to handle 520 trailers or 
containers on chassis, of which 250 spaces are equipped with 480-volt electric outlets for refrigerated containers. Each marshalling yard has 
a dedicated entrance complete with interchange facilities and equipment maintenance and office facilities. 
 
The Port owns and leases space in two warehouses totaling 206,600 square feet in the Inner Harbor area for the storage of short- term domestic 
and project cargo and in-transit cargo. Office space is also leased in an adjacent 4,700 square foot office complex. 
 
The Port owns and leases space in several open storage yards. A total of 121 acres is used for grounded and stacked containerized cargo, 
project cargo, automobiles, equipment, and steel products. 
 
The Port owns and leases 15.25 acres of land for the import, storage and distribution of bulk aggregate. 
 
The Port owns and leases 344 acres of land upon which is constructed a liquid bulk transfer facility and a liquefied natural gas facility. The 
liquid bulk facility consists of three berths, two of which are capable of handling up to 860-foot long tankers and a third berth for barge 
transfers. The liquefied natural gas facility (LNG) has two berths plus 75 acres for usage of overflow construction and parking of the 
expansion of the LNG facility. 
 
The Port owns approximately 8,000 acres of undeveloped property in the vicinity of the Port, of which 1,023 acres is environmentally 
mitigated with 320 acres designated as Dredge Material Placement for the FHCIP and 703 acres identified for development. Of this total 
acreage, over 1,343 acres is within the Port Freeport Foreign Trade Zone 149 and is either activated or eligible for activation. 
 
See “MAP OF PORT FACILITIES” for additional information on the location of the Port Facilities. 
  



19 

FREEPORT HARBOR CHANNEL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

With the completion of the initial reconnaissance and subsequent feasibility study, the United States Army Corps of Engineers (“COE”) 
issued a Chiefs report in January of 2013 indicating a federal interest, supported by favorable project economics, to deepen the Freeport 
Harbor Channel to a depth of up to 56 feet from the current 46 feet. At present, the project is authorized as part of the Water Resources 
Reform and Development Act of 2014 (WRRDA). During 2014, it was determined additional improvements beyond those proposed and 
authorized in WRRDA were necessary for the safe navigation of the feasibility study’s design vessel. Based on these findings, the Port 
actively engaged with the COE to produce a General Reevaluation Report (GRR) outlining a process to adjust for these additional 
requirements, which include bend easing and channel width increases. All these improvements are collectively referred to as the “Freeport 
Harbor Channel Improvement Project.” The GRR, approved in May 2018, was followed with the development of the preliminary engineering 
and design (PED) and the project management plan (PMP). The deepening and widening of the channel will improve safety and efficiency, 
allowing carriers to not only dispatch larger vessels, but will also enable these vessels to load to a fuller capacity, thus reducing transportation 
costs and achieving greater economies of scale. Project construction will be completed over a five-year period at an estimated total cost of 
$295 million to be cost-shared between the Federal government and the Port on a 50-50 basis for depths below 56 feet and on a 75-25 basis 
for depths less than 51 feet. In the summer of 2019, the Port issued $31,795,000 in ad valorem tax bonds and in January of 2021 issued an 
additional $37,135,000 to fund the first two installments of the $130 million in ad valorem tax bonds to fund the Port’s projected share of the 
cost of the Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project. The Bonds are the third installment of bonds issued to finance the Port’s share of 
the costs. The federal government’s share of the total project cost must be appropriated by Congress. The COE awarded a contract for the 
dredging of the first phase of the project in September 2020 and construction was completed in September 2021. The GRR widening 
phase was completed in 2022 followed by the start of the bend easing activities. The COE fiscal year 2022 work plan included 
$73,156,000 toward the project, and the fiscal year 2023 federal Omnibus Appropriations Bill included an additional $90,660,000 of 
appropriations for the project.  The approved federal appropriations when combined with contributions from the Port should be sufficient 
for completion of the project.  The Bonds represent the Port’s final issuance of ad valorem tax backed bonds under the voted authority 
approved at the May 5, 2018 election.   

MAJOR INITIATIVES AT THE PORT 

Ongoing Initiatives.  As a continuation of master planning efforts initiated during 2013, the Port has established four (4) strategic initiatives, 
summarized as follows: 

 The Freeport Harbor Channel Improvement Project as described above in “FREEPORT HARBOR CHANNEL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT.”
 The expansion of the Port’s container facilities located at Velasco Terminal.
 The development of a rail served warehousing and distribution facilities.
 Supporting the development of efficient transportation solutions to move commerce from Freeport to Texas markets and the heart of

the United States.

Accomplishment of these objectives will be through a phased approach, with a focus on long-term development and reconfiguration of the 
Port’s facilities in order to capture identified addressable market opportunities as well as maintain and grow existing lines of business. 

In 2022, development activities at the Port included the signing of an agreement for the development and construction of a 125-acre vehicle 
importation and processing center.  The proposed $114.5 million facility is being developed on a site being leased from the Port and will be 
financed by the developer of the facility.  The facility is currently scheduled for completion in the first quarter of 2024 and is intended to 
serve as Volkswagen Group of Americas Gulf Coast hub.  Additionally, the Port continued construction of a $145.9 million expansion of 
Velasco Container Terminal along with land acquisition efforts in the east end of the City of Freeport to support the expansion of the Port’s 
Velasco Terminal. 



 

20  

The Port’s fiscal year 2022 adopted budget provides insight to the future capital improvement plan, which is described below and on the 
following page. The budgeted capital improvement plan is continually evaluated for timing, funding, and business need and is subject to 
change. The following is a summary of the capital improvement plan provided in the 2022 adopted budget: 

 

 
__________ 
(1) Includes the Bonds. 
(2) Represents capital related to logistics infrastructure to serve Original Equipment Manufacturer and other tenants.   
(3) The information contained in this table constitutes “forward-looking statements.”  The capital improvements actually undertaken by the Port may vary 

from the budgeted amounts shown in the table based on a number of factors, including the needs and level of growth in the petrochemical industry, 
international trade policy, and the pace of growth in the County.  The information presented in the table involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties, 
and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance and achievements to be different from future results, performance and achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 

 
OTHER RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN THE PORT 
 
In June, 2013 the Port opened the first phase of the Velasco Container Terminal Berth 7 and improvements to existing Port facilities to 
establish an automobile and heavy equipment-processing terminal. 
 
The Port began construction of Berth 8 of the Velasco Container Terminal expansion in the second quarter of 2020 with a planned cost of 
$115.8 million. In May of 2021 the Port Commission approved a $24.9 million Roll On Roll Off ramp addition to the Berth 8 project 
increasing the flexibility of the berth.  The project is expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2023. Five acres of backland to support 
the berth has also been completed at a cost of $4.9 million. Costs associated with this phase of the Velasco Container Terminal expansion 
are $180.8 million, scheduled over the next three years and includes the acquisition of two (2) additional ship-to-shore gantry cranes. A 
combination of public and private funding sources is anticipated to fund this project. 
 
A levee stabilization project was implemented that will increase safety and improve navigation within the Freeport Harbor Channel. This 
project will benefit the expanding Velasco Container Terminal and overall utilization of the entire port. This project was funded in 2019 with 
the Port revenue bonds and was completed in the second quarter of 2021. 
 
Phase I construction of a project to expand port rail facilities was completed in the second quarter of 2019 at an estimated cost of $25 million. 
Development of 20 acres of paved vehicle and heavy equipment storage adjacent to the rail facility was completed in July 2020 at an estimated 
cost $8.1M. Phase II of the rail development is slated to begin in the second quarter of 2023 and will be financed through a combination of 
Port revenue and grants.  
 
In 2004, Freeport LNG Development, L.P. (FLNG) received approval from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) for 
construction of a re-gas facility to receive and store imported liquefied natural gas (LNG), convert the product back to a gas form and transport 
it to commercial and industrial users via pipeline. This facility was completed and placed in operation in the second quarter of 2008. With 
the announcement of shale oil and gas activities in Texas and other regions of the United States, FLNG refocused its operations on the 
exportation of LNG and after receiving FERC approval completed construction of three new LNG trains on Quintana Island. Train 1 delivered 
its first commissioning shipment on August 30, 2019 and all three trains have since entered commercial operations. FLNG has also received 
FERC approval for a fourth train and they are seeking commercial terms with potential customers. When fully operational, these trains have 
a capacity to liquefy over 2 billion cubic feet per day (BCFD) of natural gas. FLNG liquefaction operations have been offline since June 8, 
2022 stemming from a plant incident that involved the ignition of a natural gas vapor cloud and subsequent fire. FLNG has been working 
through the regulatory steps to restart the facility. In a December 23, 2022 press release, FLNG indicated that it expected to commence the 
restart of the facility in the second half of January 2023.  The interruption of operations at FLNG resulted in the Port receiving reduced 
operating revenues from FLNG during 2022.  However, receipts from the Port’s business interruption insurance offset most of the losses in 
operating revenues.  After taking into account business interruption insurance payments, the suspension of operations has had a minimal 
impact on the Port’ operating revenues.  The Port does not currently expect that the damage to the facility will have a material impact on the 
Port’s ad valorem tax receipts. 
 
In response to the aforementioned oil and gas shale activities, Tenaris Global Services (U.S.A.) Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Tenaris, S.A., began construction in 2015 of a seamless pipe fabrication facility located in Bay City, Texas. Operations commenced in the 
fourth quarter of 2017 and are generating revenues to the Port from both cargo handling and leasing activities. The Port received a portion of 
the plant’s finished products for short-term storage at the Port. The Port is receiving imports of raw materials in the form of steel billets that 
are being transported to the production facility.  

  

2023(1) 2024 2025 2026 2027 Total

Freeport Harbor Channel Imp. 60,932,681$   750,000$        750,000$        1,030,000$     750,000$        64,212,681$   
Velasco Terminal 55,298,650     6,000,000       52,000,000     43,800,000     98,600,000     255,698,650   

OEM Logistics(2) 11,096,050     4,000,000       -                  15,096,050     
Other 5,600,700       5,731,500       3,613,000       426,000          596,500          15,967,700     

Total(3)
132,928,081$ 16,481,500$   56,363,000$   45,256,000$   99,946,500$   350,975,081$ 



 

21  

CYBER SECURITY 
 
Computer networks and data transmission and collection are vital to the safe and efficient operations of the Port. The Port collects and stores 
sensitive data, including intellectual property, security information, proprietary business information, information regarding customers, 
suppliers and business partners, and personally identifiable information of customers, partners and employees. The secure processing, 
maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to industry operations. Despite security measures, information technology and 
infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions. While the Port 
deploys layered technologies and requires employees to receive cybersecurity training, as required by State law, among other efforts, 
cybersecurity breaches could cause material disruptions to the Port’s finances or operations. Any such breach could compromise networks 
and the information stored there could be disrupted, accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such disruption, access, disclosure or 
other loss of information could result in disruptions in the efficiency of commerce, legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that 
protect the privacy of personal information, regulatory penalties, or disruptions in operations and the services provided, which could 
ultimately adversely affect the Port’s reputation and revenues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

22  

[INSERT MAP OF PORT FACILITIES] 
  



 

23  

TABLE 9 – TEN YEAR CARGO QUANTITIES ANALYSIS 
 

 
_____________ 
  

Source: Port Freeport. 
(1) Components: Containerized Fruit/Palletized Fruit. 
(2) Misc./General Cargoes - Components: Roll Paper, Cotton, Automobiles, Empty Containers, Nickel Ore. 
(3) Components: Aggregate. 
(4) Components: Liquefied Natural Gas, Liquid Bulk Naphtha. 
(5) Components: Windpower Components, Steel Rail, Pipe, Industry Project Components. 
(6) Components: Automobiles, Equipment. 
 
 
TABLE 10 – CONTAINER TRAFFIC STATISTICS 
 

  
_______________ 
Source: Port Freeport. 
(1)  Twenty-Foot Equivalent Units. 
 

Cargo Quantities Percent Total
Short Tons Port Tonnage

Rice 1,918,163                 3.38%

Bananas and Misc. Fruit (1) 3,379,763                 5.96%

Misc./General Cargo (2) 4,906,261                 8.65%

Dry Bulk Material (3) 8,877,987                 15.65%

Liquid Bulk Material (4) 32,924,446               58.05%

Project Cargo (5) 318,710                    0.56%
Steel Products 2,313,888                 4.08%

RoRo(6) 2,081,061                 3.67%

56,720,279               100.00%

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2013 through 2022

Fiscal
Year Inbound Outbound

9/30 T.E.U.(1) T.E.U.(1) Total
2018 43,886 43,992 87,878 (12.07) %
2019 55,809 55,793 111,602 27.00
2020 56,515 55,876 112,391 0.71
2021 43,191 44,583 87,774 (21.90)
2022 41,268 44,362 85,630 (2.44)

Percent

From Prior Year

Growth/(Reduction)



 

24  

TABLE 11 – CARGO TRAFFIC STATISTICS 
 

 
__________ 
Source: Port Freeport 
(1) Components: Containerized Fruit/Palletized Fruit. 
(2) Misc./General Cargoes - Components:  Roll Paper, Cotton, Empty Containers, Nickel Ore. 
(3) Components: Aggregate. 
(4) Components: Liquefied Natural Gas, Liquid Bulk Naphtha. 
(5) Components: Windpower Components, Industry Project Components. 
(6) Components: Automobiles, Equipment. 

 
RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
Profit Sharing Plan. . . The Port provides a flexible, non-standardized safe harbor profit sharing plan (the “Plan”), defined contribution type, 
for the benefit of its employees that is administered by MassMutual Financial Group. The Port Commission appoints the trustee. The Plan 
covers all full-time employees that have worked a consecutive twelve (12) month period. Participants become fully vested after five years of 
service. 
 

The Port’s contribution to the Plan is determined annually and is limited to the amount allowable under the Internal Revenue Code.   The 
Port contributed $191,266 and $196,550  to the Plan for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. Participants do not contribute to the plan. 
The Plan has met the ERISA minimum funding requirements. See APPENDIX B – EXCERPTS FROM THE PORT FREEPORT ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT, note 13. 
 
Deferred Compensation Plan. . . The Port also offers its employees a deferred compensation plan (the “457 Plan”), which is administered 
by MassMutual Financial Group. The Port Commission appoints the trustee. The 457 Plan is available to all full- time employees that have 
worked a consecutive twelve (12) month period. Contributions made by participants vest immediately; however, contributions made by the 
Port vest over a period of five years. 
 
Participants may contribute up to the amount allowable under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The Port matches participant 
contributions up to 3% of the participant’s base wages as defined in the 457 Plan. The Port contributed $80,644 and $80,148 to the 457 Plan 
for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. The 457 Plan has met the ERISA minimum funding requirements. See APPENDIX B – 
EXCERPTS FROM THE PORT FREEPORT ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT, note 13. 
 
 

INVESTMENTS 
 
The Port invests its investable funds (including bond proceeds and money pledged to the payment of or as security for bonds or other 
indebtedness issued by the Port or obligations under a lease, installment sale, or other agreement of the Port) in investments authorized by 
Texas law in accordance with investment policies approved by the Commission. Both state law and the Port’s investment policies are subject 
to change. 
  

Short Tons    % Short Tons    % Short Tons    % Short Tons    % Short Tons    %
Rice 275,988 2 117,648 1 143,450 2 128,993 5 150,410 6 

Bananas/Misc. Fruit(1) 364,390 3 282,584 2 264,253 3 320,093 11 335,275 14 

Misc./General Cargo (2) 355,983 3 471,072 3 664,259 8 606,247 21 395,046 17 

Dry Bulk Material (3) 448,346 3 441,269 3 652,690 8 967,173 34 866,163 37 

Liquid Bulk Material (4) 10,331,027 80 14,877,655 87 6,325,056 73 140,773 5 7,815 0 

Project Cargo (5) 67,962 1 10,816 0 54,848 1 6,127 0 33,420 1 
Steel Products 735,992 6 423,443 2 308,787 4 378,782 13 305,143 13 

RoRo(6) 415,073 3 411,442 2 288,857 3 274,224 10 233,675 10 
Annual Port Tonnage 12,994,761 100% 17,035,929 100% 8,702,200 100% 2,822,412 100% 2,326,947 100%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
20182022 201920202021



 

25  

LEGAL INVESTMENTS 
 
Under State law, the Port is authorized to invest in (1) obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies and 
instrumentalities, including the Federal Home Loan Banks; (2) direct obligations of the State or its agencies and instrumentalities; (3) 
collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United States, the underlying security for 
which is guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States; (4) other obligations, the principal and interest of which are 
unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of, the State or the United States or their respective agencies 
and instrumentalities, including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or by the 
explicit full faith and credit of the United States; (5) obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any 
state rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than “A” or its equivalent; (6) bonds issued, 
assumed or guaranteed by the State of Israel; (7) interest-bearing banking deposits that are guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation or its successor, or the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or its successor; (8) interest-bearing banking 
deposits other than those described by clause (7) if (A) the funds invested in the banking deposits are invested through: (i) a broker with a 
main office or branch office in this State that the Port selects from a list the Commission or a designated investment committee of the Port 
adopts as required by Section 2256.025, Texas Government Code; or (ii) a depository institution with a main office or branch office in the 
State that the Port selects; (B) the broker or depository institution selected as described by (A) above arranges for the deposit of the funds in 
the banking deposits in one or more federally insured depository institutions, regardless of where located, for the Port’s account; (C) the full 
amount of the principal and accrued interest of the banking deposits is insured by the United States or an instrumentality of the United States; 
and (D) the Port appoints as the Port’s custodian of the banking deposits issued for the Port’s account: (i) the depository institution selected 
as described by (A) above; (ii) an entity described by Section 2257.041(d), Texas Government Code; or (iii) a clearing broker dealer registered 
with the SEC and operating under SEC Rule 15c3-3; (9) (i) certificates of deposit or share certificates meeting the requirements of Chapter 
2256, Texas Government Code (the “Public Funds Investment Act”), that are issued by an institution that has its main office or a branch 
office in the State and are guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union Share Insurance 
Fund, or their respective successors, and are secured as to principal by obligations described in clauses (1) through (8) or in any other manner 
and provided for by law for Port deposits, or (ii) certificates of deposits where (a) the funds are invested by the Port through (A) a broker that 
has its main office or a branch office in the State and is selected from a list adopted by the Port as required by law, or (B) a depository 
institution that has its main office or branch office in the State that is selected by the Port, (b) the broker or the depository institution selected 
by the Port arranges for the deposit of the funds in certificates of deposit in one or more federally insured depository institutions, wherever 
located, for the account of the Port, (c) the full amount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the certificates of deposit is insured by 
the United States or an instrumentality of the United States, and (d) the Port appoints the depository institution selected under (a) above, a 
custodian as described by Section 2257.041(d), Texas Government Code, or a clearing broker-dealer registered with the SEC and operating 
pursuant to SEC Rule 15c3-3 (17 C.F.R. Section 240.15c3-3) as custodian for the Port with respect to the certificates of deposit; (10) fully 
collateralized repurchase agreements as defined in the Public Funds Investment Act, that have a defined termination date, are secured by a 
combination of cash and obligations described in clauses (1) or (13) in this paragraph , require the securities being purchased by the Port or 
cash held by the Port to be pledged to the Port, held in the Port’s name, and deposited at the time the investment is made with the Port or with 
a third party selected and approved by the Port, and are placed through a primary government securities dealer, as defined by the Federal 
Reserve, or a financial institution doing business in the State; (11) securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned under the program 
are 100% collateralized, a loan made under the program allows for termination at any time and a loan made under the program is either 
secured by (a) obligations that are described in clauses (1) through (8) above, (b) irrevocable letters of credit issued by a state or national 
bank that is continuously rated by a nationally recognized investment rating firm at not less than “A” or its equivalent or (c) cash invested in 
obligations described in clauses (1) through (8) above, clauses (13) through (15) below, or an authorized investment pool; (ii) securities held 
as collateral under a loan are pledged to the Port, held in the Port’s name and deposited at the time the investment is made with the Port or a 
third party designated by the Port; (iii) a loan made under the program is placed through either a primary government securities dealer or a 
financial institution doing business in the State; and (iv) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or less; (12) certain bankers’ 
acceptances with stated maturity of 270 days or less, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank or its parent are rated not less than 
“A-1” or “P-1” or the equivalent by at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency; (13) commercial paper with a stated maturity of 
365 days or less that is rated not less than “A-1” or “P-1” or the equivalent by either (a) two nationally recognized credit rating agencies or 
(b) one nationally recognized credit rating agency if the paper is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a United States or 
state bank; (14) no-load money market mutual funds registered with and regulated by the SEC that provide the Port with a prospectus and 
other information required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Investment Company Act of 1940 and that comply with federal 
SEC Rule 2a-7 (17 C.F.R. Section 270.2a-7), promulgated under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Section 80a-1 et seq.); 
and (15) no-load mutual funds registered with the SEC that have an average weighted maturity of less than two years, and have either (a) a 
duration of one year or more and invest exclusively in obligations described in under this heading, or (b) a duration of less than one year and 
the investment portfolio is limited to investment grade securities, excluding asset-backed securities. In addition, bond proceeds may be 
invested in guaranteed investment contracts that have a defined termination date and are secured by obligations, including letters of credit, 
of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities, other than the prohibited obligations described below, in an amount at least equal 
to the amount of bond proceeds invested under such contract. 
  



 

26  

A political subdivision such as the Port may enter into securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned under the program are 100% 
collateralized, a loan made under the program allows for termination at any time and a loan made under the program is either secured by (a) 
obligations that are described in clauses (1) through (8) above, (b) irrevocable letters of credit issued by a state or national bank that is 
continuously rated by a nationally recognized investment rating firm at not less than A or its equivalent or (c) cash invested in obligations 
described in clauses (1) through (8) above, clauses (13) through (15) above, or an authorized investment pool; (ii) securities held as collateral 
under a loan are pledged to the Port, held in the Port’s name and deposited at the time the investment is made with the Port or a third party 
designated by the Port; (iii) a loan made under the program is placed through either a primary government securities dealer or a financial 
institution doing business in the State; and (iv) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or less. 
 
The Port may invest in such obligations directly or through government investment pools that invest solely in such obligations provided that 
the pools are rated no lower than “AAA” or “AAAm” or an equivalent by at least one nationally recognized rating service. The Port may also 
contract with an investment management firm registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Section 80b-1 et seq.) or 
with the State Securities Board to provide for the investment and management of its public funds or other funds under its control for a term 
up to two years, but the Port retains ultimate responsibility as fiduciary of its assets. In order to renew or extend such a contract, the Port must 
do so by order, ordinance, or resolution. 
 
The Port is specifically prohibited from investing in: (1) obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the outstanding 
principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal; (2) obligations whose payment represents the 
principal stream of cash flow from the underlying mortgage-backed security and bears no interest; (3) collateralized mortgage obligations 
that have a stated final maturity of greater than 10 years; and (4) collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which is determined 
by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index. 
 
INVESTMENT POLICIES 
 
Under State law, the Port is required to invest its funds under written investment policies that primarily emphasize safety of principal and 
liquidity; that address investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability of investment management; and that include 
a list of authorized investments for Port funds, the maximum allowable stated maturity of any individual investment, the maximum average 
dollar-weighted maturity allowed for pooled fund groups, methods to monitor the market price of investments acquired with public funds, a 
requirement for settlement of all transactions, except investment pool funds and mutual funds, on a delivery versus payment basis, and 
procedures to monitor rating changes in investments acquired with public funds and the liquidation of such investments consistent with the 
Public Funds Investment Act. All Port funds must be invested consistent with a formally adopted “Investment Strategy Statement” that 
specifically addresses each fund’s investment. Each Investment Strategy Statement will describe its objectives concerning: (1) suitability of 
investment type, (2) preservation and safety of principal, (3) liquidity, (4) marketability of each investment, (5) diversification of the portfolio, 
and (6) yield. 
 
Under State law, the Port’s investments must be made “with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person of prudence, 
discretion, and intelligence would exercise in the management of the person’s own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering 
the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived.” At least quarterly the investment officers of the Port shall submit an 
investment report detailing: (1) the investment position of the Port, (2) that all investment officers jointly prepared and signed the report, (3) 
the beginning market value, any additions and changes to market value and the ending value of each pooled fund group, (4) the book value 
and market value of each separately listed asset at the beginning and end of the reporting period, (5) the maturity date of each separately 
invested asset, (6) the account or fund or pooled fund group for which each individual investment was acquired, and (7) the compliance of 
the investment portfolio as it relates to: (a) adopted investment strategy statements and (b) state law. No person may invest Port funds without 
express written authority from the Commission. 
 
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 
 
Under State law, the Port is additionally required to: (1) annually review its adopted policies and strategies; (2) adopt a written instrument by 
rule, order, ordinance or resolution stating that it has reviewed its investment policy and investment strategies and recording any changes 
made to either its investment policy or investment strategy; (3) require any investment officers with personal business relationships or 
relatives with firms seeking to sell securities to the Port to disclose the relationship and file a statement with the Texas Ethics Commission 
and the Commission; (4) require the qualified representative of firms offering to engage in an investment transaction with the Port to: (a) 
receive and review the Port’s investment policy, (b) acknowledge that reasonable controls and procedures have been implemented to preclude 
investment transactions conducted between the Port and the business organization that are not authorized by the Port’s investment policy 
(except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an analysis of the makeup of the Port’s entire portfolio or requires an interpretation 
of subjective investment standards), and (c) deliver a written statement in a form acceptable to the Port and the business organization attesting 
to these requirements; (5) perform an annual audit of the management controls on investments and adherence to the Port’s investment policy; 
(6) provide specific investment training for the treasurer, chief financial officer and investment officers; (7) restrict reverse repurchase 
agreements to not more than 90 days and restrict the investment of reverse repurchase agreement funds to no greater than the term of the 
reverse repurchase agreement; (8) restrict the investment in no-load mutual funds in the aggregate to no more than 15% of the Port’s monthly 
average fund balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for debt service; (9) require local government investment 
pools to conform to the new disclosure, rating, net asset value, yield calculation, and advisory board requirements; and (10) at least annually 
review, revise and adopt a list of qualified brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions with the Port. 
 



 

27  

The Port’s investment policy expressly provides that (a) money market mutual funds are not authorized investments for (i) any portion of 
bond proceeds, reserves or funds held for debt service or (ii) the aggregate of more than 80 percent of the monthly average of any fund 
balance, excluding bond proceeds, reserves or funds held for debt service, and (b) the following types of investments are not authorized 
investments: (i) interest only or principal only steps of obligations with underlying mortgage- backed security collateral; and (ii) collateralized 
mortgage obligations with a maturity date of greater than ten (10) years or with an inverse floating interest rate. 
 
TABLE 12 – CURRENT INVESTMENTS   
 
As of December 31, 2022, the Port’s investable funds were invested in the following categories: 
 

 
 
 

INFECTIOUS DISEASE OUTBREAK – COVID-19 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization and the President of the United States separately declared the outbreak of a respiratory disease 
cause by novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) to be a public health emergency. There are currently no COVID-19 related operating limits 
imposed by executive order of the Governor for any business or other establishment in the State. The Governor retains the right to impose 
additional restrictions on activities if needed in order to mitigate the effects of COVID-19.  
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the Port’s overall unaudited operating income was approximately 147% of budgeted operating 
income. The Port’s total operating revenues for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022 was $47,284,269 compared with total operating 
revenues of $39,663,021 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021. Total operating expenses for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022 
were $20,131,628 compared with $19,378,971 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.  
 
The financial and operating data contained herein is as of the date and for the periods specified herein.  
 
The Port cannot predict the long-term economic effect of COVID-19 or a similar virus should there be a reversal of economic activity and 
re-imposition of restrictions. 
 
 

WEATHER EVENTS 
 

WEATHER EVENTS 
 
The Port is located on the Texas Gulf Coast. Land located in this area is susceptible to, and the Port has experienced on several occasions in 
the last five years, high winds, heavy rain and flooding caused by rain events, hurricanes, tropical storms, and other tropical disturbances. If 
a future weather-related event significantly damages all or part of the improvements within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port, the Port’s 
assessed value of property could be substantially reduced, which could result in a decrease in tax revenues and/or necessitate an increase in 
the Port’s tax rate. Further, there can be no assurance that a casualty loss to taxable property within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port will be 
covered by insurance (or property owners will choose to carry flood insurance), any insurance company will fulfill its obligations to provide 
insurance proceeds or that insurance proceeds will be used to rebuild or repair damaged taxable improvements within the Port. Even if 
insurance proceeds are available and improvements are rebuilt, there could be a period of time in which assessed values would be adversely 
affected. 
 
  

Percent
Description Amount of Total Market Value

Cash and Money Market Funds 3,306,167$     4.193% 3,306,167$     
Local Government Investment Pool 40,306,201 51.123% 40,306,201     
U.S. Treasuries 2,370,000 3.006% 2,225,434       
U.S. Government Bonds 32,859,000 41.677% 32,127,429     
Total 78,841,368$   100.000% 77,965,231$   



 

28  

AIR QUALITY STANDARDS 
 
Air quality control measures required by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) and the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (“TCEQ”) may curtail new industrial, commercial and residential development in the County. Under the Clean Air 
Act (“CAA”) Amendments of 1990, the eight county Houston Galveston-Brazoria Area (the “HGB Area”) has been designated by the EPA 
as a non-attainment area under three separate federal ozone standards:  the one-hour (124 parts per billion (“ppb”)) and eight-hour (84 ppb) 
standards promulgated by the EPA in 1997 (the “1997 Ozone Standards”); the more rigorous, eight-hour ozone standard of 75 ppb 
promulgated by the EPA in 2008 (the “2008 Ozone Standard”), and the EPA’s most-recent promulgation of an even lower, 70 ppb eight-
hour ozone standard in 2015 (the “2015 Ozone Standard”).  While the State has been able to demonstrate steady progress and improvements 
in air quality in the HGB Area, the HGB Area remained subject to CAA nonattainment requirements. 
 
In a final rule that became effective on March 16, 2020, the EPA determined that the HGB Area had met the CAA criteria for redesignation 
to attainment status under the 1997 Ozone Standards and EPA terminated the obligations that had applied in the HGB Area under the 1997 
Ozone Standards.  However, the HGB Area remains designated as a nonattainment area under the 2008 and 2015 Ozone Standards and the 
TCEQ remains obligated to demonstrate attainment with the more-stringent 2008 and 2015 Ozone Standards under the CAA.  
 
The HGB Area is currently designated as a “severe” nonattainment area under the 2008 Ozone Standard, with an attainment deadline of July 
20, 2027.  EPA issued a final rule determining that the HGB Area failed to meet the attainment deadline under its prior “serious” classification, 
effective November 7, 2022. The State will be required to submit State Implementation Plan (“SIP”) revisions to the EPA no later than 18 
months after the November 7, 2022 effective date of the final rule reclassifying the HGB Area as a “severe” nonattainment area, and any new 
emissions controls that the TCEQ determines are needed for attainment must be implemented within 36 months of November 7, 2022. The 
HGB Area could be subject to more-stringent controls on emissions from the industrial sector.  In addition, the EPA may impose a moratorium 
on the awarding of federal highway construction grants and other federal grants for certain public works construction projects if it finds that 
an area fails to demonstrate progress in reducing ozone levels. 
 
The HGB Area is currently designated as a “moderate” nonattainment area under the 2015 Ozone Standard, with an attainment deadline of 
August 3, 2024.  EPA issued a final rule determining that the HGB Area failed to meet the attainment deadline under its prior “marginal” 
classification, effective November 7, 2022.  For purposes of the 2015 Ozone Standard, the HGB Area consists of only six counties:  Brazoria, 
Chambers, Fort Bend, Galveston, Harris, and Montgomery Counties. 
 
In order to demonstrate progress toward attainment of the EPA’s ozone standards, the TCEQ has established a SIP for the HGB Area setting 
emission control requirements, some of which regulate the inspection and use of automobiles. These types of measures could impact how 
people travel, what distances people are willing to travel, where people choose to live and work, and what jobs are available in the HGB 
Area.  These SIP requirements can negatively impact business due to the additional permitting/regulatory constraints that accompany this 
designation and because of the community stigma associated with a nonattainment designation.  It is possible that additional controls will be 
necessary to allow the HGB Area to attain the ozone standards by the EPA’s attainment deadlines. These additional controls could have a 
negative impact on the HGB Area’s economic growth and development. 
 
Other constraints on economic growth and development include lawsuits filed under the CAA by plaintiffs seeking to require emission 
reduction measures that are even more stringent than those adopted by TCEQ and approved by EPA. From time to time, various plaintiff 
environmental organizations have filed lawsuits against TCEQ and EPA seeking to compel the early adoption of additional emission reduction 
measures, many of which could make it more difficult for businesses to construct or expand industrial facilities or which could result in travel 
restrictions or other limitations on the actions of businesses, governmental entities and private citizens. Any successful court challenge to the 
currently effective air emissions control plan could result in the imposition of even more stringent air emission controls that could threaten 
continued growth and development in the HGB Area. 
 
RISK TO PORT OPERATIONS AS A RESULT OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE TARIFFS 
 
In 2018, Section 232 Tariffs on steel and aluminum and Section 301 Tariffs on certain Chinese products were introduced.  The scope and 
levels of these tariffs have been adjusted many times since their initial imposition.  These tariffs and associated retaliatory tariffs by the 
affected countries have generally acted as a headwind on trade volumes at the Port but have been just one factor among many influencing 
trade volumes in 2018 to present.  Trade with the countries and products affected is continuing at a somewhat reduced level.  If these or 
similar additional tariffs are expanded in level or scope, cargo volumes at the Port’s facilities may be negatively impacted. 
 
EXPOSURE TO OIL AND GAS INDUSTRY 
 
In the past, southeast Texas has been affected by adverse conditions in the oil and gas industry, and adverse conditions in the oil and gas 
industry and spillover effects into other industries could adversely impact the businesses of ad valorem property taxpayers and the property 
values in the taxing jurisdiction of the Port, resulting in a reduction in property tax revenue. The Bonds are secured by an unlimited ad 
valorem tax, and a reduction in property values may require an increase in the ad valorem tax rate required to pay the Bonds. 
  



 

29  

CHANGING DEMAND FOR PETROCHEMICAL PRODUCTS AND CONSUMPTION 
 
Economic conditions, changing consumer preferences, decreases in consumption plastic use in the United States, environmental regulations, 
and multiple other political and regulatory issues could impact the future volume of products produced by major taxpayers within the taxing 
jurisdiction of the Port, including producers of petrochemical products. A reduction in the volume of products produced by taxpayers may 
result in reductions in investment within the Port and taxable assessed values. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND RISING SEA LEVELS 
 
Numerous scientific studies on global climate change show that, among other effects on the global ecosystem, sea levels will rise, extreme 
temperatures will become more common, and extreme weather events will become more frequent and more intense as a result of increasing 
global temperatures attributable to atmospheric pollution. Operation of major taxpayers close to the Port and infrastructure are vulnerable to 
effects of rising sea levels, extreme climate conditions, and extreme weather events, and significant capital investments may need to be made 
to address these vulnerabilities. The Port expects to be able to continue to manage its operations and construction activities to minimize the 
future effects of these occurrences and that it has the necessary capacity to adapt to these occurrences. However, no assurance can be given 
that the effects of rising sea levels will not adversely affect taxpayers or assessed valuations within the Port. 
 
 

TAX MATTERS 
 
The following discussion of certain federal income tax considerations is for general information only and is not tax advice.  Each 
prospective purchaser of the Bonds should consult its own tax advisor as to the tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and 
disposition of the Bonds. 
 
TAX EXEMPTION 
 
In the opinion of Bracewell LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law, interest on the Bonds is (i) excludable from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (ii) is not a specific preference item for 
purposes of alternative minimum tax on individuals. 
 
The Code imposes a number of requirements that must be satisfied in order for interest on state or local obligations such as the Bonds, to be 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. These requirements include, among other things, limitations on the use of the 
bond-financed project, limitations on the use of bond proceeds, limitations on the investment of bond proceeds prior to expenditure, a 
requirement that excess arbitrage earned on the investment of bond proceeds be paid periodically to the United States, and a requirement that 
the issuer file an information report with the Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”). The Port has covenanted in the Resolution that they 
will comply with these requirements. 
 
Bond Counsel’s opinion will assume continuing compliance with the covenants of the Resolution pertaining to those sections of the Code 
that affect the excludability of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes and, in addition, will rely on 
representations by the Port and other parties involved with the issuance of the Bonds with respect to matters solely within the knowledge of 
the Port, and such parties, which Bond Counsel have not independently verified. If the Port fails to comply with the covenants in the 
Resolution or if the foregoing representations should be determined to be inaccurate or incomplete, interest on the Bonds could become 
includable in gross income from the date of original delivery of the Bonds, regardless of the date on which the event causing such inclusion 
occurs. 
 
Except as stated above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to the amount of interest on the Bonds and any federal, state or local tax 
consequences resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, acquisition, ownership or disposition of, the Bonds. Certain actions may be 
taken or omitted subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Resolution upon the advice or with the approving opinion of Bond 
Counsel. Bond Counsel will express no opinion with respect to Bond Counsel’s ability to render an opinion that such actions, if taken or 
omitted, will not adversely affect the excludability of interest of the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 
 
Bond Counsel’s opinion is based on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinion is further based on Bond Counsel’s knowledge 
of facts as of the date thereof. Bond Counsel assumes no duty to update or supplement its opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that 
may thereafter come to its attention or to reflect any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective. Moreover, Bond 
Counsel’s opinion is not a guarantee of result and is not binding on the Service; rather, such opinion represents Bond Counsel’s legal judgment 
based upon its review of existing law and in reliance upon the representations and covenants referenced above that it deems relevant to such 
opinion. The Service has an ongoing audit program to determine compliance with rules that relate to whether interest on state or local 
obligations is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. No assurance can be given whether or not the Service will 
commence an audit of the Bonds. If an audit is commenced, in accordance with its current published procedures the Service is likely to treat 
the Port as the taxpayer and the Owners may not have a right to participate in such audit. Public awareness of any future audit of the Bonds 
could adversely affect the value and liquidity of the Bonds during the pendency of the audit regardless of the ultimate outcome of the audit. 
  



 

30  

ADDITIONAL FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Collateral Tax Consequences. . . Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that the ownership of tax-exempt obligations may 
result in collateral federal income tax consequences, including but not limited to those noted below.  Therefore, prospective purchasers of 
the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as to the tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Bonds. 
 
For tax years beginning after December 31, 2022, an “applicable corporation” (as defined in section 59(k) of the Code) may be subject to a 
15% alternative minimum tax imposed under section 55 of the Code on its “adjusted financial statement income” (as defined in section 56A 
of the Code) for such taxable year.  Because interest on tax-exempt obligations, such as the Bonds, is included in a corporation’s “adjusted 
financial statement income,” ownership of the Bonds could subject certain corporations to alternative minimum tax consequences. 
 
Ownership of tax-exempt obligations also may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to financial institutions, life insurance 
and property and casualty insurance companies, certain S corporations with Subchapter C earnings and profits, individual recipients of Social 
Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax 
exempt obligations, low and middle income taxpayers otherwise qualifying for the health insurance premium credit, and individuals otherwise 
qualifying for the earned income tax credit. In addition, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States may be subject to 
the “branch profits tax” on their effectively connected earnings and profits, including tax exempt interest such as interest on the Bonds. These 
categories of prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability of these consequences.  
 
Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should also be aware that, under the Code, taxpayers are required to report on their returns the amount 
of tax-exempt interest, such as interest on the Bonds, received or accrued during the year. 
 
Tax Accounting Treatment of Original Issue Premium. . . The issue price of all or a portion of the Bonds may exceed the stated redemption 
price payable at maturity of such Bonds. Such Bonds (the “Premium Bonds”) are considered for federal income tax purposes to have “bond 
premium” equal to the amount of such excess. The basis of a Premium Bond in the hands of an initial owner is reduced by the amount of 
such excess that is amortized during the period such initial owner holds such Premium Bond in determining gain or loss for federal income 
tax purposes. This reduction in basis will increase the amount of any gain or decrease the amount of any loss recognized for federal income 
tax purposes on the sale or other taxable disposition of a Premium Bond by the initial owner. No corresponding deduction is allowed for 
federal income tax purposes for the reduction in basis resulting from amortizable bond premium. The amount of bond premium on a Premium 
Bond that is amortizable each year (or shorter period in the event of a sale or disposition of a Premium Bond) is determined using the yield 
to maturity on the Premium Bond based on the initial offering price of such Premium Bond. 
 
The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and redemption, sale or other disposition of Premium Bonds that are not 
purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price may be determined according to rules that differ from those described above. All 
owners of Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the determination for federal, state, and local income tax 
purposes of amortized bond premium upon the redemption, sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond and with respect to the federal, state, 
local, and foreign tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, and sale, redemption or other disposition of such Premium Bonds. 
 
Tax Accounting Treatment of OID Bonds. . . The issue price of all or a portion of the Bonds may be less than the stated redemption price 
payable at maturity of such Bonds (the “OID Bonds”). The difference between (i) the amount payable at the maturity of each OID Bond, and 
(ii) the initial offering price to the public of such OID Bond constitutes original issue discount with respect to such OID Bond in the hands 
of any owner who has purchased such OID Bond in the initial public offering of the Bonds. Generally, such initial owner is entitled to exclude 
from gross income (as defined in Section 61 of the Code) an amount of income with respect to such OID Bond equal to that portion of the 
amount of such original issue discount allocable to the period that such OID Bond continues to be owned by such owner. Because original 
issue discount is treated as interest for federal income tax purposes, the discussions regarding interest on the Bonds under the subcaptions 
“—TAX EXEMPTION,” “—ADDITIONAL FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS—Collateral Tax Consequences,” and “—Tax Legislative 
Changes” generally apply and should be considered in connection with the discussion in this portion of the Official Statement. 
 
In the event of the redemption, sale or other taxable disposition of such OID Bond prior to stated maturity, however, the amount realized by 
such owner in excess of the basis of such OID Bond in the hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the original issue discount 
allocable to the period for which such OID Bond was held by such initial owner) is includable in gross income. 
 
The foregoing discussion assumes that (i) the Initial Purchaser has purchased the Bonds for contemporaneous sale to the public and (ii) all 
of the OID Bonds have been initially offered, and a substantial amount of each maturity thereof has been sold, to the general public in arm’s-
length transactions for a price (and with no other consideration being included) not more than the initial offering prices thereof stated on the 
inside cover page of this Official Statement. Neither the Port nor Bond Counsel has made any investigation or offers any comfort that the 
OID Bonds will be offered and sold in accordance with such assumptions. 
 
Under existing law, the original issue discount on each OID Bond accrues daily to the stated maturity thereof (in amounts calculated as 
described below for each six-month period ending on the date before the semiannual anniversary dates of the date of the Bonds and ratably 
within each such six-month period) and the accrued amount is added to an initial owner’s basis for such OID Bond for purposes of determining 
the amount of gain or loss recognized by such owner upon the redemption, sale or other disposition thereof. The amount to be added to basis 
for each accrual period is equal to (i) the sum of the issue price and the amount of original issue discount accrued in prior periods multiplied 
by the yield to stated maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for the 
length of the accrual period) less (ii) the amounts payable as current interest during such accrual period on such OID Bond. 



 

31  

 
The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, and redemption, sale or other disposition of OID Bonds which are not 
purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price may be determined according to rules which differ from those described above. 
All owners of OID Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the determination for federal, state, and local income tax 
purposes of interest accrued upon redemption, sale or other disposition of such OID Bonds and with respect to the federal, state, local and 
foreign tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition of such OID Bonds. 

 
Tax Legislative Changes. . . Current law may change so as to directly or indirectly reduce or eliminate the benefit of the excludability of 
interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Any proposed legislation, whether or not enacted, could also affect 
the value and liquidity of the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to any 
recently enacted, proposed, pending or future legislation. 
 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
 
In the Resolution, the Port has made the following agreement for the benefit of the registered and beneficial owners of the Bonds. The Port 
is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains an “obligated person” with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of Rule 
15c2-12 of the SEC (the “Rule”), except that the Port in any event will give notice of any deposit that causes the Bonds no longer to be 
outstanding. Under the agreement, the Port will be obligated to provide certain updated financial information and operating data annually 
and timely notice of specified events to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”). This information will be publicly available 
on the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”) at http://emma.msrb.org. 
 
ANNUAL REPORTS 
 
The Port shall provide annually to the MSRB, within six (6) months after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Port ending in or after 2023, 
financial information and operating data with respect to the Port of the general type included in the Official Statement under Tables 1 through 
5, 7 through 12 and including financial statements of the Port if audited financial statements of the Port are then available. Any financial 
statements so to be provided shall be (i) prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in the rules to the financial statements 
for the most recently concluded Fiscal Year, or such other accounting principles as the Port may be required to employ, from time to time, 
by State law or regulation, and (ii) audited, if the Port commissions an audit of such statements and the audit is completed within the period 
during which they must be provided. If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months after any such fiscal year end, 
then the Port shall file unaudited financial statements within such 12-month period and audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal 
year, when and if the audit report on such statements becomes available. 
 
The Port may provide updated information in full text or may incorporate by reference documents available on EMMA or filed with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The financial information or operating data shall be provided in an electronic form as 
prescribed by the MSRB. 
 
The Port’s current fiscal year end is September 30. Accordingly, it must provide updated information by March 31 in each year following 
the end of its fiscal year, unless the Port changes its fiscal year. If the Port changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and 
of the date of the new Fiscal Year end) prior to the next date by which the Port otherwise would be required to provide financial information 
and operating data pursuant to this agreement. 
 
EVENT NOTICES 
 
The Port will also provide to the MSRB notices of certain events on a timely basis no later than 10 business days after the event. The Port 
will provide notice of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds: (1) principal and interest payment delinquencies; (2) non-
payment related defaults, if material; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (4) unscheduled draws 
on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; (6) adverse 
tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS 
Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting 
the tax status of the Bonds; (7) modifications to rights of holders of the Bonds, if material; (8) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; (9) 
defeasances; (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; (11) rating changes; (12) bankruptcy, 
insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the Port; (13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Port or 
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Port, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into of a definitive agreement 
to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than  pursuant to its terms, if 
material; (14) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of the trustee, if material; (15) incurrence of a financial 
obligation of the Port, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial 
obligation of the Port, any of which affect security holders, if material; and (16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification 
of terms, or other similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of the Port, any of which reflect financial difficulties. 
  



 

32  

For these purposes, (A) any event described in clause (12) in the immediately preceding paragraph is considered to occur when any of the 
following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the Port in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy 
Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the Port, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and 
officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the Port, (B) as used in clauses (15) and (16) in the immediately preceding paragraph, “financial 
obligation” means a (i) debt obligation, (ii) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of 
payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation, or (iii) guarantee of a debt obligation or any such derivative instrument; provided that 
“financial obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement (as defined in the Rule) has been provided 
to the MSRB consistent with the Rule, and (C) the Port intends the words used in clauses (15) and (16) and the definition of financial 
obligation to have the meanings ascribed to them in SEC Release No. 34-83885 dated August 20, 2018 (the “2018 Release”) and any further 
written guidance provided by the SEC or its staff with respect to the amendments to the Rule effected by the 2018 Release.  
 
In addition, the Port will provide to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner, notice of any failure 
by the Port to provide information and operating data in accordance with its agreement described above under “– ANNUAL REPORTS.”  
 
All documents provided to the MSRB shall be accompanied by identifying information, as prescribed by the MSRB. 
 
LIMITATIONS AND AMENDMENTS 
 
The Port has agreed to update information and to provide notices of material events only as described above. The Port has not agreed to 
provide other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of its financial results of operations, condition, or 
prospects or agreed to update any information that is provided, except as described above. The Port makes no representation or warranty 
concerning such information or concerning its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future date. The Port disclaims any 
contractual or tort liability for damages resulting in whole or in part from any breach of its continuing disclosure agreement or from any 
statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders of Bonds may seek a writ of mandamus to compel the Port to comply with its 
agreement. 
 
The Port may amend its continuing disclosure agreement from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in 
legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the Port, but only if (i)  the agreement, 
as amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Bonds in the offering described herein in compliance with the Rule, 
taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed circumstances, 
and (ii) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds consent to the amendment or (b) a person 
unaffiliated with the Port (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that the amendment will not materially impair the interests 
of the registered and beneficial owners of the Bonds. The Port may also repeal or amend the provisions of this agreement if the SEC amends 
or repeals the applicable provisions of the Rule  or any court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, 
and the Port also may amend the provisions of its continuing disclosure agreement in its discretion in any other manner or circumstance, but 
in either case only if and to the extent that the provisions of this sentence would not have prevented an underwriter from lawfully purchasing 
or selling the Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds, giving effect to (a) such provisions as so amended and (b) any amendments or 
interpretations of the Rule. If the Port so amends the agreement, it has agreed to include with the next financial information and operating 
data provided in accordance with its agreement described above under “—ANNUAL REPORTS” an explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons 
for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information and operating data so provided. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS 
 
The Port filed annual financial information for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2019 before the deadline of March 31, 2020, but the 
filings were not linked to certain nine digit CUSIPs associated with certain maturities of the Port’s General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019 
(Non-AMT). The filings have subsequently been linked to the nine-digit CUSIPs.  In connection with the issuance of the Port’s General 
Obligation Bonds, Series 2019 (Non-AMT), the Port agreed to provide information on the Port’s Authorized but Unissued General Obligation 
Debt.  The Port’s comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 that was filed with EMMA contained 
information regarding the Port’s voter authorized general obligation debt and the amount of general obligation debt issued by the Port, but it 
did not include a calculation of the Port’s authorized but unissued general obligation debt.  The Port filed a failure to file notice on January 
25, 2021 that included the calculation of the Port’s authorized but unissued general obligation debt. 
 
  



 

33  

OTHER INFORMATION 
 
RATING 
 
The Bonds and currently outstanding bonds of the Port are rated “_____” by Moody’s. An explanation of the significance of the rating may 
be obtained from Moody’s. The rating reflects only the view of Moody’s and the Port makes no representation as to the appropriateness of 
the rating. There is no assurance that the rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn 
entirely by Moody’s, if in the judgment of Moody’s, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of the rating may 
have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. 
 
LITIGATION 
 
The Port is not aware of any pending litigation against the Port that would have a material adverse financial impact upon the Port or its 
operations. 
 
REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION OF BONDS FOR SALE 
 
The sale of the Bonds has not been registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon the exemption provided 
thereunder by Section 3(a)(2); and the Bonds have not been qualified under the Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon various exemptions 
contained therein; nor have the Bonds been qualified under the securities acts of any jurisdiction. The Port assumes no responsibility for 
qualification of the Bonds under the securities laws of any jurisdiction in which the Bonds may be sold, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or 
otherwise transferred. This disclaimer of responsibility for qualification for sale or other disposition of the Bonds shall not be construed as 
an interpretation of any kind with regard to the availability of any exemption from securities registration provisions. 
 
LEGAL INVESTMENTS AND ELIGIBILITY TO SECURE PUBLIC FUNDS IN TEXAS 
 
Section 1201.041 of the Public Security Procedures Act (Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code) provides that the Bonds are negotiable 
instruments governed by Chapter 8, Texas Business and Commerce Code, and are legal and authorized investments for insurance companies, 
fiduciaries, and trustees, and for the sinking funds of municipalities or other political subdivisions or public agencies of the State of Texas. 
With respect to investment in the Bonds by municipalities or other political subdivisions or public agencies of the State of Texas, the Public 
Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, requires that the Bonds be assigned a rating of “A” or its equivalent as to 
investment quality by a national rating agency. See “OTHER INFORMATION - RATING” herein. In addition, various provisions of the Texas 
Finance Code provide that, subject to a prudent investor standard, the Bonds are legal investments for state banks, savings banks, trust 
companies with at capital of one million dollars or more, and savings and loan associations. The Bonds are eligible to secure deposits of any 
public funds of the State, its agencies, and its political subdivisions, and are legal security for those deposits to the extent of their market 
value. 
 
The Port has not investigated other laws, rules, regulations or investment criteria which might apply to any such institutions or entities or 
which might limit the suitability of the Bonds for any of the foregoing purposes or limit the authority of institutions or entities to purchase or 
invest in the Bonds for such purposes and the Port has not made a review of laws in other states to determine whether the Bonds are legal 
investments for various institutions in those states. 
 
LEGAL MATTERS 
 
The delivery of the Bonds is subject to the approving opinion of the Attorney General of Texas and the legal opinion of Bracewell LLP, 
Houston, Texas, Bond Counsel, as to the validity of the Bonds under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, and the excludability 
of interest on the Bonds from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal tax purposes.  The form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set 
forth in APPENDIX C.  The opinion of Bond Counsel will be based upon an examination of a transcript of certain proceedings taken by the 
Port incident to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds.  The fees of Bond Counsel for its services with respect to the Bonds are contingent 
upon the issuance and delivery of the Bonds.  
 
In its capacity as Bond Counsel, Bracewell LLP, Houston, Texas, has not independently verified any of the factual information contained in 
this Official Statement nor have they conducted an investigation of the affairs of the Port for the purpose of passing upon the accuracy or 
completeness of this Official Statement. Bond Counsel’s role in connection with the Official Statement was limited to reviewing the 
information describing the Bonds in the Official Statement to verify that such descriptions conform to the provisions of the Resolution. No 
person is entitled to rely upon such firm’s limited participation as an assumption of responsibility for, or an expression of opinion of any kind 
with regard to, the accuracy or completeness of any of the information contained herein. 
 
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by Bracewell LLP in its capacity as Disclosure Counsel. The payment of legal 
fees to Disclosure Counsel in connection with the issuance of the Bonds is contingent on the sale and delivery of the Bonds. 
  



 

34  

The legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds express the professional judgment of the respective attorneys 
rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. In rendering a legal opinion, the attorney does not become an insurer 
or guarantor of that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of the parties to the 
transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 
 
FINANCIAL ADVISOR 
 
Masterson Advisors LLC, is employed as Financial Advisor to the Port in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. The Financial Advisor’s 
fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Bonds is contingent upon the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. Masterson Advisors 
LLC, in its capacity as Financial Advisor, does not assume any responsibility for the information, covenants and representations contained 
in any of the legal documents with respect to the federal income tax status of the Bonds, or the possible impact of any present, pending or 
future actions taken by any legislative or judicial bodies. 
 
The Financial Advisor to the Port has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Financial Advisor has 
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to the Port and, as applicable, to 
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Financial Advisor does not 
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 
 
INITIAL PURCHASER 
 
After requesting competitive bids for the Bonds, the Port accepted the bid of _______________ (the "Initial Purchaser") to purchase the 
Bonds at the interest rates shown on the (inside) cover page of the Official Statement at a price of ________________ of par plus a cash 
premium of $_______________.  The Initial Purchaser can give no assurance that any trading market will be developed for the Bonds after 
their sale by the Port to the Initial Purchaser.  The Port has no control over the price at which the Bonds are subsequently sold and the initial 
yield at which the Bonds will be priced and reoffered will be established by and will be the responsibility of the Initial Purchaser. 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS DISCLAIMER 
 
The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other information provided by the Port, that are not purely historical, are 
forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the Port’s expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies regarding the future. 
Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement 
are based on information available to the Port on the date hereof, and the Port assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking 
statements. The Port’s actual results could differ materially from those discussed in such forward-looking statements. 
 
The forward-looking statements included herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently subject to 
various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying assumptions and estimates 
and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal, and regulatory circumstances and conditions 
and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, suppliers, business partners and competitors, and legislative, 
judicial, and other governmental authorities and officials.  Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among 
other things, future economic, competitive, and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to 
predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control of the Port. Any of such assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there 
can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement will prove to be accurate. 
 
CERTIFICATION OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
At the time of payment for and delivery of the Bonds, the Port will furnish a certificate, executed by proper officers, acting in their official 
capacity, to the effect that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (a) the descriptions and statements of or pertaining to the Port contained 
in this Official Statement, and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, on the date of such Official Statement, on the date of sale of 
the Bonds and on the date of the delivery, were and are true and correct in all material respects; (b) insofar as the Port and its affairs, including 
its financial affairs, are concerned, such Official Statement did not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading; (c) insofar as the descriptions and statements, including financial data, of or pertaining to entities, other than the 
Port, and their activities contained in this Official Statement are concerned, such statements and data have been obtained from sources which 
the Port believes to be reliable and the Port has no reason to believe that they are untrue in any material respect; and (d) there has been no 
material adverse change in the financial condition of the Port since the date of the last audited financial statements of the Port. 
 
NO-LITIGATION CERTIFICATE 
 
The Port will furnish the Initial Purchaser a certificate, dated as of the date of delivery of the Bonds, executed by an appropriate official of 
the Port, to the effect that no litigation of any nature is then pending or threatened in any court, restraining or enjoining the issuance or 
delivery of the Bonds; affecting the provisions made for the payment of or security for the Bonds; in any manner questioning the authority 
or proceeding for the issuance, execution or delivery of the Bonds; or affecting the validity of the Bonds. 
  



 

35  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
APPENDIX B to this Official Statement contains excerpts of the audited financial statements of the Port for the fiscal years ended September 
30, 2022 and 2021. The financial statements of the Port as of and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 included in this 
Official Statement have been audited by Kennemer, Masters & Lunsford, LLC, Certified Public Accountants, as stated in their report 
appearing herein. Kennemer, Masters & Lunsford, LLC, the Port’s independent auditor, has not reviewed, commented on, or approved, and 
is not associated with, this Official Statement, nor have they performed any procedures on such financial statements since the date of such 
report, or performed any procedures on any other financial information of the Port, including without limitation any of the information 
contained in this Official Statement. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
The financial data and other information contained herein have been obtained from Port records, audited financial statements and other 
sources which are believed to be reliable. There is no guarantee that any of the assumptions or estimates contained herein will be realized. 
All of the summaries of the statutes, documents and resolutions contained in this Official Statement are made subject to all of the provisions 
of such statutes, documents and resolutions. These summaries do not purport to be complete statements of such provisions and reference is 
made to such documents for further information. Reference is made to original documents in all respects. 
 
The Resolution approves the form and content of this Official Statement, and authorizes the Authorized Representatives to approve any 
addenda, supplement or amendment thereto. The Resolution authorizes the further use of the Official Statement in the reoffering of the Bonds 
by the Initial Purchasers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

APPENDIX A 
 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING BRAZORIA COUNTY 

 

 

 

 

 

 



A - 1 

 

 

LOCATION AND SIZE 
 

The taxing jurisdiction of Port Freeport encompasses approximately 85% of Brazoria County, Texas (“Brazoria County” or the 
“County”). Brazoria County is located immediately south of Houston, Texas and is bordered by the Gulf of Mexico, Fort Bend 
County, Galveston County, Harris County, Matagorda County and Wharton County.  Brazoria County was created in 1836.  The 
City of Angleton is the county seat. The City of Pearland is the largest city in the County, with a 2020 population of approximately 
125,828. Lands in the area are flat coastal soils drained by the Brazos and San Bernard rivers. The County consists of 1,494 square 
miles. The climate is classified as modified sub-tropical. 

 
POPULATION 

 

 
 

Source: 1960-2020 Official Census: U.S. Census Bureau and Brazoria County. 
 

ECONOMY 
 

The economy is based on petroleum, chemicals, fishing, tourism and agriculture. The Texas Almanac designates rice, sorghum and 
livestock as principal sources of agricultural income. The County is one of the State’s leading rice producers. 

 
Minerals produced in the County include sand, oil, gravel and gas. The world’s largest basic chemical complex is located in the 
County, contributing to the extensive petroleum and chemical production in the area. Alvin Independent School District, located 
in the County, employs over 3,800 persons. The Gulf Intracoastal Waterway slices through lowlands near Surfside Beach and is 
the most valuable waterway in America. 

 
MAJOR EMPLOYERS 

 

  
 

Source: Economic Development Alliance for Brazoria County. 

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020
Official Official Official Official Official Official Official
Census Census Census Census Census Census Census
76,204 108,312 169,587 191,707 241,767 313,166 372,031

Number of
Employer Location Type Employees
Alvin I.S.D. Alvin Education 3,815
The Dow Chemical Company Freeport Chemical 3,452
Pearland I.S.D. Pearland Education 2,669
Texas Dept. of Criminal Justice County-wide Criminal Justice 2,052
Brazosport I.S.D. Clute Education 1,950
Brazoria County County-wide Government 1,437
Kelsey-Seybold Pearland Medical 1,413
Olin Corporation Freeport Chemical 1,126
Angleton I.S.D. Angleton Education 1,072
Phillips 66 Sweeny Refining 1,017
Brand/Safway Angleton Scaffolding Systems 1000
Marquis Construction Services Clute Contractor 950
BASF Corporation Freeport Chemical 900
City of Pearland Pearland Government 868
Wood Group Clute Contractor 800
Chevron Phillips Chemical Co. Sweeny Chemical 615
ICS Clute Contractor 614
INEOS Olefins & Polymers USA Alvin Chemical 600
Turner Industries Freeport Contractor 576
Ascend Performance Materials Alvin Chemical 500



A - 2 

 

 

EMPLOYMENT STATISTICS 
 

  
 

 

Source: Texas Workforce Commission. 
 

HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL CARE 
 

The County has three community hospitals, including Brazosport Memorial Hospital, Sweeny Hospital, and Angleton Danbury 
General Hospital, a surgical center, along with numerous private clinics, extended care facilities, physicians, surgeons, dentists and 
orthodontists. Care is provided in most specialties using the latest equipment and the most modern technology available. Home 
health care is also available. 

 
EDUCATION 
 

The percent of persons age 25 and over in the County who have completed at least a high school degree was 79.5 percent in 2000. 
This figure increased to 87.7 percent in 2018. In addition, the County had 29.7 percent of its residents age 25 and over with a 
college degree (Bachelors) or more in 2018. This compares to 29.3 percent statewide for 2018 and 19.6 percent for the County in 
2000. 

 

Brazosport Community College and Alvin Community College are two-year institutions involved in academic and vocational 
curricula. The colleges work closely with local firms in preparing and presenting special training programs. Other major college 
and universities within commuting distance include: 

 
Baylor College of Medicine South Texas College of Law 
Houston Baptist University Texas Southern University 
Houston Community College University of Houston 
Prairie View A&M University of Texas Health Science Center 
Rice University Wharton County Junior College 

 

Calendar Labor Unemployment
Year Force Employment Unemployment Rate

2017 173,279 164,089 9,190 5.3%

2018 176,559 168,602 7,957 4.5%

2019 179,539 172,008 7,531 4.2%

2020 177,312 162,103 15,209 8.6%

2021 180,207 167,799 12,408 6.9%

2022 187,623 179,452 8,171 4.4%

Brazoria County



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX B 

 
EXCERPTS FROM THE PORT FREEPORT 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 
 
 

The information contained in this Appendix consists of excerpts from the Port Freeport Annual 
Financial Report for the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, and is not intended to be 
a complete statement of the Port’s financial condition. Reference is made to the complete Report for 
further information. [unaudited language for 2022?] 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX C 

 
FORM OF BOND COUNSEL’S OPINION 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

1 

 

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM 
 

NOTICE OF SALE 
AND 

BIDDING INSTRUCTIONS 

ON 

$53,520,000* 
PORT FREEPORT 

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Brazoria County) 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT) 

 
Bids Due: Wednesday, March 1, 2023, AT 9:30 A.M., CST  

THE SALE 

BONDS OFFERED FOR SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING. . . Port Freeport (the “Port”) is offering for sale its $53,520,000* General 
Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) (the “Bonds”). Bidders may submit bids for the Bonds electronically as described below 
in “Electronic Bidding Procedures.” 

 
ELECTRONIC BIDDING PROCEDURES. . . Any prospective bidder that intends to submit a bid must submit its electronic bid through 
the facilities of PARITY. Bidders submitting an electronic bid shall not be required to submit official bid forms. Subscription to 
the i-Deal LLC's BIDCOMP Competitive Bidding System is required in order to submit an electronic bid. The Port will neither 
confirm any subscription nor be responsible for the failure of any prospective bidder to subscribe. 

 
An electronic bid made through the facilities of PARITY shall be deemed an irrevocable offer to purchase the Bonds on the terms 
provided in this Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions (this “Notice of Sale”) and shall be binding upon the bidder as if made by 
a signed, sealed bid delivered to the Port. The Port shall not be responsible for any malfunction or mistake made by, or as a result 
of the use of the facilities of, PARITY, the use of such facilities being the sole risk of the prospective bidder. 

 
If any provisions of this Notice of Sale shall conflict with information provided by PARITY as the approved provider of 
electronic bidding services, this Notice of Sale shall control. Further information about PARITY, including any fee charged, 
may be obtained from Parity Customer Support, 40 West 23rd Street, 5th Floor, New York, New York 10010, (212) 404-
8102. 

 
For purposes of the electronic bidding process, the time as maintained by PARITY shall constitute the official time. For 
information purposes only, bidders are requested to state in their electronic bids the true interest cost to the Port, as 
described under “CONDITIONS OF THE SALE - Basis for Award” below. All electronic bids shall be deemed to 
incorporate the provisions of this Notice of Sale and the Official Bid Form. 

 
BIDS BY TELEPHONE, FACSIMILE, OR DELIVERED TO THE PORT. . . The Port will not accept bids via telephone, facsimile, or 
delivered to the Port. 

 
PLACE AND TIME OF BID OPENING. . . The bids for the Bonds will be publicly read in the office of Masterson Advisors LLC, 3 
Greenway Plaza, Suite 1100, Houston, Texas 77046, at 9:30 A.M. CST, Wednesday, March 1, 2023 (the “Sale Date”). 

 
ADVANCE MODIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS. . . The Port reserves the right to change the principal amounts in each maturity by 
giving notice of such change via PARITY at least 24 hours in advance of the time set for receipt set for bids. Such notice shall be 
considered an amendment to this Notice of Sale. 

 
POST-BID MODIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS. . . After the receipt of bids, but prior to the award of the Bonds, the Port reserves 
the right to amend the principal amounts by up to 15%. Such modifications of principal amounts will be disclosed to the winning 
bidder within one hour of the time set for receipt of the bids and will be made with consideration to preserving the winning bidders’ 
underwriting production per bond. The award of the Bonds will be made on the basis of bids received prior to any post-bid 
modifications. 

 
 
 

_________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. See “THE SALE - ADVANCE MODIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS” and “ - POST BID MODIFICATION OF 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS” herein  



 

2 

 

AWARD OF THE BONDS. . . On January 26, 2023, Port Commission adopted a resolution (the “Bond Resolution”) authorizing the 
Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer (each an “Authorized Officer”) to accept bids and award 
the sale of the Bonds; authorizing the Authorized Officer to deem final the Preliminary Official Statement; approving the 
preparation of the Official Statement, which will be an amended form of the Preliminary Official Statement; and authorizing the 
issuance of the Bonds. In the Bond Resolution, the Port Commission delegated to the Authorized Officer the authority to complete 
the sale of the Bonds. The terms of the sale are included in a “Pricing Certificate,” which completes the sale of the Bonds. On the Sale 
Date, the Authorized Officer, acting for Port Commission, will take prompt action to award the sale of the Bonds or reject any or 
all bids, subject to the terms of the Bond Resolution and subject to compliance with the Interested Party Disclosure Act, herein under 
“DELIVERY OF THE BONDS AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS – OBLIGATION OF THE PORT TO RECEIVE INFORMATION FROM 

WINNING BIDDER.” The Authorized Officer, acting for Port Commission, also reserves the right to waive, without limitation, any 
irregularity or informality with respect to any bid, except the time of receipt of bids. 

 
 

THE BONDS 
 

DESCRIPTION. . . The Bonds will be dated March 1, 2023 (the “Dated Date”). Interest will accrue from the Delivery Date (as defined 
herein) and will be due on August 1, 2023, and each February 1 and August 1 thereafter until the earlier of maturity or prior 
redemption. The Bonds will be issued only in fully registered form in any integral multiple of $5,000 for any one maturity. The 
Bonds will mature on August 1 in each year as follows: 

 
MATURITY SCHEDULE* 

 

  
 

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. . . The Port reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after August 
1, 2033, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000, or any integral multiple thereof, on August 1, 2032, or any date 
thereafter, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

 
SERIAL BONDS AND/OR TERM BONDS. . . Bidders may provide that all of the Bonds be issued as serial bonds or may provide that 
any two or more consecutive annual principal amounts be combined into one or more term bonds. 

 
MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION. . . If the successful bidder elects to alter the Maturity Schedule reflected above and 
convert the principal amounts of any Serial Bonds into “Term Bonds,” such “Term Bonds” shall be subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption commencing on August 1 of the first year which has been combined to form such Term Bond, and annually 
thereafter on each August 1 until the stated maturity for the Term Bonds at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the 
date of redemption. The principal amounts of the Term Bonds to be redeemed on each mandatory redemption date shall be the 
principal amounts that would have been due and payable in the Maturity Schedule shown above had no designation of such 
maturities as Term Bonds occurred. At least forty-five (45) days prior to each mandatory date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 
select by lot the Term Bonds to be redeemed and cause a notice of redemption to be given in the manner provided in the Official 
Statement. 
 
_________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. See “THE SALE - ADVANCE MODIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS” and “ - POST BID MODIFICATION OF 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS” herein  
 

Maturity Principal Maturity Principal
August 1 Amount* August 1 Amount*

2025 380,000$        2040 1,870,000$     

2026 960,000          2041 1,945,000       

2027 1,010,000       2042 2,020,000       

2028 1,060,000       2043 2,100,000       

2029 1,115,000       2044 2,185,000       

2030 1,170,000       2045 2,275,000       

2031 1,230,000       2046 2,365,000       

2032 1,290,000       2047 2,465,000       

2033 1,355,000       2048 2,565,000       

2034 1,420,000       2049 2,670,000       
2035 1,495,000       2050 2,785,000       
2036 1,565,000       2051 2,900,000       
2037 1,645,000       2052 3,015,000       
2038 1,730,000       2053 3,140,000       
2039 1,795,000       



 

3 

 

The principal amount of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed pursuant to the operation of such mandatory redemption 
provisions may be reduced, at the option of the Port, by the principal amount of the Term Bonds of the same maturity which at 
least forty-five (45) days prior to a mandatory redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by the Port and delivered to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar for cancellation or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions and not previously 
credited against a mandatory sinking fund redemption requirement. 

 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM. . . The Port intends to utilize the Book-Entry-Only System of The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”). See “THE BONDS - BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM” in the Official Statement. 

 
PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR. . . The initial Paying Agent/Registrar shall be BOKF, N.A., Dallas, Texas. See “THE BONDS - 
PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR” in the Official Statement. 

 
SOURCE OF PAYMENT. . . The Bonds constitute direct obligations of the Port payable from the receipts of an annual ad valorem tax 
levied, without legal limit as to rate or amount, on all taxable property within the taxing jurisdiction of the Port. 

 
Further details regarding the Bonds are set forth in the Official Statement. 

 
 

CONDITIONS OF THE SALE 
 

TYPES OF BIDS AND INTEREST RATES. . . The Bonds will be sold in one block on an “All or None” basis, and at a price of not less 
than 100% of par plus a cash premium of $__________ or no more than 110% of the total par value. The principal amounts 
listed herein were calculated with a total bid premium of _________%. Bidders are invited to name the rate(s) of interest to be 
borne by the Bonds, provided that each rate bid must be in a multiple of 1/8th of 1%, 1/20th of 1% or 1/100th of 1% and the net 
effective interest rate calculated in the manner prescribed by the Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code must not exceed 15%. No 
limitation is imposed upon bidders as to the number of rates or changes which may be used. All Bonds of one maturity must bear 
one and the same rate. No bids involving supplemental interest rates will be considered. 
 
LOCAL RETAIL PRIORITY. . . The Initial Purchaser will be required to put Brazoria County retail orders as the top priority in its 
allotment of bonds. 

 
BASIS FOR AWARD. . . Subject to the Port's right to reject any or all bids and to waive any irregularities except time of filing, the 
sale of the Bonds will be awarded to the bidder or syndicate account manager whose name first appears on the Official Bid Form 
(the “Initial Purchaser”) making a bid that conforms to the specifications herein and which produces the lowest True Interest Cost 
rate to the Port. The True Interest Cost rate is that rate which, when used to compute the total present value as of  the Delivery Date 
of all debt service payments on the Bonds on the basis of semi-annual compounding, produces an amount equal to the sum of the 
par value of the Bonds plus any premium bid, if any. In the event of a bidder's error in interest cost rate calculations, the interest 
rates, and premium, if any, set forth in the Official Bid Form will be considered as the intended bid. The award of the Bonds will 
be made on the basis of bid received prior to any post-bid modifications. 

 
GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT. . . A Good Faith Deposit, payable to the “Port Freeport,” in the amount of $535,200, is required. Such Good 
Faith Deposit shall be a bank cashier's check or certified check, which is to be retained uncashed by the Port pending the Initial 
Purchaser's compliance with the terms of the bid and the Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions. The Good Faith Deposit may 
accompany the Official Bid Form or may be submitted separately. If submitted separately, it shall be made available to the Port 
prior to the opening of the bids and shall be accompanied by instructions from the bank on which drawn which authorize its use as 
a Good Faith Deposit by the Initial Purchaser who shall be named in such instructions. The Good Faith Deposit of the Initial 
Purchaser will be returned uncashed and unendorsed to the Initial Purchaser upon payment for the Bonds. No interest will 
be allowed on the Good Faith Deposit. In the event the Initial Purchaser should fail or refuse to take up and pay for the Bonds in 
accordance with the bid, including, without limitation, due to the unwillingness or inability of the Initial Purchaser to provide the 
Standing Letter (as defined herein) in a form acceptable to the Texas Office of the Attorney General for the delivery of its approving 
opinion at closing, then said check shall be cashed and accepted by the Port as full and complete liquidated damages. The checks 
accompanying bids other than the winning bid will be returned immediately after the bids are opened and an award of the Bonds 
has been made. 

 
NO BOYCOTT OF ISRAEL. . . By submission of a bid for the Bonds, the bidder represents and verifies that to the extent a bid for the 
Bonds constitutes a contract for goods or services for which a written verification is required under Section 2271.002, Texas 
Government Code that the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form and any parent company, wholly- or 
majority-owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates of the bidder or any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, if any, do 
not boycott Israel and will not boycott Israel through the end of the underwriting period. The foregoing verification is made solely 
to enable the Port to comply with such Section and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law. 
As used in the foregoing verification, “boycott Israel,” a term defined in Section 2271.001, Texas Government Code, by reference 
to Section 808.001(1), Texas Government Code, means refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or otherwise 
 
 
 



 

4 

 

taking any action that is intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or limit commercial relations specifically with Israel, or 
with a person or entity doing business in Israel or in an Israeli-controlled territory, but does not include an action made for ordinary 
business purposes. As used in the foregoing verification, the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form 
understand “affiliate” to mean an entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the bidder and any syndicate 
member listed on the Official Bid Form within the meaning of SEC Rule 405, 17 C.F.R. § 230.405, and exists to make a profit.  
 
SANCTIONED COUNTRIES REPRESENTATION. . . By submission of a bid for the Bonds, the bidder represents and verifies that neither 
the bidder nor any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form nor any parent company, wholly- or majority-owned 
subsidiaries, and other affiliates of the bidder or any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, if any, is a company identified 
on a list prepared and maintained by the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts under Section 2252.153 or Section 2270.0201, Texas 
Government Code, and posted on any of the following pages of such officer’s internet website:  
 

https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/sudan-list.pdf, 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/iran-list.pdf, or 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/fto-list.pdf.   

 
The foregoing representation is made solely to enable the Port to comply with Section 2252.152, Texas Government Code, and to 
the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law and excludes the bidder and any syndicate member 
listed on the Official Bid Form and each parent company, wholly- or majority-owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates of the bidder 
and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, if any, that the United States government has affirmatively declared to 
be excluded from its federal sanctions regime relating to Sudan or Iran or any federal sanctions regime relating to a foreign terrorist 
organization.  As used in the foregoing verification, the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form understand 
“affiliate” to mean an entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the bidder and any syndicate member 
listed on the Official Bid Form within the meaning of SEC Rule 405, 17 C.F.R. § 230.405, and exists to make a profit. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS PROHIBITING CONTRACTS WITH COMPANIES THAT BOYCOTT ENERGY COMPANIES. . . By submission 
of a bid for the Bonds, the bidder represents and verifies that to the extent a bid for the Bonds constitutes a contract for goods or 
services for which a written verification is required under Section 2274.002, Texas Government Code (as added by Senate Bill 13, 
87th Texas Legislature, Regular Session (“SB 13”)), as amended, the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid 
Form, and the parent company, wholly- or majority- owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates, if any, of the bidder or any syndicate 
member listed on the Official Bid Form do not boycott energy companies and, such entities will not boycott energy companies 
through the end of the underwriting period. The foregoing verification is made solely to enable the Port to comply with such Section 
and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law. As used in the foregoing verification, “boycott 
energy companies,” a term defined in Section 2274.001(1), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 13) by reference to Section 
809.001, Texas Government Code (also as enacted by SB 13), shall mean, without an ordinary business purpose, refusing to deal 
with, terminating business activities with, or otherwise taking any action that is intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or 
limit commercial relations with a company because the company (A) engages in the exploration, production, utilization, 
transportation, sale, or manufacturing of fossil fuel-based energy and does not commit or pledge to meet environmental standards 
beyond applicable federal and state law; or (B) does business with a company described by (A) above.  As used in the foregoing 
verification, the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form understand “affiliate” to mean an entity that 
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form 
within the meaning of SEC Rule 405, 17 C.F.R. § 230.405, and exists to make a profit. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS PROHIBITING CONTRACTS WITH COMPANIES THAT DISCRIMINATE AGAINST A FIREARM ENTITY OR 

TRADE ASSOCIATION. . . By submission of a bid for the Bonds, the bidder represents and verifies that to the extent a bid for the 
Bonds constitutes a contract for goods or services for which a written verification is required under Section 2274.002, Texas 
Government Code (as added by Senate Bill 19, 87th Texas Legislature, Regular Session, ("SB 19")), as amended, the neither bidder 
nor any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, nor the parent company, wholly- or majority- owned subsidiaries, and 
other affiliates, if any, of the bidder or any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form have a practice, policy, guidance or 
directive that discriminates against a firearm entity or firearm trade association; and such entities will not through the end of the 
underwriting period discriminate against a firearm entity or firearm trade association. The foregoing verification is made solely to 
enable the Port to comply with such Section and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law. 
 
As used in the foregoing verification and the following definitions, (a) “discriminate against a firearm entity or firearm trade 
association,” a term defined in Section 2274.001(3), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 19), (A) means, with respect to the 
firearm entity or firearm trade association, to (i) refuse to engage in the trade of any goods or services with the firearm entity or 
firearm trade association based solely on its status as a firearm entity or firearm trade association, (ii) refrain from continuing an 
existing business relationship with the firearm entity or firearm trade association based solely on its status as a firearm entity or 
firearm trade association, or (iii) terminate an existing business relationship with the firearm entity or firearm trade association based 
solely on its status as a firearm entity or firearm trade association and (B) does not include (i) the established policies of a merchant, 
retail seller, or platform that restrict or prohibit the listing or selling of ammunition, firearms, or firearm accessories and (ii) a 
company’s refusal to engage in the trade of any goods or services, decision to refrain from continuing an existing business 
relationship, or decision to terminate an existing business relationship (aa) to comply with federal, state, or local law, policy, or 
regulations or a directive by a regulatory agency or (bb) for any traditional business reason that is specific to the customer or potential 
customer and not based solely on an entity’s or association’s status as a firearm entity or firearm trade association, (b) “firearm 
entity,” a term defined in Section 2274.001(6), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 19), means a manufacturer, distributor, 



 

5 

 

wholesaler, supplier, or retailer of firearms (defined in Section 2274.001(4), Texas Government Code, as enacted by SB 19, as 
weapons that expel projectiles by the action of explosive or expanding gases), firearm accessories (defined in Section 2274.001(5), 
Texas Government Code, as enacted by SB 19, as devices specifically designed or adapted to enable an individual to wear, carry, 
store, or mount a firearm on the individual or on a conveyance and items used in conjunction with or mounted on a firearm that are 
not essential to the basic function of the firearm, including detachable firearm magazines), or ammunition (defined in Section 
2274.001(1), Texas Government Code, as enacted by SB 19, as a loaded cartridge case, primer, bullet, or propellant powder with or 
without a projectile) or a sport shooting range (defined in Section 250.001, Texas Local Government Code, as a business 
establishment, private club, or association that operates an area for the discharge or other use of firearms for silhouette, skeet, trap, 
black powder, target, self-defense, or similar recreational shooting), and (c) “firearm trade association,” a term defined in Section 
2274.001(7), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 19), means any person, corporation, unincorporated association, federation, 
business league, or business organization that (i) is not organized or operated for profit (and none of the net earnings of which inures 
to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual), (ii) has two or more firearm entities as members, and (iii) is exempt from 
federal income taxation under Section 501(a), Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as an organization described by Section 501(c) of 
that code. As used in the foregoing verification, the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form understand 
“affiliate” to mean an entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the bidder and any syndicate member 
listed on the Official Bid Form within the meaning of SEC Rule 405, 17 C.F.R. § 230.405, and exists to make a profit. 
 
REPRESENTATION REGARDING TEXAS ATTORNEY GENERAL STANDING LETTER. . . By submission of a bid for the Bonds, the bidder 
represents and verifies that the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, has on file with the Texas Office 
of the Attorney General a standing letter (the "Existing Standing Letter") addressing the verifications contained in the Bid Form in 
a form acceptable to the Texas Office of the Attorney General and further verifies that the Texas Office of the Attorney General has 
not notified the bidder that its Existing Standing Letter is under review. In addition, upon request of the Port, the bidder and any 
syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form shall provide additional written certification to the Port that the Texas Office of 
the Attorney General may rely on the Existing Standing Letter prior to the Closing Date (the Existing Standing Letter and the written 
certifications described in this paragraph are collectively referred to herein as the "Standing Letter"). The Port reserves the right to 
provide such written certifications to the Texas Office of the Attorney General. 
 
To the extent the Initial Purchaser and each syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form is unable to provide a Standing Letter 
in a form satisfactory to the Texas Office of the Attorney General, the Port reserves the right to cash and accept the Good Faith 
Deposit as full and complete liquidated damages. See "Good Faith Deposit." 

 
 

ESTABLISHING THE ISSUE PRICE FOR THE BONDS 
 

GENERAL. . . In order to provide the Port with information that enables it to comply with certain requirements of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, relating to the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes, the winning bidder will be required to complete, execute, and deliver to the Port or to the Financial Advisor at least five 
business days before the delivery date of the Bonds, a certification as to the Bonds’ “issue price” (the “Issue Price Certificate”) 
substantially in one of the forms and to the effect attached hereto or accompanying this Notice of Sale.  In the event the winning 
bidder will not reoffer any maturity of the Bonds for sale to the Public (as defined herein) by the delivery date  of the Bonds, the 
Issue Price Certificate may be modified in a manner approved by the Port and Bond Counsel (identified in the Preliminary Official 
Statement).  Each bidder, by submitting its bid, agrees to complete, execute, and timely deliver the appropriate Issue Price Certificate, 
if its bid is accepted by the Port.  It will be the responsibility of the winning bidder to institute such syndicate reporting requirements, 
to make such investigation, or otherwise to ascertain such facts as are necessary to enable it to make such certification with reasonable 
certainty.  Any questions concerning such certification should be directed to Bond Counsel (identified in the Preliminary Official 
Statement). 
 
DEFINED TERMS. . . For purposes of this section of this Notice of Sale: 
 

(i) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or 
corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party to an Underwriter. 

 
(ii) “Underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Port (or with the lead 
Underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public and (B) any 
person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate 
in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution 
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 
 
(iii) “Related Party” means any two or more persons who are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) more than 50% 
common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct 
ownership by one corporation of another), (B) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits 
interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (C) more than 50% 
common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the 
partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of 
the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other). 



 

6 

 

 
(iv) “Sale Date” means the date that the Bonds are awarded by the Port to the winning bidder.       

 
All actions to be taken by the Port under this Notice of Sale to establish the issue price of the Bonds may be taken on behalf of the 
Port by the Financial Advisor, and any notice or report to be provided to the Port may be provided to the Financial Advisor. 
 
The Port will consider any bid submitted pursuant to this Notice of Sale to be a firm offer for the purchase of the Bonds, as specified 
in the bid. 

 
THREE BID REQUIREMENT. . . The Port intends to rely on Treasury Regulation section 1.148-1(f)(3)(i) for purposes of establishing 
the issue price of municipal bonds, which requires, among other things, that the Port receives bids from at least three underwriters 
of municipal bonds who have established industry reputations for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds (the “Three Bid 
Requirement”).  In the event that the Three Bid Requirement is not satisfied, Treasury Regulations permit the issue price for any 
maturity of the Bonds to be determined based upon either (i) the first price at which 10% of such maturity is sold to the Public (the 
“10% Test”) or (ii) if the requirements of the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Rule” described below are met, the initial offering price to 
the Public as of the Sale Date.  For purposes hereof, if different interest rates apply within a maturity, each separate CUSIP number 
will be treated separately. 

 
In the event that the Three Bid Requirement is satisfied, the sale of the Bonds will be awarded to the bidder making a bid that 
conforms to the specifications herein.  In the event that the Three Bid Requirement is not satisfied, the Port will notify the prospective 
winning bidder to that effect, and the prospective winning bidder will advise the Port any maturity of the Bonds that satisfies the 
10% Test.  For any maturity of the Bonds that does not meet the 10% Test, it is the Port’s intention to apply the “Hold-the-Offering-
Price Rule” to any maturity of the Bonds, as described below.   
 
HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE RULE. . . If the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Rule” is applied to any maturity of the Bonds (each, a “Held 
Maturity”), the winning bidder agrees, on behalf of each Underwriter participating in the purchase of the Bonds, that each 
Underwriter will neither offer nor sell any Held Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the 
Public during the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of the following:  
 
(1) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date; or 

(2) the date on which the Underwriters have satisfied the 10% Test with respect to that Held Maturity at a price that is no higher 
than the initial offering price to the Public. 

The winning bidder shall promptly advise the Port when the Underwriters have satisfied the 10% Test with respect to each Held 
Maturity at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the Public, if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth business 
day after the Sale Date.  On or after the sixth business day after the Sale Date, if requested by the Port, the winning bidder will 
confirm that the Underwriters have complied with the Hold-the-Offering-Price-Rule.  If at any time the winning bidder becomes 
aware of any noncompliance by an Underwriter with respect to the Hold-the-Offering-Price Rule, the winning bidder will promptly 
report such noncompliance to the Port. 
 
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS. . . By submitting a bid, each bidder confirms that:  (i) any agreement among underwriters, any selling 
group agreement and each retail distribution agreement (to which the bidder is a party) relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the 
Public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each Underwriter, each dealer who is a 
member of the selling group, and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution agreement, as applicable, to (A) report 
the prices at which it sells to the Public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the winning bidder that 
either the 10% Test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the Public and 
(B) comply with the Hold-the-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the winning bidder 
and as set forth in the related pricing wires, and (ii) any agreement among underwriters relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the 
Public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each Underwriter that is a party to a retail 
distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public to require each broker-dealer 
that is a party to such retail distribution agreement to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the Public the unsold Bonds of each 
maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the winning bidder or such Underwriter that either the 10% Test has been satisfied as to 
the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the Public and (B) comply with the Hold-the-Offering-
Price Rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the winning bidder or such Underwriter and as set forth in the 
related pricing wires. 

  



 

7 

 

DELIVERY OF THE BONDS AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS 
 
CUSIP NUMBERS. . . It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will appear on the Bonds, but neither the failure to print or 
type such number on any Bond nor any error with respect thereto shall constitute cause for a failure or refusal by the Initial Purchaser 
to accept delivery of and pay for the Bonds in accordance with the terms of this Notice of Sale and the terms of the Official Bid 
Form. All expenses in relation to the printing or typing of CUSIP numbers on the Bonds shall be paid by the Port; provided, however, 
that the CUSIP Service Bureau charge for the assignment of the numbers shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid for by the 
Initial Purchaser. 

 
DELIVERY OF BONDS. . . Delivery will be accomplished by the issuance of one Initial Bond (also called the “Bond” or “Bonds”), 
either in typed or printed form, in the aggregate principal amount of $53,520,000*, payable in stated installments to the Initial 
Purchaser, signed by the Chairman and Secretary of the Port Commission, approved by the Attorney General, and registered and 
manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts. Upon delivery of the Initial Bond, it shall be immediately cancelled and 
one definitive Bond for each maturity will be registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., and deposited with DTC in connection 
with DTC's Book-Entry-Only System. Delivery will be at the principal office of the Paying Agent/Registrar. Payment for the Bonds 
must be made in immediately available funds for unconditional credit to the Port, or as otherwise directed by the Port. The Initial 
Purchaser will be given six business days' notice of the time fixed for delivery of the Bonds. The delivery of the Bond(s) will be 
March 22, 2023, and it is understood and agreed that the Initial Purchaser will accept delivery and make payment for the Bonds by 
10:00 AM, CST, on March 22, 2023, or thereafter on the date the Bond is tendered for delivery, up to and including April 21, 2023 
(such date being referred to as the “Delivery Date”).  If for any reason  the Port is unable to make delivery on or before April 21, 
2023, the Port shall immediately contact the Initial Purchaser and offer to allow the Initial Purchaser to extend its offer for an 
additional thirty days.  
 
If the Initial Purchaser does not elect to extend its offer within six days thereafter, then its Good Faith Deposit will be returned, and 
both the Port and the Initial Purchaser shall be relieved of any further obligation. In no event shall the Port be liable for any damages 
by reason of its failure to deliver the Bonds, provided such failure is due to circumstances beyond the Port's reasonable control. 

 
CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY. . . The obligation of the Initial Purchaser to take up and pay for the Bonds is subject to the Initial 
Purchaser's receipt of (a) the legal opinion of Bracewell LLP, Houston, Texas, Bond Counsel for the Port (“Bond Counsel”), (b) 
the no-litigation certificate, and (c) the certification as to the Official Statement, all as further described in the Official Statement. 

 
In order to provide the Port with information required to be submitted to the Texas Bond Review Board pursuant to Section 
1202.008, Texas Government Code, as amended, the Purchaser will be required to provide the Port at least ten (10) business days 
prior to delivery of the Bonds with a breakdown of its “underwriting spread” among the following categories: Takedown, 
Management Fee (if any), Legal Counsel Fee (if any) and Spread Expenses (if any). 

 
In no event will the Port fail to deliver the Bonds as a result of the Initial Purchaser's inability to certify actual sales of Bonds 
at a particular price prior to delivery. Each bidder, by submitting its bid, agrees to complete, execute, and deliver the Issue Price 
Certificate by the date of delivery of the Bonds, if its bid is accepted by the Port. It will be the responsibility of the Initial Purchaser 
to institute such syndicate reporting requirements to make such investigation, or otherwise to ascertain the facts necessary to enable 
it to make such certification with reasonable certainty. Any questions concerning the Issue Price Certificate should be directed to 
Bond Counsel. 

 
OBLIGATION OF THE PORT TO RECEIVE INFORMATION FROM WINNING BIDDER. . . Pursuant to Texas Government Code, Section 
2252.908 (the “Interested Party Disclosure Act”), unless a bidder is exempt from the filing requirements of Section 2252.908, the 
Port may not award the Bonds to a bidder unless the bidder submits a Certificate of Interested Parties Form 1295 (the “Disclosure 
Form”) to the Port as prescribed by the Texas Ethics Commission (“TEC”) at the time the bidder submits its Official Bid Form. 
Publicly traded business entities (including wholly owned subsidiaries of a publicly traded business entity) are not required to file a 
Disclosure Form as provided in Section 2252.908(c)(4). 

 
In the event that the bidder’s bid for the Bonds conforms to the specifications herein and is the best bid received, the Port, acting 
through its financial advisor, will promptly notify the bidder. That notification will serve as the conditional verbal acceptance of the 
bid and the winning bidder must promptly file the materials described below. The apparent winning bidder and each syndicate 
member listed on the Official Bid Form must have submitted either (1) a completed Disclosure Form, as described below, or (2) a 
written representation that it is exempt from the Form 1295 filing requirements pursuant to Section 2252.908(c)(4), not later than 
two hours after the deadline for the submission of bids in order for Port to complete the formal award. If the apparent winning bidder 
and each syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form fails to file the Disclosure Form or written representation regarding the 
exemption from the filing requirement within the time period described in the previous sentence, the Port reserves the right to notify 
the apparent winning bidder that their bid has been rejected and award the sale to the next lowest bidder. 
 

WRITTEN REPRESENTATION REGARDING EXEMPTION. . . If a bidder is claiming an exemption from the filing requirement under 
Section 2252.908(c)(4), the written representation that the Bidder is not required to file a Disclosure Form must state that it is 
publicly traded business entity or a wholly owned subsidiary of a publicly traded business entity and identify the publicly traded 
business entity that allows them to utilize the exception. 

  



 

8 

 

PROCESS FOR COMPLETING THE DISCLOSURE FORM. . .  The Disclosure Form can be found at 
https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/forms/1295.pdf, and reference should be made to the following information in order to complete it: 
(a) item 2 – name of governmental entity (“Port Freeport”), (b) item 3 – the identification number (“2023 GO Bonds Bid”), and (c) 
item 3 – description of the goods or services assigned to this contract by the Port (“Purchase of Bonds”). 

 
If completing the Disclosure Form, the bidder must (i) complete the Disclosure Form electronically at the TEC’s “electronic portal,” 
and (ii) print, sign and deliver a copy of the Disclosure Form that is generated by the TEC’s “electronic portal.” 

 
SUBMISSION OF WRITTEN REPRESENTATION REGARDING EXEMPTION OR COMPLETED DISCLOSURE FORM. . . The completed 
Disclosure Form or the written representation regarding the exemption from the Form 1295 filing requirements must be delivered 
electronically to the Port, at lowe@portfreeport.com and Bond Counsel, at jonathan.frels@bracewell.com no later than two hours 
after the deadline for the submission of bids on the Sale Date. 

 
Time will be of the essence in submitting the completed Disclosure Form or written representation regarding the exemption from 
the filing requirements to the Port, and no bid will be accepted by the Port unless a completed Disclosure Form or written 
representation regarding exemptions is received on time. 

 
Neither the Port nor its consultants have the ability to verify the information included in a Disclosure Form or written representation, 
and neither have an obligation nor undertake responsibility for advising any bidder with respect to the proper completion of the 
Disclosure Form or the written representation. Consequently, an entity intending to bid on the Bonds should consult its own advisors 
to the extent it deems necessary and be prepared to submit the completed Disclosure Form or written representation promptly upon 
notification from the Port that its bid is the conditional winning bid. 

 
LEGAL OPINION. . . The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued, subject to the approval of the Attorney General of the State of 
Texas. Delivery of and payment for the Bonds is subject to the receipt by the Initial Purchaser of the opinion of Bond Counsel, 
substantially in the form reproduced in Appendix C to the Official Statement, to the effect that based upon an examination of a 
transcript of certified proceedings of the Port relating to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds, the Bonds are validly issued 
under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and to the effect that interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes under existing law, subject to the matters described under “TAX MATTERS” in the Preliminary 
Official Statement. 

 
CERTIFICATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT. . . At the time of payment for and Initial Delivery of the Bonds, the Port will execute 
and deliver to the Initial Purchaser a certificate in the form set forth in the Official Statement under the heading “OTHER 
INFORMATION−CERTIFICATION OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT.” 

 
CHANGE IN TAX EXEMPT STATUS. . . At any time before the Bonds are tendered for delivery, the Initial Purchaser may withdraw 
its bid if the interest received by private holders on obligations of the same type and character shall be declared to be includable in 
gross income under present federal income tax laws, either by ruling of the Internal Revenue Service or by a decision of any Federal 
court, or shall be declared taxable or be required to be taken into account in computing any federal income taxes, by the terms of 
any federal income tax law enacted subsequent to the date of this Notice of Sale. 

 
 

GENERAL 
 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR. . . Masterson Advisors LLC, is employed as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) to the Port in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds. The Financial Advisor's fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Bonds 
is contingent upon the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. Masterson Advisors LLC, has agreed, in its Financial Advisory contract, 
not to bid for the Bonds, either independently or as a member of a syndicate organized to submit a bid  for the Bonds. Masterson 
Advisors LLC, in its capacity as Financial Advisor, does not assume any responsibility for the information, covenants and 
representations contained in any of the legal documents with respect to the federal income tax status of the Bonds, or the possible 
impact of any present, pending or future actions taken by any legislative or judicial bodies. 

 

BLUE SKY LAWS. . . By submission of its bid, the Initial Purchaser represents that the sale of the Bonds in states other than Texas 
will be made only pursuant to exemptions from registration or, where necessary, the Initial Purchaser will register the Bonds in 
accordance with the securities law of the states in which the Bonds are offered or sold. The Port agrees to cooperate with the Initial 
Purchaser, at the Initial Purchaser's written request and expense, in registering the Bonds or obtaining an exemption from registration 
in any state where such action is necessary, provided, however, that the Port shall not be obligated to qualify as a foreign corporation 
or to execute a general or special consent to service of process in any such jurisdiction. 

 
NOT AN OFFER TO SELL. . . This Notice of Sale does not alone constitute an offer to sell the Bonds, but is merely notice of the sale 
of the Bonds. The offer to sell the Bonds is being made by means of this Notice of Sale, the Official Bid Form and the Official 
Statement collectively. Prospective purchasers are urged to carefully examine the Official Statement to determine the investment 
quality of the Bonds. 

  



 

9 

 

ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL DEBT. . . The Port does not anticipate the issuance of general obligation debt in the next 12 months. 
 

RATINGS. . . The Bonds and presently outstanding tax-supported debt of the Port are rated “____” by Moody's Investors Service, 
Inc. ("Moody's"). 

 
THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND COMPLIANCE WITH SEC RULE 15C2-12. . . The Port has prepared the accompanying Official 
Statement and, for the limited purpose of complying with SEC Rule 15c2-12, deems such Official Statement to be final as of its 
date within the meaning of such Rule for the purpose of review prior to bidding. To the best knowledge and belief of the Port, the 
Official Statement contains information, including financial information or operating data, concerning every entity, enterprise, fund, 
account, or person that is material to an evaluation of the offering of the Bonds. Representations made and to be made by the Port 
concerning the absence of material misstatements and omissions in the Official Statement are addressed elsewhere in this Notice of 
Sale and in the Official Statement. 

 
The Port will furnish upon request to the Initial Purchaser(s), acting through a designated senior representative, in accordance with 
instructions received from the Initial Purchaser(s), within seven (7) business days from the sale date no more than 150 copies of the 
Official Statement reflecting interest rates and other terms relating to the initial reoffering of the Bonds. The cost of any Official 
Statement in excess of the number specified shall be prepared and distributed at the cost of the Initial Purchaser(s). The Initial 
Purchaser(s) shall be responsible for providing in writing the initial reoffering prices and other terms, if any, to the Financial Advisor 
by the close of the next business day after the award. Except as noted above, the Port assumes no responsibility or obligation for the 
distribution or delivery of any copies of the Official Statement in connection with the offering or reoffering of the subject securities. 

 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT. . . The Port has agreed in the Bond Resolution to provide certain periodic information and 
notices of material events in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 15c2-12”), as described 
in the Official Statement under “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION”. The Initial Purchaser(s’) obligation to 
accept and pay for the Bonds is conditioned upon delivery to the Initial Purchaser(s) or (their) agent of a certified copy of the Bond 
Resolution and/or Pricing Certificate containing the agreement described under such heading. 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS. . . See “ CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION – COMPLIANCE WITH 
PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS” in the Preliminary Official Statement. 
 
ADDITIONAL COPIES OF NOTICE, BID FORM AND STATEMENT. . . A limited number of additional copies of this Notice of Sale, the 
Official Bid Form and the Official Statement, as available over and above the normal mailing, may be obtained at the offices of 
Masterson Advisors LLC, 3 Greenway Plaza, Suite 1100, Houston, Texas 77046, Financial Advisor to the Port. 

 
The Port Commission has authorized the preparation of the Notice of Sale, the Official Bid Form and Official Statement, and 
authorized the use thereof in its initial offering of the Bonds.  

 
 



 

 

 

OFFICIAL BID FORM 
 
Executive Director and Port Commission March 1, 2023 
Port Freeport  

 
Members of the Port Commission: 

 
Reference is made to your Official Statement and Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions, dated January 26, 2023 of $53,520,000* 
Port Freeport, General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) (the “Bonds”), both of which constitute a part hereof. 

 
We understand that the Port reserves the right to adjust the principal amount of the Bond maturities as described in 
“ADVANCE ADJUSTMENT OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AND/OR TYPES OF BIDS” and “POST BID MODIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL 

AMOUNTS” in the Official Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions. 
 

For your legally issued Bonds, as described in said Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions and Official Statement, we will pay a 
price of not less than 100% of par plus a cash premium of $_________ or no more than 110% of the total par value for 
Bonds maturing and bearing interest as follows: 

 

 
 

Of the principal maturities set forth in the table above, term bonds have been created as indicated in the following table (which may 
include multiple term bonds, one term bond or no term bond if none is indicated). For those years which have been combined into 
a term bond, the principal amount shown in the table above shall be the mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts in such years 
except that the amount shown in the year of the term bond maturity date shall mature in such year. The term bonds created are as 
follows: 

 

  
Our calculation (which is not a part of this bid) of the interest cost from the above is: 

 
 

TRUE INTEREST COST % 
 
 
_________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. See “THE SALE - ADVANCE MODIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS” and “ - POST BID MODIFICATION OF 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS” herein  
 

Due Interest Due Interest
August 1 Principal* Rate August 1 Principal* Rate

2025 380,000$      % 2040 1,870,000$   %
2026 960,000        2041 1,945,000     
2027 1,010,000     2042 2,020,000     
2028 1,060,000     2043 2,100,000     
2029 1,115,000     2044 2,185,000     
2030 1,170,000     2045 2,275,000     
2031 1,230,000     2046 2,365,000     
2032 1,290,000     2047 2,465,000     
2033 1,355,000     2048 2,565,000     
2034 1,420,000     2049 2,670,000     
2035 1,495,000     2050 2,785,000     
2036 1,565,000     2051 2,900,000     
2037 1,645,000     2052 3,015,000     
2038 1,730,000     2053 3,140,000     
2039 1,795,000     

Term Year of Principal
Bond First Mandatory Amount of Interest 

Maturity Date Redemption Term Bond Rate
$ %
$ %
$ %
$ %
$ %



 

 

 

The Initial Bonds shall be registered in the name of  , which will, upon 
payment for the Bonds, be cancelled by the Paying Agent/Registrar. The Bonds will then be registered in the name of Cede & Co. 
(DTC's partnership nominee), under the Book-Entry-Only System. 
 
A bank cashier's check or certified check of the   Bank, in the amount of $535,200, which 
represents our Good Faith Deposit (is attached hereto) or (has been made available to you prior to the opening of this bid), and is 
submitted in accordance with the terms as set forth in the Official Statement and Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions. 
 
We agree to accept delivery of the Bonds utilizing the Book-Entry-Only System through DTC and make payment for the Initial 
Bond in immediately available funds to the BOKF, N.A., Dallas, Texas, not later than 10:00 A.M., CST, on March 22, 2023, or 
thereafter on the date the Bonds are tendered for delivery, pursuant to the terms set forth in the Notice of Sale and Bidding 
Instructions. It will be the obligation of  the purchaser of the Bonds to complete the DTC Eligibility Questionnaire. 
 
The undersigned agrees to complete, execute, and deliver to the Port, at least six business days prior to delivery of the Bonds, a 
certificate relating to the “issue price” of the Bonds in the form and to the effect accompanying the Notice of Sale and Bidding 
Instructions, with such changes thereto as may be acceptable to the Port. 
 
The undersigned also agrees to provide the Port and its consultants, at least 10 business days prior to delivery of the Bonds, a 
breakdown of its “Underwriting Spread” among the following categories: Takedown, Management Fee (if any), Legal Counsel Fee 
(if any) and Spread Expenses (if any). 
 
Upon notification of conditional verbal acceptance, the undersigned will either (1) complete an electronic form of the TEC Form 
1295 through the TEC’s electronic portal and submit the resulting certified TEC Form 1295 that is generated by the TEC’s 
electronic portal to the Port as provided in the Notice of Sale or (2) submit a written representation that it is exempt from the  TEC 
Form 1295 filing requirements pursuant to Section 2252.908(c)(4) as provided in the Notice of Sale. The undersigned understands 
that the failure to provide the TEC Form 1295 or written representation regarding exemption, as described herein, will prohibit the 
Port from providing final written award of the enclosed bid. 
 
The Initial Purchaser represents and verifies that to the extent a bid for the Bonds constitutes a contract for goods or services for 
which a written verification is required under Section 2271.002, Texas Government Code that the Initial Purchaser and any 
syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form and any parent company, wholly- or majority-owned subsidiaries, and other 
affiliates of the Initial Purchaser or any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, if any, do not boycott Israel and will not 
boycott Israel through the end of the underwriting period. The foregoing verification is made solely to enable the Port to comply 
with such Section and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law. As used in the foregoing 
verification, “boycott Israel,” a term defined in Section 2271.001, Texas Government Code, by reference to Section 808.001(1), 
Texas Government Code, means refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or otherwise taking any action that is 
intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or limit commercial relations specifically with Israel, or with a person or entity 
doing business in Israel or in an Israeli-controlled territory, but does not include an action made for ordinary business purposes.  
 
The Initial Purchaser represents and verifies that neither the Initial Purchaser nor any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid 
Form nor any parent company, wholly- or majority-owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates of the Initial Purchaser or any syndicate 
member listed on the Official Bid Form, if any, is a company identified on a list prepared and maintained by the Texas Comptroller 
of Public Accounts under Section 2252.153 or Section 2270.0201, Texas Government Code, and posted on any of the following 
pages of such officer’s internet website: 
 

https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/sudan-list.pdf, 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/iran-list.pdf, or  
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/fto-list.pdf. 

 
The foregoing representation is made solely to enable the Port to comply with Section 2252.152, Texas Government Code, and to 
the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law and excludes the Initial Purchaser and any syndicate 
member listed on the Official Bid Form and each parent company, wholly- or majority-owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates of 
the bidder and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form, if any, that the United States government has affirmatively 
declared to be excluded from its federal sanctions regime relating to Sudan or Iran or any federal sanctions regime relating to a 
foreign terrorist organization.   
 
The Initial Purchaser represents and verifies that to the extent a bid for the Bonds constitutes a contract for goods or services for 
which a written verification is required under Section 2274.002, Texas Government Code (as added by Senate Bill 13, 87th Texas 
Legislature, Regular Session (“SB 13”)), as amended, the Initial Purchaser and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid 
Form, and the parent company, wholly- or majority- owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates, if any, of the Initial Purchaser or any 
syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form do not boycott energy companies and, such entities will not boycott energy 
companies through the end of the underwriting period. The foregoing verification is made solely to enable the Port to comply with 
such Section and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law. As used in the foregoing 
verification, “boycott energy companies,” a term defined in Section 2274.001(1), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 13) 
by reference to Section 809.001, Texas Government Code (also as enacted by SB 13), shall mean, without an ordinary business 
 
 
 



 

 

 

purpose, refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or otherwise taking any action that is intended to penalize, 
inflict economic harm on, or limit commercial relations with a company because the company (A) engages in the exploration, 
production, utilization, transportation, sale, or manufacturing of fossil fuel-based energy and does not commit or pledge to meet 
environmental standards beyond applicable federal and state law; or (B) does business with a company described by (A) above.   
 
The Initial Purchaser represents and verifies that to the extent a bid for the Bonds constitutes a contract for goods or services for 
which a written verification is required under Section 2274.002, Texas Government Code (as added by Senate Bill 19, 87th Texas 
Legislature, Regular Session, ("SB 19")), as amended, the neither Initial Purchaser nor any syndicate member listed on the Official 
Bid Form, nor the parent company, wholly- or majority- owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates, if any, of the bidder or any 
syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form have a practice, policy, guidance or directive that discriminates against a firearm 
entity or firearm trade association; and such entities will not through the end of the underwriting period discriminate against a 
firearm entity or firearm trade association. The foregoing verification is made solely to enable the Port to comply with such Section 
and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal or Texas law. 
 
As used in the foregoing verification and the following definitions, (a) “discriminate against a firearm entity or firearm trade 
association,” a term defined in Section 2274.001(3), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 19), (A) means, with respect to 
the firearm entity or firearm trade association, to (i) refuse to engage in the trade of any goods or services with the firearm entity 
or firearm trade association based solely on its status as a firearm entity or firearm trade association, (ii) refrain from continuing an 
existing business relationship with the firearm entity or firearm trade association based solely on its status as a firearm entity or 
firearm trade association, or (iii) terminate an existing business relationship with the firearm entity or firearm trade association 
based solely on its status as a firearm entity or firearm trade association and (B) does not include (i) the established policies of a 
merchant, retail seller, or platform that restrict or prohibit the listing or selling of ammunition, firearms, or firearm accessories and 
(ii) a company’s refusal to engage in the trade of any goods or services, decision to refrain from continuing an existing business 
relationship, or decision to terminate an existing business relationship (aa) to comply with federal, state, or local law, policy, or 
regulations or a directive by a regulatory agency or (bb) for any traditional business reason that is specific to the customer or 
potential customer and not based solely on an entity’s or association’s status as a firearm entity or firearm trade association, (b) 
“firearm entity,” a term defined in Section 2274.001(6), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 19), means a manufacturer, 
distributor, wholesaler, supplier, or retailer of firearms (defined in Section 2274.001(4), Texas Government Code, as enacted by 
SB 19, as weapons that expel projectiles by the action of explosive or expanding gases), firearm accessories (defined in Section 
2274.001(5), Texas Government Code, as enacted by SB 19, as devices specifically designed or adapted to enable an individual to 
wear, carry, store, or mount a firearm on the individual or on a conveyance and items used in conjunction with or mounted on a 
firearm that are not essential to the basic function of the firearm, including detachable firearm magazines), or ammunition (defined 
in Section 2274.001(1), Texas Government Code, as enacted by SB 19, as a loaded cartridge case, primer, bullet, or propellant 
powder with or without a projectile) or a sport shooting range (defined in Section 250.001, Texas Local Government Code, as a 
business establishment, private club, or association that operates an area for the discharge or other use of firearms for silhouette, 
skeet, trap, black powder, target, self-defense, or similar recreational shooting), and (c) “firearm trade association,” a term defined 
in Section 2274.001(7), Texas Government Code (as enacted by SB 19), means any person, corporation, unincorporated association, 
federation, business league, or business organization that (i) is not organized or operated for profit (and none of the net earnings of 
which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual), (ii) has two or more firearm entities as members, and (iii) is 
exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a), Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as an organization described by Section 
501(c) of that code. 
 
As used in the verifications contained in this Bid Form, the Initial Purchaser and any syndicate member listed on the Official Bid 
Form understand “affiliate” to mean an entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the bidder and any 
syndicate member listed on the Official Bid Form within the meaning of SEC Rule 405, 17 C.F.R. § 230.405, and exists to make a 
profit. 
 
We agree to put Brazoria County retail orders as the top priority in the allotment of bonds. 
 
We agree to provide in writing the initial reoffering prices and other terms, if any, to the Financial Advisor by the close of 
the next business day after the award. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

Name of Initial Purchaser or Manager 

Authorized Representative 

Phone Number 

Signature 



 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE CLAUSE 
 

The above and foregoing bid is hereby in all things accepted by the Port Freeport, subject to and in accordance with the Notice of 
Sale and Bidding Instructions, this the 1st day of March, 2023. 

 
 
 

 
Authorized Officer 

Port Freeport 



 

 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

[THREE BID REQUIREMENT SATISFIED] 

I, the undersigned officer of   (the “Purchaser”), acting on behalf of itself and 
any underwriting syndicate, make this certification in connection with the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Bonds”) 
issued by the Port Freeport (the “Port”). 

 
1. I hereby certify as follows in good faith as of the date hereof: 

 
(a) I am the duly chosen, qualified and acting officer of the Purchaser for the office shown below my signature; as 

such, I am familiar with the facts herein certified and I am duly authorized to execute and deliver this certificate 
on behalf of the Purchaser and any underwriting syndicate. I am the officer of the Purchaser charged, along 
with other officers of the Purchaser and any underwriting syndicate, with responsibility for the Bonds. 

 
(b) The reasonably expected initial offering prices of the Bonds to the Public by the Purchaser as of the Sale Date 

are the prices set forth on the inside cover of the Official Statement prepared in connection with the Bonds (the 
“Initial Offering Prices”). The Initial Offering Prices are the applicable prices for the Bonds used by the 
Purchaser in formulating its bid to purchase the Bonds. Attached hereto as Attachment I is a true and correct 
copy of the bid provided by the Purchaser to purchase the Bonds. 

 
(c) The Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to submitting its bid. 

 
(d) The bid submitted by the Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the Bonds. 

 
(e) The aggregate of the Initial Offering Prices of all maturities of the Bonds is $   . The 

Bonds were sold  with  pre-issuance accrued  interest in the amount of $  . The sum of these 
two amounts is $  . 

 
2. For purposes of this Issue Price Certificate, the following definitions apply: 

 
(a) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or 

corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party to an Underwriter. 
 

(b) “Related Party” means any two or more persons who are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50% 
common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations 
(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their 
capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one 
partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 
corporation or the capital interest or profits interest of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 
corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests 
by one entity of the other). 

 
(c) “Sale Date” means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale or exchange of the 

Bonds. The Sale Date of the Bonds is March 1, 2023. 
 

(d) “Underwriter” means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Port (or with the lead 
underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and 
(ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause 
(i) of this definition to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling 
group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 



 

 

 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the 
Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon 
by the Port with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Federal Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with 
the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Bracewell LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest 
on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of Internal Revenue Service Form 
8038-G, and other federal income tax advice it may give to the Port from time to time relating to the Bonds. 

 
EXECUTED as of this   day of  , 2023. 

 
 

[NAME OF PURCHASER OR MANAGER OF PURCHASING 
SYNDICATE] 

 
 
 

By:   

 
Name:   

 
Title:   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-2- 



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT I TO ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

COPY OF WINNING BID FORM 

 
[See Attached] 



 

 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 
 
 

[THREE BID REQUIREMENT NOT SATISFIED – HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE RULE] 
 

I, the undersigned officer of   (the “Purchaser”), acting on behalf of itself and 
any underwriting syndicate, make this certification in connection with the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Bonds”) 
issued by the Port Freeport (the “Port”). 

 

 
1. I hereby certify as follows in good faith as of the date hereof: 

 
(a) I am the duly chosen, qualified and acting officer of the Purchaser for the office shown below my signature; as 

such, I am familiar with the facts herein certified and I am duly authorized to execute and deliver this certificate 
on behalf of the Purchaser and any underwriting syndicate. I am the officer of the Purchaser charged, along 
with other officers of the Purchaser and any underwriting syndicate, with responsibility for the Bonds. 

 

(b) For the Bonds maturing in  , the first price at which at least 10% of 
 

each maturity was sold to the Public is the price for each such maturity set forth on the inside cover of the 
Official Statement prepared in connection with the Bonds (each, an “Actual Sales Price”). 

 
(c) For   the   Bonds  maturing  in   (each, a “Held Maturity”), the 

Purchaser on or before the Sale Date offered for purchase each such maturity to the Public at the applicable 
initial offering price set forth on the inside cover of the Official Statement prepared in connection with the 
Bonds (each, an “Initial Offering Price”). A copy of the pricing wire evidencing the Initial Offering Prices is 
attached hereto as Attachment I. In connection with the offering of the Bonds, the Purchaser and each member 
of any underwriting syndicate agreed in writing that (i) during the Hold Period, it would neither offer nor sell 
any Held Maturity to any person at a price higher than the applicable Initial Offering Price (the “Hold-the-
Offering-Price Rule”) and (ii) any selling group agreement would contain the agreement of each dealer who is 
a member of the selling group, and any retail distribution agreement would contain the agreement of each 
broker-dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, that, during the Hold Period, such party would 
comply with the Hold-the-Offering-Price Rule. In accordance with such agreements, no Underwriter offered 
or sold any of the Held Maturities at a price higher than the applicable Initial Offering Price for such Held 
Maturity. 

 
(d) The  aggregate  of  the  Actual  Sales  Prices  and  the  Initial  Offering  Prices is $  . The 

Bonds were sold with pre-issuance accrued interest in the amount of $ . The sum of 
these two amounts is $ . 

 
2. For purposes of this Issue Price Certificate, the following definitions apply: 

 
(a) “Hold Period” means, with respect to a Held Maturity, the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the 

earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date or (ii) the date on which the Underwriters 
have sold at least 10% of such Held Maturity to the Public at a price no higher than the applicable Initial 
Offering Price. 

 
(b) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or 

corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party to an Underwriter. 
 

(c) “Related Party” means any two or more persons who are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50% 
common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations 
(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their 
capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one 
partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 
corporation or the capital interest or profits interest of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 
corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests 
by one entity of the other). 

 
(d) “Sale Date” means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale or exchange of the 

Bonds. The Sale Date of the Bonds is March 1, 2023. 
 

(e) “Underwriter” means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Port (or with the lead 
underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and 
(ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause 
(i) of this definition to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling 
group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 



 

 

 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in this certificate represents the 
Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon 
by the Port with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Federal Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with 
the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Bracewell LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest 
on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of Internal Revenue Service Form 
8038-G, and other federal income tax advice it may give to the Port from time to time relating to the Bonds. 

 
EXECUTED as of this   day of  , 2023. 

 
 

[NAME OF PURCHASER OR MANAGER OF PURCHASING 
SYNDICATE] 

 
 
 

By:   

 
Name:   

 
Title:   



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT I TO ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

FINAL PRICING WIRE 

 
[See Attached] 



 
 

RESOLUTION SUPPORTING APPROPRIATION OF STATE FUNDS FOR VELASCO 
DRAINAGE DISTRICT’S OBLIGATION ON THE PROJECT PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

FOR THE FREEPORT HURRICANE FLOOD PROTECTION PROJECT  
 
 

At a regular meeting of the Port Commission of Port Freeport (“Port”), held at the office of the Port 
at 1100 Cherry Street, Freeport, Texas, on the 26th day of January, 2023, among other business came to be 
considered the following resolution, upon which a motion duly was made and seconded, adopted by vote 
of all commissioners present: 

 
F I N D I NG S 

 
1. WHEREAS, due and proper notice of the date, time, place and purpose of this meeting has been given 

in accordance with the provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act, and such meeting has been 
conducted in accordance with said Open Meetings Act. 
 

2. WHEREAS, the upper Texas coast has seen several major coastal storm surge events in recent years; 
notably Hurricane Rita in 2005 and Hurricane Ike in 2008, that inundated coastal areas causing impacts 
to human lives and economic damages to residents, industry and infrastructure, and waterways; and 
 

3. WHEREAS, Brazoria County’s coastal location makes it vulnerable to the effects of tropical storms, 
and 100 percent of the county is in the hurricane evacuation zone; and 
 

4. WHEREAS, in an effort to deliver a more resilient coastline for our communities and our economy, 
the construction of the Sabine Pass to Galveston Bay, Texas project will include improvement to the 
congressionally authorized Freeport and Vicinity Hurricane Flood Protection Project (Freeport HFPP); 
and   
 

5. WHEREAS, the Sabine Pass to Galveston Bay, Texas project is being built by the U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers (USACE), Galveston District, in partnership with the Velasco Drainage District (VDD) 
in Brazoria County; and 

 
6. WHEREAS, industry in Brazoria County is primarily concentrated in VDD, and this industrial 

complex and the Port is the life blood of the local economy and a significant contributor to the economy 
of Texas as a whole; and 
 

7. WHEREAS, on March 16, 2021, VDD executed a Project Partnership Agreement (PPA) with USACE, 
Galveston District for the Freeport HFPP, under which VDD’s 35% share of the project costs would be 
$246,446,900; and  

 
8. WHEREAS, VDD also executed a Local Cooperation Agreement with the Texas General Land Office 

(TXGLO) for State funding for VDD’s quarter-billion-dollar obligation for the Freeport HFPP; and 
 

9. WHEREAS, the 87th Legislature did not allocate funds for the Freeport HFPP although VDD entered 
into its quarter-billion-dollar obligation to that project in reliance of the Local Cooperation Agreement 
with the TXGLO for the funding, and considering VDD’s reliance on such funding and the extreme 
importance of this project; and 

 
10. WHEREAS, VDD’s mission is critical to ensuing the economic wellbeing of our citizens, our 

communities and industry that are vital to the State’s economy, and should be eligible to receive an 
appropriation by the 88th Legislature for hurricane protection.  
 



 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Port Commission of Port Freeport that the Port 
does hereby support the appropriation of funds for Velasco Drainage District’s obligation on the Project 
Partnership Agreement for the Freeport Hurricane Flood Protection Project.  

 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED ON this the 26th day of January 2023. 
 
 
 
________________________________   ______________________________ 
John Hoss, Chairman      Rob Giesecke, Assistant Secretary  
 
 
________________________________   ______________________________ 
Rudy Santos, Vice Chairman    Ravi Singhania, Commissioner  
 
 
________________________________   ______________________________ 
Dan Croft, Secretary      Shane Pirtle, Commissioner  

 



 

 
 

1100 CHERRY ST. • FREEPORT, TX 77541 
(979) 233-2667 • 1 (800) 362-5743 • FAX: (979) 373-0023 

WWW.PORTFREEPORT.COM 
 

PORT COMMISSION 
 

JOHN HOSS, CHAIRMAN; RUDY SANTOS, VICE CHAIRMAN; DAN CROFT, SECRETARY; ROB GIESECKE, ASST. SECRETARY;  
RAVI K. SINGHANIA, COMMISSIONER; SHANE PIRTLE, COMMISSIONER; PHYLLIS SAATHOFF, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR/CEO 

 

 
 M E M O R A N D U M 
 
    
             TO:  Commissioners  
      
       FROM: Phyllis Saathoff, Executive Director/CEO 
    
        DATE: January 26, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Brazoria County Cost-Share Request  
              

 
At the January 12th Port Commission meeting the Port Commission was updated on matters 
related to the mouth of the San Bernard River and the current conditions caused by the 
unseasonably low flow rates.   Based on the recommendation of DEC to modify the design 
where the river exits into the Gulf of Mexico to achieve better flow and reduce siltation, Brazoria 
County is requesting the Port cost-share 50/50 the professional services necessary to have the 
San Bernard River Permit modified. The 2018 Interlocal Agreement with Brazoria County for 
Maintenance Dredging for the Mouth of the San Bernard River provides for 50/50 cost-share. 
 By cost-sharing this work now, it will accelerate when dredging can be completed.  The County 
is still awaiting decision/approval by the GLO for use of remaining Restore Act funds for the 
additional dredging.  The total cost of the professional services of DEC and Berg-Oliver is 
$64,000 with the Port’s cost-share being $32,000.  The work includes the coordination with 
regulatory agencies, updating preliminary engineering based on the current CAD files. See 
attached proposal.  

 
 
 
 



Brazoria County  
Attn: Commissioner Payne 
111 E Locust Street 
Angleton, TX 77515 

RE: San Bernard Permit Modification 

Commissioner Payne, 

DEC is pleased to submit this proposal to perform professional services for the modification of the San 
Bernard River dredging permit.   The purpose of this proposal is to address the continued shoaling at the 
mouth of the river by modifying the current permit to expand the dredge template where the river exits 
into the Gulf of Mexico.  The work includes the coordination with regulatory agencies, updating 
preliminary engineering based on the current CAD files.  

Background: The County recently completed the dredging of the river and due to unseasonably low 
flows the mouth of the river is already beginning to shoal closed.  The County would like to modify the 
permit to expand the opening at the mouth.   

Project Description: The County requested DEC modify the permit and expand the opening at the 
mouth as shown in figure 1.   

Figure 1 Revised Dredge Footprint 

DE Corp. 
3100 West Alabama, Houston, TX 77098 
P.O. BOX 22292 Houston, TX 77227  
(713) 520-9570

Engineering Excellence Since 1945 



DEC plans to use Berg-Oliver to prepare and resubmit the permit application. 

Scope of Services: 

Preliminary Engineering  

The preliminary engineering services for this project consists of updating the most recent CAD files for 
the dredging project to include with the permit for USACE and agency review.  DEC team will also 
estimate quantities of potential additional material and evaluate the surf zone placement areas.   

Permit Services 

Scope of work for the preparation of a Section 10 Rivers and Harbors Act and Clean Water Act Section 
404 Permit and submission to the USACE will follow the criteria set forth in 33 CFR 325 (Individual). DEC 
Team will make every effort to gain approval under a Nationwide Permit 27 for restoration. A 
conceptual development plan including profiles must be provided by the client or the client’s consulting 
engineer. DEC team will utilize these plans to create the required permit submittal drawings in the 
USACE’s preferred format.  DEC team will prepare and submit the permit application on behalf of the 
county, execute the required coordination for Threatened and Endanger Species with the resource 
agencies, acquire TCEQ 402 certification and coordinate any addition land that may be required to be 
leased from the Texas General Land Office.   

Not included in proposed fees: 
Wetlands Mitigation Plan and Design  
Final plans, specifications, and estimates 
Bid phase services 
Construction phase services 

Proposed Fees: 

Basic Preliminary Engineering Services (DEC) $15,000 
Environmental Services (Berg-Oliver)  $49,000 

Total $64,000 

Engineering and environmental service fee will be performed on a time and materials basis.  The fees 
listed above will not be exceeded with authorization from the County.  

2



Kick off meeting with the County and Regulatory 
agencies 

Within 2 weeks of NTP 

Updated CAD drawings complete Within  weeks of NTP 
Permit application submitted With 4 weeks of the CAD drawings being 

complete 
Permit Review with USACE With 2 weeks of permit submission 
Final permit received (TBD depending on USACE backlog) 

An updated schedule will be provided to the County in P6 at the kickoff meeting. 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide this proposal for professional services.  

Respectfully, 

Christopher W. Sallese 
Division Manager 
DEC 
713-817-8497

3

Schedule: 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

BERG  OLIVER ASSOCIATES, INC. 
Environmental Science, Engineering & Land Use Consultants 

14701 St. Mary’s Lane, Suite 400, Houston, Texas 77079 
(281) 589-0898     fax: (281) 589-0007 

Houston ◊ Dallas/Fort Worth ◊ ♦  www.bergoliver.com 
 
 
June 23, 2022 
 
Dannenbaum Engineering 
obo Brazoria County   
Attn: Col. Chris Sallese 
3100 West Alabama 
Houston, TX 77098 
 
Via email: Chris.Sallese@dannenbaum.com  
 
Re: Proposal for Environmental Services for the San Bernard River Mouth Re-Open/Restoration Project 

Permit Modification 
 BOA Proposal BOA034-9335NCO2 
 
Dear Mr. Sallese: 
 
The following proposal is provided to Dannenbaum Engineering, on behalf of Brazoria County, for 
environmental services for the San Bernard River re-open/restoration project, located near County Road 306, 
in Brazoria County, Texas.  Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. (Berg♦Oliver) will provide special attention to 
complete the work in a timely and professional manner. We will begin the assessment upon your acceptance 
and execution of this proposal.  
 
Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. is proposing to provide the following services: Task I) Agency Coordination 
(9335N-ACN), Task II) U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Section 10 Rivers and Harbors Act and 
Section 404 Clean Water Act Individual Permit Modification Preparation and Coordination (9335N-IP), Task 
III) Section 7 Endangered Species Biological Opinion (9335N-TE),  and Task IV) Texas General Land 
Office (TGLO) Permit (9335N-GLO).  Attachment A describes each of these services.  
 

PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 
The scope of work involved in this environmental service proposal is anticipated to commence upon receipt 
of an executed proposal and boundary survey/plat, or other suitable boundary map by Berg♦Oliver.  The 
project completion schedule is the goal of all parties; it does not, however, reflect unusual delays due to 
forces beyond the control of Berg♦Oliver and/or modifications to the scope of work based upon actual 
findings or additional requests by Dannenbaum Engineering, its agents, or governmental agency.  
 
The Assessments and Agency Coordination required for each task will be completed within 120 days. 
Document preparation under Task I will be completed within 30 days after the completion of the 
assessments. The draft Permits will be submitted to the USACE and the GLO within 150 days. Task III and 
subsequently be submitted to the USACE and USFWS within 180 days of notice to proceed.  
 
Environmental laws, regulations, and policies are in a constant state of change and are subject to differing 
interpretations by various agencies.  Permitting performed by governmental agencies is unpredictable.  
All time frames given to clients by Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. regarding the length of time necessary to 

mailto:Chris.Sallese@dannenbaum.com


Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

obtain a permit, or other agency clearances, are estimates and NOT a guarantee.  There is also NO 
assurance that a permit/concurrence will be granted by a government agency.  In addition, there is no 
assurance that the governmental review process will NOT alter the scope of the project, require additional 
information/studies not originally anticipated, require special meetings, or require additional fees outside 
of those estimated herein. The client agrees to not hold Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. liable for delays or 
additional information requests by any governmental agency as it attempts to secure a permit or agency 
clearance while acting on behalf of the client. 
 

RIGHT OF ENTRY 
 
Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the client has the authority to enter the property for purposes of 
conducting environmental assessments and herein grants that authority to Berg♦Oliver. 
 

BASIC COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 
 
Berg♦Oliver proposes to provide the environmental services described in Attachment A to Dannenbaum 
Engineering on an hourly basis, not to exceed the following amounts: 
 
 
TASK I:  AGENCY COORDINATION .................................................................................... $4,500.00  
 
TASK II:   USACE INDIVIDUAL PERMIT MODIFICATION ........................................ $27,000.00 * 
 
TASK III: SECTION 7 ENDANGERED SPECIES BIOLOGICAL OPINION ................. $15,000.00  
 
TASK IV: TEXAS GLO PERMIT .............................................................................................. $1500.00 
 
 
 MAXIMUM AMOUNT            $49,000.00 
 
* This estimate for an Individual Permit is based upon past experience, and includes 468 hours of Project Management/Mapping 
time.  Extraordinary circumstances, such as regulatory agency reviews based upon recent policy changes, may require 
additional tasks or further detailed analysis not covered in the present scope of work.  If this task requires more than a total of 
468 hours of Project Management time, the extra hours will be billed hourly as additional services, based on the attached rate 
schedule, but will not exceed 10% ($7,500.00) without written approval from the client.   
 
It is assumed that no MAJOR roadblocks to the permit are presented by the public comment agencies, Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (TCEQ), and/or USACE.  If extraordinary circumstances/requests for additional details are encountered, 
this amount will increase significantly and a change order will be submitted to the client as described above.  If additional tasks, 
such as Hydrogeomorphic (HGM) Modeling, Indirect and Cumulative Impacts (ICI) Analysis, or Alternative Analysis, are 
required, the price would dramatically increase.  Each new task required would be addressed in a change order. 
 
This cost estimate is valid for a period of six (6) months beyond the date shown below. After six (6) months, 
cost estimates may change due to fluctuations in fuel, subcontractors, and other sources required to complete 
the project. 
 
Berg♦Oliver will begin the work described herein upon the execution of this proposal by the client. 
Invoices for all hourly work will be submitted monthly and will be based upon the attached Rate Schedule 
in Attachment B.  Payment of all invoices is expected within thirty (30) days of the client’s receipt of the 
invoice submitted by Berg♦Oliver.   
 
 

 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

CONFIDENTIALITY OF ASSESSMENT 
 
The assessment and all related work and services of Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. are confidential.  
Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. is hereby employed by Dannenbaum Engineering pursuant to this contract.  
Under such contract relationship, all correspondence, written or oral, which relates to the findings of this 
study are, to the extent permitted by law, strictly confidential between the parties hereto, unless 
Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. receives a written request from the client to offer the results of this study to a 
third party not a part of this agreement/proposal.  Environmental assessments may occasionally uncover 
extremely sensitive findings.  It is the responsibility of Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. to report these findings 
to the authorizing client and to no other party.    
 

PROPOSAL ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION 
 
Acceptance of this proposal, including the “General Conditions for Services” found in Attachment C, will 
be indicated by the signatures below and will serve as authorization to proceed with the work proposed 
herein.  The signatory below also represents that the client has, or has secured, the authority to grant 
permission for Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. personnel to enter the subject property as necessary to conduct 
these assessments and that such permission is granted to Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. by the execution of 
this agreement/proposal. If the client is a Corporation or a Partnership, then the signature below will also 
represent the personal guarantee of the individual signing on behalf of the Client. 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, Dannenbaum Engineering and Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. have accepted and 
executed this proposal for environmental services on this the ______ day of _______________, 2022. 
 
 
      DANNENBAUM ENGINEERING 
      OBO BRAZORIA COUNTY 
     
 
    
 
      By: ________________________ 
            Authorized Signature 
 
 
      BERG♦OLIVER ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 
 
           
 
      By: ________________________ 
   Susan Alford, REM 
   President  



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

TASK I 
 

AGENCY COORDINATION 
SCOPE OF WORK 

Berg♦Oliver will coordinate with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the SanBernard National 
Wildlife Refuge, requesting concurrence with the findings Environmental Assessment Report, or more 
specifically that the proposed re-opening/restoration project will not have an adverse impact on the 
agencies’ areas of concern. Berg♦Oliver will provide copies of the Environmental Assessment Reports to 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service the SanBernard National Wildlife Refuge. Berg♦Oliver will then 
follow-up with these agencies to obtain the “Letter of Concurrence”.  

Additional Agency Coordination will be performed with National Marine Fisheries, Texas General Land 
Office, U.S. Coast Guard, Texas Parks and Wildlife Department, Texas Commission of Environmental 
Quality, and the USACE.  

TASK II 
SECTION 10 RIVERS & HARBORS ACT &  

SECTION 404 CLEAN WATER ACT INDIVIDUAL PERMIT 
PREPARATION AND COORDINATION 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
Scope of work for the preparation of a Section 10 Rivers and Harbors Act and Clean Water Act Section 
404 Permit and submission to the USACE will follow the criteria set forth in 33 CFR 325 (Individual).  
Berg♦Oliver will make every effort to gain approval under a Nationwide Permit 27 for restoration. A 
conceptual development plan including profiles must be provided by the client or the client’s consulting 
engineer.  Berg♦Oliver will utilize these plans to create the required permit submittal drawings in the 
USACE’s preferred format.  The USACE may request an alternatives analysis and best management 
practice information that must be provided to Berg♦Oliver from the client or consulting engineer.  This 
cost estimate is only preliminary and does not take in to account the amount of proposed impacts to 
wetlands and/or “Waters of the United States.”  Berg♦Oliver cannot predict or guarantee what the 
agencies will require during the permitting process.  It is our experience that the amount of work 
required is related to the amount of proposed wetlands to be impacted and/or the amount of 
avoidance and minimization to wetlands.   
 
Berg♦Oliver will perform the following under this task: 
 
1. Draft and submit the Individual Permit application and support documents to the applicant/client for 

review prior to submittal to the USACE.  (Berg♦Oliver must have written approval from the client 
authorizing Berg♦Oliver to submit the permit application to the USACE.) 

2. Section 401 certification is required for Individual Permits.  Berg♦Oliver will draft and submit an 
alternatives analysis to the applicant/client for review prior to submittal to the TCEQ, and a Tier I 
checklist and/or Tier II questionnaire, whichever is appropriate, upon written approval from the 
applicant/client.  The purpose of this information is to satisfy the regulatory guidelines set forth in 
Section 401 and Section 404b (1) of the Clean Water Act.  Drafting of the alternative analysis is a 
lengthy process and will require information from the client and engineer. Section 401 certification is a 
separate coordination effort with the TCEQ and is required prior to the USACE authorizing the Section 
404 permit.   

3. Attend two (2) on-site meetings with USACE, TCEQ, and resource protection agencies. 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

4. Attend two (2) additional meetings with the USACE in Galveston and/or the TCEQ in Austin. 
5. Consult with the client, engineer, and land planner regarding the site development plan and alternatives. 
6. Draft the Public Notice for the USACE, if approved by the USACE Project Manager. 
7. Assist the applicant in responding to agency comment letters submitted during the interagency and/or 

thirty (30) day Public Notice period. 
8. Consult with the applicant regarding the Wetland Mitigation Plan and design, if deemed necessary.  (If 

client chooses, Berg♦Oliver can prepare the mitigation plan and design under a separate proposal.) 
9. Assist the applicant/client in providing the USACE site specific requested information and/or Revised 

Site Development Plan, if necessary. 
10. The Individual Permit process is constantly evolving and may require additional tasks not specified in 

items 1 through 9 above.  If additional tasks are required, Berg♦Oliver will provide the client with an 
additional proposal related to each specific additional task (such as Alternative Analysis, a real estate 
feasibility analysis, off-site and on-site avoidance alternatives, Indirect and Cumulative Impacts (ICI) 
Analysis and Hydrogeomorphic (HGM) Modeling). 

 
 
 
 

TASK III 
SECTION 7 ENDANGERED SPECIES BIOLOGICAL EVALUATION  

SCOPE OF WORK 
 

The Biological and Natural Resource aspects of the proposed project will be reviewed and analyzed for 
potential impacts to those resources.  The Threatened and Endangered Species listings currently 
maintained by the United States Fish and Wildlife Services (USFW) and the Texas Parks & Wildlife 
Department (TPWD) will be evaluated to determine if any of the listed species may be shown to 
potentially inhabit the area and will be indicated by map.  The presence of state or national parks, forest, 
wildlife refuges, wild or scenic rivers, natural areas, or similar preserves in the planning area will be 
identified by map.  The site will be reviewed for the presence of biological indicators.  If marginal or 
suspicious habitats are encountered, a specialist on the specific study species will be consulted and their 
findings included in the site impact assessment.   

TASK IV 
TEXAS GENERAL LAND OFFICE PERMIT  

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
If the proposed project involves dredging within state owned land, a permit from the Texas 
General Land Office (TGLO) may be required. If necessary, Berg♦Oliver will prepare the TGLO 
permit application to dredge within State Owned Land (SOL).  All fees and lease requirements 
will be between the client and TGLO. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

 
ATTACHMENT B 

BERG  OLIVER ASSOCIATES, INC. 
Environmental Science & Land Use Consultants 

14701 St. Mary’s Lane, Suite 400, Houston, Texas 77079 
(281) 589-0898     fax: (281) 589-0007 

Houston  ◊  Dallas/ Fort Worth    ◊ www.bergoliver.com 
 

2022-2023 PERSONNEL RATE SCHEDULE 

 Personnel            Hourly Billing Rate  

Principal In Charge     $285.00   

Project Director      $280.00   

Sr. Vice President     $265.00   

Vice President      $240.00   

Sr. Project Manager     $200.00   

Project Manager      $180.00   

Assistant Project Manager    $170.00   

Project Coordinator III     $170.00   

Project Coordinator II     $160.00   

Project Coordinator I     $150.00   

Project Leader      $165.00  

Field Leader      $125.00   

GIS Analyst II      $165.00  

GIS Analyst I      $115.00   

Field Tech II      $105.00   

Field Tech I      $80.00  

Project Support Officer II     $135.00  

Project Support Officer I     $100.00   

Editor      $100.00   

Admin IV      $145.00  

Admin III      $125.00 

Admin II      $85.00   

Admin I      $75.00    

Specialist Subcontractors   Cost + 15% 
 
Above rates include all normal expenses of LJA's business, including mailing charges, in-house photocopying, long distance telephone 
costs, in-house graphic systems, and local area travel, unless otherwise stated in the agreement. Expenses, such as travel beyond fifty 
(50) miles, outside photocopying, delivery charges, photographic reproduction, and other outside services, are considered reimbursable 
by the client at rate of cost +15%. Any extraordinary reimbursable expenses, in excess of $250.00 must have authorization from the 
client. NOTE:. Hourly rates are adjusted annually as inflation dictates. If this contract spans more than one fiscal year (ending December 
31), hourly rates may be adjusted. Regardless of any rate adjustment, the “not to exceed” figures in a contract will not change. 

 

http://www.bergoliver.com/


Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR SERVICES 

 
Article 1: Services by BOA 
1.1 Standard of care.  BOA will perform the scope of services expressly described in this Agreement, after it is 
signed by both parties.  The services performed by BOA will be conducted in a manner consistent with the degree of 
care and skill ordinarily exercised by competent consultants performing the same or similar services in the same locale 
acting under similar circumstances and conditions. 
1.2 Restoration.  BOA will exercise reasonable care to minimize damage to the site.  However, Client 
acknowledges that some damage may occur in the normal course of performing the services, even if due care is 
exercised, and agrees that BOA will not be liable for such damage and will be entitled to additional compensation if it 
is asked to perform restoration services not expressly included in the scope of services. 
1.3 Reports and Investigations.  If BOA's performance of the services includes assessment, identification, or 
testing services, the number of investigations and observations BOA makes, the number of samples it collects, or the 
number of tests it performs are necessarily limited by budgetary and time constraints, and observations and samples by 
their specific locational nature may not exactly represent similar samples or observations in the immediate vicinity.  
BOA does not guarantee that all violations, problems, or sources of possible environmental condition will be 
identified, that all contaminants or environmental condition will be detected/identified, or that requirements, standards, 
or conditions will not change over time.  Any report issued by BOA will set forth its findings and conclusions based on 
the limited information available from the observations, investigations, sampling, and/or testing conducted under this 
Agreement.  In preparing its report, BOA may review and interpret information provided by Client, third parties, and 
regulatory agencies and will be entitled to rely on the accuracy of such information, including laboratory results, 
without performing an independent verification.  BOA may include in its report a Statement of Limitations describing 
the limitations of its investigations and findings and indicating that the report is for Client's use only and will not be 
relied upon by any third party, except as expressly agreed in writing by BOA, and then only at such third party's own 
risk.  
1.4 Documents.  All reports and documents prepared and deliverable to Client pursuant to this Agreement will 
become Client's property upon full payment to BOA.  BOA may retain file copies of such deliverables.  All other 
reports, notes, calculations, data, drawings, estimates, specifications, and other documents and computerized materials 
prepared by BOA are instruments of BOA's services and will remain BOA's property.  All deliverables provided to 
Client are for Client's use only for the purposes disclosed to BOA, and Client will not transfer them to others or use 
them or permit them to be used for any extension of the services or any other project or purpose, without BOA's 
express written consent. 
1.5 Services not included.  Unless expressly included in the scope of services, BOA's services will not include 
the following:  (a) the detection, removal, treatment, transportation, disposal, monitoring, or remediation of any 
contamination of soil or groundwater at the site by petroleum or petroleum products (collectively called "oil") or 
hazardous, toxic, radioactive, or infectious substances, including any substances regulated under RCRA or any other 
federal, state, or local environmental laws, regulations, statutes, rules, standards, or ordinances (collectively called 
"Hazardous Materials"); (b) mechanical compaction of backfill; (c) dewatering before installation or filling tanks with 
liquid or ballast following installation; (d) pump-out or disposal of product, water, or other contents from existing 
tanks; (e) installation of anchor systems, foundations, shoring, or other support devices; (f) concrete, blacktop, water, 
sewer, electricity, or other outside services; (g) the removal of any soil or water; (h) installation of protective fencing or 
other structure; or (i) construction or monitoring.  BOA will be entitled to additional compensation if it is asked to 
perform or provide such services listed above.  BOA will not be responsible for damage to or imperfections in any 
concrete slabs it installs unless they are protected by Client from traffic for seven days.    
1.6 Estimates.  Any estimates of probable construction or implementation costs, financial evaluations, feasibility 
studies, or economic analyses prepared by BOA will represent its best judgement based on its experience and available 
information.  However, Client recognizes that BOA has no control over costs of labor, materials, equipment, or services 
furnished by others or over market conditions or contractors' methods of determining prices.  Accordingly, BOA does 
not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual costs will not vary from opinions, evaluations, or studies submitted by 
BOA. 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

1.7 Other Contractors.  Except to the extent expressly agreed in writing, BOA will not have any duty or 
authority to direct, supervise, or oversee any contractors of Client or their work or to provide the means, methods, or 
sequence of their work or to stop their work.  BOA's services and/or presence at a site will not relieve others of their 
responsibility to Client or to others.  BOA will not be liable for the failure of Client's contractors or others to fulfill their 
responsibilities, and Client agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend BOA against any claims arising out of such 
failures. 
1.8 Litigation support.  BOA will not be obligated to provide expert witness or other litigation support related to 
its services, unless expressly agreed in writing.  In the event BOA is required to respond to a subpoena, government 
inquiry, or other legal process related to the services in connection with a proceeding to which it is not a party, Client 
will reimburse BOA for its costs and compensate BOA at its then standard rates for the time it incurs in gathering 
information and documents and attending depositions, hearings, and the like. 
1.9 Warranty.  If manufactured products are purchased by BOA and furnished to Client or incorporated into the 
work, BOA will assign to Client any warranties provided by the manufacturer, to the extent they are assignable, and 
Client's sole resource will be against the manufacturer.  NO FURTHER WARRANTIES OR GUARANTIES, 
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, ARE MADE WITH RESPECT TO ANY GOODS OR SERVICES PROVIDED UNDER 
THIS AGREEMENT, AND ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A 
PARTICULAR PURPOSE ARE EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED.  Full risk of loss of materials and equipment furnished 
by BOA will pass to Client upon their delivery to Client's premises, and Client will be responsible for protecting them 
against theft and damage.  However, until BOA is paid in full, it will retain title for security purposes only and the right 
to repossess the materials and equipment. 
 
Article 2: Responsibilities of Client 
2.1 Client requirements.  Client, to the best of its ability, without cost to BOA, will: 
(a) Designate to BOA a person to act as Client's representative; 
(b) Provide or arrange for access and make all provisions for BOA to enter any site where services are to be 

performed; 
(c) Furnish BOA with all reasonably available information pertinent to the services; 
(d) Furnish BOA with a legal description of the site and all available surveys, site plans, and relevant information 

about site conditions, topography, boundaries, easements, zoning, land use restrictions, and right-of-ways, if 
available and as needed; 

(e) Furnish BOA with all approvals, permits, and consents required for performance of the services except for 
those BOA has expressly agreed in writing to obtain; 

(f) Notify BOA promptly of all known or suspected Hazardous Materials at the site, of any contamination of the 
site by Oil or Hazardous Material, and of any OTHER CONDITIONS REQUIRING SPECIAL CARE, and 
provide BOA with any available documents describing the quantity, nature, location, and extent of such 
materials, contamination, or conditions; 

(g) Comply with all laws and provide any notices required to be given to any government authorities in 
connection with the services, except for such notices BOA has expressly agreed in writing to give; 

(h) Before commencement of any drilling or excavation at a site, furnish BOA with a complete description (to the 
best of their ability) of all underground objects and structures at the site, including, but not limited to, wells, 
tanks, and utilities; and indemnify, hold harmless, and defend BOA against claims arising out of damages to 
underground objects or structures not properly defined; 

(i) Provide BOA with information concerning prior owners of the site and any current or historical uses of or 
activities on the site by Client, prior owners, or others, as needed; 

(j) Furnish to BOA any known contingency plans related to the site; and 
(k) Furnish to BOA any previous environmental audits and/or assessments related to the site. 
2.2 Hazards.  Client represents and warrants that it does not have any knowledge of Hazardous Materials or Oil, 
or unusually hazardous conditions at the site or of contamination of the site by Oil or Hazardous Materials except as 
expressly disclosed to BOA in writing. 
2.3 Confidentiality.  Client acknowledges that the technical and pricing information contained in this Agreement 
is confidential and proprietary to BOA and agrees not to disclose it or otherwise make it available to others without 
BOA's express written consent. 
2.4 Health and safety.  Client acknowledges that it is now and will at all times remain in control of the project 
site, and Client acknowledges and agrees that it retains title to all conditions existing on the site and shall report to the 
appropriate public agencies, as required, any conditions at the site that may present a potential danger to the public 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

health, safety, or the environment.  Client waives any claim against BOA for injury or loss arising from such 
conditions.  Except as expressly provided herein, BOA will not be responsible for the adequacy of the health or safety 
programs or precautions related to Client's activities or operations, Client's other contractors, the work of any other 
person or entity, or Client's site conditions.  BOA will not be responsible for inspecting, observing, reporting, or 
correcting health or safety conditions or deficiencies of Client or others at Client's site.  So as not to discourage BOA 
from voluntarily addressing health or safety issues while at Client's site, in the event BOA does address such issues by 
making observations, reports, suggestions, or otherwise, BOA will nevertheless have no liability or responsibility 
arising on account thereof.  Client agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend BOA to the fullest extent permitted 
by law against any and all claims arising out of such programs, activities, conditions, or deficiencies unless BOA is 
responsible for gross negligence with regard to its work.  
 
Article 3: Changes; Delays; Excused Performance 
3.1 Changes.  Unless this Agreement expressly provides otherwise, BOA's proposed compensation represents its 
best estimate of the costs, effort, and time it expects to expend in performing the services based on its reasonable 
assumption of the conditions and circumstances under which the services will be performed including, but not limited 
to, those stated in Section 3.2.  As the services are performed, conditions may change or circumstances outside BOA's 
reasonable control (including changes of law or regulatory policy) may develop that would require BOA to expend 
additional costs, effort, or time to complete the services, in which case BOA will notify Client, and an equitable 
adjustment will be made to BOA's compensation.  In the event conditions or circumstances require the services to be 
suspended or terminated, BOA will be compensated for services previously performed and for costs reasonably 
incurred in connection with the suspension or termination. 
3.2 Assumptions.  Unless specified in writing, BOA's compensation is based on the assumption that: (a) there is  
no impact spoil or excavation of natural resources on or adjacent to the site that has not been disclosed to BOA by the 
client; (b) there is no contamination of soil or groundwater at the site by Oil or Hazardous Materials that has not been 
disclosed to BOA by Client, (c) BOA will not encounter any underground structures, utilities, boulders, rock, water, 
running sand, or other unanticipated conditions in the course of drilling or excavation; (d) tank installations will not 
require dewatering by BOA; and (e) if BOA's scope of services includes services related to petroleum facilities or 
storage tanks, groundwater will not cause tanks to float or require the use of Ballast.  BOA will be compensated for any 
additional efforts expended or costs incurred in addressing such conditions.   
3.3 Force majeure.  BOA will not be responsible for any delay or failure of performance caused by fire or other 
casualty, labor dispute, government or military action, transportation delay, inclement weather, Act of God, act or 
omission of Client or its contractors, failure of Client or any government authority to timely review or to approve the 
services or to grant permits or approvals, or any other cause beyond BOA's reasonable control.  In the event of such 
delay or failure, the time for performance will be extended by a period equal to the time lost plus a reasonable recovery 
period, and the compensation will be equitably adjusted to compensate for any additional costs BOA incurs due to any 
such delay. 
3.4 Disputes.   If any claim or dispute arises out of this Agreement or its performance, the parties agree to 
endeavor in good faith to resolve it equitably through negotiation or, if that fails, through nonbinding mediation under 
the rules of the American Arbitration Association, before having recourse to the courts.  However, prior to or during 
negotiation or mediation, either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise become barred by a statute of 
limitation, and BOA may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the payment of its 
invoice. 
 
Article 4: Compensation 
4.1 Rates.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing, BOA will be compensated for its services at its standard rates and 
will be reimbursed for costs and expenses (plus reasonable profit and overhead) incurred in its performance of the 
services. 
4.2 Invoices.  BOA may invoice Client on a monthly or other progress billing basis.  Invoices are due and payable 
upon receipt by Client.  On amounts not paid within 30 days of invoice date, Client will pay interest from invoice date 
until payment is received at the lesser of 1.5% per month or the maximum rate allowed by law.  If Client disagrees with 
any portion of an invoice, it will notify BOA in writing of the amount in dispute and the reason for its disagreement 
within 21 days of receipt of the invoice, and will pay the portion not in dispute. 
4.3 Suspension, etc.  BOA may suspend or terminate the services at any time if payment is not received when 
due and will be entitled to compensation for the services previously performed and for costs reasonably incurred in 
connection with the suspension or termination. 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

4.4 Collection.  Client will reimburse BOA for BOA's costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' and 
witnesses' fees) incurred for collection under this Agreement. 
4.5 Taxes, etc.  Except to the extent expressly agreed in writing, BOA's fees do not include any taxes, excises, 
fees, duties, or other government charges related to the goods or services provided under this Agreement, and Client 
will pay such amounts or reimburse BOA for any amounts it pays.  If Client claims that any goods or services are 
subject to a tax exemption or direct payment permit, it will provide BOA with a valid exemption or permit certificate 
and indemnify, defend, and hold BOA harmless from any taxes, costs, and penalties arising out of the use or acceptance 
of same. 
 
Article 5: Insurance and Allocation of Risk 
5.1 Insurance.  BOA is a wholly owned subsidiary of LJA Engineering (LJA). LJA will maintain insurance 
coverage for Professional Liability, Commercial Liability, Auto, and Workers' Compensation in amounts in accordance 
with legal and business requirements.  Certificates evidencing such coverage will be provided to Client upon request.  
For Projects involving construction, Client agrees to require its construction contractor, if any, to include LJA as an 
additional insured on its policies relating to the Project.  LJA's coverages referenced above shall, in such case, be 
excess over any contractor's primary coverage. 
5.2 Client indemnification.  Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless BOA from and against any and all 
liabilities, demands, claims, fines, penalties, damages, forfeitures, and suits, together with reasonable attorneys' and 
witness' fees and other cost and expenses of defense and settlement, which BOA may incur, become responsible for, or 
pay out as a result of death or bodily injury or threat thereof to any person, destruction, or damage to any property, 
contamination of or adverse effect on natural resources or the environment, any violation of local, state or federal laws, 
regulations or orders, or any damages claimed by third parties to the extent arising in whole or in part out of Client's 
violation of law or breach of this Agreement or out of the negligence or willful misconduct of Client, its other 
contractors, agents, suppliers, or employees. 
5.3 BOA indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, BOA shall indemnify and hold harmless 
Client from and against loss, liability, and damages sustained by Client, its agents, employees, and representatives by 
reason of injury or death to persons or damage to tangible property to the extent caused directly by BOA’s the failure to 
adhere to the standard of care described herein  
5.4 Limitation of liability.  No employee or agent of BOA shall have individual liability to Client.  BOA's 
aggregate liability for any and all claims arising out of this Agreement or out of any goods or services furnished under 
this Agreement, whether based in contract, negligence, strict liability, agency, warranty, tort, trespass, or any other 
theory of liability, will be limited to $10,000 or the total compensation received by BOA from Client under this 
Agreement, whichever is the lesser.  In no event will BOA be liable for special, indirect, incidental, or consequential 
damages, including commercial loss, loss of use, or lost profits, however caused, even if BOA has been advised of the 
possibility of such damages.  Any claim will be deemed waived unless made by Client in writing and received by 
BOA within one year after completion of the services with respect to which the claim is made. 
5.5 Consequential Damages.  IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR 
CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOST 
REVENUES, PROFITS, DELAYS, OR OTHER ECONOMIC LOSS ARISING FROM ANY CAUSE INCLUDING 
BREACH OF WARRANTY, BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT, STRICT LIABILITY OR ANY OTHER CAUSE 
WHATSOEVER, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT TO THE CONTRARY.  
REGARDLESS OF LEGAL THEORY, BOA SHALL BE LIABLE ONLY TO THE EXTENT THAT ANY 
DAMAGES SPECIFIED HEREIN ARE FOUND BY A FINAL COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION TO 
HAVE BEEN THE SEVERAL LIABILITY OF BOA.  TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY 
STATUTORY REMEDIES THAT ARE INCONSISTENT WITH THIS PROVISION OF THE AGREEMENT ARE 
WAIVED. 
5.6 Employee injury.  Client agrees not to impede or to bring an action against BOA based on any claim or 
personal injury or death occurring in the course or scope of the injured or deceased person's employment with BOA 
and related to the services performed under this Agreement. 
5.7 Defense.  Any defense of BOA required to be provided by Client under this Agreement will be with counsel 
selected by BOA and reasonably acceptable to Client. 
 
Article 6: Hazardous Materials Provisions 
6.1 Hazardous Materials.  Except to the extent expressly agreed in writing, BOA's services do not include 
directly or indirectly performing or arranging for the detection, monitoring, handling, storage, removal, transportation, 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

disposal, or treatment of petroleum or petroleum products (collectively called "Oil") or of any hazardous, toxic, 
radioactive, or infectious substances, including any substances regulated under RCRA or any other federal or state 
environmental laws (collectively called "Hazardous Materials").  The discovery or reasonable suspicion of Hazardous 
Materials or hazardous conditions at a site where BOA is to perform services or of contamination of the site by Oil or 
Hazardous Materials not previously disclosed to BOA in writing will entitle BOA to suspend its services immediately, 
subject to mutual agreement of terms and conditions applicable to any further services, or to terminate its services and 
to be paid for services previously performed.  In no event will BOA be required or construed to take title, ownership, or 
responsibility for such Oil or Hazardous Materials. 
6.2 Manifests.  In the event that the scope of services includes the remediation of any Oil or Hazardous Materials, 
before BOA removes from a site any Oil or Hazardous Materials, Client will sign any required waste manifests in 
conformance with all DOT and other government regulations, listing Client as the generator of the waste.  If someone 
other than Client is the generator of the waste, Client will arrange for such other person to sign such manifests.  BOA 
will not directly or indirectly assume title to or own or be deemed to possess any materials handled or removed from 
any site, including Oil or Hazardous Materials.  Nothing in this Agreement will be construed to make BOA a 
"generator" as defined in RCRA or any similar laws governing the treatment, storage, or disposal of waste.  Except to 
the extent BOA's responsibilities expressly include identification of the waste, Client will provide waste material 
profiles, which accurately characterize the waste.  If the services include transportation of Hazardous Materials or Oil, 
BOA may evaluate and recommend possible disposal sites for Client's use.  However, under RCRA and CERCLA, the 
client, as generator, has ultimate responsibility for selection of the disposal site.  Client acknowledges and agrees that it 
will evaluate and select the proper disposal site and be solely responsible therefore. 
6.3 Hazardous Materials indemnification.  Client acknowledges that BOA does not have any responsibility for 
preexisting Oil and Hazardous Materials at the site, any resultant contamination there from, or, except as expressly 
agreed in writing, for previous detection, monitoring, handling, storage, transportation, disposal, or treatment, that 
BOA's compensation is not commensurate with the unusually high risks associated with such materials, and that 
insurance is not reasonably available to protect against such risks.  Therefore, for separate consideration of $10 and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, and in addition to 
the indemnification provided in Section 5.2, Client agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend BOA against all 
damages arising out of or related to Oil or Hazardous Materials located at or removed from the site, including damages 
such as the cost of response or remediation arising out of application of common law or statues such as CERCLA or 
other "Superfund" laws imposing strict liability. 
 
Article 7: Miscellaneous Provisions 
7.1 Confidential information.  Although BOA generally will not disclose without Client's consent information 
provided by Client or developed by BOA in the course of its services and designated by Client as confidential (but not 
including information which is publicly available, is already in BOA's possession, or obtained from third parties), BOA 
will not be liable for disclosing such information if it in good faith believes such disclosure is required by law or is 
necessary to protect the safety, health, property, or welfare of human beings.  BOA will advise Client (in advance, 
except in emergency) of any such disclosure. 
7.2 Notices.  Notices between the parties will be in writing and will be hand delivered or sent by certified mail or 
acknowledged telefax properly addressed to the appropriate party. 
7.3 Assignment, etc.  Neither the Client nor BOA will assign or transfer any rights or obligations under this 
Agreement, except that BOA may assign this Agreement to its affiliates and may use subcontractors in the performance 
of its services.  Nothing contained in this Agreement will be construed to give any rights or benefits to anyone other 
than the Client and BOA, without the express written consent of both parties.  The relationship between Client and 
BOA is that of independent contracting parties, and nothing in this agreement or the parties' conduct will be construed 
to create a relationship of agency, partnership, or joint venture. 
7.4 Governing Law, Venue, and Headings.  This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Texas without giving effect to any conflict or choice of law rules or principles under which 
the law of any other jurisdiction would apply.  Each party hereby submits to the jurisdiction of the federal and state 
courts located in Brazoria County and agrees that such courts shall be exclusive forum and venue for resolving any 
legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement.  The headings in this Agreement are for 
convenience only and are not a part of the agreement between the parties. 
7.5 Survival.  All obligations arising prior to this Agreement and all provisions of this Agreement allocating 
responsibility or liability between the parties will survive the completion of the services and the termination of this 
Agreement. 



Berg♦Oliver Associates, Inc. 
BOA034-9335NCO2 

June 23, 2022 

7.6 Entire agreement.  This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and, together with any work release 
document issued under this Agreement and signed by both parties, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. 
 Any amendments to this Agreement will be in writing and signed by both parties.  In no event will the printed terms on 
any purchase order, work order, or other document provided by Client modify or amend this Agreement, even if it is 
signed by BOA, unless BOA signs a written statement expressly indicating that such terms supersede the terms of this 
Agreement.  In the event of an inconsistency between these General Conditions and any other writings, which comprise 
this Agreement, the other writings will take precedence. 
 

 
 
 
 


	Agenda
	Financial Report for Dec 2022.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	FY 2023 YTD OPERATING REVENUES�
	FY 2023 YTD Operating Expense
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9

	Financial Report for Dec 2022.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	FY 2023 YTD OPERATING REVENUES�
	FY 2023 YTD Operating Expense
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9

	Interim Financial Report Dec 2022.pdf
	Table of Contents
	Section I – Financial Report
	Management Narrative
	Balance Sheet
	Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Fund Net Assets 
	Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to Financial Statements

	Section II – Management Reports
	Operating Expenses by Department
	Velasco Terminal Statement of Revenues 
and Expenses 

	Port Improvement Projects Summary

	Section III – Other Reports
	Quarterly Investment Report
	Check Register Report


	DM-8332873v4-Port Freeport - GO Bond Resolution (Series 2023 NM Param).pdf
	RESOLUTION  AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF         PORT FREEPORT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT)        Adopted on January 26, 2023
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	Article I   DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS
	Section 1.01 Definitions.  Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly requires otherwise in this Resolution, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:
	Section 1.02 Other Definitions.  The capitalized terms defined in the preamble to this Resolution shall have the meanings assigned therein.
	Section 1.03 Findings.  The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and found in the preamble to this Resolution are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the operative provisions hereof.
	Section 1.04 Table of Contents, Titles and Headings.  The table of contents, titles and headings of the Articles and Sections of this Resolution have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall ...
	Section 1.05 Interpretation.
	(b) This Resolution and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein to sustain the validity of this Resolution.
	(c) All article and section references shall mean references to the respective articles and sections of this Resolution unless designated otherwise.


	Article II   SECURITY FOR THE BONDS; interest and sinking fund
	Section 2.01 Tax Levy.
	(b) The ad valorem tax thus levied shall be assessed and collected each year against all property appearing on the tax rolls of the Port most recently approved in accordance with law and the money thus collected shall be deposited as collected to the ...
	(c) Said ad valorem tax, the collections therefrom, and all amounts on deposit in or required hereby to be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund are hereby pledged and committed irrevocably to the payment of Debt Service in accordance with the te...
	(d) To the extent the Port has available funds which may be lawfully used to pay Debt Service and such funds are on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund in advance of the time when the Port Commission is scheduled to set a tax rate for any year, t...
	(e) To pay Debt Service on the Bonds coming due prior to receipt of the taxes levied to pay such Debt Service, there is hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which are hereby certified to be on hand and available for such purpose, an amount ...

	Article III   AUTHORIZATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE BONDS
	Section 3.01 Authorization.  The Port’s bonds to be designated the “Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT),” or having such other title or titles as may be designated in the Pricing Certificate, are hereby authorized to be issue...
	Section 3.02 Denomination, Maturities, and Interest.
	(b) The Bonds shall be in the aggregate principal amount designated in the Pricing Certificate, shall be in the denomination of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple thereof and shall be numbered separately from R-1 upward, except the Initi...
	(c) The Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the principal amounts and shall bear interest at the per annum rates set forth in the Pricing Certificate.
	Section 3.03 Medium, Method and Place of Payment.

	(b) Interest on each Bond shall be paid by check dated as of the Interest Payment Date, and sent United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, by the Paying Agent/Registrar to each Owner, as shown in the Register at the close of business on the Re...
	(c) The principal of each Bond shall be paid to the Owner thereof at Maturity upon presentation and surrender of such Bond at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.
	(d) If the date for the payment of Debt Service is not a Business Day, the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding Business Day, and payment on such date shall for all purposes be deemed to have been made on the due date thereof as specifie...
	(e) In the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a “Special Record Date”) will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the pa...
	(f) Unclaimed Payments shall be segregated in a special account and held in trust, uninvested by the Paying Agent/Registrar, for the account of the Owner of the Bonds to which the Unclaimed Payments pertain.  Subject to Title 6, Texas Property Code, U...
	Section 3.04 Execution and Registration of Bonds.

	(b) In the event any officer of the Port whose manual or facsimile signature appears on the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the authentication of such Bonds or before the delivery thereof, such facsimile signature nevertheless shall be valid an...
	(c) Except as provided below, no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Resolution unless and until the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar, substantially in the form provided herein, has ...
	(d) On the Closing Date, one Initial Bond representing the entire principal amount of the Bonds designated in the Pricing Certificate, payable in stated installments to the Representative or its designee (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated...
	Section 3.05 Ownership.

	(b) All payments made to the Owner of a Bond shall be valid and effectual and shall discharge the liability of the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar upon such Bond to the extent of the sums paid.
	Section 3.06 Registration, Transfer and Exchange.

	(b) The ownership of a Bond may be transferred only upon the presentation and surrender of the Bond to the Paying Agent/Registrar at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office with such endorsement or other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable...
	(c) The Bonds shall be exchangeable upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office for a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate and in any denomination or denominations of any integral multiple of $...
	(d) The Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver Bonds transferred or exchanged in accordance with this Section.  A new Bond or Bonds will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu of the Bond being transferred...
	(e) No service charge shall be made to the Owner for the initial registration, any subsequent transfer, or exchange for a different denomination of any of the Bonds.  The Paying Agent/Registrar, however, may require the Owner to pay a sum sufficient t...
	(f) Neither the Port nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or exchange any Bond called for redemption within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation of transfer shall not be applicable to an ...

	Section 3.07 Cancellation.  All Bonds paid or redeemed before Stated Maturity in accordance with this Resolution, and all Bonds in lieu of which exchange Bonds or replacement Bonds are authenticated and delivered in accordance with this Resolution, sh...
	Section 3.08 Replacement Bonds.
	(b) In the event that any Bond is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to the applicable laws of the State and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purcha...
	(i) furnishes to the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of his or her, ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft of such Bond;
	(ii) furnishes such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying Agent/Registrar to save it and the Port harmless;
	(iii) pays all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed; and
	(iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar.

	(c) If, after the delivery of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original Bond in lieu of which such replacement Bond was issued presents for payment such original Bond, the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to rec...
	(d) In the event that any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Bond has become or is about to, become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in its discretion, instead of issuing a replacement Bond, may pay such Bond if...
	(e) Each replacement Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the Port and shall be entitled to the benefits and security of this Resolution to the same extent as the Bond or Bond...
	Section 3.09 Book-Entry Only System.

	(b) With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant hold...

	Section 3.10 Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only System.  In the event that the Port determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the Representation Letter, and that it is i...
	Section 3.11 Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution to the contrary, so long as any Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments of Debt Service on such Bonds, and all notices ...

	Article IV   REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY
	Section 4.01 Limitation on Redemption.  The Bonds shall be subject to redemption before Stated Maturity only as provided in this Article IV and in the Pricing Certificate.
	Section 4.02 Optional Redemption.
	Section 4.03 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.
	(b) Prior to each scheduled mandatory redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select for redemption by lot, or by any other customary method that results in a random selection, a principal amount of Term Bonds equal to the aggregate principa...
	(c) The principal amount of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any redemption date pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.03 shall be reduced, at the option of the Port, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds which, at least 45 days ...
	Section 4.04 Partial Redemption.

	(b) A portion of a single Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000 may be redeemed, but only in a principal amount equal to $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall treat each $5,000 portion of such Bond as though i...
	(c) Upon surrender of any Bond for redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in accordance with Section 3.06 of this Resolution, shall authenticate and deliver exchange Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed principal amo...
	Section 4.05 Notice of Redemption to Owners.

	(b) The notice shall state the redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which the Bonds are to be surrendered for payment, and, if less than all the Bonds outstanding are to be redeemed, an identification of the Bonds or portions thereof to...
	(c) The Port reserves the right to give notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds under Section 4.02 conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of mone...
	(d) Any notice given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner receives such notice.
	Section 4.06 Payment Upon Redemption.

	(b) Upon presentation and surrender of any Bond called for redemption at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office on or after the date fixed for redemption, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay the redemption price of such Bond to the date of redemption...
	Section 4.07 Effect of Redemption.

	(b) If the Port fails to make provision for payment of all sums due on a redemption date, then any Bond or portion thereof called for redemption shall continue to bear interest at the rate stated on the Bond until due provision is made for the payment...

	Section 4.08 Lapse of Payment.  Money set aside for the redemption of the Bonds and remaining unclaimed by the Owners thereof shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.03(f) hereof.

	Article V   PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR
	Section 5.01 Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar.
	(b) The Port hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep proper records of all payments made by the Port and the Paying Age...
	(c) The form of Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement is hereby approved. The Port hereby approves and the Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Port Commission are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Paying Agent...
	Section 5.02 Qualifications.  Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank, a trust company organized under the laws of the State, or any other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of p...
	Section 5.03 Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar.
	(b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the Port will promptly appoint a replacement, provided no such resignation shall be effective until a successor Paying Agent/Registrar has accepted the duties of Paying Ag...

	Section 5.04 Termination.  The Port reserves the right to terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent/Registrar by delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated (i) 45 days written notice of the termination of the appointment and of...
	Section 5.05 Notice of Change to Owners.  Promptly upon each change in the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Port will cause notice of the change to be sent to each Owner by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, at the address ...
	Section 5.06 Agreement to Perform  Duties and Functions.  By accepting the appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Resolution and that it will perform the duties and function...
	Section 5.07 Delivery of Records to Successor.  If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the Register (or a copy thereof) and all other pertinent books and recor...

	Article VI   FORM OF THE BONDS
	Section 6.01 Form Generally.
	(b) Any portion of the text of any Bonds may be set forth on the reverse side thereof, with an appropriate reference thereto on the face of the Bonds.
	(c) The Bonds shall be typed, photocopied, printed, lithographed, or engraved, and may be produced by any combination of these methods or produced in any other similar manner, all as determined by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by the...
	Section 6.02 CUSIP Registration.  The Port may secure identification numbers through the CUSIP Global Services or another entity that provides securities identification numbers for municipal securities, and may authorize the printing of such numbers o...
	Section 6.03 Legal Opinion.  The approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel may be attached to or printed on the reverse side of each definitive Bond over the certification of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Port Commission, which may be exec...
	Section 6.04 Statement of Insurance.  If municipal bond insurance is obtained with respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, including the Initial Bond, may bear an appropriate legend, as provided by the insurer.

	Article VII   SALE AND DELIVERY OF BONDS; DEPOSIT OF PROCEEDS
	Section 7.01 Sale of Bonds, Official Statement.
	(i) the Bonds shall not bear interest at a rate in excess of the maximum rate allowed under Section 1204.006, Texas Government Code;
	(ii) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds authorized to be issued for the purposes described in Section 3.01 shall not exceed the limits described in that Section;
	(iii) the Pricing Certificate for the Bonds issued in whole or in part for the purposes described in Section 3.01 shall indicate the amount of authorized but unissued bonds that remain available to the Port from the applicable voted authorization foll...
	(iv) no Bond shall mature more than 40 years from the date of delivery thereof.
	(b) The authority granted to the Authorized Officer under Section 7.01(a) shall expire at 11:59 p.m. on a date one year from the date of this Resolution unless otherwise extended by the Port Commission by separate action.
	(c) The Port hereby authorizes the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement for the Bonds (if the Bonds are sold at a competitive or negotiated sale) and a Notice of Sale for the Bonds (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale) for ...
	(d) The Authorized Officer and all other officers of the Port are authorized to take such actions, to obtain such consents or approvals and to execute such documents, certificates and receipts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in order to con...
	Section 7.02 Control and Delivery of Bonds.

	(b) After registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, delivery of the Bonds shall be made to the Representative or its designee under and subject to the general supervision and direction of the Chairman of the Port Commission or, ...
	Section 7.03 Deposit of Proceeds.  The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

	Article VIII   CREATION OF INTEREST AND SINKING FUND; INVESTMENTS
	Section 8.01 Creation of Interest and Sinking Fund.  The Port hereby establishes a special fund or account to be designated the “Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) Interest and Sinking Fund” (the “Interest and Sinking Fund”)...
	Section 8.02 Interest and Sinking Fund.
	(b) Money on deposit in, or required by this Resolution to be deposited to, the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be used solely for the purpose of paying Debt Service on the Bonds when and as due and payable in accordance with their terms and this Reso...

	Section 8.03 Security of Funds.  All monies on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be secured in the manner and to the fullest extent required by the laws of the State for the security of public funds, and moneys on deposit in such funds sh...
	Section 8.04 Investments.
	(b) Any securities or obligations in which money in the Interest and Sinking Fund is so invested shall be kept and held in trust for the benefit of the Owners and shall be sold and the proceeds of sale shall be timely applied to the making of all paym...

	Section 8.05 Investment Income.  Income derived from investment of any fund created by this Resolution shall be credited to such fund.

	Article IX   REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
	Section 9.01 Payment of the Bonds.  On or before each Interest Payment Date while any of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, there shall be made available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, out of the Interest and Sinking Fund, money sufficient to pay s...
	Section 9.02 Other Representations and Covenants.
	(b) The Port is duly authorized under the laws of the State to issue the Bonds; all action on its part for the creation and issuance of the Bonds has been duly and effectively taken; and the Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be val...

	Section 9.03 Federal Income Tax Matters.
	(a) General.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. In furtherance thereof, the Port cove...
	(b) No Private Activity Bonds.  The Port covenants that it will use the proceeds of the Bonds (including investment income) and the property financed, directly or indirectly, with such proceeds so that the Bonds will not be “private activity bonds” wi...
	(c) No Federal Guarantee.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code, except as permitted by sect...
	(d) No Hedge Bonds.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Bonds to be “hedge bonds” within the meaning of section 149(g) of the Code.
	(e) No Arbitrage Bonds.  The Port covenants that it will make such use of the proceeds of the Bonds (including investment income) and regulate the investment of such proceeds of the Bonds so that the Bonds will not be “arbitrage bonds” within the mean...
	(f) Required Rebate.  The Port covenants that, if the Port does not qualify for an exception to the requirements of section 148(f) of the Code, the Port will comply with the requirement that certain amounts earned by the Port on the investment of the ...
	(g) Information Reporting.  The Port covenants to file or cause to be filed with the Secretary of the Treasury an information statement concerning the Bonds in accordance with section 149(e) of the Code.
	(h) Record Retention.  The Port covenants to retain all material records relating to the expenditure of the proceeds (including investment income) of the Bonds and the use of the property financed, directly or indirectly, thereby until three years aft...
	(i) Registration.  If the Bonds are “registration-required bonds” under section 149(a)(2) of the Code, the Bonds will be issued in registered form.
	(j) Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Port will not be required to comply with any of the federal tax covenants set forth above if the Port has received an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that such no...
	(k) Continuing Obligation.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution, the Port’s obligations under the federal tax covenants set forth above will survive the defeasance and discharge of the Bonds for as long as such matters are relevant ...
	(l) Official Intent.  For purposes of section 1.150-2(d) of the Regulations, to the extent that an official intent to reimburse by the Port has not been adopted for a particular project, this Resolution serves as the Port’s official declaration of int...


	Article X   DISCHARGE
	Section 10.01 Discharge.  The Bonds may be defeased, discharged or refunded in any manner now or hereafter permitted by applicable law.

	Article XI   CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING
	Section 11.01 Annual Reports.
	(b) If the Port changes its Fiscal Year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date of the new Fiscal Year end) prior to the next date by which the Port otherwise would be required to provide financial information and operating data pursua...
	(c) The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document (including an official statement or other offering docu...
	Section 11.02 Event Notices.  The Port shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the follo...
	(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies;
	(ii) Non-payment related defaults, if material;
	(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
	(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
	(v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
	(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the ...
	(vii) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Bonds, if material;
	(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
	(ix) Defeasances;
	(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
	(xi) Rating changes;
	(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Port;
	(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Port or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Port, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake ...
	(xiv) Appointment of successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material;
	(xv) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Port, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Port, any of which affect security holders, if materia...
	(xvi) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Port, any of which reflect financial difficulties.
	Note to paragraphs (xv) and (xvi):  For purposes of the events identified in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) of this section and in the definition of Financial Obligation in Section 1.01, the Port intends the words used in such paragraphs to have the meanin...
	(b) The Port shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the Port to provide financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 11.01. All documents provided to the MSRB pursuant to this section shall be accompanied by...
	Section 11.03 Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments.

	(b) The provisions of this Article are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds, and nothing in this Article, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any ot...
	(c) No default by the Port in observing or performing its obligations under this Article shall comprise a breach of or default under this Resolution for purposes of any other provisions of this Resolution.
	(d) Nothing in this Article is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the duties of the Port under federal and state securities laws.
	(e) The provisions of this Article may be amended by the Port from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of th...

	Section 11.04 Amendments to the Rule.  In the event the Authorized Officer, in consultation with Bond Counsel and the Port’s financial advisor, determines that it is necessary or desirable to amend the provisions of this Article in order to facilitate...

	Article XII   miscellaneous
	Section 12.01 Changes to Resolution.  Bond Counsel is hereby authorized to make changes to the terms of this Resolution if necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes hereof or in connection with the approval of the issuance of the bonds by the A...
	Section 12.02 Further Procedures.  The Chairman of the Port Commission, the Secretary of the Port Commission, an Authorized Officer, and other appropriate officials of the Port are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and/...
	Section 12.03 Severability.  If any Section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not af...
	Section 12.04 Individuals Not Liable.  No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein contained shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any agent or employee of the Port in his or her individual capacity.  N...
	Section 12.05 Repealer.  All orders and resolutions, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the Port and inconsistent with the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.
	Section 12.06 Force and Effect.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its final passage and it is so resolved.
	Section 12.07 Open Meeting.  It is hereby found, determined and declared that a sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place and subject of the meeting of the Port Commission at which this Resolution was adopted was posted at a place convenient ...

	EXHIBIT A  FORM OF PRICING CERTIFICATE
	PRICING CERTIFICATE
	Signature Page to Pricing Certificate
	Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT)
	EXHIBIT A
	FORM OF BOND
	a. Form of Bond.
	REGISTERED
	REGISTERED
	$__________
	NO. _____
	United States of America
	State of Texas
	County of Brazoria
	PORT FREEPORT
	GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND
	SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT)
	CUSIP NO.:
	CLOSING DATE:
	MATURITY DATE:
	INTEREST RATE:
	__________
	__________
	__________
	__________
	Port Freeport (the “Port”), in the County of Brazoria, State of Texas, for value received, hereby promises to pay
	___________________________________
	or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above, the sum of
	_________________________DOLLARS

	DM-8332873v4-Port Freeport - GO Bond Resolution (Series 2023 NM Param).pdf
	RESOLUTION  AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF         PORT FREEPORT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT)        Adopted on January 26, 2023
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	Article I   DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS
	Section 1.01 Definitions.  Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly requires otherwise in this Resolution, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:
	Section 1.02 Other Definitions.  The capitalized terms defined in the preamble to this Resolution shall have the meanings assigned therein.
	Section 1.03 Findings.  The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and found in the preamble to this Resolution are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the operative provisions hereof.
	Section 1.04 Table of Contents, Titles and Headings.  The table of contents, titles and headings of the Articles and Sections of this Resolution have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall ...
	Section 1.05 Interpretation.
	(b) This Resolution and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein to sustain the validity of this Resolution.
	(c) All article and section references shall mean references to the respective articles and sections of this Resolution unless designated otherwise.


	Article II   SECURITY FOR THE BONDS; interest and sinking fund
	Section 2.01 Tax Levy.
	(b) The ad valorem tax thus levied shall be assessed and collected each year against all property appearing on the tax rolls of the Port most recently approved in accordance with law and the money thus collected shall be deposited as collected to the ...
	(c) Said ad valorem tax, the collections therefrom, and all amounts on deposit in or required hereby to be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund are hereby pledged and committed irrevocably to the payment of Debt Service in accordance with the te...
	(d) To the extent the Port has available funds which may be lawfully used to pay Debt Service and such funds are on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund in advance of the time when the Port Commission is scheduled to set a tax rate for any year, t...
	(e) To pay Debt Service on the Bonds coming due prior to receipt of the taxes levied to pay such Debt Service, there is hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which are hereby certified to be on hand and available for such purpose, an amount ...

	Article III   AUTHORIZATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE BONDS
	Section 3.01 Authorization.  The Port’s bonds to be designated the “Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT),” or having such other title or titles as may be designated in the Pricing Certificate, are hereby authorized to be issue...
	Section 3.02 Denomination, Maturities, and Interest.
	(b) The Bonds shall be in the aggregate principal amount designated in the Pricing Certificate, shall be in the denomination of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple thereof and shall be numbered separately from R-1 upward, except the Initi...
	(c) The Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the principal amounts and shall bear interest at the per annum rates set forth in the Pricing Certificate.
	Section 3.03 Medium, Method and Place of Payment.

	(b) Interest on each Bond shall be paid by check dated as of the Interest Payment Date, and sent United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, by the Paying Agent/Registrar to each Owner, as shown in the Register at the close of business on the Re...
	(c) The principal of each Bond shall be paid to the Owner thereof at Maturity upon presentation and surrender of such Bond at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.
	(d) If the date for the payment of Debt Service is not a Business Day, the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding Business Day, and payment on such date shall for all purposes be deemed to have been made on the due date thereof as specifie...
	(e) In the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a “Special Record Date”) will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the pa...
	(f) Unclaimed Payments shall be segregated in a special account and held in trust, uninvested by the Paying Agent/Registrar, for the account of the Owner of the Bonds to which the Unclaimed Payments pertain.  Subject to Title 6, Texas Property Code, U...
	Section 3.04 Execution and Registration of Bonds.

	(b) In the event any officer of the Port whose manual or facsimile signature appears on the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the authentication of such Bonds or before the delivery thereof, such facsimile signature nevertheless shall be valid an...
	(c) Except as provided below, no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Resolution unless and until the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar, substantially in the form provided herein, has ...
	(d) On the Closing Date, one Initial Bond representing the entire principal amount of the Bonds designated in the Pricing Certificate, payable in stated installments to the Representative or its designee (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a negotiated...
	Section 3.05 Ownership.

	(b) All payments made to the Owner of a Bond shall be valid and effectual and shall discharge the liability of the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar upon such Bond to the extent of the sums paid.
	Section 3.06 Registration, Transfer and Exchange.

	(b) The ownership of a Bond may be transferred only upon the presentation and surrender of the Bond to the Paying Agent/Registrar at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office with such endorsement or other instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable...
	(c) The Bonds shall be exchangeable upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office for a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate and in any denomination or denominations of any integral multiple of $...
	(d) The Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver Bonds transferred or exchanged in accordance with this Section.  A new Bond or Bonds will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu of the Bond being transferred...
	(e) No service charge shall be made to the Owner for the initial registration, any subsequent transfer, or exchange for a different denomination of any of the Bonds.  The Paying Agent/Registrar, however, may require the Owner to pay a sum sufficient t...
	(f) Neither the Port nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to transfer or exchange any Bond called for redemption within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation of transfer shall not be applicable to an ...

	Section 3.07 Cancellation.  All Bonds paid or redeemed before Stated Maturity in accordance with this Resolution, and all Bonds in lieu of which exchange Bonds or replacement Bonds are authenticated and delivered in accordance with this Resolution, sh...
	Section 3.08 Replacement Bonds.
	(b) In the event that any Bond is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to the applicable laws of the State and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purcha...
	(i) furnishes to the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of his or her, ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft of such Bond;
	(ii) furnishes such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying Agent/Registrar to save it and the Port harmless;
	(iii) pays all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed; and
	(iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar.

	(c) If, after the delivery of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original Bond in lieu of which such replacement Bond was issued presents for payment such original Bond, the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to rec...
	(d) In the event that any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Bond has become or is about to, become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in its discretion, instead of issuing a replacement Bond, may pay such Bond if...
	(e) Each replacement Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the Port and shall be entitled to the benefits and security of this Resolution to the same extent as the Bond or Bond...
	Section 3.09 Book-Entry Only System.

	(b) With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the Port and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant hold...

	Section 3.10 Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only System.  In the event that the Port determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the Representation Letter, and that it is i...
	Section 3.11 Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution to the contrary, so long as any Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments of Debt Service on such Bonds, and all notices ...

	Article IV   REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY
	Section 4.01 Limitation on Redemption.  The Bonds shall be subject to redemption before Stated Maturity only as provided in this Article IV and in the Pricing Certificate.
	Section 4.02 Optional Redemption.
	Section 4.03 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.
	(b) Prior to each scheduled mandatory redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select for redemption by lot, or by any other customary method that results in a random selection, a principal amount of Term Bonds equal to the aggregate principa...
	(c) The principal amount of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any redemption date pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.03 shall be reduced, at the option of the Port, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds which, at least 45 days ...
	Section 4.04 Partial Redemption.

	(b) A portion of a single Bond of a denomination greater than $5,000 may be redeemed, but only in a principal amount equal to $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall treat each $5,000 portion of such Bond as though i...
	(c) Upon surrender of any Bond for redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in accordance with Section 3.06 of this Resolution, shall authenticate and deliver exchange Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed principal amo...
	Section 4.05 Notice of Redemption to Owners.

	(b) The notice shall state the redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which the Bonds are to be surrendered for payment, and, if less than all the Bonds outstanding are to be redeemed, an identification of the Bonds or portions thereof to...
	(c) The Port reserves the right to give notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds under Section 4.02 conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of mone...
	(d) Any notice given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner receives such notice.
	Section 4.06 Payment Upon Redemption.

	(b) Upon presentation and surrender of any Bond called for redemption at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office on or after the date fixed for redemption, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay the redemption price of such Bond to the date of redemption...
	Section 4.07 Effect of Redemption.

	(b) If the Port fails to make provision for payment of all sums due on a redemption date, then any Bond or portion thereof called for redemption shall continue to bear interest at the rate stated on the Bond until due provision is made for the payment...

	Section 4.08 Lapse of Payment.  Money set aside for the redemption of the Bonds and remaining unclaimed by the Owners thereof shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.03(f) hereof.

	Article V   PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR
	Section 5.01 Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar.
	(b) The Port hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep proper records of all payments made by the Port and the Paying Age...
	(c) The form of Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement is hereby approved. The Port hereby approves and the Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Port Commission are hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Paying Agent...
	Section 5.02 Qualifications.  Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank, a trust company organized under the laws of the State, or any other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of p...
	Section 5.03 Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar.
	(b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the Port will promptly appoint a replacement, provided no such resignation shall be effective until a successor Paying Agent/Registrar has accepted the duties of Paying Ag...

	Section 5.04 Termination.  The Port reserves the right to terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent/Registrar by delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated (i) 45 days written notice of the termination of the appointment and of...
	Section 5.05 Notice of Change to Owners.  Promptly upon each change in the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Port will cause notice of the change to be sent to each Owner by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, at the address ...
	Section 5.06 Agreement to Perform  Duties and Functions.  By accepting the appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Resolution and that it will perform the duties and function...
	Section 5.07 Delivery of Records to Successor.  If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the Register (or a copy thereof) and all other pertinent books and recor...

	Article VI   FORM OF THE BONDS
	Section 6.01 Form Generally.
	(b) Any portion of the text of any Bonds may be set forth on the reverse side thereof, with an appropriate reference thereto on the face of the Bonds.
	(c) The Bonds shall be typed, photocopied, printed, lithographed, or engraved, and may be produced by any combination of these methods or produced in any other similar manner, all as determined by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by the...
	Section 6.02 CUSIP Registration.  The Port may secure identification numbers through the CUSIP Global Services or another entity that provides securities identification numbers for municipal securities, and may authorize the printing of such numbers o...
	Section 6.03 Legal Opinion.  The approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel may be attached to or printed on the reverse side of each definitive Bond over the certification of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Port Commission, which may be exec...
	Section 6.04 Statement of Insurance.  If municipal bond insurance is obtained with respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, including the Initial Bond, may bear an appropriate legend, as provided by the insurer.

	Article VII   SALE AND DELIVERY OF BONDS; DEPOSIT OF PROCEEDS
	Section 7.01 Sale of Bonds, Official Statement.
	(i) the Bonds shall not bear interest at a rate in excess of the maximum rate allowed under Section 1204.006, Texas Government Code;
	(ii) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds authorized to be issued for the purposes described in Section 3.01 shall not exceed the limits described in that Section;
	(iii) the Pricing Certificate for the Bonds issued in whole or in part for the purposes described in Section 3.01 shall indicate the amount of authorized but unissued bonds that remain available to the Port from the applicable voted authorization foll...
	(iv) no Bond shall mature more than 40 years from the date of delivery thereof.
	(b) The authority granted to the Authorized Officer under Section 7.01(a) shall expire at 11:59 p.m. on a date one year from the date of this Resolution unless otherwise extended by the Port Commission by separate action.
	(c) The Port hereby authorizes the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement for the Bonds (if the Bonds are sold at a competitive or negotiated sale) and a Notice of Sale for the Bonds (if the Bonds are sold pursuant to a competitive sale) for ...
	(d) The Authorized Officer and all other officers of the Port are authorized to take such actions, to obtain such consents or approvals and to execute such documents, certificates and receipts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in order to con...
	Section 7.02 Control and Delivery of Bonds.

	(b) After registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State, delivery of the Bonds shall be made to the Representative or its designee under and subject to the general supervision and direction of the Chairman of the Port Commission or, ...
	Section 7.03 Deposit of Proceeds.  The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

	Article VIII   CREATION OF INTEREST AND SINKING FUND; INVESTMENTS
	Section 8.01 Creation of Interest and Sinking Fund.  The Port hereby establishes a special fund or account to be designated the “Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT) Interest and Sinking Fund” (the “Interest and Sinking Fund”)...
	Section 8.02 Interest and Sinking Fund.
	(b) Money on deposit in, or required by this Resolution to be deposited to, the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be used solely for the purpose of paying Debt Service on the Bonds when and as due and payable in accordance with their terms and this Reso...

	Section 8.03 Security of Funds.  All monies on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be secured in the manner and to the fullest extent required by the laws of the State for the security of public funds, and moneys on deposit in such funds sh...
	Section 8.04 Investments.
	(b) Any securities or obligations in which money in the Interest and Sinking Fund is so invested shall be kept and held in trust for the benefit of the Owners and shall be sold and the proceeds of sale shall be timely applied to the making of all paym...

	Section 8.05 Investment Income.  Income derived from investment of any fund created by this Resolution shall be credited to such fund.

	Article IX   REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
	Section 9.01 Payment of the Bonds.  On or before each Interest Payment Date while any of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, there shall be made available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, out of the Interest and Sinking Fund, money sufficient to pay s...
	Section 9.02 Other Representations and Covenants.
	(b) The Port is duly authorized under the laws of the State to issue the Bonds; all action on its part for the creation and issuance of the Bonds has been duly and effectively taken; and the Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be val...

	Section 9.03 Federal Income Tax Matters.
	(a) General.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. In furtherance thereof, the Port cove...
	(b) No Private Activity Bonds.  The Port covenants that it will use the proceeds of the Bonds (including investment income) and the property financed, directly or indirectly, with such proceeds so that the Bonds will not be “private activity bonds” wi...
	(c) No Federal Guarantee.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code, except as permitted by sect...
	(d) No Hedge Bonds.  The Port covenants not to take any action or omit to take action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Bonds to be “hedge bonds” within the meaning of section 149(g) of the Code.
	(e) No Arbitrage Bonds.  The Port covenants that it will make such use of the proceeds of the Bonds (including investment income) and regulate the investment of such proceeds of the Bonds so that the Bonds will not be “arbitrage bonds” within the mean...
	(f) Required Rebate.  The Port covenants that, if the Port does not qualify for an exception to the requirements of section 148(f) of the Code, the Port will comply with the requirement that certain amounts earned by the Port on the investment of the ...
	(g) Information Reporting.  The Port covenants to file or cause to be filed with the Secretary of the Treasury an information statement concerning the Bonds in accordance with section 149(e) of the Code.
	(h) Record Retention.  The Port covenants to retain all material records relating to the expenditure of the proceeds (including investment income) of the Bonds and the use of the property financed, directly or indirectly, thereby until three years aft...
	(i) Registration.  If the Bonds are “registration-required bonds” under section 149(a)(2) of the Code, the Bonds will be issued in registered form.
	(j) Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Port will not be required to comply with any of the federal tax covenants set forth above if the Port has received an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that such no...
	(k) Continuing Obligation.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution, the Port’s obligations under the federal tax covenants set forth above will survive the defeasance and discharge of the Bonds for as long as such matters are relevant ...
	(l) Official Intent.  For purposes of section 1.150-2(d) of the Regulations, to the extent that an official intent to reimburse by the Port has not been adopted for a particular project, this Resolution serves as the Port’s official declaration of int...


	Article X   DISCHARGE
	Section 10.01 Discharge.  The Bonds may be defeased, discharged or refunded in any manner now or hereafter permitted by applicable law.

	Article XI   CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING
	Section 11.01 Annual Reports.
	(b) If the Port changes its Fiscal Year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date of the new Fiscal Year end) prior to the next date by which the Port otherwise would be required to provide financial information and operating data pursua...
	(c) The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document (including an official statement or other offering docu...
	Section 11.02 Event Notices.  The Port shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the follo...
	(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies;
	(ii) Non-payment related defaults, if material;
	(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
	(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
	(v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
	(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the ...
	(vii) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Bonds, if material;
	(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
	(ix) Defeasances;
	(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
	(xi) Rating changes;
	(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Port;
	(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Port or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Port, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake ...
	(xiv) Appointment of successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material;
	(xv) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Port, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Port, any of which affect security holders, if materia...
	(xvi) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Port, any of which reflect financial difficulties.
	Note to paragraphs (xv) and (xvi):  For purposes of the events identified in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) of this section and in the definition of Financial Obligation in Section 1.01, the Port intends the words used in such paragraphs to have the meanin...
	(b) The Port shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the Port to provide financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 11.01. All documents provided to the MSRB pursuant to this section shall be accompanied by...
	Section 11.03 Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments.

	(b) The provisions of this Article are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds, and nothing in this Article, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any ot...
	(c) No default by the Port in observing or performing its obligations under this Article shall comprise a breach of or default under this Resolution for purposes of any other provisions of this Resolution.
	(d) Nothing in this Article is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the duties of the Port under federal and state securities laws.
	(e) The provisions of this Article may be amended by the Port from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of th...

	Section 11.04 Amendments to the Rule.  In the event the Authorized Officer, in consultation with Bond Counsel and the Port’s financial advisor, determines that it is necessary or desirable to amend the provisions of this Article in order to facilitate...

	Article XII   miscellaneous
	Section 12.01 Changes to Resolution.  Bond Counsel is hereby authorized to make changes to the terms of this Resolution if necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes hereof or in connection with the approval of the issuance of the bonds by the A...
	Section 12.02 Further Procedures.  The Chairman of the Port Commission, the Secretary of the Port Commission, an Authorized Officer, and other appropriate officials of the Port are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and/...
	Section 12.03 Severability.  If any Section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not af...
	Section 12.04 Individuals Not Liable.  No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein contained shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any agent or employee of the Port in his or her individual capacity.  N...
	Section 12.05 Repealer.  All orders and resolutions, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the Port and inconsistent with the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.
	Section 12.06 Force and Effect.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its final passage and it is so resolved.
	Section 12.07 Open Meeting.  It is hereby found, determined and declared that a sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place and subject of the meeting of the Port Commission at which this Resolution was adopted was posted at a place convenient ...

	EXHIBIT A  FORM OF PRICING CERTIFICATE
	PRICING CERTIFICATE
	Signature Page to Pricing Certificate
	Port Freeport General Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Non-AMT)
	EXHIBIT A
	FORM OF BOND
	a. Form of Bond.
	REGISTERED
	REGISTERED
	$__________
	NO. _____
	United States of America
	State of Texas
	County of Brazoria
	PORT FREEPORT
	GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND
	SERIES 2023 (NON-AMT)
	CUSIP NO.:
	CLOSING DATE:
	MATURITY DATE:
	INTEREST RATE:
	__________
	__________
	__________
	__________
	Port Freeport (the “Port”), in the County of Brazoria, State of Texas, for value received, hereby promises to pay
	___________________________________
	or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above, the sum of
	_________________________DOLLARS




